

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

This thesis has been submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree (e.g. PhD, MPhil, DClinPsychol) at the University of Edinburgh. Please note the following terms and conditions of use:

- This work is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, which are retained by the thesis author, unless otherwise stated.
- A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge.
- This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author.
- The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author.
- When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given.



The role of infection and inflammation in a mouse model of preterm labour

Sara F Rinaldi

Thesis submitted to the University of Edinburgh for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

May 2013

ABSTRACT

Increasing evidence highlights that term labour is an inflammatory event associated with increased production of pro-inflammatory mediators and leukocyte influx into the intrauterine tissues. Preterm labour (PTL), defined as labour before 37 weeks gestation, is a major clinical problem, and preterm birth is the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide. The causes of PTL are poorly understood, but intrauterine infection and inflammation have been shown to be important factors. Therefore, there is growing interest in the hypothesis that preterm labour may occur as a result of the premature activation of the inflammatory pathways normally initiated with labour at term, either idiopathically, or in response to a pathological intrauterine infection.

The aim of this thesis was to use a mouse model of infection-induced PTL to: characterise the local inflammatory and immune response to an intrauterine infection; investigate the potential of anti-inflammatory agents to delay delivery of pups and to improve their survival; and to investigate the role of specific immune cell populations in infection-induced preterm labour.

To characterise the inflammatory and immune response to intrauterine infection, CD1 mice received an intrauterine injection of PBS vehicle or increasing doses of bacterialderived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) on day 17 of gestation. Time to delivery, and the number of live born pups were determined. Intrauterine administration of increasing doses of LPS dose-dependently induced preterm labour and reduced the proportion of live born pups. Analysis of tissues harvested six hours post-surgery demonstrated that in response to intrauterine LPS administration, there was increased expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines within the utero-placental tissues, amniotic fluid and maternal serum; and an influx of neutrophils into the decidua, compared to mice receiving PBS.

Given these results, the potential of anti-inflammatory agents to delay LPS-induced preterm delivery and improve pup survival was then investigated using the same mouse model. Prior to intrauterine LPS administration, mice were pre-treated with epi-lipoxin, BML-111 (a stable lipoxin analogue), or IL-10. Time to delivery was unaffected by pre-treatment with the anti-inflammatory agents, however epi-lipoxin

significantly increased the proportion of live born pups in mice delivering preterm, compared to mice receiving only LPS.

To further investigate the role of immune cells in infection-induced PTL, antibodybased depletion strategies were used to selectively deplete specific immune cell populations to determine whether they played a causative role in LPS-induced preterm delivery. Despite successful depletion of macrophages or neutrophils, it was not found to significantly affect LPS-induced preterm delivery, suggesting these immune cells are not required for the induction of preterm labour in response to intrauterine infection. However, it is likely that they contribute to the intrauterine inflammatory response as depletion resulted in altered inflammatory signalling within the intrauterine tissues.

Collectively, this work has demonstrated that the presence of intrauterine bacterial LPS, as a surrogate model of infection, induces a robust inflammatory and immune response within the utero-placental tissues that involves the increased production of inflammatory mediators and the influx of immune cells into the decidua, which ultimately leads to PTL. Whilst the anti-inflammatory treatments tested here did not delay LPS-induced PTL, epi-lipoxin attenuated LPS-induced mortality in pups born preterm, suggesting this anti-inflammatory agent may be useful in protecting the fetus from the adverse effects of infection-induced preterm birth. Using models such as the one described here, are vital to improving our understanding of the events regulating the induction of PTL and will ultimately aid the search for novel therapeutic options for the treatment of PTL.

DECLARATION

Except where due acknowledgement is made by reference, the studies undertaken in this thesis were the unaided work of the author. No part of the work described in this thesis has been previously accepted for, or is currently being submitted in candidature for another degree.

Chapter 3

I acknowledge the assistance of Lucy Lecky-Thompson, a medical student, who helped perform some of the qRT-PCR analysis of the fetal brains and ELISA analysis of the amniotic fluid samples.

Sara Rinaldi

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first of all like to thank my supervisors, Professor Jane Norman and Professor Adriano Rossi, for all their help and guidance throughout my PhD and particularly during the writing of my thesis. I would also like to thank both PiggyBankKids and Tommy's for generously supporting my project.

A special thank you goes to two brilliant people who helped me with all of my animal studies, Dr Rob Catalano and Jean Wade, without whom none of my work would have been possible. Rob's help was invaluable, he taught me so much and was a constant source of new ideas and was always there to discuss new approaches when things didn't go to plan. I am hugely grateful to Jean for her constant support, unfaltering optimism that things would work and putting up with the ridiculously long days (and weeks!) in the animal house.

I would also like to thank all the members of the JB/Tommy's lab, past and present, who have helped me through the last 3 and a half years. In particular a massive thank you goes to the other girls in the office, Lorraine and Gemma, for keeping me sane, always making me laugh and somehow making what should have been the most stressful year and a half of my PhD, also the most enjoyable (and for being kind enough to put up with 'mouse cam'!).

Finally, I would like to thank my incredible family and Tim, who have been a constant source of support and encouragement throughout my PhD, and who have always believed in my ability to do this (even when I wasn't so sure!). An extra thank you goes to my sister Arianna, for taking the time to proof-read my thesis; and to Tim for always being there to keep me calm and, more importantly, solve all my computer issues!

PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND POSTERS

PUBLICATIONS

Rinaldi SF, Hutchinson JL, Rossi AG and Norman JE (2011) "Anti-inflammatory mediators as physiological and pharmacological regulators of parturition" <u>Expert</u> <u>Rev Clin Immunol.</u> 7 (5), 675-696 (Appendix 2).

ORAL PRESENTATIONS

Can lipoxin administration prevent LPS-induced preterm labour in a mouse model? The 2nd Edinburgh Perinatal Festival, Edinburgh May 2012

- Best oral presentation

Characterisation of the inflammatory response in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour. SRF 2012 Annual Conference, Edinburgh July 2012.

- Shortlisted for student prize

POSTERS

Investigating the anti-inflammatory agents epi-lipoxin and IL-10 in a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour. SGI 2013 Annual Conference, Orlando March 2013.

Investigating the role of neutrophils in a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour. SGI 2013 Annual Conference, Orlando March 2013.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	II
DECLARATION	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND POSTERS	VI
CONTENTS	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	XIII
LIST OF TABLES	XVIII
ABBREVIATIONS	ХІХ
CHAPTER 1 - LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 INTRODUCTION	2
 1.2 LABOUR: AN INFLAMMATORY EVENT 1.2.1 Immune cells and parturition 1.2.1.1 Neutrophils 2.1.2 Macrophages 1.2.2 Inflammatory mediator production and parturition 2.2.1 Cytokines and chemokines 2.2.2 Prostaglandins 2.2.3 MMPs 1.2.3 Role of NF-κB activation in parturition 2.4 Steroid hormones and parturition 2.4.1 Progesterone 2.4.2 Estrogen 1.2.5 Initiation of the inflammatory response at term 	3 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 10 10 11 12
 1.3 PRETERM LABOUR 1.3.1 The incidence and consequences of preterm labour 1.3.2 Causes of preterm labour 1.3.3 Intrauterine infection as a major cause of preterm labour 1.3.3.1 Molecular mechanisms of infection-induced preterm labour: role of toll-line receptors 1.3.4 Current therapeutic options for the treatment of preterm labour 1.3.4.1 Tocolytics 1.3.4.2 Antibiotics 1.3.4.3 Progesterone 1.3.5 Novel therapeutic options to treat preterm labour: the potential of anti-inflammatory agents 3.5.1 Blocking IL-1β and TNF-α 3.5.2 NF-κB inhibitors 	13 13 14 16 <i>ke</i> 17 20 20 21 21 21 23 26 28

1.3.5.3 15d-PGJ ₂	30
1.3.5.4 IL-10	31
1.3.5.5 Lipoxins	34
1.3.6 Animal models of preterm labour	38
1.4 SUMMARY	42
1.5 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS	43
CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL METHODS	44
2.1 MOUSE MODEL OF PRETERM LABOUR	45
2.1.1 Time to delivery	47
2.1.2 Proportion of live born pups	47
2.1.3 Tissue collection	47
2.1.3.1 Uterus	47
2.1.3.2 Fetal membranes	48
2.1.3.3 Placenta	48
2.1.3.4 Fetal brains	48
2.1.3.5 Amniotic fluid	48
2.1.3.6 Serum	48
2.2 RNA EXTRACTION AND REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION	49
2.2.1 RNA extraction	49
2.2.1.1 RNA extraction from utero-placental tissues	49
2.2.1.2 RNA extraction from fetal brains	50
2.2.1.3 RNA quantification	50
2.2.2 Reverse transcription	50
2.3 QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR	51
2.3.1 Primers and probes	52
2.3.2 Method	54
2.3.3 Analysis	55
2.4 ENZYME-LINKED IMMUNOSORBENT ASSAY (ELISA)	55
2.4.1 Sandwich ELISAs	56
2.4.1.1 TNF- α ELISA	56
2.4.1.2 IL-1 β ELISA	56
2.4.1.3 IL-6 ELISA	57
2.4.1.4 IL-10 ELISA	57
2.4.2 Competitive binding ELISA	57
2.4.2.1 Progesterone ELISA	57
2.5 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY	58
2.5.1 Paraffin embedding and slide cutting	58
2.5.2 Staining protocol	58
2.5.3 Quantification of positively stained cells	60
2.6 WESTERN BLOTTING	60
2.6.1 Protein Extraction	61
2.6.1.1 Protein Quantification	61
2.6.2 Method	61
2.6.3 Analysis	62

2.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY	64
2.7.1 Sample preparation	64
2.7.2 Flow cytometric analysis	64
2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	66
CHAPTER 3 - CHARACTERISATION OF THE INFLAMMATORY AND IMMUNE	
RESPONSE IN A MOUSE MODEL OF INFECTION-INDUCED PTL	67
3.1 INTRODUCTION	68
3.2 METHODS	69
3.2.1 Mouse model of PTL	69
3.2.2 Tissue collection	69
3.2.3 qRT-PCR	69
3.2.4 ELISA	70
3.2.5 Western Blotting	70
3.2.6 Immunohistochemistry	70
3.2.7 Statistical analysis	70
3.3 RESULTS	72
3.3.1 Intrauterine administration of LPS induced PTL in a dose-dependent manner	72
3.3.1.1 Time to delivery	72
3.3.1.2 Proportion of live born pups	74
3.3.2 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues in respon	ise to
intrauterine LPS	76
3.3.2.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	76
3.3.2.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	80
3.3.2.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	84
3.3.3 TNF- $lpha$ protein levels in utero-placental tissues following LPS treatment.	87
3.3.3.1 Uterine TNF- $lpha$ protein production	87
3.3.3.2 Fetal membrane TNF- $lpha$ protein production	89
3.3.3.3 Placental TNF- $lpha$ protein production	91
3.3.4 Immune cell influx in response to intrauterine LPS administration	93
3.3.4.1 Macrophage marker expression in the utero-placental tissues	93
3.3.4.2 Macrophage localisation in the uterus	95
3.3.4.3 Neutrophil marker expression in the utero-placental tissues	98
3.3.4.4 Neutrophil localisation in the uterus	100
3.3.5 Inflammatory markers in the amniotic fluid	103
3.3.6 Serum markers in response to intrauterine LPS administration	105
3.3.7 Gene expression in the fetal brain following intrauterine LPS administration	107
3.4 DISCUSSION	109
CHAPTER 4 - INVESTIGATING THE USE OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AGENTS TO	
DELAY PRETERM LABOUR AND IMPROVE PUP SURVIVAL IN A MOUSE MODEL	. 127
4.1 INTRODUCTION	128
4.2 METHODS	130
4.2.1 Mouse model of PTL	130
4.2.1.1 Epi-lipoxin experiments	130
4.2.1.2 BML-111 experiments	130

4.2.1.3 IL-10 experiments	131
4.2.2 Tissue collection	131
4.2.3 qRT-PCR	132
4.2.4 ELISA	132
4.2.5 Statistical analysis	132
4.3 RESULTS	133
4.3.1 Expression of the lipoxin receptor, Fpr2, in utero-placental tissues follow	ving
intrauterine LPS administration	133
4.3.2 Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on time to delivery and proport	ion of live
born pups	135
<i>4.3.2.1 Time to delivery</i>	135
4.3.2.2 Proportion of live born pups	138
4.3.3 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues foll	owing intra-
peritoneal pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin	140
4.3.3.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	140
4.3.3.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	145
4.3.3.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	150
4.3.4 Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on amniotic fluid cytokine levels	s 154
4.3.5 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues foll	owing
intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin	156
4.3.5.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	156
4.3.5.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	161
4.3.5.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	165
4.3.6 Effect of intrauterine epi-lipoxin administration on amniotic fluid cytoki	ne levels 169
4.3.7 Effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on time to delivery and the propo	ortion of live
born pups	171
4.3.7.1 Time to delivery	171
4.3.7.2 Proportion of live born pups	174
4.3.8 Effect of pre-treatment with IL-10 on time to delivery and the proportio	n of live
pups born	176
4.3.8.1 Time to delivery	176
4.3.8.2 Proportion of live born pups	178
4.4 DISCUSSION	180
	200
CHAPTER 5 - INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF IMMUNE CELLS IN A MOUSE	MODEL OF
INFECTION-INDUCED PRETERM LABOUR	195
5.1 INTRODUCTION	196
5.2 METHODS	197
5.2.1 Mouse model of PTL	197
5.2.1.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments	197
5.2.1.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments	197
E 2 1 2 Apti EA/80 avpariments	197
5.2.1.5 Anti-r4/80 experiments	
5.2.2 Tissue collection	198
5.2.2 Tissue collection 5.2.2.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments	198 <i>198</i>
5.2.1.5 Anti-F4/80 experiments 5.2.2 Tissue collection 5.2.2.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments 5.2.2.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments	198 <i>198</i> <i>198</i>
5.2.1.5 Anti-F4/80 experiments 5.2.2 Tissue collection 5.2.2.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments 5.2.2.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments 5.2.2.3 Anti-F4/80 experiments	198 <i>198</i> <i>198</i> <i>198</i>
5.2.1.3 Anti-r4/80 experiments 5.2.2 Tissue collection 5.2.2.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments 5.2.2.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments 5.2.2.3 Anti-F4/80 experiments 5.2.3 Flow cytometry	198 <i>198</i> <i>198</i> <i>198</i> 198

5.2.5 qRT-PCR	199
5.2.6 ELISA	199
5.2.7 Statistical analysis	199
5.3 RESULTS	201
5.3.1 Administration of anti-Gr-1 to deplete neutrophils on day 16 of gestation	201
5 3.1.1 Depletion of circulating neutronhils	201
5.3.1.2 Effect of neutronhil denletion using anti-Gr-1 on LPS-induced neutronhil	201
recruitment to the uterus	203
5.3.2 Effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr-1 on LPS-induced preterm labour	205
5 3 2 1 Time to delivery	205
5 3 2 2 Proportion of live born nuns	205
5.3.3 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissue	200
following neutronhil depletion with anti-Gr-1	207
5 3 3 1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	207
5 3 3 2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	210
5 3 3 3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	213
5.3.4 Effect of anti-Gr-1 administration on LPS-induced serum TNE-q levels	216
5.3.4 Effect of anti-Griff automotion of ErS induced scrum right a reverse 5.3.5 Administration of anti-Ly-6G to deplete neutrophils on day 16 of gestation	210
5.3.5 Administration of and Ly 00 to depicte neutrophils on day 10 of gestation	210
5.3.5.2 Effect of neutronhil depletion with anti-1y-6G on LPS-induced neutronhil	210
recruitment to the uterus	220
5.3.6 Effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Ly-6G on LPS-induced preterm labour	220
5 3 6 1 Time to delivery	222
5.3.6.2 Proportion of live born nuns	222
5.3.7 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissue	222
following neutrophil depletion with anti-ly-6G	224
5 3 7 1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	224
5 3 7 2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	227
5 3 7 3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	230
5.3.8 Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced serum TNF- α levels	233
5.3.9 Administration of anti-E4/80 to deplete macrophages on day 17 of gestation	235
5.3.10 Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced preterm labour	238
5 3 10 1 Time to delivery	238
5 3 10 2 Proportion of live born nuns	238
5.3.11 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissu	les
following treatment with anti-F4/80	240
5 3 11 1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus	240
5 3 11 2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes	243
5 3 11 3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta	246
5.3.12 Effect of anti-E4/80 treatment on LPS-induced serum TNE- α levels	240
5.5.12 Enect of and 14/00 treatment of El 5 induced scruth five direvels	245
5.4 DISCUSSION	251
CHAPTER 6 - GENERAL DISCUSSION	260
6.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	261
6.2 MOUSE MODEL OF PRETERM LABOUR	262
6.3 ROLE OF IMMUNE CELLS IN PRETERM LABOUR	266

6.4 NOVEL TREATMENT OPTIONS FOR PRETERM LABOUR: WILL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY	1
DRUGS BE THE ANSWER?	267
6.5 CONCLUSIONS	269
REFERENCES	271
APPENDICES	302
Appendix 1 - Materials	303
Appendix 2 – Publications	309

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1 – LITERATURE REVIEW

FIGURE 1.1 - INFLAMMATORY EVENTS ASSOCIATED WITH TERM LABOUR AND INFECTIO)N-
INDUCED PRETERM LABOUR.	15
FIGURE 1.2 – OVERVIEW OF NF- κ B ACTIVATION IN RESPONSE TO LPS SIGNALLING VIA T	LR-4.
	19
FIGURE 1.3 - SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE THREE PATHWAYS OF LIPOXIN	
BIOSYNTHESIS.	35

CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL METHODS

FIGURE 2.1 - MOUSE MODEL OF INFECTION-INDUCED PRETERM LABOUR.	46
FIGURE 2.2 - <i>COX-2</i> AND β - <i>ACTIN</i> PRIMER AND PROBE VALIDATION.	54
FIGURE 2.3 - REPRESENTATIVE FLOW CYTOMETRY PLOTS TO MEASURE CIRCULATING	
NEUTROPHILS IN BLOOD.	65

CHAPTER 3 - CHARACTERISATION OF THE INFLAMMATORY AND IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MOUSE MODEL OF INFECTION-INDUCED PTL

FIGURE 3.1 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON TIME TO DELIVERY.	73
FIGURE 3.2 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON THE PROPORTION OF	
LIVE BORN PUPS.	75
FIGURE 3.3 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	78
FIGURE 3.4 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	79
FIGURE 3.5 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	82
FIGURE 3.6 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	83
FIGURE 3.7 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	85
FIGURE 3.8 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	86

FIGURE 3.9 - UTERINE TNF- α PRODUCTION.	88
FIGURE 3.10 - FETAL MEMBRANE TNF- α PRODUCTION.	90
FIGURE 3.11 - PLACENTAL TNF-α PRODUCTION.	92
FIGURE 3.12 - EXPRESSION OF EMR1 MRNA IN THE UTERUS, PLACENTA AND FETAL	
MEMBRANES.	94
FIGURE 3.13 - MACROPHAGE LOCALISATION IN THE UTERUS.	96
FIGURE 3.14 - QUANTIFICATION OF F4/80 POSITIVE CELLS IN THE UTERUS FOLLOWING	
SURGERY.	97
FIGURE 3.15 - EXPRESSION OF NGP MRNA IN THE UTERUS, FETAL MEMBRANES AND	
PLACENTA.	99
FIGURE 3.16 - NEUTROPHIL LOCALISATION IN THE UTERUS.	101
FIGURE 3.17 - QUANTIFICATION OF GR-1 POSITIVE CELLS IN THE UTERUS FOLLOWING	
SURGERY.	102
FIGURE 3.18 - INFLAMMATORY MARKERS IN THE AMNIOTIC FLUID.	104
FIGURE 3.19 - SERUM MARKERS IN RESPONSE TO INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION	.106
FIGURE 3.20 - GENE EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL BRAINS FOLLOWING INTRAUTERINE LPS	5
ADMINISTRATION.	108

CHAPTER 4 - INVESTIGATING THE USE OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AGENTS TO DELAY PRETERM LABOUR AND IMPROVE PUP SURVIVAL IN A MOUSE MODEL

FIGURE 4.1 - EXPRESSION OF FPR2 MRNA IN UTERUS, FETAL MEMBRANES AND PLACENTA.

	134
FIGURE 4.2 - EFFECT OF EPI-LIPOXIN PRE-TREATMENT ON TIME TO DELIVERY.	137
FIGURE 4.3 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON THE PROPORTION OF L	IVE
BORN PUPS.	139
FIGURE 4.4 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN PRE-TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	143
FIGURE 4.5 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY CHEMOKINE	
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	144
FIGURE 4.6 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN PRE-TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	148
FIGURE 4.7 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY CHEMOKINE	
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	149
FIGURE 4.8 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN PRE-TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	152

FIGURE 4.9 - EFFECT OF I.P. EPI-LIPOXIN TREATMENT ON INFLAMMATORY CHEMOKINE	
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	153
FIGURE 4.10 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON INFLAMMATORY	
CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE AMNIOTIC FLUID.	155
FIGURE 4.11 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	1
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	159
FIGURE 4.12 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON CHEMOKINE EXPRESSI	ON
IN THE UTERUS.	160
FIGURE 4.13 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	i I
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	163
FIGURE 4.14 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON CHEMOKINE EXPRESSI	ON
IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	164
FIGURE 4.15 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON INFLAMMATORY GENE	1
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	167
FIGURE 4.16 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON CHEMOKINE EXPRESSI	ON
IN THE PLACENTA.	168
FIGURE 4.17 - EFFECT OF CO-TREATMENT WITH EPI-LIPOXIN ON INFLAMMATORY	
CYTOKINE PRODUCTION IN THE AMNIOTIC FLUID.	170
FIGURE 4.18 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH BML-111 ON LPS-INDUCED TIME TO	
DELIVERY.	173
FIGURE 4.19 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH BML-111 ON THE PROPORTION OF LIV	Έ
BORN PUPS.	175
FIGURE 4.20 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH IL-10 ON LPS-INDUCED TIME TO DELIV	VERY
	177
FIGURE 4.21 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH IL-10 ON THE PROPORTION OF LIVE B	ORN
PUPS.	179

CHAPTER 5 - INVESTIGATING THE ROLE OF IMMUNE CELLS IN A MOUSE MODEL OF INFECTION-INDUCED PRETERM LABOUR

FIGURE 5.1- EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 ADMINISTRATION ON CIRCULATING BLOOD	
NEUTROPHILS.	202
FIGURE 5.2 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON NEUTROPHIL LOCALISATION IN T	HE
UTERUS.	204
FIGURE 5.3 – EFFECT OF NEUTROPHIL DEPLETION WITH ANTI-GR-1 ON LPS-INDUCED	
PRETERM DELIVERY AND THE PROPORTION OF LIVE BORN PUPS.	206
FIGURE 5.4 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY GE	ENE
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	208

FIGURE 5.5 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	209
FIGURE 5.6 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY GET	NE
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	211
FIGURE 5.7 - EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	212
FIGURE 5.8 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY GEN	NE
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	214
FIGURE 5.9 - EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	215
FIGURE 5.10 – EFFECT OF ANTI-GR-1 TREATMENT ON SERUM TNF- α LEVELS.	217
FIGURE 5.11 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G ADMINISTRATION ON CIRCULATING BLOOD	
NEUTROPHILS.	219
FIGURE 5.12 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON NEUTROPHIL LOCALISATION IN T	ГНЕ
UTERUS.	221
FIGURE 5.13 - EFFECT OF NEUTROPHIL DEPLETION WITH ANTI-LY-6G ON LPS-INDUCED	
PRETERM DELIVERY AND THE PROPORTION OF LIVE BORN PUPS.	223
FIGURE 5.14 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY G	ENE
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	225
FIGURE 5.15 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	226
FIGURE 5.16 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY G	ENE
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	228
FIGURE 5.17 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES.	229
FIGURE 5.18 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY G	ENE
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	231
FIGURE 5.19 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA.	232
FIGURE 5.20 - EFFECT OF ANTI-LY-6G TREATMENT ON SERUM TNF- α LEVELS.	234
FIGURE 5.21 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON MACROPHAGE POPULATIONS IN	THE
SPLEEN, LIVER, LUNG AND CERVIX.	236
FIGURE 5.22 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON MACROPHAGE LOCALISATION IN	THE
UTERUS.	237
FIGURE 5.23 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED PRETERM DELIVE	RY
AND THE PROPORTION OF LIVE BORN PUPS.	239
FIGURE 5.24 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY G	ENE
EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS.	241

URE 5.25 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE UTERUS. 242	2
URE 5.26 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY GENE	3
EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES. 244	4
URE 5.27 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE FETAL MEMBRANES. 245	5
URE 5.28 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY GENE	3
EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA. 247	7
URE 5.29 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED INFLAMMATORY	
CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION IN THE PLACENTA. 248	8
URE 5.30 - EFFECT OF ANTI-F4/80 TREATMENT ON SERUM TNF-α LEVELS. 250	0

CHAPTER 6 - GENERAL DISCUSSION

FIGURE 6.1 - IMAGE OF ULTRASOUND-GUIDED INTRAUTERINE INJECTION.	265
---	-----

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 2 - GENERAL METHODS

TABLE 2.1 - REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION MASTERMIX	51
TABLE 2.2 - TAQMAN® GENE EXPRESSION ASSAY IDS USED IN QRT-PCR EXPERIMENTS.	52
TABLE 2.3 - PRIMER AND PROBE SEQUENCES DESIGNED USING PRIMER EXPRESS SOFTWA	RE.
	53
TABLE 2.4 - QRT-PCR REACTION MIX.	55
TABLE 2.5 - ANTIBODY INFORMATION FOR SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES USED IN	
IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY EXPERIMENTS.	59
TABLE 2.6 - SOLUTIONS USED FOR TISSUE FIXATION AND IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY	
EXPERIMENTS.	60
TABLE 2.7 - SOLUTIONS USED FOR PROTEIN EXTRACTION AND WESTERN BLOTTING	
EXPERIMENTS.	63

CHAPTER 3 - CHARACTERISATION OF THE INFLAMMATORY AND IMMUNE RESPONSE IN A MOUSE MODEL OF INFECTION-INDUCED PTL

TABLE 3.1 - EFFECT OF INTRAUTERINE LPS ADMINISTRATION ON PRETERM DELIVERY RATE.**73**

CHAPTER 4 - INVESTIGATING THE USE OF ANTI-INFLAMMATORY AGENTS TO DELAY PRETERM LABOUR AND IMPROVE PUP SURVIVAL IN A MOUSE MODEL

TABLE 4.1 - EFFECT OF EPI-LIPOXIN PRE-TREATMENT ON LPS-INDUCED PRETERM DELIVERY.

 137

TABLE 4.2 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH BML-111 ON PRETERM DELIVERY RATE. 173

TABLE 4.3 - EFFECT OF PRE-TREATMENT WITH IL-10 ON PRETERM DELIVERY RATE.**177**

ABBREVIATIONS

15-HPGD	15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase
15d-PGJ ₂	15-deoxy-D ^{12,14} -prostaglandin-J ₂
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BCP	Bromochloropropane
CAP	contraction-associated protein
CCL	Chemokine (C-C) motif ligand
cDNA	complementary DNA
COX	cyclo-oxygenase
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
CRTH2	Chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expression on TH2 cells
Ct	Cycle threshold
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C) motif ligand
DAB	3,3'diaminaobenzidine
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
EMR1	EGF-like module-containing mucin-like hormone receptor-like 1
ER	Estrogen Receptor
FIRS	Fetal inflammatory response syndrome
FRP2/ALX	Formyl peptide receptor 2/lipoxin A4 receptor
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IL	Interleukin
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IRAK	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LOX	Lipoxygenase
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MIP-2	Macrophage inflammatory protein-2
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase

MPA	Medroxyprogesterone acetate
MTAP2	Microtubule-associated protein 2
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NBF	Neutral buffered formalin
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NGP	Neutrophilic granule protein
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PG	Prostaglandin
PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
PPROM	Preterm premature rupture of membranes
PR	Progesterone receptor
PTGS	Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase
PTL	Preterm labour
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT	Reverse transcriptase
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SSZ	Sulfasalazine
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TACE	TNF-alpha converting enzyme
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TLR	Toll-like receptor
ТМВ	3,3'5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF receptor associated factor
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon beta

Chapter 1 - Literature review

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Although the exact mechanisms controlling the onset of parturition in humans remain incompletely understood, there is now strong evidence that labour is an inflammatory process associated with increased production of inflammatory cytokines and leukocyte influx into the utero-placental tissues. The timing of the initiation of this inflammatory cascade must be tightly regulated as the premature activation of these events can result in preterm labour. In contrast, delayed activation results in post-term pregnancy and increased perinatal mortality. Preterm labour (defined as labour prior to 37 weeks gestation) is a major clinical problem worldwide and is the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity. Although the causes of preterm labour are poorly understood, intrauterine infection and inflammation are important causal factors in many cases. This chapter introduces the concept that labour is an inflammatory event and discusses the role of intrauterine infection as a cause of preterm labour. The ineffectiveness of currently available treatments for preterm labour is discussed and the potential use of anti-inflammatory agents as novel therapeutic agents is then considered.

1.2 LABOUR: AN INFLAMMATORY EVENT

The physiological process of parturition involves three main processes: cervical ripening and dilation, rupture of the fetal membranes, and the development of synchronous myometrial contractions, resulting in successful delivery of the fetus. It is clear that the timing of the initiation of labour must be tightly controlled, as the premature onset of labour can result in preterm birth (delivery prior to 37 weeks gestation), which is the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide (Goldenberg *et al.* 2008). However, despite intensive research over recent decades, the molecular mechanisms responsible for regulating the initiation of labour remain relatively poorly understood. Over recent years, strong evidence has emerged that the process of parturition shares many characteristics with a classical inflammatory response, including leukocyte influx and increased production of pro-inflammatory mediators in the intrauterine tissues, leading to the now well-accepted concept that labour is an inflammatory event.

1.2.1 Immune cells and parturition

Some of the earliest evidence associating labour and inflammation came from work examining the process of cervical ripening more than 30 years ago, where it was shown that cervical ripening was characterised by an influx of neutrophils into the cervical stroma (Junqueira *et al.* 1980, Liggins 1981). Since these early studies, more recent work has confirmed that both neutrophils and macrophages infiltrate the cervix either just prior to, or at the onset of labour (Bokström *et al.* 1997, Osman *et al.* 2003). A similar leukocyte influx during labour at term has also been reported in the myometrium, fetal membranes and decidua (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Keski-Nisula *et al.* 2000, Osman *et al.* 2003, Osman *et al.* 2006, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2009, Hamilton *et al.* 2012). Additionally, Yuan *et al.* also reported increased activation of peripheral blood leukocytes at onset of labour (Yuan *et al.* 2009).

The recruitment of leukocytes from peripheral blood into tissues involves two main processes, the production of chemotactic signals, and increased expression of cell adhesion molecules. Chemokines are a subfamily of cytokines which are involved in directing leukocyte migration to the site of tissue injury/inflammation and promoting their activation (Simon *et al.* 1998). Leukocytes are recruited to the intrauterine

tissues in response to chemotactic signals released by the gestational tissues (Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2009, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010). Cell adhesion molecules are proteins expressed on the cell surface of circulating immune cells and the vascular endothelium, which are involved in the recruitment, adhesion and migration of leukocytes from the circulation into target tissues during an inflammatory response (Bevilacqua 1993). During labour, increased expression of several cell adhesion molecules, such as intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule (PECAM), vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) and e-selectin has been reported in the cervix, myometrium and fetal membranes (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Ledingham *et al.* 2001, Osman *et al.* 2004), suggesting that these molecules are involved in regulating the labour-associated immune cell influx into the utero-placental tissues.

These infiltrating leukocytes contribute to the local intrauterine inflammatory environment by producing a number of pro-inflammatory mediators (Roh *et al.* 2000, Helmig *et al.* 2002, Young *et al.* 2002), which can stimulate labour progression (these will be discussed in greater detail in the next section). Although neutrophils and macrophages are the predominant immune cells infiltrating the intrauterine tissues in association with labour, there are other immune cell populations present at the maternal-fetal interface which could contribute to the labour-associated inflammatory response, including T cells, uterine NK cells and mast cells (Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010).

1.2.1.1 Neutrophils

Neutrophils are one of three leukocyte subtypes collectively known as granulocytes (which also include eosinophils and basophils) characterised by a distinct multi-lobed nucleus and numerous granules (there are at least four types of granules in human neutrophils). They are synthesised continuously from myeloid precursor cells in the bone marrow and are usually released into the circulation as mature terminally differentiated cells. They are the most abundant population of leukocytes in circulating human blood (approximately 70% of total circulating leukocytes are neutrophils) (Leitch *et al.* 2008). Neutrophils play important roles in acute inflammation and are usually the first leukocytes to be recruited to an inflammatory site. In response to an infection, they have multiple effector mechanisms to neutralise and eliminate pathogens, these include: phagocytosis, degranulation and release of antibacterial

proteins (e.g. defensins and cathespins); production of reactive oxygen species (e.g. O_2^-); and formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETS), which can immobilise and kill pathogens extracellularly. Additionally, neutrophils are an important source of proinflammatory mediators, (e.g. leukotriene B₄), cytokines (e.g. IL-1), chemokines (e.g. IL-8) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs, particularly MMP-9) (Kolaczkowska and Kubes 2013). Many of these factors can exacerbate the inflammatory response by causing the recruitment, activation and increased longevity of neutrophils (Leitch *et al.* 2008, Fox *et al.* 2010) and other inflammatory cells, including macrophages (Nathan 2006).

1.2.1.2 Macrophages

Macrophages, which are usually derived from circulating monocytes, are found in almost all tissues of the body, where they have important roles in a diverse number of processes, including development, homeostasis, repair and immune responses (Wynn et al. 2013). Macrophages can be divided based on the tissue in which they are located in the body, for example lung macrophages are termed alveolar macrophages, macrophages in the bone are termed osteoblasts, and macrophages found in the liver are called Kupffer cells. These tissue-resident macrophages are involved in maintaining normal tissue homeostasis by constantly monitoring for signs of tissue damage and phagocytosing dead or dying cells (Murray and Wynn 2011). Macrophages can have important pro- and anti-inflammatory actions. In response to a pathogen, macrophages phagocytose the invading organism and release a number of proinflammatory mediators (e.g. TNF- α and IL-1 β) that can activate other immune cells and drive the inflammatory response; these pro-inflammatory activated macrophages have been previously classified as M1 macrophages. However, macrophages are also important in driving the resolution of inflammation and tissue repair, by producing anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-10) and growth factors (e.g. TGF- β) and removing apoptotic cells from the tissue, these have been classically termed M2 macrophages (Murray and Wynn 2011). Interestingly, specialised 'resolution-phase macrophages' have been identified in mice, which generally have an M2 phenotype, but which also express classical M1 markers, such as COX-2, alongside other markers which promote the resolution of inflammation (Bystrom et al. 2008, Stables et al. 2011).

1.2.2 Inflammatory mediator production and parturition

Further evidence that labour is an inflammatory event comes from data showing that co-incident with the onset of parturition and the influx of immune cells into the uteroplacental tissues, there is also increased production of inflammatory mediators in these tissues which are proposed to have multiple actions in stimulating cervical ripening and dilation, fetal membrane rupture and myometrial contractility, the three fundamental processes of labour. The inflammatory mediators that play important roles in the onset and progression of parturition include cytokines and chemokines, prostaglandins, and MMPs.

1.2.2.1 Cytokines and chemokines

Cytokines are a family of small glycoprotein signalling molecules that are produced by both immune and non-immune cells in the body and act locally to regulate multiple biological processes (Saito 2000). Most focus is on their role in regulating inflammatory/immune responses; indeed there is strong evidence that cytokines are important in regulating many reproductive processes associated with inflammation, particularly during pregnancy. As previously described, chemokines are a sub-family of cytokines which have specific chemoattractant activities. Chemokines mediate their effects via binding to specific G-protein-coupled receptors that are expressed on both immune cells and many other cell types in the body. Cytokines work together in complex networks, where they can work synergistically together, or antagonise the actions of other cytokines. Two other unique properties of cytokines include pleiotropism, that is they can act on multiple target cells to produce different responses; and functional redundancy, where multiple cytokines can act on the same cell to produce the same effect (Paulesu *et al.* 2010). The roles of a number of chemokines and cytokines in pregnancy and parturition have been well reviewed (Orsi and Tribe 2008, Gomez-Lopez et al. 2010, Paulesu et al. 2010).

The onset of labour is associated with increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, including the pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and the chemokine, IL-8 in the cervix, decidua, fetal membranes myometrium and placenta (Elliott *et al.* 2000, Sennstrom *et*

al. 2000, Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003). Additionally, recent microarray analysis comparing gene expression in myometrium, cervix and fetal membranes obtained from labouring and non-labouring women at term, confirmed that labour is associated with a core inflammatory response in these tissues, with chemokines being some of the most highly up-regulated genes associated with labour (Haddad *et al.* 2006, Bollapragada *et al.* 2009). Increased production of inflammatory mediators, including IL-6, TNF- α , chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2, also known as MCP-1), and chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 5 (CXCL5, also known as ENA-78), has also been described in the amniotic fluid of women in spontaneous labour at term, compared with non-labouring women (Olah *et al.* 1996, Maymon *et al.* 1999, Esplin *et al.* 2003, Keelan *et al.* 2004).

These cytokines and chemokines can further perpetuate the local inflammatory environment by further promoting leukocyte recruitment, activating inflammatory signalling pathways, such as the NF- κ B pathway, and by inducing the production of other inflammatory mediators which can stimulate the processes of fetal membrane rupture, cervical ripening and dilation, and myometrial contractions. *In vitro*, both IL-1 β and TNF- α increase expression of the proteases, MMPs (So *et al.* 1992, Arechavaleta-Velasco *et al.* 2002), while decreasing expression of their inhibitors, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) (So *et al.* 1992). The expression of MMPs and TIMPs in the cervix is similarly affected by pro-inflammatory cytokines *in vitro* (Watari *et al.* 1999, Yoshida *et al.* 2002). IL-1 β and TNF- α can also stimulate myometrial contractility by increasing calcium entry and concentration in myometrial smooth muscle cells (Tribe *et al.* 2003, Barata *et al.* 2004) and by up-regulating the production and activity of prostaglandins in the myometrium, by increasing expression of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2, and their receptors (Pollard and Mitchell 1996, Rauk and Chiao 2000, Olson *et al.* 2003, Sooranna *et al.* 2006, Duggan *et al.* 2007).

1.2.2.2 Prostaglandins

Prostaglandins are another class of important inflammatory mediators involved in parturition. They are arachidonic acid-derived lipid mediators that are produced by most cell types in the body. Phospholipase enzymes release arachidonic acid from the phospholipid cell membrane, allowing it to be converted to the intermediate prostaglandin, prostaglandin endoperoxide H_2 (PGH₂) by the actions of the

prostaglandin endoperoxidase synthase (PTGS) enzymes 1 and 2 (more commonly known as COX-1 and COX-2). COX-1 is constitutively expressed in tissues throughout the body, whereas COX-2 expression is up-regulated by cytokines and growth factors. This intermediate prostaglandin is then converted by the action of specific prostaglandin synthases into active prostaglandins, such as PGE_2 , PGF_{2a} and PGD_2 . Prostaglandins are produced and act locally, and are rapidly metabolised by the enzyme 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (15-HPGD), which breaks them down into inactive 15-keto metabolites (Olson 2003).

The expression of COX-2 increases with the onset of spontaneous labour at term in the fetal membranes, decidua and myometrium (Hirst *et al.* 1995, Slater *et al.* 1995, Hirst *et al.* 1998, Slater *et al.* 1999); and the production of PGE₂ and PGF₂. from the amnion, myometrium, decidua and amniotic fluid is increased during spontaneous term labour (Willman and Collins 1976, Bennett *et al.* 1993, Erkinheimo *et al.* 2000, Lee *et al.* 2008). In addition, increased expression of the specific PGE₂ and PGF₂. receptors has also been reported during term labour in the fetal membranes and decidua (Unlugedik *et al.* 2010). Several studies have demonstrated that prostaglandins can simulate myometrial contractions (Dyal and Crankshaw 1988, Senior *et al.* 1993), fetal membrane rupture (McLaren *et al.* 2000, Keelan *et al.* 2001) and cervical ripening (Fletcher *et al.* 1993, Kelly *et al.* 2009).

1.2.2.3 MMPs

MMPs are a family of zinc-dependent protease enzymes that are involved in degradation of extracellular matrix proteins. MMPs affect a wide range of biological processes, including tissue morphogenesis, wound repair and inflammation. They are secreted by a wide range of tissues and their production can be induced by cytokines and growth factors. The production of MMPs is tightly regulated by the production of their endogenous inhibitor proteins, TIMPs (Sternlicht and Werb 2001). Given their well-defined role in tissue breakdown and remodelling, MMPs play important roles in the processes of cervical ripening and fetal membrane rupture. Several studies have reported increased MMP expression, particularly MMP-2 and MMP-9, in association with spontaneous labour at term in the myometrium, fetal membranes, placenta and cervix (Stygar *et al.* 2002, Xu *et al.* 2002, Yoshida *et al.* 2002, Choi *et al.* 2007); co-incident with decreased TIMP expression (Riley *et al.* 1999).

1.2.3 Role of NF-KB activation in parturition

Central to the dramatic increase in pro-inflammatory mediator production with the onset of parturition, is the transcription factor, nuclear factor- κB (NF- κB). NF- κB is a key transcription factor involved in regulating the transcription of a wide number of genes, but is classically linked to inflammation and immune responses (Hayden and Ghosh 2004). There are five different transcription factors involved in the NF-κB pathway, these are p50, p52, p65, c-REL and RELB; these transcription factors interact with one another to form either homo- or hetero-dimers which can bind to specific κB sequences on target genes to regulate their transcription. Normally, in unstimulated cells, NF-KB is held inactive in the cell cytoplasm by the actions of its endogenous inhibitor proteins, the I κ B proteins. In response to an inflammatory stimulus, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , or bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the I κ B inhibitor protein is phosphorylated by the actions of the I κ B kinase enzymes, usually IKK β , leading to subsequent ubiquitination and proteosomal degradation of the IkB inhibitor protein, thus freeing the NF κ B dimer to translocate to the nucleus of the cell where it can bind to specific NF- κ B DNA binding sites to regulate the transcription of target genes (Hayden and Ghosh 2004).

Two recent reviews have discussed the role of NF- κ B in regulating the inflammatory events surrounding the onset of human parturition (Lindstrom and Bennett 2005, Lappas and Rice 2007). There are conflicting reports regarding changes in NF- κ B activity in the intrauterine tissues in association with labour. There have been a number of studies which have reported increased NF-kB activity and nuclear localisation of p65 in amnion (Allport et al. 2001, Lee et al. 2003, Lim et al. 2012), decidua (Yan et al. 2002, Vora et al. 2010) and myometrium (Condon et al. 2006, Vora et al. 2010) collected from women in labour, compared to non-labouring women; however, other studies have not observed any significant changes in NF- κ B activity when comparing amnion and myometrial tissues obtained from women pre- and postlabour (Yan et al. 2002, Vora et al. 2010, Khanjani et al. 2011), although nuclear p65 staining was observed, suggesting activation of NF- κ B prior to labour onset. There is considerable *in vitro* evidence that demonstrates a role for NF-κB in the regulation of several key pro-inflammatory genes associated with labour. Blocking NF- κ B activity has been reported to: inhibit inflammatory cytokine expression, including IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- α in amnion and cervical epithelial cells (Elliott *et al.* 2001) and amnion and

chorio-decidua tissue (Lappas *et al.* 2003); inhibit COX-2 expression and prostaglandin production in amnion and myometrial cells (Lindstrom and Bennett 2005); and decrease MMP activity in amnion and chorio-decidual tissues (Lappas *et al.* 2003) Additionally, a recent study using a cDNA microarray to examine NF- κ B-regulated genes in myocytes obtained from women at term demonstrated that NF- κ B activation up-regulated the expression of a number of genes related to inflammation and immunity in pregnant myometrium (Khanjani *et al.* 2011). Collectively these studies demonstrate an important role for NF- κ B in regulating the production of inflammatory mediators within the utero-placental tissues in association with parturition.

1.2.4 Steroid hormones and parturition

1.2.4.1 Progesterone

Progesterone is the main steroid hormone produced throughout pregnancy in humans, initially by the corpus luteum, and then by the placenta, and plays a crucial role in maintaining uterine quiescence throughout gestation. Evidence that progesterone is required for the maintenance of pregnancy comes from studies which demonstrate that removal of the corpus luteum or administration of progesterone receptor (PR) antagonists during the first trimester of pregnancy led to pregnancy loss (Csapo and Pulkkinen 1978, Peyron *et al.* 1993). It is proposed that progesterone maintains uterine quiescence during pregnancy via anti-inflammatory actions, which will be discussed in greater detail later. The exact mechanisms by which progesterone maintains uterine quiescence are still being investigated, but are thought to include: inhibiting the expression of contraction-associated proteins (CAPs), such as connexin-43 and oxytocin receptors; inhibiting prostaglandin production by inhibiting COX-2 expression; and inhibiting inflammatory signalling, via blocking of NF-κB activity (Loudon *et al.* 2003, Renthal *et al.* 2010, Mesiano *et al.* 2011, Tan *et al.* 2012).

In most species, labour is preceded by a sharp drop in circulating progesterone levels, which is not observed in humans, suggesting that a decline in progesterone levels is not required for the onset of labour in humans. However, as administration of the PR antagonist, mifepristone (or RU486) can be used to ripen the cervix and increase the responsiveness of the uterus to contractile agents (Chwalisz *et al.* 1991, Frydman *et al.*

1992, Elliott *et al.* 1998), this suggests that some form of progesterone withdrawal, locally within the uterus, is important to the initiation of parturition. This has led to the hypothesis that in humans at term there is a functional progesterone withdrawal, which results in a local reduction in responsiveness of the uterus to the actions of progesterone. The mechanisms by which this functional progesterone withdrawal is proposed to come about include: changes in PR isoform ratios in the myometrium, where there is increased expression of the inhibitory PR-A isoform, resulting in an increase in the PR-A/PR-B ratio (Pieber *et al.* 2001, Mesiano *et al.* 2002, Merlino *et al.* 2007); increased local progesterone metabolism (Mitchell and Wong 1993, Williams *et al.* 2012); negative interactions between NF-κB and the PR (Allport *et al.* 2001); and a decline in the expression of PR co-activators, cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB), and steroid receptor co-activators, which may impair PR function (Condon *et al.* 2003).

1.2.4.2 Estrogen

The role of estrogens in regulating the inflammatory cascade associated with parturition is less clear. Estrogen can stimulate myometrial contractility by increasing the expression of CAPs, such as COX-2, connexin-43 and oxytocin receptor (Pinto *et al.* 1966, Petrocelli and Lye 1993, Mesiano *et al.* 2002). Estrogen is produced throughout gestation, with circulating estrogen levels gradually increasing from mid-gestation until birth, but there is no evidence of increased circulating estrogen in association with the initiation of labour in women (Tulchinsky *et al.* 1972, Boroditsky *et al.* 1978); however, it has been proposed that similar to the functional progesterone withdrawal, parturition involves functional estrogen activation (Mesiano and Welsh 2007). Estrogen receptor α (ER α) expression is increased in labouring myometrium, compared to non-labouring, co-incident with decreased PR-B expression, suggesting that during pregnancy progesterone attenuates the actions of estrogen by inhibiting ER α expression, and at the time of functional progesterone withdrawal, increased ER α expression allows estrogen to act on the uterus to stimulate contractions (Mesiano *et al.* 2002).

1.2.5 Initiation of the inflammatory response at term

Therefore, whilst there is now strong evidence that labour is an inflammatory event, the mechanisms responsible for initiating the inflammatory cascade normally at term remain unclear. Mechanical stretch of the uterus, which occurs at the end of gestation, is one mechanism that has been proposed to initiate labour. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that myometrial cells respond to stretch by increasing chemokine expression and expression of COX-2 via activation of both the NF- κ B and MAPK signalling pathways (Loudon *et al.* 2004, Sooranna *et al.* 2004, Hua *et al.* 2012); and similar effects of stretch have been reported in amnion epithelial cells *in vitro* (Mohan *et al.* 2007). The effect of stretch on myometrial chemokine production has also been confirmed *in vivo*, where Shynlova *et al.*, reported that in a unilateral pregnant rat model, expression of *Ccl2* was much greater in uterine tissue taken from the pregnant uterine horn, which had been stretched as the implanted fetuses grew through gestation, compared to the empty, non-pregnant horn (Shynlova *et al.* 2008).

Another hypothesis to explain how the inflammatory cascade of labour is normally initiated involves the production of a signal from the maturing fetus that triggers the onset of parturition. Surfactant, a protein produced by the maturing fetal lung, is proposed to be an important fetal trigger for labour. Condon *et al.*, reported that in a mouse model, surfactant protein secretion into the amniotic fluid by the maturing fetal lung from day 17 of gestation onwards, was associated with increased IL-1 β expression in amniotic fluid macrophages and NF- κ B activation in the uterus; and showed that injection of surfactant protein A into the amniotic fluid of mice on day 15 of gestation induced preterm labour (Condon et al. 2004). Additionally, amniotic fluid-derived surfactant protein has been reported to increase PGE₂ release from cultured amnion discs in vitro, suggesting that surfactant can be a source of arachidonic acid for prostaglandin synthesis, which may also initiate labour in humans (Lopez Bernal et al. 1988). However, the importance of surfactant in inducing labour has been questioned, as over-expression of surfactant protein in mice was not found to induce labour (Salminen et al. 2011); and other studies have questioned the role of surfactant in inducing labour in humans (Lee et al. 2010).

Interestingly, a recent study investigating whether mice deficient in surfactant proteins had delayed onset of parturition highlighted the complexity in understanding the mechanisms responsible for initiating labour. Montalbano *et al.*, reported that mice

deficient in surfactant proteins A and D delivered normally during their first pregnancies, but demonstrated a significant delay in delivery in their second pregnancies, suggesting that the initiation of labour is likely to be a multifactorial process, which may also be affected by parity (Montalbano *et al.* 2013).

1.3 PRETERM LABOUR

1.3.1 The incidence and consequences of preterm labour

Preterm labour, defined as the initiation of labour prior to 37 weeks of gestation, is a major clinical problem which is estimated to affect between 5 and 18% of pregnancies annually across the world, resulting in around 15 million preterm births each year (March of Dimes 2012). In Scotland, in 2011, around 7.3% of all births were preterm (ISD Scotland 2012). The incidence of preterm birth in recent decades has remained relatively unchanged, with some studies actually demonstrating an increase in the rate of preterm birth in many developed countries including the USA and the UK (Norman et al. 2009, Blencowe et al. 2012). Despite advances in the medical care of preterm infants, preterm birth remains the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide, and has been estimated to account for up to 75% of neonatal deaths (Goldenberg et al. 2008), with more than one million babies dying each year due to the complications of their premature birth (March of Dimes 2012). Indeed, although a greater number of premature infants now survive, with 77% of babies born at 26 weeks of gestation in the UK now leaving hospital (Costeloe et al. 2012), premature birth is also associated with an increased risk of both short-term morbidities and longterm disabilities, including cerebral palsy, bronchopulmonary dysplasia, retinopathy of prematurity and learning difficulties (Saigal and Doyle 2008).

In addition to the huge emotional burden premature birth can place on families, the economic burden that premature birth places on public sector resources is vast. Taking into consideration not only the immediate costs of caring for a newborn preterm infant, but also the continuing costs of dealing with the long-term morbidities associated with premature birth until the age of 18, Mangham *et al.* estimate that the total annual cost of preterm birth to the public sector in England and Wales was £2.946 billion (at 2006 prices)(Mangham *et al.* 2009). This translates into an additional incremental cost of

£22,885 throughout childhood required for every preterm child surviving to 18 years of age, compared with costs associated with the care of babies born at term (Mangham *et al.* 2009).

1.3.2 Causes of preterm labour

Preterm labour can be categorised into three groups. The first is medically indicated preterm labour, where labour is induced or the baby is delivered prematurely by caesarean section to reduce the risk of significant harm to either the mother or fetus (or both); this accounts for 30-35% of preterm births. The second category of preterm labour occurs following preterm premature rupture of the membranes (PPROM), which accounts for 25-30% of preterm births. The third, and largest, category of preterm labour is spontaneous preterm labour, which accounts for 40-45% of all preterm births (Goldenberg *et al.* 2008). Whilst preterm births have been categorised in this manner for many years, interestingly, a recent paper has suggested that a more comprehensive classification system is required to better define the variable complex phenotypes of preterm birth. Villar *et al.* suggest that preterm birth classification should take into account maternal and fetal conditions, placental pathology, whether there are any signs of the initiation of parturition, and the pathway to delivery (Villar *et al.* 2012).

The causes of spontaneous preterm labour are poorly understood and in the majority of cases, the underlying reasons why a woman has delivered prematurely are unknown. Intensive research into this area has suggested a number of pathological processes that are associated with preterm birth including, uterine overdistention, cervical deficiency, abnormal allograft reaction, utero-placental ischemia, endocrine disorders and an allergic reaction (Romero *et al.* 2006). However, to date, the only factor for which a firm causal link as been proven is the presence of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation (Goldenberg *et al.* 2000, Romero *et al.* 2006). Therefore, there is growing interest in the hypothesis that in many cases, preterm labour may occur because of the premature activation of the same inflammatory pathways normally initiated with labour at term, either idiopathically, or in response to a pathological intrauterine infection. The inflammatory events proposed to be involved in the initiation of physiological term labour and pathological infection-induced preterm labour are summarised in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 - Inflammatory events associated with term labour and infectioninduced preterm labour. The inflammatory cascade associated with term labour is shown on the left, and the events of infection-induced preterm labour on the right. In response to an intrauterine infection, which is recognised via TLRs present at the maternal-fetal interface, a similar inflammatory cascade to that proposed to occur during normal physiological term labour is prematurely initiated, resulting in preterm birth. Adapted from Rinaldi *et al.*, (2011).
1.3.3 Intrauterine infection as a major cause of preterm labour

Up to 40% of preterm deliveries are associated with the presence of an intrauterine infection (Agrawal and Hirsch 2012), with early preterm deliveries (i.e. before 30 weeks gestation), being more strongly associated with infection (Mueller-Heubach *et al.* 1990, Lahra and Jeffery 2004). A diverse range of bacteria is associated with preterm labour, including *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, *Mycoplamsma hominis*, *Gardnerella vaginalis*, *Escherichia coli*, and group B streptococci (Goldenberg *et al.* 2000). The most common route that microorganisms are thought to gain access to the usually sterile amniotic cavity is via ascension from the vagina and cervix, although other proposed routes include: haematogenous dissemination through the placenta; retrograde invasion from the time of invasive obstetric procedures such as amniocentesis (Goldenberg *et al.* 2008).

Supporting evidence that intrauterine infection causes preterm labour includes data showing that women delivering preterm have: a higher incidence of positive amniotic fluid cultures (Romero et al. 1989), a higher incidence of chorioamnionitis (infection of the fetal membranes) (Mueller-Heubach et al. 1990), and higher levels of proinflammatory mediators in their amniotic fluid, including IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6 and MMP-8, compared to women delivering at term (Yoon et al. 2001, Thomakos et al. 2010, Marconi et al. 2011). Additionally, studies in animal models demonstrate that the intrauterine or systemic administration of bacteria, or bacterial products, effectively induces preterm labour in mice (Hirsch and Muhle 2002, Elovitz et al. 2003, Wang and Hirsch 2003, Pirianov et al. 2009, Sykes et al. 2013), rats (Bennett et al. 2000, Terrone et al. 2001), rabbits (McDuffie et al. 1992, Davies et al. 2000) and rhesus monkeys (Gravett et al. 1994, Adams Waldorf et al. 2008). Interestingly, administration of either IL-1 β or TNF- α to pregnant animals has also been shown to induce preterm labour (Romero et al. 1991, Silver et al. 1994, Sadowsky et al. 2003, Yoshimura and Hirsch 2005, Sadowsky et al. 2006); highlighting that the inflammatory response to intrauterine infection is likely to be key to the induction of preterm labour, as even in the absence of infection pro-inflammatory mediators can induce preterm labour.

The presence of an intrauterine infection is also associated with a number of adverse effects on the fetus. Exposure of the fetus to an intrauterine infection can result in the development of a systemic inflammatory response, known as the fetal inflammatory response syndrome (FIRS), which can result in damage to multiple organs, including the heart, lungs, eyes and kidneys (Gomez *et al.* 1998, Gotsch *et al.* 2007). In particular, perinatal brain damage, a major consequence of preterm birth, has been strongly linked to the presence of intrauterine inflammation and infection (Galinsky *et al.* 2013). Indeed Shatrov *et al.* reported in a recent meta-analysis study that the presence of histological chorioamnionitis was associated with an 80% increase in the risk of development of cerebral palsy (Shatrov *et al.* 2010).

1.3.3.1 Molecular mechanisms of infection-induced preterm labour: role of toll-like receptors

The mechanism by which intrauterine infection is proposed to induce preterm labour is via Toll-like receptor (TLR) recognition of bacterial products resulting in the activation of an innate immune response. TLRs are a family of pattern recognition receptors which play a key role in activating the innate immune response to pathogens by recognising pathogen-associated molecular patterns expressed by microbes. To date 10 TLRs and their respective ligands have been identified in humans, including: TLR-4, which is involved in binding LPS, a cell wall component of Gram-negative bacteria; TLR-2 which is involved in the recognition of Gram-positive bacterial components including peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid; TLR-3 which is involved in co-ordinating the immune response to viruses by binding viral double-stranded RNA; and TLR-9 which is required for the recognition of specific unmethylated CpG motifs present in bacterial DNA (Takeda and Akira 2001, Koga *et al.* 2009).

Upon ligand binding, TLR-signalling is mediated via either the myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88)-dependent pathway or MyD88-independent pathway. In the MyD88-dependent pathway, ligand binding to the TLR results in recruitment of the adapter protein MyD88 which in turn recruits and activates other intracellular signalling molecules, IL-1 receptor-associated kinases (IRAK), and TNF receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF-6), which ultimately results in activation of two important inflammatory signalling pathways, the JNK and NF- κ B signalling pathways. In the MyD88-independent pathway, TLR signalling is mediated via the adaptor protein Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β (TRIF) which can in turn result in activation of the NF- κ B signalling pathway, and is also involved in inducing transcription of type-1 interferons via activation of the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3). The MyD88-dependent pathway is the common pathway of TLR signalling for all TLRs, while TLR-3 and TLR-4 have also been shown to be capable of signalling via the MyD88-independent pathway (Takeda and Akira 2001, Koga *et al.* 2009). An overview of the LPS-TLR-4 signalling pathway resulting in NF- κ B activation is given in Figure 1.2.

At the maternal-fetal interface TLR expression has been reported in the decidua (Canavan and Simhan 2007, Krikun *et al.* 2007, Schatz *et al.* 2012), myometrium (Youssef *et al.* 2009, Thota *et al.* 2013), placenta (Holmlund *et al.* 2002, Kumazaki *et al.* 2004, Pineda *et al.* 2011, Chatterjee *et al.* 2012), and fetal membranes (Kim *et al.* 2004, Choi *et al.* 2012, Abrahams *et al.* 2013). Some of these studies reported increased expression of TLR-2 and TLR-4 in term labouring samples, compared with non-labouring (Kim *et al.* 2004, Youssef *et al.* 2009); and TLR expression was also increased in placenta and fetal membranes obtained from women with evidence of chorioamnionitis (Kim *et al.* 2004, Kumazaki *et al.* 2004), and in response to bacterial treatment of fetal membrane explants *in vitro* (Abrahams *et al.* 2013, Thota *et al.* 2013).

Animal models have confirmed the role of TLR-4 in infection-induced preterm labour, where studies using TLR-4 deficient mice demonstrated that TLR-4 signalling is required for LPS- or *E.coli*-induced preterm delivery (Elovitz *et al.* 2003, Wang and Hirsch 2003). Additionally, blocking TLR-4 signalling inhibited uterine contractions and amniotic pro-inflammatory mediator production in a model of LPS-induced preterm labour in rhesus monkeys (Adams Waldorf *et al.* 2008); and reduced the rate of preterm delivery and improved pup survival in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour (Li *et al.* 2010).

Therefore, taken together this evidence suggests that TLR signalling in response to an intrauterine infection is likely to activate inflammatory signalling pathways, such as NF- κ B, inducing the premature activation of the inflammatory cascade proposed to occur at term, resulting in preterm labour.



Figure 1.2 – Overview of NF-κB activation in response to LPS signalling via TLR-4. LPS binding to TLR-4 can induce an inflammatory response via NF-κB activation which can occur as a result of a MyD88-dependent or MyD88-independent pathway. In the MyD88-dependent pathway, LPS binding to TLR-4 results in MyD88 recruitment which in turn recruits and activates other intracellular signalling molecules including IRAK and TRAF-6, leading to the release of NF-κB molecules from their inhibitor protein in the cytoplasm, allowing NF-κB to translocate to the nucleus where it can bind to target genes and promote pro-inflammatory gene expression. In the MyD88-independent pathway, NF-κB activation can occur through activation of the intracellular signalling molecule, TRIF.

1.3.4 Current therapeutic options for the treatment of preterm labour

Despite considerable medical advances over recent decades resulting in more premature babies surviving, preterm birth remains the single biggest cause of neonatal mortality worldwide and the second leading cause of death in children under five years of age (March of Dimes 2012). A major reason why preterm birth remains such a huge clinical problem is because current treatment options are limited and largely ineffective at improving neonatal outcome, which is the ultimate goal of preterm birth prevention. The following section briefly discusses the currently available therapeutic options to treat preterm labour.

1.3.4.1 Tocolytics

Current treatments for preterm labour focus on using tocolytic drugs to stop myometrial contractions. Drugs used for this purpose include calcium channel blockers, β -mimetics and nitric oxide donors, which act to directly inhibit myometrial smooth muscle contractions; and oxytocin receptor antagonists and non-steroidal antiinflammatory agents (NSAIDs), which target the production and action of two procontractile agents, prostaglandins and oxytocin (Hubinont and Debieve 2011). Whilst a number of these commonly used tocolytic agents have been shown to delay preterm labour for 48 hours up to 7 days (King et al. 2003, Smith et al. 2009, Haas et al. 2012), there is little evidence that these drugs actually improve neonatal outcome. Indeed, the latest guidelines published by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists on the topic of tocolysis for women in preterm labour state that "there is no clear evidence that tocolytic drugs improve outcome and therefore it is reasonable not to use them" (RCOG 2011); and a recent review article questions the continued use of tocolytics in clinical practice today (Kenyon and Peebles 2011). The limited effectiveness of tocolytic drugs in delaying preterm delivery rates and improving neonatal outcome, is likely due to the fact that these drugs do not target the underlying cause of preterm labour, instead focussing on the inhibition of myometrial contractions, which are an end-point in the inflammatory cascade of labour, therefore it is possible that at this point in the inflammatory cascade, the physiological process of labour may be hard to reverse.

1.3.4.2 Antibiotics

Given the strong link between intrauterine infection and preterm labour, the use of broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy for the treatment of spontaneous preterm labour was trialled in a large randomised multicentre trial. Whilst initial results of the ORACLE I trial appeared promising, where erythromycin treatment was associated with prolongation of pregnancy and a reduction in neonatal morbidities in women with PPROM, compared to the placebo group (Kenyon et al. 2001); in the ORACLE II trial, women who were in spontaneous preterm labour with intact membranes showed no benefit of antibiotic treatment (Kenyon et al. 2001). Furthermore, follow-up of the babies treated with antibiotics in ORACLE I and II at 7 years of age revealed the shortterm benefits observed in the initial ORACLE I study were no longer apparent, with no difference in terms of the rates of functional impairment between children treated with erythromycin and those that were not (Kenyon et al. 2008); and of more concern, a greater proportion of children in the ORACLE II trial whose mothers received erythromycin treatment had functional impairment compared with the placebo group; and antibiotic treatment was also associated with an increased risk of cerebral palsy (Kenyon et al. 2008). These findings highlight the importance of long-term follow-up studies to fully investigate whether delaying preterm delivery results in improved neonatal outcome. Particularly in the context of intrauterine infection, delaying delivery could result in prolonged exposure of the fetus to a hostile inflammatory environment, which may ultimately lead to adverse, rather than improved, outcomes.

1.3.4.3 Progesterone

The use of progesterone treatment to delay preterm delivery has been considered for many decades, with the first report investigating progesterone administration for the treatment of threatened preterm labour published in 1960 (Fuchs and Stakemann 1960), however it is only in the last decade, following the publication of two randomised controlled trials (da Fonseca *et al.* 2003, Meis *et al.* 2003), that there has been renewed interest in investigating the potential of progesterone as a therapeutic option to treat preterm labour. As already discussed, progesterone plays a key role in maintaining uterine quiescence throughout pregnancy and progesterone withdrawal, or reduced local action of progesterone, is thought to be an important regulator of the initiation of parturition; alongside evidence that progesterone receptor antagonists

(such as mifepristone, RU486) can induce the onset of labour and cervical ripening in women and animal models (Clark *et al.* 2006, Hapangama and Neilson 2009), progesterone treatment seems to be a logical option in the treatment of preterm labour.

There are a number of clinical trials still on-going evaluating the effectiveness of different progesterone derivatives, dosage regimes and optimal routes of administration, but to date progesterone supplementation has been reported to reduce preterm delivery rates in high-risk women, that is those with a previous preterm delivery or with a short cervix (Mackenzie et al. 2006, Dodd et al. 2008, Conde-Agudelo et al. 2013, Schmouder et al. 2013). However in contrast, O'Brien et al., reported that although progesterone treatment was associated with less cervical shortening, compared to the placebo group in a randomised double blind placebo controlled trial, this did not significantly affect the rate of recurrent preterm birth (O'Brien et al. 2007, O'Brien *et al.* 2009). Additionally, progesterone prophylaxis does not appear to be effective in reducing preterm birth rates in women with multiple pregnancies (Briery et al. 2009, Norman et al. 2009, Combs et al. 2010, Wood et al. 2012); or in those with PPROM (Briery et al. 2011), highlighting that whilst progesterone is a promising new treatment option, it only appears to be effective in a specific sub-group of high-risk women with a singleton pregnancy. Furthermore, although progesterone treatment has delayed delivery in some cases, there is still little convincing evidence that progesterone prophylaxis ultimately improves neonatal outcome (Smith et al. 2009, Dodd and Crowther 2010). Results of the OPPTIMUM trial, a UK-based randomised double blind placebo controlled trial examining the effect of progesterone prophylaxis on neonatal outcome at 2 years of age, will provide more information regarding the benefits of progesterone treatment.

Therefore, clinicians face a difficult task when attempting to treat preterm labour, they have few treatment options to choose from, and of those that are available, there is insufficient evidence that they actually improve neonatal outcome. The limited effectiveness of the currently available treatments is likely due to poor understanding of the varied underlying mechanisms causing preterm labour and the fact that most focus on blocking myometrial contractions, an end-point in the inflammatory cascade proposed to initiate labour normally. The limited number of treatment options is in part due to under-investment by the pharmaceutical industry in the development of new drugs to treat pregnancy-related disorders. Due to the risks associated with administering drugs to pregnant women, where there are possible fetal side-effects to consider, long-term follow-up studies are required to confirm any adverse effects on the children; and the fact that pregnant women represent a relatively small target market, where pregnancy and pregnancy-related pathologies are considered 'shortterm', there is very little interest from the pharmaceutical industry to develop new drugs to treat pregnancy-related disorders. Indeed, a recent study highlighted that only 17 drugs were currently under development for treating obstetric-related problems, compared with 660 drugs being investigated for cardiovascular diseases; and in the last 20 years, only one new class of drug (oxytocin receptor antagonists) has been licensed to treat pregnancy-related conditions in Europe (Fisk and Atun 2008).

Preterm labour is a multi-factorial condition, and as demonstrated in the case of progesterone treatment, one treatment is not going to be applicable or effective for each woman. Improving our understanding of the underlying causes of preterm labour and improved identification of 'high-risk' women will hopefully lead to novel and more targeted treatments. As mentioned earlier, a further complication in attempting to stop preterm delivery is that in the presence of an intrauterine infection, delaying delivery could potentially leave the fetus in a hostile inflammatory environment, which may ultimately cause more harm. Therefore, if the primary aim of therapeutics for preterm labour is to improve outcome for the baby, then novel treatment options must focus not only on blocking myometrial contractions, but also resolve the inflammatory environment of the uterus to limit damage to the fetus. Taking these factors into consideration, and the hypothesis that many cases of preterm labour occur as a result of the premature activation of the inflammatory cascade proposed to occur normally at term, there is now growing interest in examining the potential of anti-inflammatory agents as a novel treatment option for preterm labour.

1.3.5 Novel therapeutic options to treat preterm labour: the potential of antiinflammatory agents

Anti-inflammatory agents are used to treat a vast number of inflammation-associated pathologies, including rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel diseases, airway inflammation, cardiovascular disease and some cancers; and in recent years investigating the potential of anti-inflammatory agents as exciting novel therapeutic options to treat preterm labour has become a major focus of premature birth research.

Interestingly, support for the hypothesis that anti-inflammatory agents may be useful novel therapeutic agents comes from two treatments already in use for preterm labour, NSAIDs and progesterone, both of which are proposed to mediate their effects by blocking inflammatory signalling.

Indomethacin is a non-selective COX inhibitor and is the most common NSAID used as a tocolytic agent in the treatment of preterm labour. The first reported use of indomethacin as a tocolytic drug was in 1974 (Zuckerman *et al.* 1974), and subsequent studies reported a promising reduction in preterm birth rates following the use of indomethacin, compared to placebo (Niebyl et al. 1980, Panter et al. 1999) and compared to other tocolytic drugs (King *et al.* 2005). However, these trials have been small, and the data is not conclusive. Furthermore, there are safety concerns associated with the use of indomethacin, as it has been associated with adverse effects on the fetus, including premature closure of the ductus arteriosus and necrotizing enterocolitis (Norton et al. 1993, Koren et al. 2006). Although a recent systematic review assessing the safety of indomethacin as a tocolytic agent did not find increased risk of adverse neonatal outcomes, again this study emphasised that the small number of randomised trials with limited statistical power that have been carried out to date do not allow firm conclusions to be made on the safety of indomethacin as a tocolytic agent (Loe *et al.* 2005). As previously discussed, prostaglandins are key regulators of myometrial contractility, therefore inhibition of COX enzymes using NSAIDs resulting in inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis, is thought to be the key mechanism by which NSAID treatment reduces preterm labour. However, there is also some evidence that they can act directly to inhibit calcium channel currents in human myometrial cells (Sawdy et al. 1998), and they may also be capable of inhibiting NF-κB activity, as has been shown in other systems (Yin et al. 1998, Loudon et al. 2003). Therefore, although the use of indomethacin demonstrates some success of using anti-inflammatory agents to delay preterm delivery, the risk of adverse neonatal outcomes associated with its use suggest that continued research is required into more suitable alternatives.

As discussed above, progesterone is currently being intensively investigated as a promising treatment option for preterm labour. Interestingly, although it has been used clinically for a number of years, the mechanisms by which progesterone delays preterm delivery are relatively poorly understood. Animal models and *in vitro* studies are now being used to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of progesterone action,

many of which appear to be related to anti-inflammatory actions of progesterone in the utero-placental tissues. Using a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour, Elovitz *et al.* demonstrated that pre-treatment with the progestin medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA), delayed preterm delivery. MPA treatment significantly reduced the LPS-induced expression of several inflammatory genes which are normally up-regulated with labour, *Cox-2, Il-1* β and *Tnf-* α in the uterus and cervix, and connexin-43 mRNA expression in the uterus; and MPA treatment inhibited cervical ripening (Elovitz and Wang 2004). Using the same model, they also reported that MPA decreased the LPS-induced expression of *Tlr-2* and *Tlr-4* in the cervix and placenta (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2005), highlighting that in the presence of an intrauterine infection, MPA may reduce the rate of preterm birth by decreasing inflammatory mediator production, reducing expression of Contraction-associated genes and inhibiting cervical ripening. These anti-inflammatory actions of MPA on utero-placental inflammation and cervical ripening have been confirmed in subsequent studies using the same animal model (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2006, Elovitz and Gonzalez 2008, Xu *et al.* 2008, Yellon *et al.* 2009).

MPA has also been reported to have anti-inflammatory actions in vitro where MPA treatment of human myometrial samples significantly suppressed LPS-induced production of IL-1β, IL-6 and IL-8 (Youssef *et al.* 2009). A recent study by Norman *et al*, reported that prolonged progesterone administration *in vivo* to women from 24-34 weeks of pregnancy resulted in decreased myometrial expression of connexin proteins, and down-regulated expression of CD11b on neutrophils, thus altering the ability of the myometrium to efficiently contract, and possibly attenuating neutrophil recruitment to the uterus (Norman et al. 2011). Additionally, progesterone treatment has also been shown to significantly attenuate IL-1 β -induced IL-8 and PGE₂ production and COX-2 expression in lower segment fibroblast cells and amnion cells collected from pre-labour biopsies at term (Loudon et al. 2003). These anti-inflammatory actions of progesterone may involve negative interactions between the progesterone receptor and NF- κ B, which have been previously reported in other cell systems (Kalkhoven et al. 1996), and in human amnion cells *in vitro* (Allport *et al.* 2001). Interestingly, there is also some evidence that progesterone treatment may be capable of modulating FIRS, where progesterone pre-treatment has been reported to decrease IL-6 production in fetoplacental arteries (Shields et al. 2005, Gotkin et al. 2006) and in fetal mononuclear cells *in vitro* (Schwartz *et al.* 2009); this would be of particular importance in the context of intrauterine infection. Whilst further work is required to elucidate fully how

progesterone treatment delays preterm delivery, taken together these studies highlight, anti-inflammatory actions appear to be important underlying mechanisms of progesterone action in the utero-placental tissues, suggesting that progesterone can be considered as an anti-inflammatory agent in the context of preterm labour.

Therefore, although indomethacin and progesterone are two treatments with strong anti-inflammatory actions, neither treatment have yet made a significant impact on improving neonatal outcome. So, as previously mentioned, given the current lack of effective treatment options to delay preterm delivery and improve neonatal outcome, there has been intensive research over the last decade examining a large number of anti-inflammatory agents as novel therapeutic options. The reason why these drugs are thought to have greater potential to treat preterm delivery is that they focus on targeting the underlying cause of the premature initiation of labour (the inflammatory cascade), rather than the end-point (myometrial contractions). The use of animal models has been invaluable in investigating the potential of anti-inflammatory treatments to delay delivery in vivo, and many promising treatments options have been proposed. These can be broadly categorised into two groups: the administration of agents that aim to directly block or antagonise pro-inflammatory signalling; and the administration of endogenous anti-inflammatory agents. Evidence demonstrating the potential of anti-inflammatory mediators as novel therapeutic options for the treatment of preterm labour has recently been comprehensively reviewed (Keelan 2011, Rinaldi et al. 2011, MacIntyre et al. 2012). The following section will briefly detail a number of the anti-inflammatory interventions investigated to date, with particular focus on two endogenous anti-inflammatory agents, IL-10 and lipoxins.

1.3.5.1 Blocking IL-1eta and TNF-lpha

Given the evidence that expression of both IL-1 β and TNF- α is increased in gestational tissues and amniotic fluid at both term and preterm labour (Maymon *et al.* 1999, Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003, Marconi *et al.* 2011); and administration of either cytokine can induce preterm labour in animal models (Romero *et al.* 1991, Silver *et al.* 1994, Yoshimura and Hirsch 2005, Sadowsky *et al.* 2006), studies have investigated whether blocking IL-1 β or TNF- α signalling can attenuate inflammatory signalling in gestational tissues *in vitro*, and preterm delivery rates *in vivo*.

Anti-TNF- α therapy has been used clinically as a therapeutic option to treat a number of chronic inflammatory conditions, including inflammatory bowel disease and rheumatoid arthritis (Ali *et al.* 2013). Studies in animal models have reported that blocking TNF- α , either using anti-TNF- α antibodies, soluble TNF receptors, or pentoxifylline (an inhibitor of TNF- α synthesis), improved LPS-mediated adverse pregnancy outcomes in mice, including fetal resorption, intrauterine growth restriction and fetal mortality (Gendron *et al.* 1990, Silver *et al.* 1994, Xu *et al.* 2006). In the context of preterm labour there have been conflicting reports on the effectiveness of anti-TNF- α treatment to delay delivery. Blocking TNF- α action using a soluble TNF- α receptor Fc fusion protein did not prevent LPS-induced preterm delivery in a mouse model (Fidel *et al.* 1997); whereas more recently, pre-treatment with an anti-TNF- α antibody has been reported to significantly decrease the number of LPS-induced preterm deliveries, improve pup survival and decrease the expression of several proinflammatory mediators in the uterus (Holmgren *et al.* 2008).

Similarly, blocking IL-1 β signalling has also been used therapeutically in the treatment of inflammatory conditions and the endogenous IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) is clinically approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (Dinarello 2011). Early studies by Romero et al. demonstrated that IL-1Ra decreased IL-1 β -induced PGE₂ production in amnion and chorion explant culture in vitro (Romero et al. 1992); and prevented IL-1-induced preterm birth in a mouse model (Romero and Tartakovsky 1992). However, subsequent studies have proved less successful, where IL-1Ra administration did not prevent LPS-induced preterm labour in a mouse model (Fidel et al. 1997); LPS-induced preterm delivery rates were unaffected in transgenic mice overexpressing IL-1Ra (Yoshimura and Hirsch 2005); and similarly, infection-induced preterm delivery rates were unaffected in IL-1 β and IL-1 receptor knockout mice (Reznikov *et al.* 1999, Hirsch *et al.* 2002), suggesting that IL-1 β signalling is not required for the induction of preterm labour in response to intrauterine infection. Interestingly, the rate of infection-induced preterm delivery in double knockout mice lacking both the type 1 receptors for IL-1 and TNF was found to be significantly reduced compared to the wild-type control mice; and the knockout mice also had significantly lower myometrial expression of COX-2 (Hirsch et al. 2006). These studies highlight the complexity of the cytokine interactions associated with preterm labour, and suggest that due to the redundancy of the cytokine network, simply attempting to

block one cytokine is unlikely to be a useful therapeutic strategy in the treatment of preterm labour.

1.3.5.2 NF-κB inhibitors

As discussed earlier, the NF- κ B signalling pathway has a key role in regulating the inflammatory response associated with the onset of parturition, therefore making it an attractive therapeutic target in the search for novel treatments for inflammationassociated preterm labour. To date, more than 700 NF- κ B inhibitors have been described which target the signalling pathway at various points (Gupta *et al.* 2010); and NF- κ B inhibitors have been investigated as novel therapeutic options in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (Okamoto 2006), inflammatory lung diseases (Decramer *et al.* 2005, Demedts *et al.* 2005) and inflammatory bowel disease (Egan and Sandborn 1998, Atreya *et al.* 2008). The potential of a number of different NF- κ B inhibitors to control inflammatory signalling in human gestational tissues and to delay delivery in animal models has been investigated; this section shall discuss the evidence regarding *N*acetylcysteine (NAC) and sulfasalazine (SSZ) as potential novel therapeutic options to treat inflammation-induced preterm labour.

NAC is an antioxidant and anti-inflammatory mediator involved in regulating oxidative stress by increasing glutathione levels (Millea 2009). NAC treatment has been shown to inhibit nuclear translocation of NF-κB in a number of cell systems (Origuchi *et al.* 2000, Martinez-Losa *et al.* 2007). NAC has been used therapeutically in the treatment of a variety of inflammation-related pathologies, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Decramer *et al.* 2005), influenza (De Flora *et al.* 1997), and pulmonary fibrosis (Demedts *et al.* 2005); and has been investigated as a treatment for a number of reproductive pathologies including polycystic ovarian syndrome (Rizk *et al.* 2005), recurrent pregnancy loss (Amin *et al.* 2008) and pre-eclampsia (Rumiris *et al.* 2006). *In vitro*, NAC treatment of human fetal membranes inhibited NF-κB DNAbinding activity, which subsequently attenuated the LPS-induced pro-inflammatory cytokine and prostaglandin release and MMP-9 activity in the fetal membranes (Lappas *et al.* 2003). In animal models *in vivo*, NAC pre-treatment delayed LPS-induced preterm labour and improved pup survival (Buhimschi *et al.* 2003, Chang *et al.* 2011); attenuated the LPS-induced inflammatory response in fetal plasma and myometrium (Beloosesky *et al.* 2006, Chang *et al.* 2011); and protected the fetal brain from inflammation-induced injury (Chang *et al.* 2011). These studies highlight the potential of NAC to not only delay preterm delivery, but also suggest it may be useful in protecting the fetus from infection-associated brain injury. Interestingly, a recently published study reported that administration of NAC (in conjunction with metronidazole and 17-hydroxyprogestrone caproate) to women with a history of preterm labour and bacterial vaginosis improved outcome. Gestational age at delivery, and fetal weight were both significantly increased in the NAC treatment group, compared to the placebo group, and there were also significantly fewer neonatal deaths in the NAC group (Shahin *et al.* 2009). Although this was a relatively small study, this is the first clinical study to demonstrate an effect of NAC in delaying preterm labour, suggesting it could be a useful treatment option to use along-side other agents, such as progesterone.

Sulfasalazine is a 5-aminosalicylic acid drug that has been used for many years as an anti-inflammatory treatment for inflammatory bowel disease (Egan and Sandborn 1998) and rheumatoid arthritis (Box and Pullar 1997). Sulfasalazine was first identified as a potent and specific NF- κ B inhibitor in 1998 (Wahl *et al.* 1998), and has subsequently been shown to act by directly inhibiting the IKK kinases, IKK α and IKK β (Weber *et al.* 2000). The anti-inflammatory actions of SSZ have been demonstrated in human gestational tissues *in vitro*, where SSZ treatment inhibited NF- κ B translocation to the nucleus and subsequently attenuated LPS-induced pro-inflammatory cytokine and prostaglandin release in placenta, amnion and choriodecidua explants (Lappas *et al.* 2002, Keelan *et al.* 2009). In addition SSZ treatment inhibited IL-8 production by endocervical epithelial cells in response to a variety of bacterial pathogens (Peltier *et al.* 2009). In a mouse model of preterm labour, SSZ pre-treatment significantly reduced the rate of *E.coli*-induced preterm labour and was associated with a modest (non-significant) increase in pup survival, compared with mice receiving *E.coli* alone (Nath *et al.* 2010).

Taken together, these studies demonstrate the potential of drugs such as NAC and SSZ to target the NF- κ B signalling pathway as a potential novel therapeutic strategy in the treatment of preterm labour.

1.3.5.3 15d-PGJ₂

15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin-J₂ (15d-PGJ₂) is a metabolite of PGD₂ that has been shown to have potent anti-inflammatory actions in a variety of cell systems (Scher and Pillinger 2005). 15d-PGJ₂ is produced in the later phase of an inflammatory response in vivo and is therefore postulated to play an important role in the resolution of inflammatory responses (Gilroy et al. 1999), as it has been shown to stimulate granulocyte apoptosis (Ward *et al.* 2002) and promote macrophage clearance from the site of inflammation (Rajakariar et al. 2007). The mechanisms underlying 15d-PGJ₂ action are not clear. 15d-PGJ₂ has been reported to act via a prostaglandin D receptor, chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on TH2 cells (CRTH2) (Monneret *et al.* 2002); and it has been proposed that 15d-PGJ₂ may exert its actions via interactions with intracellular targets, such as the transcription factors, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and NF- κ B (Scher and Pillinger 2005). A major anti-inflammatory mechanism of 15d-PGJ₂ action is through inhibition of NF-κB, either directly by inhibiting IKK β activity (Rossi *et al.* 2000); or indirectly via activation of PPAR- γ , which has been shown to antagonise the activity of transcription factors involved in pro-inflammatory gene transcription, such as NF- κ B (Ricote *et al.* 1998). Research into the use of 15d-PGJ₂ as an anti-inflammatory therapeutic agent is still at a relatively early stage, but several in vivo studies have now reported that 15d-PGJ₂ administration was associated with reduced disease severity in animal models of a number of inflammation-associated pathologies, including chronic lung injury (Wang et al. 2009) and arthritis (Kawahito et al. 2000).

During pregnancy, PGD₂ is produced by the placenta and decidua (Mitchell *et al.* 1982, Norwitz *et al.* 1992) and both PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ have been detected in the amniotic fluid of women at term (Helliwell *et al.* 2006). The anti-inflammatory actions of 15d-PGJ₂ have been demonstrated in human gestational tissue culture *in vitro*, where 15d-PGJ₂ treatment has been reported to down-regulate inflammatory gene expression, PGE₂ release, and inhibit NF- κ B in human amnion, myometrial and trophoblast cells, and amnion-derived WISH cells (Ackerman *et al.* 2005, Berry *et al.* 2005, Lindstrom and Bennett 2005, Helliwell *et al.* 2006); and in placenta, amnion and choriodecidua explants (Lappas *et al.* 2006). Additionally, a recent study demonstrated that 15d-PGJ₂ treatment down-regulated production of IFN- γ , TNF- α and reduced NF- κ B activation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells obtained from pregnant women (Sykes *et al.* 2012). In a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour, Pirianov *et al.* recently demonstrated that treatment with 15d-PGJ₂ significantly delayed preterm delivery and improved pup survival rates. 15d-PGJ₂ treatment was associated with: decreased IKKβ activity in the myometrium and fetal brain; inhibition of LPS-induced myometrial pro-inflammatory cytokine production; and inhibition of cPLA2 and COX-2 expression in the myometrium, suggesting a negative feedback mechanism on prostaglandin synthesis (Pirianov *et al.* 2009). In a follow-up study, Sykes *et al.* recently reported that these anti-inflammatory actions of 15d-PGJ₂ in the mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour do not appear to be mediated via CRTH2 (Sykes *et al.* 2013)

Overall, the *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence to date suggests that $15d-PGJ_2$ could be an exciting novel therapeutic agent to treat inflammation-induced preterm labour which ultimately may improve neonatal outcome by protecting the fetal brain from inflammation-induced damage. Further research is required to elucidate the underlying mechanisms of $15d-PGJ_2$ actions in the gestational tissues and fully investigate its potential as a therapeutic option.

1.3.5.4 IL-10

IL-10 was initially discovered in 1989 as a novel product of mouse Th2 cells which suppressed inflammatory cytokine production from Th1 cells, and was originally named 'cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor' (Fiorentino et al. 1989). Subsequent studies confirmed these inhibitory actions of IL-10, and it is now considered as the classical anti-inflammatory cytokine. IL-10 is primarily produced by monocytes, macrophages and some T-cell subsets in vivo, but other immune cells including dendritic cells, B-cells, NK cells, mast cells and neutrophils have also been reported to produce IL-10 (Sabat et al. 2010). Monocytes and macrophages are proposed to be the main target cells of immuno-modulatory IL-10 signalling, although IL-10 has also been shown to act on other immune cell populations, including T cells, B cells, NK cells and neutrophils via activation of its specific IL-10 receptor (Sabat et al. 2010). The key actions of IL-10 on monocytes and macrophages include: inhibition of proinflammatory cytokine production (de Waal Malefyt et al. 1991, Fiorentino et al. 1991); promoting the release of anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1Ra (Jenkins et al. 1994); and enhancing the phagocytic ability of monocytes/macrophages (Buchwald et al. 1999). Upon IL-10 binding to the IL-10 receptor, the anti-inflammatory actions of IL-10 are largely mediated through the activation of the signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) transcription factors, particularly STAT3. The activated STAT transcription factors translocate to the cell nucleus and bind to STAT-binding elements in the promoter regions of target genes, such as the suppressor of cytokine signalling 3 (SOCS3), which can act to inhibit further cytokine synthesis (Sabat *et al.* 2010). IL-10 signalling has also been shown to inhibit NF-κB activation in a number of different cell systems (Wang *et al.* 1995, Yoshidome *et al.* 1999, Al-Ashy *et al.* 2006). Given the potent anti-inflammatory actions of IL-10, it has been investigated clinically as a novel therapeutic option in the treatment of a number of inflammation-associated pathologies including Crohn's disease (Buruiana *et al.* 2010), psoriasis (Kimball *et al.* 2002) and chronic hepatitis C infection (Nelson *et al.* 2000); however the results of these trials have been mixed, suggesting that further studies are required to fully elucidate the therapeutic potential of IL-10 therapy (Asadullah *et al.* 2003).

Although much research has focussed on identifying the pro-inflammatory mediators associated with the onset of parturition, both at term and preterm, over recent years there has been a growing interest in understanding how these pro-inflammatory signals may be regulated in vivo, and what role IL-10 may play in controlling the inflammation surrounding parturition. The important role of IL-10 signalling in pregnancy has been recently reviewed (Thaxton and Sharma 2010, Kalkunte et al. 2011). During pregnancy, IL-10 expression and secretion has been reported in placental villous cytotrophoblasts, decidua, chorion, uterine NK cells and decidual macrophages (Roth et al. 1996, Trautman et al. 1997, Denison et al. 1998, Hanna et al. 2000, Lidstrom et al. 2003); and IL-10 has been detected in amniotic fluid (Greig et al. 1995, Dudley et al. 1997, Gotsch et al. 2008). There are conflicting reports of changes in IL-10 expression through pregnancy and with the onset of labour. Placental IL-10 expression was found to be higher in first and second trimester placental tissue, compared to term placenta (Hanna et al. 2000); and IL-10 production from choriodecidual tissue was reported to be decreased with labour, compared with tissue obtained before labour (Simpson et al. 1998). Whilst in the amniotic fluid some studies have reported increased amniotic fluid IL-10 in the third trimester, compared to earlier stages of gestation (Greig et al. 1995); others have reported no change across gestation (Dudley et al. 1997, Gotsch et al. 2008). Increased amniotic fluid IL-10 has also been reported in association with spontaneous term and preterm labour (Greig et al. 1995, Gotsch et al. 2008). IL-10 deficiency has been associated with a number of adverse pregnancy outcomes including, pre-eclampsia, recurrent spontaneous abortions and preterm labour (Hill *et al.* 1995, Hennessy *et al.* 1999, Makhseed *et al.* 2003); highlighting that IL-10 plays a key role in maintaining the balance between pro-and anti-inflammatory signalling throughout pregnancy.

Evidence that IL-10 can regulate inflammatory signalling in the gestational tissues comes from *in vitro* studies which have demonstrated that treatment with IL-10 attenuated the LPS-induced production of IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β , MMPs and PGE₂ in the fetal membranes (Fortunato *et al.* 1996, Brown *et al.* 2000, Fortunato *et al.* 2001); inhibited LPS-induced TNF- α and IL-1 β expression in choriodecidual explants (Sato *et al.* 2003); and reduced IL-1 β -induced COX-2 and PGE₂ and basal MMP-9 production in cultured placental trophoblasts (Pomini *et al.* 1999, Roth and Fisher 1999).

In addition to these in vitro studies, animal models have been utilised to further investigate the effect of IL-10 administration on preterm labour. Using *Il-10* knockout mice, Robertson *et al.* demonstrated that IL-10 played an essential role in response to intrauterine infection (Robertson et al. 2006). The Il-10 knockout mice required a 10fold lower dose of LPS to induce 50% fetal loss compared with wild-type controls, and LPS-treatment induced greater pro-inflammatory cytokine production in the serum, uterus and placenta, compared to the wild-type animals; these differences between the *II-10* knockout mice and wild-type mice were attenuated by the administration of recombinant IL-10. Interestingly, the administration of exogenous IL-10 to both wildtype and *Il-10* knockout animals significantly reduced the number of LPS-induced fetal losses and down-regulated inflammatory cytokine synthesis (Robertson et al. 2006). In a rat model of LPS-induced preterm labour, administration of IL-10, either at the same time as LPS, or 24 hours later, significantly delayed the time to delivery and improved pup survival rates (Terrone *et al.* 2001). Also using a similar rat model, IL-10 was found to inhibit *E.coli*-induced white matter damage in rat pup brains by inhibiting microglial activation (Rodts-Palenik et al. 2004, Pang et al. 2005). Additionally, in a non-human primate model, treatment with IL-10 attenuated IL-1β-induced uterine contractions, reduced the levels of TNF- α and prostaglandins in the amniotic fluid and reduced leukocyte influx into the amniotic fluid (Sadowsky et al. 2003).

Collectively, these studies highlight the potential of IL-10 as a novel anti-inflammatory treatment for preterm labour, which can block the inflammatory signalling cascade

associated with the initiation of parturition, and more importantly could protect the fetal brain from the adverse effects of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation.

1.3.5.5 Lipoxins

To prevent chronic inflammation, which can often lead to tissue injury, acute inflammation must be halted once the original stimulus or infection has been neutralised. This phase is referred to as the resolution of inflammation, and was previously believed to be a passive process, which occurred as pro-inflammatory signals gradually fizzled out. However, in recent decades it has become increasingly clear that the resolution of an inflammatory response is a highly co-ordinated, active process involving the production of mediators with specific pro-resolution and anti-inflammatory actions (Gilroy *et al.* 2004, Serhan *et al.* 2008). Lipoxins were the first family of lipid mediators recognised to have dual-acting anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions. Lipoxins, which are trihydroxy tetraene-containing eicosanoids, were first identified in 1984 as novel derivatives of arachidonic acid that were proposed to be involved in regulating specific cellular responses in neutrophils (Serhan *et al.* 1984, Serhan *et al.* 1984). Subsequent studies have identified a number of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions lipoxins have on a range of cell types

Lipoxins are derived from arachidonic acid via the action of their specific lipoxygenase enzymes, 5-lipoxygenase (5-LOX), 12-lipoxygenase (12-LOX) and 15-lipoxygenase (15-LOX). In humans two main pathways of lipoxin synthesis have been identified, both of which involve transcellular interactions between leukocytes and other cell types. The first pathway, which was identified in blood vessels, involves platelet-leukocyte interactions, where arachidonic acid is oxygenated by 5-LOX in leukocytes resulting in the production of leukotriene A₄, which can then be rapidly converted by the actions of 12-LOX in platelets into lipoxin A₄ and lipoxin B₄. The second pathway, identified in mucosal tissues, involves epithelial cell-leukocyte interactions, where arachidonic acid is oxygenated by 15-LOX in epithelial cells, resulting in the formation of the intermediate lipid 15S-HETE, which can then be rapidly converted to lipoxin A₄ and lipoxin B₄ by 5-LOX in leukocytes. A third pathway of lipoxin occurs in the presence of aspirin, which results in the production of aspirin-triggered or 15-epi-lipoxins, which are epimers of native lipoxin. In the presence of aspirin, COX-2 becomes irreversibly acetylated, and drives arachidonic acid down the lipoxin synthesis pathway, rather than the prostaglandin synthesis pathway by producing 15R-HETE, this intermediate can then be rapidly converted by 5-LOX in activated leukocytes to 15-epi-lipoxin A₄ and 15-epi-lipoxin B₄ (Chiang *et al.* 2005). Epi-lipoxins have many of the same antiinflammatory and pro-resolution actions as lipoxins and it has been proposed that the generation of epi-lipoxins in the presence aspirin may underlie many of its therapeutic actions (Claria and Serhan 1995, Chiang *et al.* 2005). The lipoxin synthesis pathways are summarised in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3 - Schematic representation of the three pathways of lipoxin biosynthesis. Lipoxins are synthesised from arachidonic acid via the actions of specific lipoxygenase enzymes, 5-LOX, 12-LOX and 15-LOX, during cell-cell interactions. A third pathway of lipoxin synthesis occurs in the presence of aspirin where COX-2 becomes acetylated and drives arachidonic acid synthesis down the lipoxin-generating pathway, rather than the prostaglandin pathway, resulting in the production of aspirin-triggered, or 15-epi-lipoxins. Adapted from Chiang *et al.*, 2006.

The actions of lipoxin A₄ are mediated via binding to a specific G-protein coupled receptor, FPR2/ALX, which is a member of the formyl peptide receptor family (Ye *et al.* 2009); although there is evidence that lipoxin A₄ can bind to other receptors including

the cysteinyl leukotriene receptors (Badr et al. 1989, McMahon et al. 2000) and nuclear aryl carbon receptor (Schaldach et al. 1999, Machado et al. 2006, McBerry et al. 2012), the anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions of lipoxins acting via FPR2/ALX are the best characterised. FPR2/ALX is expressed on a wide number of cell types in the body, including monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes, microglial cells, epithelial cells and fibroblasts in a variety of tissues (Migeotte *et al.* 2006). During the course of an inflammatory response, binding of lipoxin A₄ to FPR2/ALX elicits cell specific actions to promote resolution. Lipoxins have been shown to inhibit neutrophil activation, adhesion and chemotaxis (Lee et al. 1989, Colgan et al. 1993, Papayianni et al. 1996, Filep et al. 2005), while increasing neutrophil apoptosis (El Kebir et al. 2007); in contrast lipoxins have been reported to stimulate monocyte adhesion and migration (Maddox and Serhan 1996, Maddox et al. 1997), inhibit monocyte apoptosis (Simoes et al. 2010), and stimulate the non-phlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages (Godson et al. 2000). Additionally, lipoxins have also been reported to down-regulate the production of a number of pro-inflammatory mediators, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α IL-6, IL-8 and MMPs in synovial fibroblasts (Sodin-Semrl *et al.* 2000), endothelial cells (Wu et al. 2008), astrocytes (Decker et al. 2009) and intestinal epithelial cells in vitro (Kure et al. 2009). The mechanisms by which lipoxins are thought to regulate inflammatory mediator production have been reported to include inhibition of the NF-κB pathway (Gewirtz et al. 2002, Wu et al. 2008, Kure et al. 2009, Wang et al. 2011); activation of PPAR-y (Sobrado et al. 2009); and activation of STAT3, resulting in increased SOCS3 expression (Li et al. 2011).

In vivo, lipoxin administration has been associated with decreased pro-inflammatory mediator production and reduced disease severity in animal models of a number of inflammation-associated pathologies including asthma (Levy *et al.* 2002, El Kebir *et al.* 2009), arthritis (Conte *et al.* 2010), Alzheimer's disease (Medeiros *et al.* 2013) and inflammatory bowel disease (Gewirtz *et al.* 2002), among others. These studies demonstrate the therapeutic potential of lipoxins as a novel treatment for inflammation-associated pathologies.

The role of lipoxins in regulating inflammatory events in the reproductive tissues has been less well explored. Given that many reproductive events, including ovulation, menstruation, implantation and the initiation labour, are associated with inflammation (Jabbour *et al.* 2009), it is possible that lipoxins are important mediators in controlling these inflammatory events and driving the resolution and repair of these tissues following inflammation. Evidence demonstrating the potential role of lipoxins in regulating these inflammatory reproductive events has been recently reviewed (Hutchinson *et al.* 2011). Several studies have examined the role of lipoxins in regulating inflammatory signalling in the endometrium. Macdonald *et al.* reported that FPR2/ALX expression is increased in glandular epithelial cells and stromal cells in the menstrual endometrium and first-trimester decidua; and showed the lipoxin A₄ suppressed phorbol myristate acetate-induced expression of IL-6 and IL-8 in human endometrial and decidual tissue explants (Macdonald *et al.* 2011). Lipoxins have also been investigated therapeutically in animal models of endometriosis (Chen *et al.* 2010, Xu *et al.* 2012). Additionally, lipoxins have recently been identified as novel ER α modulators (Russell *et al.* 2011), and Xiong *et al.* reported that lipoxin A₄ blocked embryo implantation in a mouse model by controlling ER α activity (Xiong *et al.* 2013).

In gestational tissues, lipoxygenase enzyme expression has been detected. Expression of 5-LOX has been reported throughout pregnancy in the human amnion and choriodecidua tissue, with increased 5-LOX mRNA and protein in chorio-decidual tissue collected after labour at term, compared with before labour (Brown *et al.* 1999); and decreased 15-LOX has been reported in myometrial smooth muscle cells at term and during labour (Lei and Rao 1992). Additionally, 5-LOX and 12-LOX have also been detected in baboon myometrium, cervix, chorion and decidua at term (Smith et al. 2001). Taken together, these studies demonstrate that the utero-placental tissues are capable of lipoxin synthesis, suggesting lipoxins may play a role in regulating the inflammatory events surrounding parturition. Indeed, a recent study from our laboratory has provided further evidence that lipoxins may be important mediators in parturition. Maldonado-Perez et al. reported that circulating serum lipoxin levels were elevated in pregnant women, compared with non-pregnant women, and FPR2/ALX expression was increased in myometrial tissue obtained from women during term labour, compared to non-labouring women (Maldonado-Perez et al. 2010). Additionally, the same study demonstrated that lipoxin A_4 is capable of regulating inflammatory signalling in myometrium, where pre-treatment with lipoxin A₄ was able to significantly attenuate LPS-induced IL-6 and IL-8 expression in cultured myometrial explants in vitro (Maldonado-Perez et al. 2010).

Collectively, these preliminary data showing lipoxins can regulate inflammation in myometrial tissue obtained at term, alongside evidence from animal models demonstrating lipoxins are useful in treating other inflammation-associated pathologies, suggest that lipoxins could be an exciting novel therapeutic option in the treatment of inflammation-induced preterm labour. Lipoxins have the potential to be more useful than simple anti-inflammatory agents alone due to their ability to promote the resolution of inflammation, suggesting that rather than simply stopping the inflammatory cascade associated with labour, they could also act to resolve the hostile inflammatory intrauterine environment, thereby limiting inflammation-induced neonatal injury. Indeed studies have demonstrated the potential for lipoxins to regulate inflammatory signalling in a human astrocytoma cell line *in vitro* (Decker *et al.* 2009) and also in a rat model of brain injury *in vivo* (Ye *et al.* 2010), therefore lipoxins may be able to protect the fetal brain from inflammation-induced injury.

1.3.6 Animal models of preterm labour

Animal models have been extensively used in the field of premature birth research, both to investigate the underlying mechanisms surrounding the onset of preterm labour and to test interventions to stop preterm delivery. The pros and cons of the various animal models of preterm labour have been extensively reviewed (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009, Ratajczak *et al.* 2010). Obviously due to species differences, animal models can never fully recapitulate the clinical scenario of preterm labour in women, but given the practical and ethical issues surrounding the collection of tissues from pregnant women and the concerns about testing novel therapies in pregnant women, animal models have been invaluable in providing insight into the molecular events surrounding the onset of labour and providing proof of preterm labour, including sheep, rodents and non-human primates. The advantages and disadvantages of each model will be briefly discussed.

Sheep have been primarily used to study the mechanisms surrounding the onset of parturition at term, and the use of this animal model demonstrated a role for the fetus in regulating the timing of parturition. Work by Liggins *et al.* more than 40 years ago identified a role for the fetal hypothalamic-pituitary axis in triggering the onset of parturition (Liggins 1968, Liggins *et al.* 1973). As the fetus matures during late

gestation, there is increased production of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) in the fetal circulation, which stimulates the fetal adrenal gland to produce increased levels of cortisol. This cortisol acts to promote maturation of the fetal lungs and stimulates progesterone metabolism by the placenta, resulting in a drop in progesterone levels and an increase in estrogen levels, which leads to the onset of parturition (Mitchell and Taggart 2009). The importance of ACTH and cortisol in initiating parturition in sheep was demonstrated by studies showing infusion of either of these hormones successfully induced preterm labour (Liggins 1968). The main advantage of the sheep as a model to study human parturition is the large size, which enables surgical manipulation of both the fetus and the mother, allowing for longitudinal sampling of both across gestation. Additionally, there are a number of similarities between human and sheep pregnancy which include: the placenta being the source of progesterone throughout most of pregnancy; a small number of fetuses; and the relatively long gestational period, which is more similar to humans than other models. However, compared to other models, sheep are relatively expensive and take longer to breed. Furthermore, unlike in humans, the onset of parturition is dependent upon systemic progesterone withdrawal; and the role of ACTH and cortisol in triggering the onset of parturition appears not to apply to humans, as glucocorticoids do not induce labour in women (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009, Ratajczak et al. 2010). Nevertheless, the sheep provides a useful model system to study the fetal response to intrauterine infection and the events surrounding fetal maturation (Schlafer et al. 1994, Kallapur et al. 2001, Grigsby et al. 2003, Westover et al. 2012).

Non-human primates have also been used in premature birth research. Intra-amniotic injection of bacteria or bacterial products such as LPS, and the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β or TNF- α have been shown to induce preterm labour in rhesus monkeys (Gravett *et al.* 1994, Sadowsky *et al.* 2006), thus confirming the role of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation in the induction of preterm labour. The non-human primate model has also been used to test therapeutic interventions to delay preterm delivery, including TLR-4 antagonists (Adams Waldorf *et al.* 2008), IL-10 (Sadowsky *et al.* 2003) and oxytocin receptor antagonists (Reinheimer 2007). The main advantage of the non-human primate as a model for studying preterm labour is that it shares many similarities with human pregnancy, including: similar reproductive physiology; no requirement for systemic progesterone withdrawal; similar gestational length; and similar number of fetuses. Additionally, like the sheep, the non-human

primate model is amenable to chronic instrumentation and surgical interventions, thus allowing for longitudinal sampling of both mother and fetus and monitoring of myometrial contractions (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009). However, the high cost of using non-human primates and the ethical considerations associated with their use has limited the widespread use of non-human primate models in the study of preterm labour.

Another commonly used animal model in the field of parturition research is the rodent model. Both mice and rats have been used, with mice being the most commonly used animal model in this field. The administration of both bacterial products and the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β or TNF- α have been found to induce preterm labour in mice (Romero et al. 1991, Silver et al. 1994, Elovitz et al. 2003, Yoshimura and Hirsch 2005), making the mouse a useful model with which to study the mechanisms surrounding infection-induced preterm labour and to test novel therapeutic interventions for the treatment of preterm labour. Indeed, the mouse has been extensively used to test a number of therapeutic agents, as detailed earlier. Using the mouse as a model of preterm labour has several advantages over the other models already described, these include: a short gestational period; ease of breeding; their immune system has been relatively well characterised; and they can be genetically manipulated such that specific genes can be either knocked out or over-expressed to examine the role of particular genes in preterm labour (Hirsch and Wang 2005); thus making them a useful cost-effective model for the study of preterm labour. However, there are clearly physiological differences between human and mouse pregnancy which limit the usefulness of the mouse as a model of preterm labour, including: multiple fetuses, very short gestational period compared to the human; and dependence on systemic progesterone withdrawal for the initiation of term labour (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004). Despite these physiological differences the requirement for progesterone withdrawal for the onset of preterm labour in the context of intrauterine infection has recently been questioned (Hirsch and Muhle 2002, Murphy et al. 2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011); suggesting that the mouse may be more relevant to study in this context, rather than in spontaneous term labour.

The guinea pig has also been recently proposed as a more suitable model for parturition research for a number of reasons, including: they do not require systemic progesterone withdrawal prior to the onset of parturition; they have a longer gestational period compared with other rodents, which allows more opportunity for longitudinal sampling; and the guinea pig fetus born at term is more developmentally competent compared to other rodent species, making it more similar to the human (Mitchell and Taggart 2009). However, although the guinea pig could prove to be a more applicable model for future studies of preterm labour, the genome of the guinea pig is currently less well established than that of the mouse, which is limiting its widespread use as model of preterm labour.

Aside from the choice of which animal model to use to study preterm labour, in models of infection-induced preterm labour, consideration must also be given to the route of administration of the infectious agent, as each route of administration can model a different clinical scenario in women. Systemic administration of bacterial products via intra-peritoneal (i.p.) injection has been carried out in a number of animal models (Fidel et al. 1994, Schlafer et al. 1994, Kaga et al. 1996, Robertson et al. 2006); however, systemic infection is rare in women in preterm labour, limiting the applicability of i.p. administration as a model of infection-induced preterm labour (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004). Therefore, since the majority of women with infection-associated preterm labour actually present with a subclinical, local intrauterine infection, the local administration of bacterial products is perhaps more appropriate. This has been carried out in a number of ways including intra-amniotic injection (Gravett et al. 1994), intrauterine administration (Elovitz et al. 2003), intracervical injection (Reznikov et al. 1999) and intravaginal administration (Gonzalez et al. 2011). Elovitz et al. have discussed the pros and cons of each method (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004); it is clear that, whichever method is chosen, a model of a localised infection within the uterus is more applicable and more relevant to the scenario in women.

Therefore, although there are considerable inter-species variations meaning that discoveries in animal models are not always easily translatable to humans, given the considerable practical and ethical limitations surrounding the collection of gestation tissues throughout pregnancy in humans, animal models continue to be an invaluable resource to this field of research. They have provided a greater understanding of the molecular mechanisms responsible for the onset of parturition both at term and preterm, and have been useful tools with which to investigate potential novel therapeutic interventions.

1.4 SUMMARY

This chapter has discussed the evidence that in humans the onset of labour is associated with a core inflammatory response at the maternal-fetal interface culminating in fetal membrane rupture, cervical ripening and dilation and myometrial contractions, which results in delivery of the fetus. The inappropriately timed initiation of these inflammatory pathways, often in response to a pathological intrauterine infection, can result in preterm birth. Despite decades of research, preterm birth remains the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide and the currently available treatments have made little impact on reducing the incidence of preterm labour and there is limited evidence that they improve neonatal outcome.

Given the causal link between intrauterine infection and/or inflammation and preterm labour, there is growing interest in examining whether using anti-inflammatory treatments may prove more successful. Animal models have proved invaluable in this research, as they have provided a powerful tool to understand the mechanisms underlying infection-induced preterm labour and therefore have helped in the identification of appropriate targets for novel treatment options. Anti-inflammatory agents have the potential to be more effective than the currently used tocolytic drugs, as rather than simply targeting myometrial contractions, which are likely the physical endpoint of a complex biological inflammatory cascade, anti-inflammatory agents can target the underlying mechanisms occurring much earlier in the cascade and hopefully halt its progress before contractions are induced. Furthermore, anti-inflammatory agents which can also act to promote the resolution of inflammation, such as lipoxins, may have the added benefit of being capable of resolving the inflammatory in *utero* environment, thereby limiting exposure of the fetus to harmful inflammatory signals, which are associated with adverse outcomes.

Therefore, as preterm birth continues to affect millions of babies worldwide each year causing significant neonatal death and long-term morbidities, research must continue into improving our understanding of the multiple causes to enable the identification of novel treatment options which will be effective in delaying preterm labour and ultimately improving the long-term health prospects of the baby.

1.5 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

The work presented in this thesis was based on the hypothesis that preterm labour occurs as a result of a local intrauterine infection which stimulates an inflammatory and immune response in the utero-placental tissues, and that using anti-inflammatory treatments or directly targeting immune cells would successfully delay delivery and improve neonatal outcome. Therefore, the specific aims of the work presented here were to use a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour to:

- Characterise the local inflammatory and immune response to a bacterial intrauterine infection.
- Investigate the potential of anti-inflammatory agents to delay delivery and improve pup survival.
- Investigate the role of specific immune cell populations in infection-induced preterm labour.

Chapter 2 - General methods

Details for all the materials and reagents used are given in Appendix 1.

2.1 MOUSE MODEL OF PRETERM LABOUR

All animal experiments were conducted under a UK Home Office licence in line with the Animals Scientific Procedure Act (1986). Timed-pregnant CD1 mice were obtained from Charles River Laboratories on day 9-11 of gestation (the day vaginal plug was found was designated day 1 of gestation), and were allowed to acclimatise for a minimum of 6 days prior to surgery.

On day 17 (D17) of gestation mice were anaesthetised with isoflurane (5% for induction, 2.5% for maintenance) in oxygen, and a mini-laparotomy procedure was performed, exposing the two uterine horns (Figure 2.1A). The number of viable fetuses in each horn was recorded. Using a 33-gauge Hamilton syringe, the mice then received an intrauterine injection of either LPS (from *E.Coli* O111:B4) or PBS in a 25 μ l volume between the first and second anterior fetuses directly into the uterine lumen of the horn with the most viable fetuses. Care was taken not to inject into the amniotic cavity (Figure 2.1B). The uterine horns were then carefully returned to the peritoneal cavity (Figure 2.1C) and the abdominal wall incision was then closed with a running stitch using 5/0 sutures, and the skin was closed using interrupted double and single stitches with 4/0 sutures (Figure 2.1D). Immediately following surgery mice received a subcutaneous injection of vetergesic analgesia, at a dose of 0.03mg/ml in 60 μ l. Mice were kept at 30°C while they recovered from surgery, before being transferred to individual cages for monitoring.

Mice with fewer than seven viable fetuses at the time of intrauterine injection were excluded, because this was considered an abnormal pregnancy for CD1 mice due to the small number of fetuses and early experiments indicated that these mice did not respond to treatment normally. Following delivery mice were culled by cervical dislocation.



Figure 2.1 - Mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour. (A) CD-1 mice were anaesthetised on D17 of gestation and a mini laparotomy performed to expose the uterine horns. **(B)** Mice received an intrauterine injection of either PBS or LPS between the first and second anterior fetuses directly into the uterine lumen of the horn with the most viable fetuses. **(C)** The uterine horns were carefully returned to the peritoneal cavity. **(D)** The abdominal wall and skin wounds were then sutured.

2.1.1 Time to delivery

Following surgery, individual cameras were attached to the end of each cage and the mice were recorded using a digital video recorder. Time to delivery was recorded as the number of hours from the time of intrauterine injection, to delivery of the first pup. Preterm delivery was defined as delivery of the first pup within 36 hours of intrauterine injection, with the preterm delivery rate calculated by dividing the number of mice that delivered within 36 hours by the total number of mice in each treatment group.

2.1.2 Proportion of live born pups

Following delivery, the number of live pups present in the cage was recorded. The proportion of live pups per dam was then calculated by taking the number of live pups delivered and dividing this by the number of pups recorded at the time of intrauterine injection. The proportion of live pups was determined within 24 hours of delivery. Any live pups still within the uterine horns at this time were not considered as live born pups as they had not been through labour.

2.1.3 Tissue collection

Mice were culled by lethal exposure to CO₂ 6 hours post-surgery and the uteroplacental tissues were collected and fixed in three separate ways: RNA*later*® for RNA extraction; frozen on dry ice for protein extraction; and fixed in 4% NBF for histological analysis. RNA*later*® samples were stored overnight at 4°C and then transferred to an -80°C freezer. Samples frozen in dry ice were stored immediately at -80°C. Samples collected in 4% NBF were left for 24 hours and then transferred to 70% ethanol prior to embedding in paraffin blocks. Additionally fetal brains were collected in RNAlater®. Amniotic fluid and maternal serum were also collected for analysis.

2.1.3.1 Uterus

Samples of uterine horn were collected from three separate sites within the uterus: from the top of the injected uterine horn; the lower part of the uterine horn, close to the cervix; and from the top of the un-injected uterine horn. One piece of uterus collected from each site was fixed in RNAlater®, frozen on dry ice and fixed in 4% NBF, resulting in a total of nine pieces of uterus taken from each mouse.

2.1.3.2 Fetal membranes

Fetal membranes were dissected free from the placenta and collected from nine separate gestational sacs. Fetal membranes from the three pups surrounding the site of injection were collected in RNAlater®. The following three sets of fetal membranes from adjacent pups were frozen in dry ice. The final three sets of fetal membranes were collected into NBF.

2.1.3.3 Placenta

Placental tissue was collected from six separate gestational sacs. Placentas from the three pups surrounding the site of injection were collected and halved, with half stored in RNAlater®, and half frozen in dry ice. The placentas from the adjacent three pups were stored in NBF.

2.1.3.4 Fetal brains

Fetal brains were collected from the three pups surrounding the site of intrauterine injection. Whole brains were dissected free from the skull and fixed in RNAlater®.

2.1.3.5 Amniotic fluid

Amniotic fluid was collected from each gestational sac and pooled for each horn, resulting in two amniotic fluid samples per mouse. Amniotic fluid was kept on ice, centrifuged at 8000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C and aliquoted in 0.5ml volumes for storage at -80°C.

2.1.3.6 Serum

Immediately after mice were culled, blood was collected from the vena cava using a 25gauge needle and 1ml syringe. Blood samples were allowed to clot for 1-2 hours at room temperature, prior to being centrifuged at 2000 g for 20 minutes. Serum was then aliquoted in 25µl volumes and stored at -80°C.

2.2 RNA EXTRACTION AND REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION

2.2.1 RNA extraction

Two similar methods of RNA extraction were used, depending on the tissue the RNA was to be extracted from. Both methods were based on homogenisation of tissue in a phenol-guanidine thyiocyanate solution, followed by isolation of the RNA using RNeasy® mini columns. The spin columns contain a silica-based membrane that can selectively bind the RNA and the RNA is then eluted in nuclease-free water.

2.2.1.1 RNA extraction from utero-placental tissues

Utero-placental tissue samples stored in RNA*later*® were thawed and transferred to a 2ml Eppendorf tube containing 1ml TRI Reagent® and a stainless steel bead. Samples were then homogenised using a tissue lyser for two 3 minutes cycles at 25 Hz and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. Following this, samples were centrifuged at 8000*g* for 10 minutes in order to remove any insoluble material. The resulting supernatant was transferred to phase-lock tubes and to precipitate the RNA, 200µl bromochloropropane (BCP) added to each tube and the samples were left to incubate for 15 minutes before being centrifuged at maximum speed for 15 minutes at 4°C to isolate the RNA in the aqueous phase. The aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh 1.5ml Eppendorf tube and an equal volume of 70% ethanol was added to each sample and mixed by pipetting.

To isolate the RNA, samples were then added to the RNeasy mini spin columns and manufacturer's guidelines were followed. Briefly, columns were centrifuged for 15 seconds at 8000*g* at room temperature. The resultant flow through was discarded, 350 μ l of RW1 buffer was then added to each column and they were centrifuged again. On column DNA digestion was then performed by the addition of 80 μ l DNase 1 solution directly onto the column membrane. Samples were incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The columns were then washed with 350 μ l RW1 buffer. This was followed by a further 2 washes with 500 μ l of RPE buffer. To ensure no carry over of ethanol, the columns were placed in clean collection tubes and centrifuged at 12000*g* for 1 minute. Finally, RNA was eluted in 30-50 μ l of nuclease-free water. The RNA was stored at -80°C.

2.2.1.2 RNA extraction from fetal brains

A slightly different protocol was used to extract RNA from fetal brains due to the fact that brain tissue is rich in fat, therefore the protocol in the RNeasy® Lipid Kit was followed. Fetal brains stored in RNA*later*® were thawed and transferred to a 2ml Eppendorf tube containing 1ml QIAzol® Lysis Reagent and a stainless steel bead. Samples were then homogenised using a tissue lyser for two 3 minute cycles at 25 Hz and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. 200µl of chloroform was added to each sample to precipitate the RNA and the samples were incubated at room temperature for 2-3 minutes before being centrifuged at 12000*g* for 15 minutes at 4°C. The aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh 1.5ml Eppendorf tube and an equal volume of 70% ethanol was added to each sample and mixed by pipetting.

Samples were then added to the RNeasy® mini columns and the protocol followed, as detailed above.

2.2.1.3 RNA quantification

The RNA concentration was calculated by measuring the absorbance of the RNA sample at 260 and 280nm on the Nanodrop ND-1000. The 260:280 absorbance ratio was used as an indicator of RNA purity, with ratios of 1.8-2.1 considered acceptable.

2.2.2 Reverse transcription

300ng of RNA was reverse transcribed using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit. A 2X mastermix containing RT buffer, dNTPs, random primers, RNase inhibitor and reverse transcriptase, was prepared for each sample, see Table 2.1. 10µl of the mastermix was mixed with 10µl of RNA diluted to 30ng/µl in RNase-free water. Samples were incubated for 10 minutes at 25°C, followed by 120 minutes at 37°C and 5 minutes at 85°C. Two controls were included in each cDNA experiment: RT negative (template RNA but no reverse transcriptase) and RT H₂0 (including reverse transcriptase, but with nuclease free water instead of template RNA). The resultant cDNA was stored at -20°C for use in quantitative real-time PCR reactions, as detailed below.

RT-PCR mastermix component	Volume per sample (µl)
10x RT Buffer	2
25x dNTP Mix (100mM)	0.8
10x RT Random Primers	2
Multiscribe Reverse Transcriptase	1
RNase Inhibitor	1
Nuclease-free H ₂ 0	3.2

Table 2.1 - Reverse transcription mastermix

2.3 QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR

Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was carried out to quantify the expression of specific genes. The addition of a fluorescently labelled probe, in addition to specific forward and reverse primers, allows for quantification of the abundance of a target gene, relative to the levels of a housekeeping gene. The probe is labelled with a fluorescent reporter dye at the 5'-end and a quencher dye at the 3'-end. The probe anneals to the target DNA sequence between the forward and reverse primers. When the probe is intact and annealed to the DNA sequence, very little fluorescence is emitted due to the close proximity to the quencher. During amplification of the target sequence, the 5' to 3' exonuclease activity of the enzyme Taq polymerase cleaves the probe, resulting in the fluorescent reporter dye being released from the quencher, thus fluorescent light is then emitted from the reporter dye upon excitation with a laser. The amount of fluorescence measured is directly proportional to the amount of template present in the PCR.

The use of different reporter dyes allows the expression of both target and endogenous control genes to be measured in each sample at the same time. Expression of the gene, β -actin was found to be consistent during late pregnancy and between different treatment groups, therefore this was used as the endogenous control gene in all experiments. The amount of target gene measured was normalised to the amount of β -actin present.
2.3.1 Primers and probes

The expression of the majority of genes was measured using pre-designed Taqman® gene expression assays from Applied Biosystems, which are optimised for use in qRT-PCR. The gene names and corresponding assay IDs are given in Table 2.2.

Gene	Taqman [®] Gene expression Assay ID			
15-Hpgd	Mm00515121_m1			
Ccl2	Mm00441242_m1			
Cxcl1	Mm04207460_m1			
Cxcl2	Mm00436450_m1			
Cxcl5	Mm00436451_g1			
Emr1	Mm00802529_m1			
Fpr2	Mm00484464_s1			
Gfap	Mm01253033_m1			
<i>II-1β</i>	Mm00434228_m1			
II-10	Mm00439614_m1			
Mtap2	Mm00485231_m1			
Ngp	Mm01250218_m1			
TNF-α	Mm99999068_m1			

 Table 2.2 - Taqman® gene expression assay IDs used in qRT-PCR experiments.

Primers and probes for β -actin, Cox-2 and Il-6 were designed using Primer Express Software Version 3 (Applied Biosystems). To avoid amplification of genomic DNA, probes were designed to span an exon-exon junction. The specificity of the designed primers was then checked using BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Tool). The sequences for the primers and probes are given in Table 2.3.

Gene	Primer/Probe	Sequence		
β -actin	Forward	5'-GCTTCTTTGCAGCTCCTTCGT-3'		
	Reverse	5'-GCGCAGCGATATCGTCATC-3'		
	Probe	5'-CACCCGCCACCAGTTCGCCAT-3'		
Cox-2	Forward	5'-GCTTCGGGAGCACAACAG-3'		
	Reverse	5'-TGGTTTGGAATAGTTGCTC-3'		
	Probe	5'-TGTGCGACATACTCAAGCA-3'		
II-6	Forward	5'-CCACGGCCTTCCCTACTTC-3'		
	Reverse	5'-TGCACAACTCTTTTCTCATTCCA-3'		
	Probe	5'-TCACAGAGGATACCACTCCCAACAGACCTG-3'		

 Table 2.3 - Primer and probe sequences designed using Primer Express Software.

The designed primer and probe sets were validated to ensure that the endogenous control gene and target gene had similar amplification efficiencies, as is required when using the comparative Ct method of analysis (discussed below). Serially diluted cDNA samples were used to determine the amplification efficiencies of each gene, both in singleplex and multiplex reactions (i.e. target gene with the endogenous control gene in the same well). The amplification efficiency of each gene was calculated by plotting the Ct against the log input of RNA (ng), to give a semi-log regression line. The slope of the line indicates the efficiency. Plotting the Δ CT value (Ct of target gene – Ct of endogenous control gene) against the log input of RNA and calculating the slope of the semi-log regression line was also used to check the amplification efficiencies of the slope was to be <0.1. Representative data from a validation experiment are shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2 - *Cox-2* and β -*actin* primer and probe validation. Log RNA input plotted against Δ Ct value. Absolute value of slope <0.1.

2.3.2 Method

Details of the reaction mix prepared for each duplicate sample are given in Table 2.4, including the final concentration of each component. Either target gene primers and probes or a Taqman® gene expression assay were used in each reaction, depending on the gene of interest, as detailed in Table 2.2. and Table 2.3. above. Reactions were made up to 30μ l with nuclease-free water. In addition to the two controls made during reverse transcription, RT negative and RT H₂0, a negative control was included which consisted of reaction mixture plus nuclease-free water in place of cDNA. On each plate a calibrator sample was also included, this was cDNA from an untreated tissue, which expressed the gene of interest. Calibrators used are detailed in the relevant results chapters. All qRT-PCR plates were run on the ABI 7900HT machine.

qRT-PCR Mix component	Volume (µl)	Final Concentration
2X Taqman [®] mastermix	15	1X
β -actin forward and reverse primers	0.72	60nM
β -actin probe	1.2	200nM
Target gene forward and reverse primers	0.72	300nM
Target gene probe	1.2	200nM
20x Taqman [®] Gene Expression Assay	1.5	900nM (primers)
		250nM (probe)
cDNA	1.5	-

Table 2.4 - qRT-PCR reaction mix.

2.3.3 Analysis

Analysis of qRT-PCR data was carried out using the comparative Ct method. In this method of analysis, after normalising Ct values to the endogenous control gene, all samples are compared to a control or calibrator sample, resulting in the calculation of the fold change in expression of the target gene relative to the control sample, using the formula 2^{-MCt} . The Ct value is the cycle at which expression of the gene crosses a threshold; Δ Ct is the Ct of target gene – Ct of β -actin; and $\Delta\Delta$ Ct is the difference between the Δ Ct of the sample and that of the calibrator or control.

Each sample is representative of one dam, where RNA was extracted from three pieces of tissue per dam (i.e., three pieces of uterus, three fetal membranes, three placentas or three fetal brains per dam) and analysed by qRT-PCR and the average $\Delta\Delta$ Ct value of the three pieces of tissue was then used for calculation of the fold change.

2.4 ENZYME-LINKED IMMUNOSORBENT ASSAY (ELISA)

ELISAs were used to quantify the amount of particular proteins in serum and amniotic fluid samples.

2.4.1 Sandwich ELISAs

In a sandwich ELISA, plates are pre-coated with a monoclonal antibody that is specific to the protein of interest. Standards, samples and controls are then added to the plate and any protein of interest present in the sample will be bound by the antibody. The plate is washed to remove any unbound proteins, prior to the addition of a secondary antibody, specific to a different epitope on the protein of interest. This second antibody is conjugated to the enzyme horseradish peroxidase (HRP). A further wash is carried out to remove any unbound antibody-enzyme conjugates and a substrate solution of hydrogen peroxide and tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) is added to detect peroxidase activity. The enzyme reaction results in a colour change which can be measured by spectrophotometry. The intensity of colour measured is proportional to the amount of the specific protein of interest in the sample. The standard curve can then be used to extrapolate protein concentration.

All sandwich ELISA plates were read at 450nm with wavelength correction at 570nm using a spectrophotometer and Softmax Pro software.

2.4.1.1 TNF- α ELISA

A Quantikine® ELISA kit was used for the quantification of TNF- α in amniotic fluid and serum. The standard curve allowed for detection of 700 to 10.9 pg/ml of TNF- α . 50µl of assay diluent was added to each well, followed by 50µl of standards and samples and the plate was then incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. All samples were assayed neat. The plate was then washed four times with wash buffer and 100µl of TNF- α conjugate (polyclonal antibody against mouse TNF- α conjugated to horseradish peroxidase) added to each well. The plate was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Following a further wash, 100µl of substrate solution was added to each well and the plate incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. 100µl of stop solution was then added to quench the reaction and the plate read as described above.

2.4.1.2 IL-1β ELISA

As with TNF- α , a Quantikine ELISA kit was used for the quantification of IL-1 β in amniotic fluid. The standard curve allowed for detection of 800 to 12.5pg/ml of IL-1 β . All samples were assayed neat.

2.4.1.3 IL-6 ELISA

As with TNF- α and IL-1 β a Quantikine ELISA kit was used for the quantification of IL-6 in amniotic fluid. The standard curve allowed for detection of 500 to 7.8pg/ml of IL-6. Samples were diluted 1 in 10 before being assayed.

2.4.1.4 IL-10 ELISA

A Quantikine® ELISA kit was used for the quantification of IL-10 in both amniotic fluid and serum. The standard curve allowed for detection of 1000 to 15.6pg/ml IL-10. Serum samples were diluted 1 in 2 and amniotic fluid samples were assayed neat.

2.4.2 Competitive binding ELISA

A competitive binding ELISA is based on labelled and unlabelled ligand competing for a limited number of antibody binding sites. A defined amount of labelled ligand is incubated with the sample and both the labelled ligand and any unlabelled ligand present in the sample compete to bind to the antibody binding sites on the plate. Substrate is then added and the resultant colour change can be measured by a spectrophotometer. If there is a high concentration of ligand in the sample then less labelled ligand will be bound and the colour change will be low, therefore in this ELISA the concentration of the protein of interest in the sample is inversely proportional to the optical density measured. As with the sandwich ELISA described above, plates were read using a plate reader and Softmax Pro software which automatically draws the standard curve and extrapolates protein concentrations.

2.4.2.1 Progesterone ELISA

A progesterone rat/mouse ELISA kit was used to quantify serum progesterone concentrations. The standard curve allowed for the detection of 100 to 0.4ng/ml progesterone. 25μ l of standard and sample were added to the appropriate wells on the plate. 50μ l of incubation buffer and 100μ l of enzyme conjugate (progesterone conjugated to HRP) were also added to each well and the plate incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. The wells were then washed with 300μ l of wash buffer and 200μ l substrate solution (TMB and hydrogen peroxide solution) was added to each well and the plate incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. 50μ l of stop solution

was then added to quench the colour change reaction and the absorbance of each well was measured at 450nm.

2.5 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

Immunohistochemical staining was used to localise immune cells within the uterus. Details of solutions used are given in Table 2.6.

2.5.1 Paraffin embedding and slide cutting

Uterus samples were collected as detailed in section 2.1.3.1 and fixed overnight in 4% NBF before being transferred to 70% ethanol and embedded in paraffin blocks. Using a microtome, 5µm sections were cut and mounted onto slides. When cut, slides were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours to ensure sections were adhered to the slides before being used in immunhistochemistry experiments.

2.5.2 Staining protocol

Some staining was carried out using the automated Bond immunostaining robot service, where this was not used, the same conditions were used to achieve similar staining quality. Neutrophils were localised using either an anti-Gr-1 antibody, or the more specific anti-Ly-6G antibody; macrophages were localised using an anti-F4/80 antibody. Details of the source, dilution and antigen retrieval method for the different antibodies are given in Table 2.5.

Antibody name	Source	Dilution	Antigen retrieval method	
Mouse Gr-1/Ly-6G,	R&D Systems	1:1000	None	
clone RB6-8C5	(MAB1037)			
Anti-mouse Ly-6G,	BioLegend,	1:500	None	
clone 1A8	(127601)			
Anti-mouse F4/80	eBioscience	1:250	0.5 mg/ml Trypsin for 10 minutes	
	(14-4801)		at 37°C	

Table	2.5	-	Antibody	information	for	specific	antibodies	used	in
immun	ohisto	och	emistry exp	eriments.					

Briefly, slides were dewaxed in xylene for 5 minutes, rehydrated in ethanol (absolute, 90%, 80% and then 70%), and washed in H₂0. If required antigen retrieval was then performed. Slides were washed twice in PBS for 5 minutes. Following this, endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubating the slides for 15 minutes in 3% H₂0₂ in PBS. The two 5 minutes PBS washes were repeated prior to incubating the sections for 30 minutes in normal goat serum to block any non-specific binding. The primary antibody specific to the immune cell of interest was diluted in normal goat serum, added to the sections and the slides were incubated in a humidified chamber at 4°C overnight. A negative control, where the primary antibody was replaced with normal goat serum, was included in each run.

The following day the slides underwent two 5 minutes PBS washes and were then incubated with the secondary antibody (ImmPRESS anti-Rat IgG reagent) for 30 minutes at room temperature. This reagent is a polymerized reporter enzyme staining system that conjugates a peroxidase micropolymer to the secondary antibody, allowing one-step detection. Following two further PBS washes, slides were incubated with 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate for peroxidase for a maximum of 5 minutes resulting in positive brown staining. Slides were then counterstained in haematoxylin, dehydrated in increasing concentrations of ethanol, incubated in xylene for 5 minutes and coverslips were mounted using pertex mounting medium.

Images of stained sections were obtained using the PROVIS microscope and AxioVision Rel 4.8 software.

Solution	Recipe
NBF fixative	100 ml 40% formaldehyde
	4 g sodium dihydrogen phosphate monohydrate
	6.5 g disodium hydrogen phosphate anhydrous
	900 ml distilled H₂0
Trypsin antigen retrieval solution	0.5 g trypsin
	0.37g EDTA
	1 L distilled H ₂ 0
	рН 8
Normal goat serum	2ml non-immune goat serum
	8 ml PBS
	0.5 g BSA

Table 2.6 - Solutions used for tissue fixation and immunohistochemistry experiments.

2.5.3 Quantification of positively stained cells

Immune cell influx into the uterus six hours post-surgery was quantified stereologically. The myometrium and decidua of each uterus section were analysed separately. Each uterus section was tiled using a x5 objective and using Image-Pro Plus software, the area of interest (i.e., myometrium or decidua) was selected by drawing round the appropriate structure in the uterus. Using a x40 objective lens, a total of 10 randomised fields of view were visualised and the positive cells counted per section of myometrium or decidua, with 9 sections counted in total per mouse. The average number of positive cells counted per area was then calculated for each mouse and averaged across treatments for both the decidua and myometrium.

2.6 WESTERN BLOTTING

Western blotting was used to detect TNF- α protein in uterus, fetal membranes and placental tissue collected from mice as described in section 2.1.3.

2.6.1 Protein Extraction

0.5ml lysis buffer (Table 2.7) and a stainless steel bead were added to 2ml Eppendorfs tubes containing frozen tissue samples (collected as detailed in section 2.1.3.). Samples were homogenised at 25Hz for 5 minutes using a tissue lyser. The homogenates were then centrifuged at 8000*g* for 10 minutes at 4°C. Following this the clear aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh 2ml Eppendorf tube and stored at -80°C. Extracted protein from three pieces of the same tissue were pooled for each mouse.

2.6.1.1 Protein Quantification

The Bio-Rad *DC* Protein Assay was used to quantify the protein concentration in each sample. This protein assay is a colorimetric assay similar to the Lowry protein assay. The colour change results from the reaction of protein present in the sample with an alkaline copper tartrate solution and Folin reagent. The reaction between the protein and copper in the alkaline solution reduces the Folin reagent, resulting in a characteristic blue colour. The intensity of the blue colour is proportional to the amount of protein present in the sample and can be quantified by measuring the absorbance at 650 nm.

A standard curve of bovine serum albumin (BSA) was made up in lysis buffer (0, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and 40 mg/ml of BSA). 2μ l of standards or sample were added to wells in a 96well plate, followed by 25μ l Reagent A (alkaline copper tartrate solution) and 200μ l Reagent B (dilute Folin reagent). The plate was then incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The plate was then read at 650 nm and the protein concentrations were extrapolated from the standard curve.

2.6.2 Method

Details of the solutions used for western blotting are given in Table 2.7.

A total of 100µg of protein was run in each lane. Loading buffer, in a volume of 5µl, was added to each sample and samples were denatured by heating at 100°C for 10 minutes, cooled on ice and quickly centrifuged at full speed for 10 seconds before being loaded onto the gel. Aliquots (15 or 20µl) of sample and 10µl of molecular weight marker (See Blue® Plus 2 Pre-Stained Standard) were loaded on to NuPAGE 4%-12% Bis-Tris Mini Gels (1mm, 15 well). The gel was run using MES running buffer at 200V for 30 – 45 minutes to separate out the proteins. The proteins were then transferred from the gel to a PVDF membrane in transfer buffer at 200MA for 2 hours. Following transfer, to

reduce the chance of non-specific binding, the membranes were blocked in 5% dry skimmed milk in TBST for 1 hour at room temperature. Membranes were then washed for 5 minutes in TBST, this step was repeated for a total of three washes. The membranes were then incubated overnight at 4°C with rabbit polyclonal anti-TNF- α antibody (1:800; Catalogue no. 3707, Cell Signaling) in 5% BSA in TBST.

The following day membranes were washed for 5 minutes in TBST for a total of three washes and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour with a goat-anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody, which is conjugated to HRP, in 5% milk in TBST (1:1000). Following three final 5 minute washes in TBST, the membranes were incubated with 1ml chemiluminescent developing solution (ECL Western Blot Analysis System) for 30 seconds, placed in cassette and exposed to X-Ray film in the dark room for 5 seconds to 3 minutes, depending on the signal strength. The film was then exposed using an X-Ray developer. Following development of the TNF- α signal, membranes were then washed for 20 minutes in TBST for a total of 3 washes, and incubated overnight at 4°C with a rabbit polyclonal anti- β -Tubulin antibody (1:1000) in 5% BSA in TBST, as a protein loading control. The β -Tubulin signal was developed as described above for TNF- α .

2.6.3 Analysis

Image J software was used to quantify the intensity of the bands. The intensity of the TNF- α bands were then made relative to the intensity of the β -Tubulin bands, as a loading control for the amount of protein present in each lane. The seven PBS sample and LPS samples were analysed individually and then an average for PBS and LPS was calculated for each tissue.

Solution	Recipe	
Lysis Buffer	50 mmol/l Tris (pH 7.4)	
	0.27 mol/l sucrose	
	1 mmol/l sodium orthovanadate (pH 10)	
	1 mmol/l EDTA	
	1 mmol/l EGTA	
	10 mmol/l sodium β -glycerophosphate	
	50 mmol/l NaF	
	5 mmol/l sodium pyrophosphate	
	1% [w/v] Triton X-100	
	0.1% [v/v] 2-mercaptoethanol	
	protease inhibitors EDTA free tablets (Roche)	
Loading Buffer (5x)	1.8 ml 2M Tris (pH 6.8)	
	3 ml Glycerol	
	0.3 ml 0.5% Bromophenol Blue	
	1.8 g SDS	
	925 mg DTT	
	Made up to 10 ml with dH_20	
Transfer Buffer (10x)	24.2 g Tris	
	112.3 g glycine	
	Made up to 1 L with dH_2O	
Transfer Buffer (1x)	100 ml transfer buffer (10x)	
	800 ml dH₂0	
	100 ml methanol	
TBS (10x)	12.11 g Tris HCL	
	87.66g NaCl	
	Made up to 1 L with dH_2O	
	рН 7.6	
TBST	1 L TBS	
	1 ml Tween-20	

1 ml Tween-20Table 2.7 - Solutions used for protein extraction and western blotting
experiments.

2.7 FLOW CYTOMETRY

Flow cytometry is a technique used to analyse and count cell populations based on their size, granularity and, if labelled with a specific fluorophore-labelled antibody, their fluorescent emissions.

Flow cytometry was used to quantify the number of neutrophils present in mouse serum following neutrophil depletion experiments.

2.7.1 Sample preparation

Blood was collected 6 hours after surgery from the vena cava, as detailed in section 2.1.3.6. Following collection 20μ l of whole blood was immediately mixed with an equal volume of the anticoagulant, sodium citrate and placed on ice. Aliquots of 20μ l of the blood samples were then incubated with specific fluorophore-labelled antibodies diluted 1:100 in PBS for 30 minutes on ice, protected from the light (PE-labelled rat anti-mouse CD45 antibody; Pacific Blue-labelled rat anti-mouse Ly-6G antibody). Blood samples from each animal were incubated with both antibodies together (double stain). Single stains and an unstained control samples were incubated with pooled blood samples from multiple mice in order to check the specificity of the antibodies and control for basal fluorescence of the samples. After 30 minutes, 1ml of BD FACSLyse solution was added to each sample, to lyse red blood cells and fix the cells, and the samples were stored at 4°C until they were analysed on the flow cytometer. Prior to flow analysis, samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 350 *g*, the supernatant removed and the samples re-suspended in 200µl of PBS.

2.7.2 Flow cytometric analysis

Flow cytometry analysis was carried out using the BD LSR Fortessa. Immediately before analysis, 50µl of Flow-check bead suspension (approximately 50000 beads) was added to each sample to allow subsequent calculation of the absolute number of cells counted. The samples were then run on the flow cytometer and 5000-10000 bead events were counted. Cells were initially analysed based on their forward and side scatter characteristics, and the neutrophil population was gated based on expression of both CD45 and Ly-6G for comparison between blood collected from control mice and neutrophil depleted mice. Representative flow plots from a mouse treated with an IgG control antibody (Figure 2.3A) and a mouse treated with anti-Gr-1 (Figure 2.3B) are

shown below. Data were collected using BD FACSDiva software and analysed using FlowJo software (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA).



Figure 2.3 - Representative flow cytometry plots to measure circulating neutrophils in blood. Left panel of each shows FSC vs. SSC plots and gating on live cells. Right panel of each shows Ly-6G vs. CD45 staining of neutrophils in peripheral blood. **(A)** Representative flow plot from control mouse with high circulating neutrophil numbers. **(B)** Representative flow plot from a neutrophil depleted mouse (following anti-Gr-1 treatment), with a very low number of circulating neutrophils.

2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Unless otherwise stated data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism version 6.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA). The specific statistical tests used are described in each results chapter. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter 3 - Characterisation of the inflammatory and immune response in a mouse model of infectioninduced PTL

3.1 INTRODUCTION

There is now strong evidence that labour is an inflammatory event, with the onset of labour at term being associated with increased production of inflammatory mediators, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 at the maternal-fetal interface, as well as increased immune cells, particularly neutrophils and macrophages in the cervix, myometrium and fetal membranes (Denison *et al.* 1998, Sennstrom *et al.* 2000, Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003). It is now widely accepted that intrauterine infection results in early activation of these inflammatory pathways normally initiated at term, resulting in preterm labour (Goldenberg *et al.* 2000). Indeed, intrauterine infection and inflammation are known to be an important cause of preterm labour, with studies estimating that up to 40% of preterm births occur in the presence of an intrauterine infection and inflammation are strongly associated with adverse neonatal outcomes, such as brain injury (Shatrov *et al.* 2010).

Animal models have confirmed the role of infection and inflammation in preterm labour, where administration of bacterial products such as LPS have effectively induced preterm labour in mice (Elovitz *et al.* 2003, Pirianov *et al.* 2009), rabbits (McDuffie *et al.* 1992) and rhesus monkeys (Gravett *et al.* 1994). The use of animal models, which can be manipulated and studied at various time points during pregnancy, is invaluable to improve our understanding of the sequence of events that lead to preterm labour.

Using a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour, to mimic the presence of an intrauterine bacterial infection, this chapter aimed to characterise the local inflammatory and immune responses that result in preterm labour.

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 Mouse model of PTL

Mice underwent surgery as detailed in section 2.1. Mice received an intrauterine injection of either $1\mu g$ (n=5), $5\mu g$, (n=6) $10\mu g$ (n=11), $15\mu g$ (n=8) or $20\mu g$ (n=42) of LPS or PBS (n=35), as a control. Time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups was then monitored as detailed in sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2. Time to delivery was also recorded in a second cohort of mice that did not undergo surgery (n=8), to determine if the surgery itself affected time to delivery. These mice were monitored from midday on D17 of gestation until delivery of the first pup to determine an average time to delivery for untreated mice.

3.2.2 Tissue collection

In a separate cohort of mice receiving intrauterine injection of $1\mu g$ (n=6), $5\mu g$ (n=5), $10\mu g$ (n=5), $15\mu g$ (n=5) or $20\mu g$ of LPS (n=11) or PBS (n=8), utero-placental tissues, maternal serum, amniotic fluid and fetal brains were collected 6 hours post-surgery as detailed in section 2.1.3, for analysis of the inflammatory and immune response.

3.2.3 qRT-PCR

The mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes and immune cell markers was examined using qRT-PCR as described in section 2.3. The expression of the following genes were measured in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta of mice 6 hours post-surgery: *Cxcl1, Cxcl2, Cxcl5, Ccl2, Il-1β, Tnf-α, Il-6, Il-10, Cox-2, 15-Hpgd, Ngp* and *Emr1*. Expression of two genes associated with brain damage were also measured in the fetal brains 6 hours post-surgery, glial fibrillary associated protein (*Gfap*), and microtubule-associated protein (*Mtap2*).

As described in section 2.3.3, expression of the gene of interest was normalised to β actin as the endogenous control gene in each sample and all samples were then compared relative to either a calibrator tissue or control sample. Analysis of all the genes examined in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta was carried out relative to untreated D18 uterus as a calibrator. Analysis of the expression of genes within the brain was made relative to the PBS control group.

3.2.4 ELISA

ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of inflammatory markers in both serum and amniotic fluid collected 6 hours post-surgery, as described in section 2.4. Briefly, the specific ELISAs performed were TNF- α , IL-10 and progesterone in maternal serum; and TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10 in amniotic fluid. Details of each assay are given in section 2.4.

3.2.5 Western Blotting

Western blotting was used to detect TNF- α protein in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta of mice harvested 6 hours post-surgery. Protein was extracted from mice who received an intrauterine injection of PBS (n=7) or 20µg LPS (n=7), as detailed in section 2.6.1. The protocol used for the western blotting experiments is described in section 2.6.2. The intensity of each band was normalised to β -tubulin as a loading control and then quantified using Image J software to measure the density of the bands, as detailed in section 2.6.3.

3.2.6 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was used to localise neutrophils and macrophages within the uterus of mice, as detailed in section 2.5. Neutrophils were localised using an anti-Gr-1 antibody. Macrophages were localised using an anti-F4/80 antibody. Staining protocols are detailed in section 2.5.2.

The three pieces of uterus collected from each mouse were fixed together in one block and a total of 3 slides were stained from each mouse. The number of positive cells was quantified as detailed in section 2.5.3 and compared between PBS (n=4) and 20µg LPS (n=5) treatment groups, with comparisons also made between the location of the cells within the uterus, whether they resided in the myometrium or decidua.

3.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Where data were not normally distributed, it was transformed prior to analysis. Time to delivery data, and serum ELISA data were log

transformed before analysis; and the proportion of live pups born was arc-sin transformed prior to analysis. Normally distributed data were then analysed by one-way ANOVA to compare treatment groups, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison tests to identify significant differences compared to the PBS control group. Preterm delivery rates were analysed by Fisher's exact test. Amniotic fluid cytokine levels were analysed non-parametrically using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison test to identify significant differences between treatment groups compared with the PBS control group. Comparisons between just PBS and 20µg LPS treated mice in western blot analysis were compared using unpaired t-tests. Immune cell counts were analysed by 2-way ANOVA. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Intrauterine administration of LPS induced PTL in a dose-dependent manner

To investigate the ability of intrauterine LPS administration to induce preterm labour, a dose response experiment was carried out to identify the dose of LPS that reliably induced preterm labour with minimal variation.

3.3.1.1 Time to delivery

The time to delivery of mice that did not undergo surgery or treatment was not significantly different to the PBS control group, in which PBS was injected into the uterine horn (mean time to delivery of no surgery control 51.34 hours \pm SEM 1.13 vs. PBS mean time to delivery 49.58 hours \pm SEM 3.71; Figure 3.1). Mice receiving intrauterine LPS delivered earlier than those receiving PBS, in a dose-responsive manner. Administration of both 15µg and 20µg of LPS induced delivery significantly earlier than the PBS control group (15µg mean time to delivery 26.44 hours \pm SEM 13.09, p<0.001 compared to PBS control; 20µg mean time to delivery 27.23 hours \pm SE 3.37; p<0.001 compared to PBS control; Figure 3.1).

To analyse further the effect of LPS treatment on preterm delivery, the preterm delivery rate was calculated. This was defined as the proportion of dams in which there was delivery of the first pup within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. Preterm delivery rates for each treatment group are given in Table 3.1. The rate of preterm delivery in the PBS control group was 40%; higher preterm delivery rates were present in groups receiving doses of LPS at 5µg and higher. Mice receiving 20µg LPS were twice as likely to deliver preterm compared with the PBS control group, with a preterm delivery rate of 83.3% (relative risk 2.08 [95% CI 1.36 – 3.2]).



Figure 3.1 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on time to delivery. Time to delivery was monitored in mice receiving an intrauterine injection of PBS (n=35), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=6), 10µg LPS (n=11), 15µg (n=8) or 20µg LPS (n=42). Time to delivery was also monitored in a group of mice receiving no surgery as a control (n=8). Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); ***p<0.001, compared to PBS

	Preterm	Relative risk of preterm delivery	
Treatment	delivery rate	(compared to PBS)	
PBS (n=35)	40%	-	
1μg LPS (n=5)	0%	-	
5μg LPS (n=5)	60%	1.5 (95% Cl 0.66 – 3.42)	
10µg LPS (n=11)	54.5%	1.36 (95% CI 0.69 – 2.68)	
15μg LPS (n=8)	75%	1.88 (95% Cl 1.06 – 3.32)	
20µg LPS (n=42)	83.3%	2.08 *** (95% Cl 1.36 – 3.2)	

Table 3.1 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on preterm delivery rate. Time to delivery was monitored in mice receiving an intrauterine injection of PBS, 1µg, 5µg, 10µg, 15µg and 20µg LPS. Preterm delivery was defined as delivery within 36 hours of intrauterine injection to calculate the preterm delivery rate in each group. Relative risk ratios calculated using Fisher's exact test. ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.

3.3.1.2 Proportion of live born pups

The proportion of live born pups reduced in response to increasing doses of LPS, with a significantly lower proportion of live pups born to mice receiving 15µg and 20µg of LPS, compared to the PBS control group (15µg mean proportion of live born pups 0.13 \pm SEM 0.08, p<0.01; 20µg mean proportion of live born pups 0.25 \pm SEM 0.05, p<0.001; compared with PBS mean proportion of live born pups 0.56 \pm SEM 0.06; Figure 3.2A).

To investigate further whether the observed reduction in the proportion of live born pups in the $15\mu g$ and $20\mu g$ LPS treatment groups was simply due to a higher proportion of mice in these groups being born prematurely, rather than an effect of the LPS treatment, the proportion of live born pups was also examined in mice delivering preterm. Mice delivering preterm in the PBS group had a mean proportion of live born pups of 0.42 ± SEM 0.12, which was still significantly higher when compared to the proportion of live born pups in mice that delivered preterm in the 15µg LPS treatment group (mean proportion of live born pups 0; p<0.05); and the 20µg LPS treatment group (mean proportion of live born pups 0.14 ± 0.04; p<0.05; Figure 3.2B).



Figure 3.2 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on the proportion of live born pups. The proportion of live born pups was determined in mice receiving an intrauterine injection of PBS (n=35), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=6), 10µg LPS (n=11), 15µg (n=8) and 20µg LPS (n=42). (A) Proportion of live born pups in all mice. (B) The proportion of pups delivered prematurely (within 36 hours of surgery) who were born live; [PBS (n=14), 5µg LPS (n=3), 10µg LPS (n=6), 15µg LPS (n=6), 20µg LPS (n=35)]. Data presented as mean \pm SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.

3.3.2 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues in response to intrauterine LPS

Utero-placental tissues were analysed for the expression of several inflammatory mediators 6 hours post-intrauterine injection using qRT-PCR. The genes measured were: the pro-inflammatory cytokines $Tnf-\alpha$, $Il-1\beta$ and Il-6; the major enzyme responsible for initiating prostaglandin synthesis, *Cox-2*; the enzyme responsible for the breakdown of prostaglandins, *15-Hpgd*; the anti-inflammatory cytokine, *Il-10*; the neutrophil chemokines *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2* and *Cxcl5*; and the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2*.

3.3.2.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

Uterine *Tnf*- α expression was significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered compared to the PBS control (p<0.001; Figure 3.3A). In response to 20µg LPS, there was a 5.1-fold increase in *Tnf*- α expression compared to the PBS control group (p<0.001).

ll-1 β expression was significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered compared to the PBS control group (p<0.001; Figure 3.3B), with a 2.7-fold increase in uterine *ll-1* β expression in mice receiving 20µg of LPS compared to the control (p<0.001).

ll-6 expression was significantly increased in response to LPS treatment at all doses administered, with a mean 6.3-fold increase in *ll-6* expression in response to 20μ g LPS compared to the PBS group (p<0.001; Figure 3.3C).

Expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, *ll-10* was also significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration in a dose-responsive manner, with a 2-fold increase in *ll-10* expression in the uterus of mice given 20µg of LPS, compared with mice receiving PBS (p<0.001; Figure 3.3D).

Given the important role of prostaglandins in the initiation of labour, the levels of *Cox-2* and *15-Hpgd* were also measured. Expression of *Cox-2* increased in response to increasing doses of LPS, with significantly elevated expression at $10\mu g$ (p<0.05), $15\mu g$ (p<0.001) and $20\mu g$ (p<0.001) of LPS, compared to the PBS control (Figure 3.3E). In contrast there was no significant change in the mRNA expression level of *15-Hpgd* in response to LPS treatment (PBS vs. $20\mu g$ LPS p=0.38; Figure 3.3F).

The expression of *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2* and *Cxcl5*, all of which are potent murine neutrophil chemoattractants and activators was significantly elevated in the uterus in response to all doses of LPS administered compared to the PBS control group (p<0.01). In comparison to the PBS control group, administration of $20\mu g$ of LPS induced a 17.5-fold increase in *Cxcl1* expression (p<0.001; Figure 3.4A); a 14.7-fold increase in uterine *Cxcl2* expression (p<0.001; Figure 3.4B); and a 9.8-fold increase in *Cxcl5* expression (p<0.001; Figure 3.4C).

Expression of the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2*, was also elevated in response to increasing doses of LPS, with significantly higher levels at $15\mu g$ and $20\mu g$ of LPS, compared with the PBS control (p<0.01; Figure 3.4D).



Figure 3.3 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression **(F)** *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.



Figure 3.4 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.

3.3.2.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

Tnf- α expression in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration, at all doses (p<0.001; Figure 3.5A), with a 33-fold increase in expression in response to 20µg of LPS, compared to the PBS control.

Similarly *Il-1* β expression was also significantly elevated in the fetal membranes in response to all doses of LPS administered (p<0.001; Figure 3.5B), with 17.4-fold higher expression induced when 20µg of LPS was administered, compared to PBS.

Expression of *ll-6* was increased in a dose-responsive manner in the fetal membranes in response to increasing doses of LPS, with a 3.6-fold increase in expression in response to $20\mu g$ of LPS compared with the PBS control, however this was not statistically significant (PBS vs. $20\mu g$ LPS p=0.96; Figure 3.5C).

In response to increasing doses of LPS administered, *ll-10* expression in the fetal membranes was significantly increased (p<0.01 at 1 μ g, p<0.001 at all other doses of LPS; Figure 3.5D). Expression in response to 20 μ g of LPS was 8.2-fold higher compared with expression of *ll-10* in the fetal membranes of mice receiving PBS.

There was no significant change in *Cox-2* expression in the fetal membranes of mice receiving LPS, at any of the doses administered (PBS vs. 20μ g LPS p=0.63; Figure 3.5E). In contrast, expression of *15-Hpgd* was significantly decreased in mice receiving LPS at each dose, with 2.5-fold lower expression of *15-Hpgd* in the fetal membranes of mice receiving 20µg LPS, compared to the PBS control (p<0.001; Figure 3.5F).

Expression of *Cxcl1* in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to $5\mu g$ (p<0.01), $10\mu g$ (p<0.05), $15\mu g$ (p<0.001) and $20\mu g$ (p<0.01) of LPS, with 5.7-fold higher expression in response to $20\mu g$ of LPS compared to the PBS group (Figure 3.6A). *Cxcl2* expression was significantly higher in response to all doses of LPS administered compared to PBS (p<0.01 at $1\mu g$, p<0.001 at all other doses of LPS; Figure 3.6B), with 8.8-fold increased expression in mice receiving $20\mu g$ of LPS, compared with PBS. Similarly fetal membrane *Cxcl5* expression was significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered (p<0.001; Figure 3.6C), with 56.8-fold increased expression in response to $20\mu g$ of LPS, compared with PBS. In response to increasing doses of LPS administered, expression of *Ccl2* increased in the fetal membranes, with significantly elevated expression in response to $5\mu g$ (p<0.001), $10\mu g$ (p<0.01), $15\mu g$ (p<0.001) and

20μg (p<0.001) of LPS (Figure 3.6D). Expression levels of *Ccl2* in the fetal membranes were 7.4-fold higher in mice receiving 20μg of LPS, compared with those receiving PBS.



Figure 3.5 - **Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes.** Fetal membranes were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *Il-1* β expression. **(C)** *Il-6* expression **(D)** *Il-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression **(F)** 15-Hpgd expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.



Figure 3.6 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.

3.3.2.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

Tnf- α in the placenta was significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered (p<0.001; Figure 3.7A), with 7-fold higher expression in the placenta of mice receiving 20µg of LPS, compared to those receiving PBS.

Similarly placental *ll-1* β expression was significantly increased at all doses of LPS administered, compared to the PBS control (p<0.001; Figure 3.7B), with 10-fold elevated expression in response to 20µg of LPS compared to the control.

ll-6 expression was also significantly elevated in the placenta in response to all doses of LPS, with 6.3-fold higher expression in response to $20\mu g$ LPS, compared to the PBS control (p<0.001; Figure 3.7C)

Expression of *ll-10* was significantly higher in the placentas of mice receiving LPS at all doses administered (p<0.01 at $10\mu g$, p<0.001 at all other doses of LPS; Figure 3.7D), with a 3.4-fold increase in expression of IL-10 comparing the $20\mu g$ LPS dose with the PBS control.

No change in placental *Cox-2* expression was observed in response to intrauterine LPS administration (PBS vs. 20µg LPS p=0.99; Figure 3.7E). Similarly, *15-Hpgd* expression in the placenta did not change across treatment groups (PBS vs. 20µg LPS p=0.24; Figure 3.7F).

In response to increasing doses of LPS administered, expression of *Cxcl1* in the placenta was elevated. The level of *Cxcl1* expression was significantly higher in mice receiving 5µg, 10µg, 15µg and 20µg of LPS (p<0.001; Figure 3.8A), with 4.3-fold elevated expression at 20µg of LPS compared to PBS. Placental *Cxcl2* and *Cxcl5* expression was significantly elevated in response to each dose of LPS administered compared to the PBS control (p<0.001). At 20µg of LPS, *Cxcl2* expression was 12.7-fold higher than PBS (Figure 3.8B); and *Cxcl5* expression was 21.8-fold higher than the PBS control (Figure 3.8C).

Placental *Ccl2* expression was significantly higher in mice receiving all doses of LPS administered (p<0.001; Figure 3.8D), with 6.8-fold higher expression in mice receiving 20µg of LPS, compared with those receiving PBS.



Figure 3.7 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-α* expression. **(B)** *ll-1β* expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression **(F)** *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.



Figure 3.8 - Effect of intrauterine LPS administration on inflammatory chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1μg LPS (n=5), 5μg LPS (n=5), 10μg LPS (n=5), 15μg LPS (n=5) or 20μg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); ***p<0.001, compared to PBS.

3.3.3 TNF- α protein levels in utero-placental tissues following LPS treatment.

To further investigate the inflammatory response induced by LPS treatment in the utero-placental tissues, western blotting was performed to determine whether the increased inflammatory gene expression measured by qRT-PCR was translated into the increased production of inflammatory proteins. TNF- α was chosen as the candidate inflammatory protein to examine because LPS treatment induced large fold-changes in *Tnf-\alpha* mRNA expression in all three utero-placental tissues studied. TNF- α is initially produced as a 26kDa transmembrane protein that is then cleaved by tumour necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme (TACE) into the mature TNF- α cytokine that weighs 17kDa (Black *et al.* 1997, Moss *et al.* 1997). Production of TNF- α protein was determined in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving either intrauterine injection of either PBS or 20µg LPS, the antibody used should identify both precursor and mature TNF- α .

3.3.3.1 Uterine TNF- α protein production

Western blotting detected a protein weighing around 25kDa in the uterine tissue of mice receiving both PBS and LPS, mature TNF- α was not detectable in uterus from either treatment group (Figure 3.9A). β -tubulin was used as a loading control (Figure 3.9B). Densitometric analysis of the band intensity of TNF- α precursor relative to the amount of protein present in each sample showed there was no significant difference in the amount of TNF- α present in the uterine tissue of mice receiving PBS or LPS (Figure 3.9C; p=0.86).


Figure 3.9 - Uterine TNF-\alpha production. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours postsurgery from mice receiving PBS (n=7) or 20µg LPS (n=7) and the production of TNF- α was examined by western blotting. **(A)** The 25kDa TNF- α precursor protein was detected in uterine tissue from mice receiving PBS and LPS. **(B)** β -tubulin was used as a protein loading control. **(C)** Densitometric analysis of TNF- α band intensity relative to β -tubulin showed there was no significant difference between PBS and LPS treatment in uterine TNF- α production. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

3.3.3.2 Fetal membrane TNF- α protein production

Western blotting detected a protein weighing around 25kDa in the fetal membranes of mice receiving both PBS and LPS, the 17kDa mature TNF- α protein was not detected in the fetal membranes from either treatment group (Figure 3.10A). β -tubulin was used as a loading control (Figure 3.10B). Densitometric analysis of the band intensity of TNF- α precursor relative to the amount of protein present in each sample showed there was a significant reduction in the amount of TNF- α precursor protein present in the fetal membranes of mice receiving LPS compared to the PBS control group (Figure 3.10C; p<0.05).



Figure 3.10 - Fetal membrane TNF-\alpha production. Fetal membranes were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=7) or 20µg LPS (n=7) and the production of TNF- α was examined by western blotting. **(A)** The 25kDa TNF- α precursor protein was detected in fetal membranes from mice receiving PBS and LPS. **(B)** β -tubulin was used as a protein loading control. **(C)** Densitometric analysis of TNF- α band intensity relative to β -tubulin showed there was a significant reduction in the amount of TNF- α precursor in the fetal membranes of mice treated with LPS, compared to those receiving PBS. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05.

3.3.3.3 Placental TNF- α protein production

Western blotting detected a protein weighing around 25kDa in the placental tissue of mice receiving both PBS and LPS. As in the uterus and fetal membranes, the 17kDa mature TNF- α protein was not detectable in the placental tissue from either treatment group (Figure 3.11A). β -tubulin was used as a loading control (Figure 3.11B). Densitometric analysis of the band intensity of TNF- α precursor relative to the amount of protein present in each sample showed there was no significant difference in the amount of TNF- α precursor protein present in the placental tissue of mice in either treatment group (Figure 3.11C; p=0.42).



Figure 3.11 - Placental TNF-\alpha production. Placental tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=7) or 20µg LPS (n=7) and the production of TNF- α was examined by western blotting. **(A)** The 25kDa TNF- α precursor protein was detected in the placental tissue from mice receiving PBS and LPS. **(B)** β -tubulin was used as a protein loading control. **(C)** Densitometric analysis of TNF- α band intensity relative to β -tubulin showed there was no significant difference between PBS and LPS treatment in placental TNF- α production. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

3.3.4 Immune cell influx in response to intrauterine LPS administration

A number of studies have highlighted that both labour and preterm labour are associated with an immune cell influx in the utero-placental tissues (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Osman *et al.* 2003, Hamilton *et al.* 2012). Therefore, to determine whether immune cells played a role in our model of LPS-induced preterm labour, utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-intrauterine injection and the expression of specific immune cell markers was measured by qRT-PCR and immune cells were localised in the uterus using immunohistochemistry.

3.3.4.1 Macrophage marker expression in the utero-placental tissues

To assess macrophage influx, expression of the *Emr1* gene was measured; this is the gene which codes for a specific antigen expressed on macrophages, F4/80. Uterine expression of *Emr1* was unaffected by intrauterine administration of LPS at any dose (Figure 3.12A). Similarly placental *Emr1* expression was unaffected by LPS treatment (Figure 3.12B). Expression of *Emr1* in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to 20μ g LPS, with 1.6-fold higher expression compared to the PBS control group (p<0.05; Figure 3.12C).



Figure 3.12 - **Expression of** *Emr1* **mRNA in the uterus, placenta and fetal membranes.** Uterus, placenta and fetal membranes were collected 6 hours postsurgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of *Emr1* was investigated using qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Emr1* mRNA expression in the uterus. **(B)** Placental *Emr1* mRNA expression. **(C)** *Emr1* mRNA expression in the fetal membranes. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, compared to the PBS control.

3.3.4.2 Macrophage localisation in the uterus

To determine where in the uterus macrophages reside during pregnancy, and investigate whether surgery and/or LPS treatment affect their localisation, immunohistochemistry using an anti-F4/80 antibody was performed on uterine tissue collected from mice receiving PBS or 20µg LPS, 6 hours post-surgery and also from pregnant mice on D17 of gestation who had no surgery or treatment, as a comparison.

On D17 of gestation, in mice receiving no surgery or treatment, macrophages were localised to the myometrium (Figure 3.13A) and the decidua of these mice (Figure 3.13B). In mice receiving intrauterine PBS, macrophages were similarly found to be present in both the myometrium (Figure 3.13C) and decidua (Figure 3.13D), with more positively stained cells present in the endometrium compared to the myometrium. In mice treated with 20µg LPS, F4/80 positive macrophages were still present within the myometrium (Figure 3.13E) and decidua (Figure 3.13F). No positive staining was observed in negative control sections of myometrium (Figure 3.13G) and decidua (Figure 3.13H).

There were no clear differences in either the localisation or the number of macrophages present within the uterus when comparing PBS and LPS treatment; therefore stereological analysis was performed to further investigate macrophage localisation within the uterus, to determine if LPS treatment affected the distribution of F4/80 positive cells within the uterus. Ten randomised fields of view of decidua and myometrium were counted in each uterine section in order to give an estimate of the number of F4/80 positive cells in the uterus of mice receiving PBS or 20µg LPS. In response to intrauterine LPS, there was a mean 1.6-fold reduction in the number of F4/80 positive cells counted in the decidua, compared to the PBS control, however this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.05). Similarly, in the myometrium, LPS treatment resulted in a mean 2.1-fold decrease in the number of F4/80 positive cells counted with mice receiving PBS (p=0.06;Figure 3.14).



Figure 3.13 - Macrophage localisation in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=4) or 20µg LPS (n=5). Representative images of macrophage localisation by immunohistochemical staining for F4/80. F4/80 positive cells were present in the myometrium (A) and decidua (B) of normal untreated D17 mice. Intrauterine injection of PBS did not appear to alter the localisation of F4/80 positive cells within the uterus, with macrophages still found within the myometrial tissue (C) and decidua tissue (D). Positive F4/80 macrophages were similarly located in the myometrium (E) and decidua (F) of mice receiving intrauterine LPS. No positive staining was observed in the negative control sections of myometrium (G) and decidua (H). Scale bars show 50µm, arrows indicate example of positively stained cells. All images taken with a x20 objective lens



Figure 3.14 - Quantification of F4/80 positive cells in the uterus following surgery. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=4) or $20\mu g$ LPS (n=5). Decidua and myometrium were analysed separately. A total of ten randomised fields of view were counted per section, with nine sections of uterus counted in total per mouse. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

3.3.4.3 Neutrophil marker expression in the utero-placental tissues

To assess neutrophil influx into the utero-placental tissues, expression of the gene coding for neutrophilic granule protein, (NGP) was measured by qRT-PCR. Administration of LPS resulted in significantly elevated expression of *Ngp* in the uterus at all doses of LPS, compared to the PBS control (1µg and 5µg vs. PBS, p<0.01; 10µg, 15µg and 20µg vs. PBS, p<0.001; Figure 3.15A), with a 4.7-fold increase in expression in response to 20µg LPS compared to PBS. Similarly expression of *Ngp* in the fetal membranes was also significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered (p<0.001; Figure 3.15B), with 5.7-fold higher expression of *Ngp* in response to 20µg LPS compared to PBS. Placental expression of *Ngp* was also significantly elevated in response to increasing doses of LPS, with significantly higher expression in the placenta in response to 15µg and 20µg LPS (p<0.001; Figure 3.15C), with a 2-fold increase in expression in response to 20µg LPS, compared to the PBS control.



Figure 3.15 - **Expression of** *Ngp* **mRNA in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta.** Uterus, fetal membranes and placenta were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of *Ngp* was investigated using qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Ngp* mRNA expression in the uterus **(B)** *Ngp* mRNA expression in the fetal membranes. **(C)** Placental *Ngp* mRNA expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to the PBS control.

3.3.4.4 Neutrophil localisation in the uterus

To confirm that increased *Ngp* expression was due to neutrophil influx into the uterus and to determine where in the uterus neutrophils were being recruited to, immunohistochemistry using an anti-Gr-1 antibody was performed on uterine tissue collected from mice receiving PBS or 20µg LPS, 6 hours post-surgery and also from pregnant mice on D17 of gestation who had no surgery or treatment, as a comparison.

On D17 of gestation, in mice who received no treatment and who did not undergo any surgery, there were no neutrophils present in the myometrium (Figure 3.16A) and very few, if any, present in the decidua of these mice (Figure 3.16B). PBS treated mice had positive Gr-1 staining in the connective tissue layer surrounding the longitudinal myometrial muscle bundles, and within blood vessels of the myometrium (Figure 3.16C), but similarly to the untreated controls, there were very few, if any, positive cells located within the decidua (Figure 3.16D). Mice treated with LPS, still had Gr-1 positive cells within the myometrium, as with the PBS treated mice (Figure 3.16E), however there was a striking difference when comparing the decidua of the two treatment groups, where the LPS treated mice had a large influx of neutrophils into the decidua (Figure 3.16G) and decidua (Figure 3.16H).

To investigate further the different localisation of neutrophils within the uterus of mice receiving PBS and LPS, stereological analysis was performed. Ten randomised fields of view of decidua and myometrium were counted in each uterine section in order to give an estimate of the number of Gr-1 positive cells and their distribution in the uterus of mice receiving PBS or 20 μ g LPS. In response to 20 μ g LPS, there was a significant increase in the number of Gr-1 positive cells present in the sampled areas of decidua, with approximately 7-fold more neutrophils present in the LPS treated group, compared to the PBS control group (p=0.006). There were no significant differences in the number of Gr-1 cells present in the sampled areas of myometrium when comparing between the PBS and LPS treated groups (p=0.57;Figure 3.17).



Figure 3.16 - Neutrophil localisation in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=4) or 20μ g LPS (n=5). Representative images of neutrophil localisation by immunohistochemical staining for Gr-1. No Gr-1 positive cells were present in the myometrium (A) and decidua (B) of normal untreated D17 mice. In response to intrauterine injection of PBS, Gr-1 positive cells were localised to the myometrium, surrounding the longitudinal muscle bundles, and within blood vessels (C). As in the untreated controls, there were no neutrophils present in the decidua of mice receiving PBS (D). Positive Gr-1 neutrophils were similarly localised to the myometrium in mice receiving LPS (E). An influx of neutrophils into the decidua of mice was observed in response to intrauterine injection of 20µg of LPS (F). No positive staining was observed in the negative control sections of myometrium (G) and decidua (H). Scale bars show 50µm, arrows indicate examples of positively stained cells. All images taken with a x20 objective lens.



Figure 3.17 - Quantification of Gr-1 positive cells in the uterus following surgery. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=4) or 20µg LPS (n=5). Decidua and myometrium were analysed separately. A total of ten randomised fields of view were counted per section, with nine sections of uterus counted in total per mouse. Data presented as mean \pm SEM (error bars). *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

3.3.5 Inflammatory markers in the amniotic fluid

Amniotic fluid was collected 6 hours post-surgery to examine the level of inflammatory cytokine production in the amniotic fluid in response to intrauterine LPS administration. ELISAs were used to measure the concentration of the cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10. Where the concentration of cytokines was too low to be detected by the ELISAs, the value of the limit of detection of the specific ELISA was entered to give a value for analysis and the data were analysed by non-parametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis).

TNF- α was undetectable in six PBS control samples, one 10µg LPS sample and one 20µg LPS sample. Administration of LPS resulted in increased amniotic fluid TNF- α levels, with significantly higher TNF- α production in response to 5µg LPS (mean 106.5 pg/ml ± SEM 38.23; p<0.01), 15µg LPS (mean 75.18 pg/ml ± SEM 30.71; p<0.05) and 20µg of LPS (mean 91.74 pg/ml ± SEM 28.75; p<0.01), compared with the PBS control group (mean 11.96 pg/ml ± SEM 1.06; Figure 3.18A)

IL-1 β was undetectable in one 10 μ g LPS sample. Amniotic fluid levels of IL-1 β were unaffected by intrauterine LPS administration, although slightly elevated IL-1 β was measured in the amniotic fluid from mice receiving 20 μ g LPS (mean 54.59 pg/ml ± SEM 10.43) compared to PBS (mean 33.08 pg/ml ± SEM 5.08), this was not statistically significant (p= 0.99; Figure 3.18B).

Amniotic fluid levels of IL-6 were elevated in response to LPS treatment, with significantly higher levels of IL-6 measured in the amniotic fluid of mice receiving $20\mu g$ LPS (mean 2216 pg/ml ± SEM 484.7) compared with those receiving PBS (mean 473.9 pg/ml ± SEM 228.2; p<0.01; Figure 3.18C).

IL-10 was undetectable in five PBS samples, two 1µg LPS samples, three 10µg LPS samples, one 15µg LPS sample and four 20µg LPS samples. Intrauterine administration of LPS resulted in significantly elevated IL-10 production in response to 5µg LPS (mean 20.94 pg/ml ± SEM 15.5; p<0.05) and 15µg LPS (mean 24.38 pg/ml ± 4.29; p<0.05), compared with mice receiving PBS (mean 15.5 pg/ml ± SEM 0.37; Figure 3.18D).



Figure 3.18 - Inflammatory markers in the amniotic fluid. Amniotic fluid was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of inflammatory cytokines present in the amniotic fluid. (A) Amniotic fluid TNF- α concentration (B) Amniotic fluid IL-1 β concentration. (C) Amniotic fluid IL-6 concentration. (D) Amniotic fluid IL-10 concentration. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, compared to the PBS control.

3.3.6 Serum markers in response to intrauterine LPS administration

To investigate whether intrauterine LPS administration resulted in a systemic inflammatory response, the serum concentrations of two candidate cytokines measured in 3.3.5. were determined. The pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α , and the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, were measured by ELISA in maternal serum collected 6 hours post-surgery. Also because a drop in circulating progesterone levels normally precedes labour in mice, serum progesterone concentration was also measured by ELISA.

Serum levels of TNF- α were elevated in response to increasing doses of LPS, with significantly higher levels of TNF- α measured when mice received doses of 10µg (mean 13.63 pg/ml ± SEM 2.72; p<0.01), 15µg (mean 25.54 pg/ml ± SEM 5.95; p<0.001) and 20µg of LPS (mean 19.07 pg/ml ± SEM 3.51; p<0.01), compared to the PBS control group (mean 4.06 pg/ml ± SEM 0.74; Figure 3.19A).

Intrauterine administration of LPS resulted in increased circulating levels of IL-10. Serum IL-10 was significantly elevated in response to both 15 μ g (mean 276.5 pg/ml ± SEM 59.0; p<0.001) and 20 μ g of LPS (mean 182.4 pg/ml ± SEM 23.89; p<0.01), compared to the PBS control (mean 52.04 pg/ml ± SEM 6.53; Figure 3.19B).

Serum progesterone levels were unaffected by intrauterine LPS administration. There was no significant difference in the mean progesterone concentration in the PBS group (mean 19.74 ng/ml \pm SEM 1.58) compared with any of the doses of LPS administered (mean 20µg concentration 16.7 ng/ml \pm SEM 1.48; p=0.49; Figure 3.19C).



Figure 3.19 - Serum markers in response to intrauterine LPS administration. Maternal blood was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and serum concentrations of TNF- α , IL-10 and progesterone were measured by ELISA. (A) Serum TNF- α concentration. (B) Serum IL-10 concentration. (C) Serum progesterone concentration. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to the PBS control.

3.3.7 Gene expression in the fetal brain following intrauterine LPS administration

The presence of an intrauterine infection is often associated with poor neonatal outcome and brain injury (Shatrov *et al.* 2010). Previous animal studies of preterm labour have demonstrated that administration of LPS can result in increased expression of inflammatory cytokines in the fetal brain, and alter the expression of neuronal markers, suggesting possible brain injury (Elovitz *et al.* 2006, Burd *et al.* 2011).

Fetal brains were collected 6 hours post-intrauterine injection and analysed for the expression of: the pro-inflammatory cytokines $Tnf \cdot \alpha$, $Il \cdot 1\beta$ and $Il \cdot 6$; the antiinflammatory cytokine, $Il \cdot 10$; and brain-specific markers glial fibrillary associated protein (*Gfap*), and microtubule-associated protein (*Mtap2*), to assess whether intrauterine LPS administration resulted in an increased inflammatory response within the fetal brain or any early signs of brain injury.

Expression of *Tnf-* α in the fetal brain was unaffected by intrauterine LPS treatment (Figure 3.20A). Similarly, LPS treatment did not induce a significant increase in *ll-1* β expression, although a small increase was observed in mice receiving 20µg LPS compared to the PBS control group, this was not statistically significant (p=0.69; Figure 3.20B). Unexpectedly *ll-6* expression in the fetal brain was significantly decreased in mice treated with 1µg LPS (p<0.05; Figure 3.20C), with 2-fold lower expression compared to the PBS control. *ll-10* expression in the fetal brain was too low to be detected in all treatment groups.

Expression of the marker of astrogliosis, *Gfap*, was not significantly altered in fetal brains of mice receiving LPS, compared to the PBS control (Figure 3.20D). Similarly, expression of the neuronal marker, *Mtap2* in fetal brains was also unaffected by intrauterine administration of LPS (Figure 3.20E).



Figure 3.20 - **Gene expression in the fetal brains following intrauterine LPS administration.** Fetal brains was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving PBS (n=8), 1µg LPS (n=5), 5µg LPS (n=5), 10µg LPS (n=5), 15µg LPS (n=5) or 20µg LPS (n=11) and the mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α mRNA expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β mRNA expression, **(C)** *ll-6* mRNA expression. **(D)** *Gfap* mRNA expression. **(E)** *Mtap-2* mRNA expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, compared to the PBS control.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Mouse model of infection induced preterm labour

Animal models of parturition have been used for many years to elucidate the mechanisms underlying the onset of spontaneous labour at term and to understand the causes of preterm labour. The pros and cons of various animal models for parturition research have been extensively discussed (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009, Ratajczak et al. 2010). Clearly there are always limitations in the use of any animal model, as they can rarely replicate the exact clinical scenario in humans, but given the fact that collection of gestational tissues from women at various time points during pregnancy is clearly not possible, animal models are required to build a picture of the sequence of events involved in parturition (Mitchell and Taggart 2009). Aside from the clear physiological differences in the reproductive tissues, the main issue raised regarding the use of mice in parturition models, is that progesterone withdrawal is required for normal term labour in this species, which is not a feature of human parturition (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004). However, recent studies suggest that the induction of preterm labour, by injection of bacterial products in mice, does not appear to rely on progesterone withdrawal (Hirsch and Muhle 2002, Murphy et al. 2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011), which may improve the suitability of mice in this context. The ability of mice to reproduce efficiently and rapidly with a short gestation, allows for studies to be carried out on a large number of animals over a short space of time, compared with studies using the more closely related non-human primate models (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009, Ratajczak et al. 2010). Furthermore, as will be discussed in detail in this chapter, there are many similarities in the response to intrauterine infection between mice and humans, making them a reliable and cost-effective model to study infection-induced preterm labour.

This chapter aimed to use a mouse model of intrauterine LPS administration to induce preterm labour and investigate the associated inflammatory and immune responses. The use of a direct intrauterine injection of LPS to induce preterm labour was first described by Elovitz *et al.* (Elovitz *et al.* 2003), and is now routinely used as a model of preterm labour to investigate the role of inflammation and infection in preterm labour and to test out potential therapeutic drugs to delay delivery and improve neonatal outcome. Administration of bacterial products directly into the uterus, as opposed to via intra-peritoneal injection (Fidel *et al.* 1994, Kaga *et al.* 1996, Robertson *et al.* 2006),

provides a model which more closely reflects the clinical scenario in women, where the presence of an intrauterine infection is usually subclinical and results in a local, rather than a systemic, inflammatory and immune response (Goldenberg *et al.* 2000).

Clearly the surgical nature of the model itself does have drawbacks. Although generally the mice recovered well from the surgery, it is to be expected that performing relatively major surgery, late in gestation, may have an impact on time to delivery. Indeed, although no significant difference was observed in the mean time to delivery when comparing the no surgery control group with the PBS treated group, 40% of the PBS treated mice did go into preterm labour (i.e. they delivered within 36 hours of intrauterine injection), whilst no mice in the no surgery group delivered preterm. Although great care was taken during surgery, this rate of preterm birth in the PBS control group is likely due to the surgical procedures of pulling out and returning the uterine horns to the abdominal cavity.

Despite its limitations, the evidence described in this chapter supports that the model we used is an effective model of infection-induced preterm labour; which reliably induces preterm delivery and which can be used to analyse the inflammatory and immune responses occurring in response to a local intrauterine infection.

Intrauterine LPS administration dose-dependently induced preterm labour and reduced the proportion of live born pups

The LPS dose response experiments showed that intrauterine administration of LPS at doses of 15µg and 20µg induced delivery significantly earlier than the PBS control group. This result is similar to recently published data by Sykes *et al.* (Sykes *et al.* 2013), where they use the same mode of administration, same serotype of LPS and similar doses in a LPS dose response experiment measuring time to delivery. However, they show a significant effect of low doses of LPS (2.5µg, 5µg and 10µg) on reducing time to delivery, which were not seen in this study. These differences are possibly due to the potential variations in potency that can be associated with different batches of LPS. Whilst both 15µg and 20µg LPS both significantly reduced time to delivery, it was decided the 20µg LPS was the most appropriate dose to use in future experiments as this dose most consistently induced preterm labour and significantly increased the preterm delivery rate. For the purpose of describing the model in this chapter, time to

delivery and live pup data from all mice that received $20\mu g$ LPS and from all control mice that received PBS in all of our studies were pooled for analysis, hence the large *n* numbers in these groups.

The reduction in the proportion of live born pups associated with intrauterine LPS treatment has been demonstrated in previous studies in similar models (Elovitz *et al.* 2003, Pirianov *et al.* 2009, Sykes *et al.* 2013). This significant reduction in the number of live pups being born is likely to be due to both an effect of the LPS treatment, and the premature delivery of the pups. If the mice are delivered on D17 or D18, it is likely that they will not be developmentally competent to survive. However, evidence from this study suggests that receiving LPS treatment further compounds the negative effects of being born prematurely, as even when PBS control mice delivered preterm, they had a significantly greater proportion of live born pups compared to mice receiving 15µg and 20µg of LPS.

Intrauterine administration of LPS results in a local and systemic inflammatory response

Both spontaneous term labour and infection-associated preterm labour in humans have been associated with increased levels of pro-inflammatory mediators in the amniotic fluid (Yoon *et al.* 2001, Thomakos *et al.* 2010, Marconi *et al.* 2011); elevated expression of inflammatory cytokines within the utero-placental tissues (Denison *et al.* 1998, Sennstrom *et al.* 2000, Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003); and increased activation of peripheral blood leukocytes (Yuan *et al.* 2009). In parallel, work in animal models has also demonstrated a similar inflammatory response within the intrauterine tissues both at term and in models of preterm labour (Robertson *et al.* 2010, Shynlova *et al.* 2013).

To investigate whether intrauterine LPS administration induced a local and systemic inflammatory response in our model, the expression of inflammatory cytokines was measured in the uterus, fetal membranes, placenta, amniotic fluid and maternal serum 6 hours post-surgery.

Expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-6 in the myometrium, cervix, fetal membranes and placenta are elevated in women during term labour, compared to non-labouring women (Sennstrom *et al.* 2000, Young *et al.* 2002,

Osman *et al.* 2003, Osman *et al.* 2006). These cytokines are thought to be involved in stimulating the local production of other inflammatory mediators, such as MMPs (Riley *et al.* 1999, Xu *et al.* 2002) and prostaglandins (Pollard and Mitchell 1996, Keelan *et al.* 2003, Olson 2003); which can then go on to stimulate the processes required for labour progression, including myometrial contractions, fetal membrane rupture and cervical ripening and dilation. The role of these pro-inflammatory cytokines in preterm labour have also been confirmed in animal studies which demonstrated that intra-amniotic or intrauterine injection of TNF- α and IL-1 β , induced preterm birth in animal models (Romero *et al.* 1992, Silver *et al.* 1994, Sadowsky *et al.* 2006); and that the rate of *E.coli*-induced preterm birth in IL-1 and TNF receptor double knockout mice was reduced when compared to wild-type mice (Hirsch *et al.* 2006). Additionally, the incidence of LPS-induced preterm labour was also significantly reduced in IL-6 knockout mice, compared with wild-types (Robertson *et al.* 2010).

Results from our model demonstrate that LPS treatment induced a robust increase in the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines within 6 hours in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta, with elevated expression of ll- 1β and Tnf- α at all doses of LPS administered, when compared with the PBS control group. Similarly ll-6 expression was significantly elevated at all doses of LPS administered in the uterus and placenta, but expression of ll-6 was unchanged in the fetal membranes. In line with these data, similar models of LPS-induced preterm labour have reported increased expression of ll- 1β , Tnf- α and ll-6 in the uterus and placenta 6 hours after intrauterine LPS (Chang *et al.* 2011); and in the myometrium and decidua of mice during LPS-induced preterm labour (Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Shynlova *et al.* 2013).

Surprisingly, increased *Tnf-* α gene expression was not found to correlate with increased protein production in the utero-placental tissues, as measured by western blotting. TNF- α mRNA is translated into a 26kDa membrane-bound precursor protein, which is converted into the 17kDa secreted mature TNF- α protein by tumour necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme (TACE) (Black *et al.* 1997, Moss *et al.* 1997). The western blot only detected the 26kDa TNF- α precursor protein, rather than the smaller mature protein. This may suggest a lack of mature TNF- α protein within these tissues, or it may be that the conditions were not optimised to identify the smaller mature protein.

In the uterus and placenta, there was no difference in TNF- α precursor protein levels when comparing tissue from mice receiving PBS with that from mice receiving 20µg LPS, and there was a reduction in the amount of TNF- α precursor protein in the fetal membranes. Given the significant increase in *Tnf*- α mRNA expression in uterus and placenta observed in response to 20µg LPS, compared to the PBS controls (5-fold increase in uterus, 7-fold increase in placenta), it was surprising that this did not correlate with increased TNF- α protein. However, other studies have reported LPSinduced increased *Tnf*- α expression in myometrium at the mRNA level without associated increased protein expression at the same time point (Shynlova *et al.* 2013). It could be that increased protein concentrations would be observed at a later time point, due to a delay in translation of the increased mRNA.

The observed reduction in TNF- α precursor protein levels detected in the fetal membranes, where $Tnf-\alpha$ mRNA was increased 33-fold in response to 20µg LPS, could be indicative of a higher rate of TACE activity in the fetal membranes converting the precursor protein into mature TNF- α in mice receiving LPS. Support for this hypothesis comes from a previous study by Hung *et al.* (Hung *et al.* 2006) which found increased TACE activity in placenta and fetal membranes collected from women who had evidence of chorioamnionitis, compared with tissues obtained from normal pregnancies. They also demonstrated that treatment of placental and fetal membrane samples with LPS in vitro increased TACE mRNA and protein levels (Hung et al. 2006). Additionally, a recent study highlights the importance of not only measuring inflammatory cytokines, but also their receptors when investigating the role of cytokines in labour (Alexander et al. 2012). They demonstrate that whilst there is inconsistent data regarding whether TNF- α levels increase in human myometrium with preterm or term labour, they found increased expression of the two TNF- α receptors, TNFR1A and TNFR1B with term and preterm labour, respectively, suggesting that the myometrium becomes more sensitive to TNF- α at the onset of labour, regardless of whether the levels of TNF- α change. Investigating cytokine receptor levels and quantification of TACE protein may have given a clearer picture of whether increased mRNA expression is translated into increased activity of the cytokines.

To investigate further the local inflammatory response to intrauterine LPS administration, the levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 secreted into the amniotic fluid 6 hours after surgery were measured. Women who deliver preterm, with evidence of

intra-amniotic infection, have elevated levels of IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-6 in their amniotic fluid (Thomakos *et al.* 2010, Marconi *et al.* 2011). In line with these studies, intrauterine LPS administration in our model resulted in significantly elevated levels of both TNF- α and IL-6 in the amniotic fluid when compared with the PBS control group. Although the concentration of IL-1 β was elevated in mice receiving 20 μ g LPS, this was not significantly greater than the amniotic fluid concentrations in PBS mice. These data suggest that, as in human pregnancy associated with an intra-amniotic infection, intrauterine administration of LPS results in a local inflammatory response within the amniotic fluid, and agrees with other reported mouse studies (Xu *et al.* 2005, Yang *et al.* 2009).

TNF- α levels were also measured in the maternal serum 6 hours post-surgery. Although in women, the presence of an intrauterine infection is normally associated with minimal clinical signs of systemic infection, elevated serum cytokine levels have been reported in women who deliver preterm (Murtha *et al.* 1998). Similarly, previous animal studies have reported up-regulation of serum cytokine levels in models of infection-induced preterm labour (Xu *et al.* 2005, Elovitz and Mrinalini 2006, Yang *et al.* 2009). In line with these studies, the serum concentration of TNF- α increased in response to increasing doses of intrauterine LPS, with significantly increased TNF- α in the serum of mice receiving doses of 10µg LPS and above.

Whilst there has been much focus on the role of pro-inflammatory signalling in initiating labour at term and preterm, more recent studies have begun to investigate the role of the classical anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10. IL-10 is expressed in gestational tissues (Roth and Fisher 1999, Hanna *et al.* 2000, Lidstrom *et al.* 2003); and whilst there are contrasting data regarding amniotic fluid concentrations across gestation (Greig *et al.* 1995, Dudley *et al.* 1997, Gotsch *et al.* 2008), it has been reported that IL-10 concentrations in the amniotic fluid are increased with spontaneous term and preterm labour and further increased in the presence of intra-amniotic infection (Greig *et al.* 1995, Gotsch *et al.* 2008). It is likely that IL-10 has an important role in controlling the inflammatory response during labour, and in the presence of an intra-amniotic infection, increased IL-10 in the amniotic fluid is likely a protective response to reduce fetal exposure to excess inflammation. Work using an IL-10 knockout mouse has confirmed that IL-10 plays an important role in protecting mice against LPS-induced fetal loss (Robertson *et al.* 2006). In response to intrauterine LPS

administration in our model, IL-10 expression was significantly elevated in response to all doses of LPS administered, even the lowest dose of 1µg, in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta, compared to the PBS control tissues. Similarly, the concentration of IL-10 was significantly elevated in both the amniotic fluid and maternal serum in response to increasing LPS doses. These data are in agreement with other animal models of infection-induced preterm labour, which also report increased IL-10 expression in the utero-placental tissues and amniotic fluid (Elovitz and Wang 2004, Yang *et al.* 2009, Chang *et al.* 2011).

Given the important roles prostaglandins play in the induction of labour, including stimulating: myometrial contractions (Dyal and Crankshaw 1988, Senior *et al.* 1993); fetal membrane rupture (McLaren *et al.* 2000, Keelan *et al.* 2001) and cervical ripening and dilation (Fletcher *et al.* 1993, Keirse 1993); the expression of two important enzymes involved in regulating prostaglandin production and metabolism, COX-2 and 15-HPGD, was measured in intrauterine tissues collected from mice 6 hours post-surgery.

Intrauterine administration of LPS resulted in a dose-dependent increase in Cox-2 expression in the uterus, with no change in the fetal membranes or placenta. Other studies in similar animal models have also demonstrated up-regulation of *Cox-2* in the myometrium following LPS treatment (Swaisgood et al. 1997, Pirianov et al. 2009, Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Sykes *et al.* 2013); and similarly following intrauterine injection with heat-killed E.Coli (Wang and Hirsch 2003). There have also been reports of increased *Cox-2* expression in the fetal membranes and placenta of mice 6-8 hours after i.p. LPS to induce preterm labour, which was not observed in our study (Swaisgood *et* al. 1997). However, in line with our results, other studies have also reported no change in *Cox-2* mRNA expression in the placenta and fetal membranes following intrauterine injection of bacteria (Wang and Hirsch 2003). Studies in humans have also demonstrated different expression profiles of COX-2 in the intrauterine tissues with labour onset, where COX-2 mRNA expression has been reported to: increase in the fetal membranes with the onset of labour (Bennett et al. 1993, Slater et al. 1995); not change in the placenta (Macchia et al. 1997); and there are conflicting reports as to whether COX-2 mRNA is affected by labour in the myometrium (Erkinheimo et al. 2000, Giannoulias et al. 2002).

Conversely, *15-Hpgd* mRNA expression was unchanged in uterus and placenta, but significantly decreased in the fetal membranes collected from mice 6 hours post-surgery. Decreased 15-HPGD expression has previously been reported in mouse uterus and fetal membranes following intrauterine injection of heat-killed *E.Coli* (Wang and Hirsch 2003); as well as in chorion and myometrium from women in preterm and term labour (VanMeir *et al.* 1996, VanMeir *et al.* 1997, Giannoulias *et al.* 2002).

The dose-dependent increase in uterine *Cox-2* expression and decrease in *15-Hpgd* in the fetal membranes, suggests that in response to intrauterine LPS administration, there is a shift towards increased prostaglandin synthesis and decreased metabolism within the intrauterine tissues, which could stimulate labour. Although the expression patterns of these enzymes are not exactly the same as in human utero-placental tissues in association with labour, where the amnion is proposed to be a major producer of prostaglandins at labour (Bennett *et al.* 1993), our results suggest there is an overall increase in prostaglandin activity in response to LPS, which is likely to play an important role in inducing preterm labour in our model. To further confirm this, it would be important to measure local prostaglandin levels within the intrauterine tissues.

In addition to increased cytokine production, labour has also been associated with increased chemokine signalling within the intrauterine tissues. Recent microarray analysis has identified that some of the most highly up-regulated genes in human myometrium and cervix during labour are chemokines, such as CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL5, CXCL8 and CCL2 (Bollapragada *et al.* 2009). To investigate the role of chemokines in our mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour, the expression of three potent mouse neutrophil chemoattractants, *Cxcl1* (also known as keratinocyte chemokine; KC), *Cxcl2* (also known as macrophage inflammatory protein 2; MIP-2) and *Cxcl5* (also known as LPS-induced CXC chemokine; LIX) was measured, along with the expression of the mouse macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2* (also known as monocyte chemotactic protein 1; MCP-1). CXCL1, CXCL2 and CXCL5 have been proposed to be the murine homologs of human IL-8 (CXCL8) (Hol *et al.* 2010). Mouse CCL2 is thought to be a murine homolog of human MCP-1 (Fridlender *et al.* 2011).

In line with human data showing elevated neutrophil chemokine expression in association with labour (Keelan *et al.* 2004, Bollapragada *et al.* 2009); and previous mouse studies of LPS-induced preterm labour demonstrating up-regulation of *Cxcl1*,

Cxcl2 and *Cxcl5* in uterine tissue (Diamond *et al.* 2007, Pirianov *et al.* 2009, Shynlova *et al.* 2013), expression of all three neutrophil chemokines in the utero-placental tissues collected from our mice was significantly elevated by intrauterine administration of LPS at doses of 5µg and above, suggesting that neutrophil infiltration into the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta of mice receiving LPS is likely. Conversely, no change in the expression of either *Cxcl1* or *Cxcl5* was observed in uterus collected from mice labouring at term, compared with levels on D18 of gestation (Menzies *et al.* 2012), suggesting that these chemokines may be differentially expressed depending on the presence of an intrauterine infection.

Similarly, expression of the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2* was elevated in response to increasing doses of intrauterine LPS in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta tissue 6 hours post-surgery, suggesting potential macrophage recruitment to the intrauterine tissues. Previous studies have also demonstrated up-regulation of *Ccl2* in myometrium and decidua in association with LPS-induced preterm labour in mice (Diamond *et al.* 2007, Pirianov *et al.* 2009, Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Shynlova *et al.* 2013); as well as term labour in: mouse uterus and decidua (Diamond *et al.* 2007, Menzies *et al.* 2012, Shynlova *et al.* 2013); rat myometrium (Shynlova *et al.* 2008); and human labouring myometrium and fetal membranes (Esplin *et al.* 2005). The potential impact of increased expression of both potent neutrophil and macrophage chemokines in inducing immune cell recruitment into the intrauterine tissues will be discussed in greater detail below.

The mechanism by which intrauterine LPS induces increased production of these inflammatory mediators has not been discussed in this chapter. Studies suggest that the presence of an intrauterine infection initiates a maternal immune response via TLR recognition of bacterial products (Patni *et al.* 2007). Support for this hypothesis comes from evidence that increased TLR-2 and TLR-4 expression has been reported in fetal membranes associated with infection (Kim *et al.* 2004); and TLR-4 knockout mice studies demonstrated the essential role for TLR-4 in inducing *E.Coli*- and LPS-induced preterm labour (Elovitz *et al.* 2003, Wang and Hirsch 2003). Given that NF- κ B is a key transcription factor activated in response to TLR signalling (Patni *et al.* 2007), and is well documented to play an important role in inflammatory signalling in labour (Lindstrom and Bennett 2005, Lappas and Rice 2007); it is likely that increased NF- κ B signalling plays a role in the increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production

described in this model. Indeed, Pirianov *et al.* (Pirianov *et al.* 2009) reported intrauterine LPS administration activated both NF- κ B and MAPK JNK signalling pathways in mouse myometrium after 6 hours. To confirm whether the same or other inflammatory transcription factors are involved in the LPS-induced up-regulation of pro-inflammatory signalling in our model, similar experiments would need to be performed.

Overall, in our model, intrauterine LPS administration induced a robust local inflammatory response within the utero-placental tissues, resulting in increased expression of both pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators compared to mice receiving PBS. It is not clear whether the increased inflammatory cytokine production is a result of increased expression by the utero-placental tissues themselves, or primarily from both resident and infiltrating immune cell populations. Whilst it is well accepted that immune cells in the utero-placental tissues are major producers of cytokines and chemokines, there is also evidence from women that extravillous trophoblasts, myometrial cells and stromal cells of the intrauterine tissues also produce inflammatory cytokines (Young *et al.* 2002, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010, Mosher *et al.* 2012); which suggests that the increased pro-inflammatory signalling is likely due to both increased numbers of infiltrating immune cells and stimulation of non-immune cells.

Interestingly, the expression of many of the cytokines and chemokines measured here was found to be significantly elevated at the lowest dose of LPS administered, 1µg, where preterm delivery was not induced. In agreement with these data, Elovitz *et al.* also recently reported that administration of LPS at a dose insufficient to induce preterm labour, still elicited an inflammatory cytokine response in the fetal brain, amniotic fluid and placenta (Elovitz *et al.* 2011); and in a study investigating the role of TLR-4 in infection-induced preterm labour, Hirsch *et al.* reported that in response to intrauterine *E.coli* injection both TLR-4 mutant mice and wild-type mice had increased expression of inflammatory mediators in the myometrium and decidua, even though none of the TLR-4 mutant mice went into preterm labour (Hirsch and Wang 2005). Collectively, these data suggest that the increased expression of these inflammatory mediators is a response to, even low levels of, intrauterine infection, and they are not capable of inducing preterm labour alone. It may be that other factors not measured here, such as prostaglandins, may only be elevated in response to higher doses of LPS,

causing mice receiving 20µg LPS to reliably go into preterm labour. Another possibility is that the intrauterine environment is able to withstand a certain level of inflammation, but when the inflammation reaches a particular threshold level, the cascade of events resulting in labour is initiated; in our model this threshold may only be reached in response to the higher doses of LPS administered.

Intrauterine LPS administration induces changes in uterine immune cell populations

As described previously, parturition both at term and preterm are associated with a massive immune cell influx into the intrauterine tissues, particularly neutrophils and macrophages (Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010). There remains much debate as to whether these infiltrating immune cells are a causative factor in the initiation of labour or if the primary role of these cells is in the repair and remodelling of the uterus and cervix following parturition (Timmons *et al.* 2009, Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Shynlova *et al.* 2013). As discussed earlier, the increased expression of neutrophil and macrophage chemokines, suggests that infiltration of immune cells is likely in response to intrauterine LPS. In order to investigate this in our model, the expression of neutrophil and macrophage markers was assessed in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta and the cells were localised in the uterus.

Previous studies examining expression of the macrophage marker, *Emr1* in the uterus of mice demonstrated significantly increased expression in association with labour, when compared to non-labouring D18 tissue (Menzies *et al.* 2012, Menzies *et al.* 2012). In contrast, no such increase in *Emr1* expression was observed in either the uterine tissue or the placental tissue of mice receiving intrauterine LPS when compared to those receiving PBS; however there was a dose-dependent increase in *Emr1* gene expression in the fetal membranes in response to LPS treatment. These differences suggest that perhaps in the context of intrauterine infection, in our model, macrophage recruitment is not induced in the uterus and placenta, unlike at term labour, which may support the hypothesis that different mechanisms could be responsible for inducing spontaneous labour at term and infection-induced preterm labour (Gonzalez *et al.* 2009, Holt *et al.* 2011, Shynlova *et al.* 2013); or it may be that if tissue had been collected at a later time point, or during labour we may have observed increased *Emr1* expression.

To further investigate whether the increased expression of *Ccl2* observed, resulted in macrophage influx into the uterus, macrophages were localised in the uterine tissue using F4/80. F4/80 is a glycoprotein that is highly expressed on the cell surface of mature macrophages and is commonly used to identify tissue-resident macrophages in mice (Austyn and Gordon 1981). Previous studies have reported that macrophages make up the largest immune cell population in the pregnant mouse uterus (Shynlova et al. 2013, Shynlova et al. 2013), where they have been estimated to account for around 22% of uterine cells during pregnancy (Hunt *et al.* 1985). There are conflicting reports on the dynamics of uterine macrophages during normal term labour in different species. In women it has been reported that there is an influx of macrophages into the myometrium, fetal membranes, decidua, placenta and cervix during spontaneous term labour (Thomson et al. 1999, Osman et al. 2003, Gomez-Lopez et al. 2009, Gomez-Lopez et al. 2010) and in preterm labour (Hamilton et al. 2012). In rats, macrophage numbers were found to increase: at term (Shynlova et al. 2008); during term labour in the myometrium; and in the 12 hours prior to labour and during labour in the decidua, relative to 2 days before term, with a significantly higher number of macrophages present within the decidua at term, compared to the myometrium (Hamilton et al. 2012). In mice it has previously been reported that uterine macrophage numbers peak around D15 and decrease on D18, before labour (Mackler et al. 1999); whilst more recent studies found macrophage numbers were increased on D18 of gestation compared to D15 and remained elevated during term labour in the myometrium and decidua (Shynlova et al. 2013, Shynlova et al. 2013). These differences may be explained by different mouse strains studied. In our model, we found that macrophages were present in normal D17 uterus, in both the myometrium and decidua; however since tissue was not collected at other time points, it was not possible to compare the number of macrophages present on D17 with different time points in pregnancy.

In a rat model of mifepristone-induced preterm labour, macrophage numbers have been reported to increase in the decidua during active labour (Hamilton *et al.* 2012). Conversely, mouse models of mifepristone- and LPS-induced preterm labour found no macrophage infiltration in the decidua or myometrium of mifepristone-treated mice, but did report increased macrophage numbers in the decidua of mice receiving LPS during labour (Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Shynlova *et al.* 2013). In contrast to these results, but in line with the lack of change in *Emr1* expression within the uterus, there was no obvious increase in macrophage number associated with intrauterine LPS administration. In fact, when the number of F4/80 positive cells was quantified stereologically, there was a surprising decrease in the number of F4/80 macrophages within the myometrium and decidua of mice receiving LPS, although this decrease did not reach statistical significance. The results from other animal models refer to uterine tissues collected during active labour, as opposed to 6 hours post-surgery, as is the case in our model, therefore it is possible that an influx of macrophages may have been seen only at labour, as has been reported to occur at term in rats (Hamilton *et al.* 2012). Also, 6 hours may have been too short a time to allow for monocyte recruitment and differentiation into tissue-resident macrophages expressing F4/80. Additionally Shynlova et al. (Shynlova et al. 2013) describe macrophage recruitment into the decidua basalis, (which is the decidual tissue at the site of placental attachment), as opposed to the decidual parietalis (which describes the decidualised endometrial tissue lining the rest of the uterus). In this study, and in the work by Hamilton et al. (Hamilton et al. 2012), immunohistochemical studies localised macrophages in the decidua parietalis (referred to here as the decidua); therefore the differences observed may be due to macrophage infiltration to different regions of the uterus in response to LPS administration. Leukocyte infiltration into the intrauterine tissues during mouse pregnancy has been demonstrated to be a highly organised process (Kruse *et al.* 2002); and in support of this hypothesis, Shynlova et al. (Shynlova et al. 2013), report that the decidua basalis provides a much stronger chemotactic signal than the myometrium during term labour in mice. Detailed time-course analysis in all the areas of the uterus would be required to test this hypothesis. Even without infiltration, it is likely that macrophages already resident are playing an important role in the inflammatory environment given their abundance in the pregnant uterus, and the fact that they can be potent producers of inflammatory cytokines (Hunt and Pollard 1992).

The reason for the slight reduction in F4/80 cells in the LPS-treated decidua and myometrium observed in our model is unknown. As previously discussed, Mackler *et al.* described a reduction in the number of uterine macrophages just prior to labour (Mackler *et al.* 1999), which they suggested may be a mechanism to induce myometrial contractions, given that macrophages can produce an inducible form of nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which has been shown to inhibit contractions and was found to decrease at term in the rat uterus (Buhimschi *et al.* 1996). It has also been previously reported that the F4/80 antigen is down-regulated in activated macrophages in the

presence of bacillus calmette-guerin infection (Ezekowitz and Gordon 1982); raising the possibility that LPS infection may also affect F4/80 expression. Whether there is indeed a reduction in the number of F4/80 cells in response to LPS in our model, or simply a reduction in expression of F4/80 needs further investigation. Immunohistochemical studies using a different antigen, such as CD68, may be useful in confirming macrophage expression in the intrauterine tissues.

Given the significant up-regulation of several potent neutrophil chemoattractants within the intrauterine tissues, neutrophil infiltration was examined by measuring expression of the gene *Ngp*, which encodes a neutrophilic granule protein expressed in mouse neutrophils. *Ngp* expression has previously been reported to remain unchanged in labouring mouse uterus, compared to non-labouring D18 tissue (Menzies *et al.* 2012). In contrast, in our model in response to intrauterine LPS administration a dose-dependent increase in *Ngp* expression was observed in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta. Again these data provide further support for the theory that infection-induced preterm labour and term labour may occur via different mechanisms (Gonzalez *et al.* 2009, Holt *et al.* 2011, Shynlova *et al.* 2013).

To confirm that neutrophil influx was indeed responsible for the observed increase in Ngp expression in the uterus, neutrophils were localised using the marker, Gr-1. The RB6-8C5 clone of the Gr-1 antibody used in this chapter detects two antigens expressed on mouse neutrophils, Ly-6C and Ly-6G (Fleming *et al.* 1993). In women, neutrophils are proposed to play a role in cervical ripening (Bokström et al. 1997) and have been shown to infiltrate into the myometrium and cervix in association with labour (Thomson et al. 1999, Osman et al. 2003). Furthermore, increased neutrophil numbers have been reported in women in preterm labour with an infection, compared with women in idiopathic preterm or normal term labour (Hamilton et al. 2012). In mice, neutrophils make up a much smaller proportion of the immune cell population in the pregnant uterus compared with macrophages, where they have been reported to account for less than 2% of the total leukocyte population on D18 of gestation in the decidua and myometrium (Shynlova et al. 2013, Shynlova et al. 2013). In line with this, very few if any Gr-1 positive neutrophils were observed in D17 uterus from mice that did not undergo surgery or treatment. Interestingly, when this normal D17 uterus was compared with uterus collected from PBS treated mice there was a distinct pattern of neutrophils localised to the connective tissue layer surrounding the longitudinal myometrial muscle bundles. This finding suggests that the surgery itself induced a

local inflammatory response and immune cell influx to the uterus, which may in part explain why some mice in the PBS control group went into preterm labour. In a model of artificial stretch, Shynlova *et al.* (Shynlova *et al.* 2013), also reported neutrophil infiltration into the uterus of mice receiving sham surgery, supporting the theory that uterine surgery during pregnancy can induce a rapid neutrophil response.

Normal term labour in mice has been associated with a significant neutrophil infiltration into the decidua (Shynlova et al. 2013); but not into the myometrium, where neutrophil numbers were not found to be significantly elevated until the postpartum period (Shynlova et al. 2013). These results are in agreement with studies in the mouse cervix that also show neutrophil numbers in the cervix are significantly greater 2-4 hours after labour, compared to cervical tissue obtained from mice in late gestation before labour, and during labour (Timmons et al. 2009). In contrast, LPSinduced preterm labour has been shown to induce a massive neutrophil influx into both the decidua and myometrium of mice; which was not present in mifepristoneinduced preterm labour (Shynlova et al. 2013, Shynlova et al. 2013). In our model, intrauterine LPS administration was found to alter both the number and the localisation of neutrophils present in the uterus of mice, compared to the PBS control group. Where previously neutrophils were absent from the decidua, LPS treatment induced a massive influx of neutrophils into the decidua, which was quantified as a 7fold increase. In contrast, neutrophil numbers in the myometrium remained relatively stable between LPS and PBS treated mice. Although no neutrophil infiltration was observed in the myometrium at 6 hours, the influx may have been more apparent if tissues had been collected during active labour, as in other studies. Interestingly, this appears to be the first report of LPS-induced neutrophil influx into the decidua, as previous studies have focussed on localising neutrophils in the decidua basalis (Shynlova et al. 2013).

A limitation of the immunohistochemistry studies performed here is the use of Gr-1 as a neutrophil marker. Although commonly used as a marker of neutrophils in mice, as this antibody recognises both Ly-6G and Ly-6C antigens, it can also detect other Ly-6C expressing cells, which include some subsets of monocytes, dendritic cells and T-cells (Jutila *et al.* 1988, Kung *et al.* 1991, Shortman and Naik 2007). Therefore, to confirm neutrophil localisation in the uterine tissues, the more specific Ly-6G antibody (clone 1A8) should be the preferred marker in future studies.
A possible limitation of the quantification of F4/80 and Gr-1 positive cells within the uterus is that whilst the same number of fields of view were counted for each section, resulting in the same total area being counted, the total number of cells present were not accounted for. Hypertrophy of the uterus has been previously reported in late gestation (Shynlova *et al.* 2010); and furthermore, studies in cardiac myocytes demonstrate that LPS treatment induces hypertrophy of muscle cells (Liu *et al.* 2008). Therefore, LPS treatment may have altered the total number of cells present within the randomised fields. Although given the massive influx of neutrophils observed in the decidua, it is unlikely to have significantly altered this result, but may have masked more subtle changes. To confirm the changes observed in this study, counts relative to the total number of cells would need to be performed.

Intrauterine LPS administration induces the inflammatory and immune response without apparent progesterone withdrawal

In contrast to humans, the onset of labour in mice, as in many other species is preceded with a sharp drop in circulating serum progesterone levels; this decrease is thought to allow increased expression of pro-inflammatory factors and contraction-associated genes which can then go on to stimulate labour (Mitchell and Taggart 2009). However there have been conflicting reports as to whether progesterone withdrawal is required for infection-induced preterm labour in mice. Fidel et al. (Fidel et al. 1998) reported that intrauterine LPS administration in mice resulted in significantly reduced serum progesterone levels, compared to mice receiving PBS, within 1 hour of LPS administration prior to the onset of labour. Whereas, a number of more recent studies have demonstrated infection-induced preterm labour is not associated with progesterone withdrawal (Hirsch and Muhle 2002, Murphy et al. 2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011). To determine whether preterm labour in our model involved progesterone withdrawal, serum progesterone levels were measured 6 hours post-intrauterine injection. In line with these more recent studies, no drop in circulating progesterone levels were observed in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared to the PBS control group. Although this measurement was taken after just 6 hours, and not during labour, the fact that at this time we already have a strong inflammatory response within the intrauterine tissues, suggests that the mechanisms involved in inducing preterm labour in our model are largely independent of the actions of progesterone.

Intrauterine LPS administration did not cause an inflammatory response in fetal brains

Premature birth is linked to adverse neonatal outcomes, in particular increased risk of brain injury. A recent meta-analysis highlighted the association between intrauterine infection and cerebral palsy, where they found the presence of clinical or histological chorioamnionitis was associated with a 140% or 80% increased risk for neonates to develop cerebral palsy, respectively (Shatrov *et al.* 2010). The exact mechanisms by which intrauterine infection results in neonatal brain injury are not clear, but a fetal systemic inflammatory response (FIRS) has been described in the presence of an intrauterine infection; which can result in elevated cytokine production and damage to neonatal organs (Gomez *et al.* 1998). Evidence from animal models suggests that intrauterine LPS administration results in rapid production of pro-inflammatory cytokines within the fetal brain itself (Elovitz *et al.* 2006). It has been proposed that these pro-inflammatory cytokines may cause brain damage both directly, by damaging oligodendrocytes and neurons; or indirectly, by activating microglia in the brain which can in turn secrete more cytokines (Burd *et al.* 2012).

To determine whether our model of infection-induced preterm labour caused adverse effects on the fetal brain, expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and early markers of brain damage were examined 6 hours post intrauterine injection. Whilst previous studies have demonstrated up-regulated expression of inflammatory cytokines within 6 hours of intrauterine LPS administration (Elovitz et al. 2006, Chang et al. 2011, Elovitz *et al.* 2011); and NF- κ B activation (Pirianov *et al.* 2009); in our model *ll-1* β and $Tnf-\alpha$ expression was not significantly altered, and surprisingly there was a small but significant reduction in *ll-6* expression in the brains of mice receiving the lowest dose of LPS. Furthermore, there was no change in the expression of the neuronal markers, *Gfap* or *Mtap2*, both of which have previously demonstrated altered expression in response to intrauterine LPS (Elovitz et al. 2006, Burd et al. 2011). The differences observed between these results and previous studies may relate to the different doses and serotypes of LPS used, which may elicit more potent responses. Some studies have also reported no significant effect of LPS administration on pro-inflammatory gene and neuronal marker expression after 6 hours (Burd et al. 2010), and in fact use of the same dose and serotype of LPS was recently not found to activate NF-κB in the fetal brain (Sykes *et al.* 2013); highlighting a variable response at this early time point.

The results presented here suggest that, in our model, there are no apparent early inflammatory effects on the fetal brain associated with intrauterine LPS administration. This was a surprising result and in contrast to some previously published studies in similar models. Given the robust inflammatory response induced in the intrauterine tissues, and in particular in the amniotic fluid surrounding the fetus, it seems unlikely that intrauterine LPS administration in our model will not induce an inflammatory response in the fetal brain. To further investigate whether this model would be suitable to examine the effects of intrauterine infection on the fetal brain, it would be interesting to examine both inflammatory signalling and markers of oligodendrocyte and neuronal damage in specific areas of the fetal brain using immunohistochemistry. These changes may be subtle and may be more apparent at time points later than 6 hours, for example at term, thus sampling fetal brains at a later stage may provide further information on the effects of intrauterine LPS on the fetal brain in our model.

Summary

This chapter provides further evidence that the immune and inflammatory responses of mice to intrauterine LPS administration, which ultimately results in preterm labour, share many similarities with the clinical scenario of bacterial infection-associated In agreement with previous studies, intrauterine preterm labour in women. administration of LPS resulted in the increased production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines within the utero-placental tissues, amniotic fluid and maternal serum; however, this is the first study in which detailed analysis of the inflammatory response to a range of LPS doses has been carried out in the uterus, fetal membranes, placenta, amniotic fluid, maternal serum and fetal brains. Interestingly, these inflammatory responses appear to be largely independent of progesterone actions. The role of immune cells in inducing preterm labour in this model will be addressed in greater detail in a subsequent chapter, but these data presented here demonstrate that LPS administration induced a large neutrophil influx into the decidua of mice, which has not previously been reported. Using models, such as the one described here, are vital to improving our understanding of the events regulating the induction of preterm labour and will ultimately aid the search for novel therapeutic options to delay delivery and improve neonatal outcome.

Chapter 4 - Investigating the use of anti-inflammatory agents to delay preterm labour and improve pup survival in a mouse model

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Despite considerable medical advances and research, preterm birth remains the single biggest cause of neonatal mortality worldwide. A recent World Health Organisation report has estimated more than one million babies die each year due to the complications of their premature birth (March of Dimes 2012). Current treatment options for preterm labour are limited, and focus on the use of tocolytic agents such as calcium-channel blockers, oxytocin receptor antagonists and β-mimetics, to block myometrial contractions (Smith et al. 2009). Whilst these treatments have proved effective in delaying preterm birth for up to 7 days, it is not clear if they actually improve perinatal or neonatal morbidity (RCOG 2011). The limited effectiveness of tocolytic drugs in treating preterm labour is likely because they target myometrial contractions, which are likely to be an end-point of the inflammatory cascade leading to delivery. Attempting to delay preterm delivery is further complicated in the presence of an intrauterine infection, where leaving the fetus in a potentially hostile inflammatory environment could result in further adverse outcomes for the baby (Gotsch et al. 2007). Therefore, if novel treatments for preterm labour are to be more effective than the current options, they must attempt to block the inflammatory cascade earlier and have the potential to resolve the inflammatory intrauterine environment.

Given that many cases of preterm labour are thought to occur because of the premature initiation of the inflammatory cascade normally initiated during term labour, there is now growing interest in investigating the potential of anti-inflammatory agents to delay preterm delivery and improve neonatal outcome. The use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), such as indomethacin, and the steroid hormone progesterone in clinical practice for the treatment of preterm labour in women supports the hypothesis that targeting inflammatory pathways can reduce the incidence of preterm labour. Animal models of preterm labour have proved invaluable in investigating the potential of anti-inflammatory treatments to delay infectioninduced preterm labour and improve pup survival. The therapeutic options examined to date include IL-10 (Terrone *et al.* 2001, Rodts-Palenik *et al.* 2004, Robertson *et al.* 2006), blocking TLR-4 signalling (Adams Waldorf *et al.* 2008, Li *et al.* 2010), NF- κ B inhibitors (Buhimschi *et al.* 2003, Beloosesky *et al.* 2006, Nath *et al.* 2010, Chang *et al.* 2011), 15d-PGJ₂ (Pirianov *et al.* 2009), anti-TNF- α therapy (Fidel *et al.* 1997, Holmgren *et al.* 2008) and blocking IL-1 β signalling (Romero and Tartakovsky 1992, Yoshimura and Hirsch 2005).

The identification that the resolution of inflammation is an active process involving the production of mediators with specific anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions has provided new pathways to target in the search for novel treatments for inflammationassociated pathologies (Gilroy et al. 2004, Serhan et al. 2008). The arachidonic acidderived lipid mediators, lipoxins, were the first family of mediators recognised to have dual acting anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions (Serhan et al. 1984, Serhan et al. 1984). Since their discovery in the 1980s, the therapeutic potential of lipoxins to treat inflammation-associated pathologies has been widely demonstrated in animal models of a range of pathologies including, asthma (Levy et al. 2002, El Kebir et al. 2009), arthritis (Zhang et al. 2008, Conte et al. 2010), and inflammatory bowel diseases (Gewirtz et al. 2002). The potential of lipoxins to regulate inflammation in the reproductive tissues has been less well explored (Hutchinson *et al.* 2011). However, a recent study from our laboratory reported that expression of the lipoxin receptor, FPR2/ALX, was increased in myometrial tissue obtained from women during term labour, compared to non-labouring women; and demonstrated that lipoxin treatment down-regulated LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in myometrial explant culture in vitro (Maldonado-Perez et al. 2010). Therefore, given this evidence that lipoxins could be involved in regulating the inflammation associated with labour, and the evidence from a range of animal models of other inflammation-associated pathologies, we hypothesised that lipoxins could be useful novel therapeutic agents for the treatment of preterm labour.

Using our mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour, the experiments described in this chapter aimed to investigate the potential of lipoxins, BML-111 (a stable lipoxin analogue) and the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, to delay LPS-induced preterm delivery and/or improve pup survival; and to examine whether lipoxin could regulate LPS-induced inflammatory signalling in the utero-placental tissues.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Mouse model of PTL

Mice underwent surgery as detailed in section 2.1. The potential of three antiinflammatory agents (epi-lipoxin, BML-111 and IL-10) to delay preterm delivery and improve pup survival were investigated. Based on the LPS dose response experiments described in chapter 3, all further experiments were carried out using 20µg LPS.

4.2.1.1 Epi-lipoxin experiments

To determine whether lipoxin administration could affect LPS-induced preterm labour, mice were pre-treated with 15-epi-lipoxin A₄. Briefly, 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine injection of LPS or PBS, mice received an intra-peritoneal (i.p.) injection of vehicle (PBS+1% ethanol) or epi-lipoxin (doses of 12.5ng or 125ng), both in a volume of 100 μ l. Therefore, there were five treatment groups: vehicle (i.p. injection of vehicle followed by intrauterine PBS, n=12); epi-lipoxin (i.p. injection of 125ng epi-lipoxin followed by intrauterine PBS, n=9); LPS (i.p. injection of vehicle followed by intrauterine LPS, n=12); 12.5ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (i.p. injection of 12.5ng epi-lipoxin followed by intrauterine LPS, n=11); and 125ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (i.p. injection of 125ng epi-lipoxin followed by intrauterine LPS, n=11).

4.2.1.2 BML-111 experiments

In BML-111 experiments, to determine whether BML-111 could affect LPS-induced preterm labour. Mice received an i.p. injection of vehicle (PBS+7% methanol) or BML at doses of 1mg/kg or 10mg/kg BML-111 in a volume of 500µl, 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine injection of LPS or PBS. Again this resulted in five treatment groups: vehicle (i.p. injection of vehicle followed by intrauterine PBS, n=10); BML-111 (i.p. injection of 1mg/kg or 10mg/kg BML-111 followed by intrauterine PBS, n=11; mice receiving both doses were pooled into one group for analysis as there was no significant difference between them); LPS (i.p. injection of 1mg/kg BML-111 followed by intrauterine LPS, n=22); 1mg/kg BML+LPS (i.p. injection of 10mg/kg BML-111 followed by intrauterine LPS, n=20); and 10mg/kg BML+LPS (i.p. injection of 10mg/kg BML-111 followed by intrauterine LPS, n=9).

4.2.1.3 IL-10 experiments

In IL-10 experiments, to determine whether IL-10 could affect LPS-induced preterm labour, mice received an i.p. injection of vehicle (PBS+sterile H₂0) or IL-10 at doses of 2.5µg or 10µg, in a volume of 200µl, 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine injection of LPS or PBS. Again, there were five treatment groups: vehicle (i.p. injection of vehicle followed by intrauterine PBS, n=11); 10µg IL-10 (i.p. injection of 10µg IL-10 followed by intrauterine PBS, n=10); LPS (i.p. injection vehicle followed by intrauterine LPS, n=6); 2.5µg IL-10+LPS (i.p. injection of 2.5µg IL-10 followed by intrauterine LPS, n=5); and 10µg IL-10+LPS (i.p. injection of 10µg IL-10 followed by intrauterine LPS, n=6).

In each experiment, time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups were recorded following surgery, as detailed in sections 2.1.1. and 2.1.2.

4.2.2 Tissue collection

As detailed in section 2.1.3, utero-placental tissues and amniotic fluid were collected 6 hours post-surgery for analysis of lipoxin receptor expression in the utero-placental tissues; and analysis of the inflammatory response following treatment with LPS ± epi-lipoxin.

For analysis of the expression of the lipoxin receptor, Fpr2, uterus, fetal membranes and placental tissues were harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving intrauterine PBS (n=7) or 20μ g LPS (n=10).

For analysis of the effect of epi-lipoxin on the LPS-induced inflammatory response, utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-surgery from two separate cohorts of mice. In the first cohort, mice received i.p. pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS administration. Therefore, tissues were collected from the following groups: vehicle (n=3), 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), LPS (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=5) and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=5).

In a separate cohort of mice, the effect of intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin was investigated. These mice received two 25μ l intrauterine injections within 1 minute, either vehicle or epi-lipoxin, followed by PBS or 20μ g LPS. Therefore, tissues were collected from mice receiving: vehicle (n=4), 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), LPS (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=6) and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=6).

4.2.3 qRT-PCR

The mRNA expression of the lipoxin receptor and several inflammatory genes was examined using qRT-PCR as described in section 2.3. The expression of the following genes were measured in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta of mice 6 hours post-surgery: *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2*, *Cxcl5*, *Ccl2*, *Il-1β*, *Tnf-α*, *Il-6*, *Il-10*, *Cox-2*, *15-Hpgd* and *Fpr2*.

As described in section 2.3.3, expression of the gene of interest was normalised to β actin as the endogenous control gene in each sample and all samples were then compared relative to a calibrator tissue. Analysis of all the inflammatory genes examined in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta was carried out relative to untreated D18 uterus as a calibrator. Analysis of the expression of *Fpr2* was carried out relative to untreated virgin spleen as a calibrator.

4.2.4 ELISA

ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 in amniotic fluid collected 6 hours post-surgery. Details of each assay are given in section 2.4.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Where data were not normally distributed they was transformed prior to analysis. Time to delivery data were log transformed before analysis; and the proportion of live born pups was arc-sin transformed prior to analysis. Normally distributed data were then analysed by one-way ANOVA to compare treatment groups, followed by Tukey's multiple comparison tests between treatment groups to identify significant differences. Preterm delivery rates were analysed by Fisher's exact test. Amniotic fluid cytokine levels were analysed non-parametrically using a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests to identify significant differences between treatment groups. As *Fpr2* expression was only measured in two treatment groups, PBS and 20µg LPS, the expression was compared using unpaired t-tests. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Expression of the lipoxin receptor, Fpr2, in utero-placental tissues following intrauterine LPS administration

Uterus, fetal membranes and placenta were harvested from mice 6 hours postintrauterine injection of PBS or $20\mu g$ LPS and qRT-PCR was performed to examine whether mRNA expression of the lipoxin receptor, *Fpr2*, was altered in response to intrauterine LPS.

Intrauterine LPS administration induced elevated expression of *Fpr2* in all three tissues (Figure 4.1). Uterine *Fpr2* expression was significantly elevated in mice receiving LPS, compared to those receiving PBS (2.4-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.1A). In the fetal membranes, *Fpr2*, was also significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS compared to the PBS control group (29-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.1B). Placental expression of *Fpr2* was also significantly higher in mice treated with LPS, compared to those receiving PBS (3.6-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.1C).



Figure 4.1 - Expression of *Fpr2* mRNA in uterus, fetal membranes and placenta. Uterus, fetal membranes and placenta were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice receiving intrauterine PBS (n=7) or 20μ g LPS (n=10) and the mRNA expression of *Fpr2* was investigated using qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Fpr2* expression in the uterus **(B)** *Fpr2* expression in the fetal membranes. **(C)** Placental *Fpr2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars). ***p<0.001.

4.3.2 Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on time to delivery and proportion of live born pups

Given that many studies have demonstrated that epi-lipoxins have anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions in other animal models of inflammation-associated pathologies (Levy *et al.* 2002, Conte *et al.* 2010, Borgeson *et al.* 2011); and that lipoxin receptor expression in the utero-placental tissues was increased in response to intrauterine LPS, we wanted to investigate the potential of epi-lipoxin to delay delivery and improve pup survival in our model. Mice were pre-treated with epi-lipoxin 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS administration. As controls, mice were pretreated with vehicle prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS injection.

4.3.2.1 Time to delivery

Pre-treatment with 125ng epi-lipoxin had no effect on time to delivery in mice receiving PBS, compared with the vehicle control group (Mean time to delivery of 125ng epi-lipoxin group 50.2 hours \pm SEM 5.0 vs. vehicle mean 55.4 hours \pm SEM 6.4; Figure 4.2). Mice receiving intrauterine LPS delivered significantly earlier than the vehicle control group (LPS mean time to delivery 27.54 hours \pm SEM 6.3; p<0.001 vs. vehicle). Mice pre-treated with either 12.5ng or 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS still delivered significantly earlier compared to the vehicle control group (mean time to delivery in 12.5ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group 27.02 \pm SEM 4.57; mean time to delivery in 125ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group 26.82 \pm SEM 2.62; p<0.01 vs. vehicle). Mice receiving intrauterine LPS administration, either alone or with epi-lipoxin pretreatment, also delivered significantly earlier than the 125ng epi-lipoxin control group (LPS group p<0.01, 12.5ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group p<0.05, 125ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group p<0.05).

To investigate further whether epi-lipoxin had any effect on preterm delivery, the preterm delivery rates in each group were calculated (Table 4.1). The preterm delivery rates were defined as the proportion of dams in which there was delivery of the first pup within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. All groups receiving intrauterine LPS had higher rates of preterm delivery compared with the vehicle and 125ng epi-lipoxin groups. Compared to the LPS group, the risk of preterm delivery was significantly lower in the vehicle (p<0.05) and 125ng epi-lipoxin (p<0.01) groups. Pre-treatment

with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not have a significant effect on the rate of preterm delivery, compared to mice treated with LPS alone.



Figure 4.2 - Effect of epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on time to delivery. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=12) or 125ng epi-lipoxin (n=9), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=12), 12.5ng epi-lipoxin (n=11) or 125ng epi-lipoxin (n=11), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (error bars). **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

Treatment	Preterm delivery rate	Relative risk of preterm delivery (compared to LPS)
Vehicle (n=12)	0.25	0.3* [95% CI 0.11 – 0.83]
125ng Epi-lipoxin (n=9)	0.22	0.27** [95% Cl 0.08– 0.93]
LPS (n=12)	0.83	-
12.5ng Epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=11)	0.64	0.76 [95% CI 0.46 – 1.28]
125ng Epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=11)	0.91	1.09 [95% Cl 0.80 – 1.49]

Table 4.1 - Effect of epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on LPS-induced preterm delivery. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle or 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS and in mice pre-treated with vehicle, 12.5ng epi-lipoxin or 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Preterm delivery was defined as delivery within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. Relative risk ratios calculated using Fisher's exact test. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, compared to LPS.

4.3.2.2 Proportion of live born pups

Mice pre-treated with 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration had a greater proportion of live born pups compared with the vehicle control group (125ng epi-lipoxin mean proportion of live born pups $0.87 \pm \text{SEM } 0.05 \text{ vs.}$ vehicle mean $0.58 \pm \text{SEM } 0.1$; Figure 4.3A), however this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.2). Mice in the LPS group had a significantly reduced proportion of live born pups compared with both the groups treated with intrauterine PBS, either those which had pre-treatment with vehicle (p<0.01) or those pre-treated with epi-lipoxin (p<0.001; mean proportion of live born pups in LPS group $0.16 \pm \text{SEM } 0.09$). Pre-treatment with 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS appeared to increase the proportion of live born pups (mean $0.45 \pm \text{SEM } 0.11$) compared to LPS treatment alone, but this did not reach statistical significance (p=0.18; Figure 4.3A). Compared to the 125ng epi-lipoxin control group, mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS still had a significantly reduced proportion of live born pups in both the 12.5ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group (mean proportion of live born pups $0.23 \pm \text{SEM } 0.09$; p<0.001) and the 125ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group (p<0.05).

To further investigate whether epi-lipoxin was having an effect on pup survival, particularly in mice delivering early, the proportion of live born pups was also investigated in mice delivering preterm (which we defined as delivery within 36 hours of intrauterine injection). Mice delivering prematurely in the vehicle group had a greater proportion of live born pups compared to LPS alone (mean proportion of live born pups in vehicle group $0.52 \pm \text{SEM } 0.29 \text{ vs.}$ LPS mean $0.03 \pm \text{SEM } 0.02$; Figure 4.3B), however this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.08). Pre-treatment with 125ng epi-lipoxin prior to LPS treatment significantly increased the proportion of live born pups, compared to LPS alone (mean proportion of live born pups in 125ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group $0.45 \pm \text{SEM } 0.12$; p<0.05, Figure 4.3B). Although a greater proportion of live born pups were born to mice receiving 12.5ng epi-lipoxin prior to LPS alone. Only two mice in the 125ng epi-lipoxin control group delivered preterm, therefore, they were excluded from analysis; however both mice delivered litters with a high proportion of live born pups (0.78 and 1.0).



Figure 4.3 - Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on the proportion of live born pups. The proportion of live born pups was determined in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=12) or 125ng epi-lipoxin (n=9), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=12), 12.5ng epi-lipoxin (n=11) or 125ng epi-lipoxin (n=11), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. (A) Proportion of live born pups in all mice (B) The proportion of pups delivered prematurely (within 36 hours of surgery) who were born live; [vehicle (n=3), LPS (n=10), 12.5ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=7), 125ng Epi-lipoxin+LPS (n=10)]. Data presented as mean \pm SEM (error bars). *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared to vehicle; #p<0.05 compared to LPS.

4.3.3 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues following intraperitoneal pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin

Given the results described in chapter 3, which demonstrated intrauterine LPS treatment induced a robust inflammatory response in the intrauterine tissues, resulting in the increased expression of a number of inflammatory genes, in a second cohort of mice, vehicle, epi-lipoxin, PBS and LPS were given as before, but mice were sacrificed 6 hours after intrauterine injection and utero-placental tissues were then analysed for the expression of the same inflammatory mediators using qRT-PCR to examine whether pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin affected LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression. As before, the genes examined were $Tnf-\alpha$, $Il-1\beta$, Il-6, Il-10, Cox-2, 15-Hpgd, Cxcl1, Cxcl2, Cxcl5 and Ccl2. To investigate the anti-inflammatory actions of epi-lipoxin, we administered higher doses of epi-lipoxin to try to maximise the anti-inflammatory effects, with 0.25µg and 2.5µg being used as the low and high doses in these experiments.

4.3.3.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

Compared to the vehicle control group, uterine *Tnf-* α expression was significantly elevated in mice treated with LPS (6.4-fold greater expression; p<0.001; Figure 4.4A). Pre-treatment with 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin, prior to intrauterine LPS, did not significantly alter LPS-induced *Tnf-* α expression, with mice in the 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS groups, still having significantly elevated *Tnf-* α expression compared to vehicle (4.9-fold and 6.8-fold greater expression respectively; p<0.001). Pre-treatment with 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS did not significantly affect *Tnf-* α expression, compared to the vehicle control group.

Expression of *ll-1* β in the uterus was significantly elevated in mice treated with LPS, compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.05; Figure 4.4B), with LPS inducing a 2.6-fold increase in expression. Again, mice pre-treated with 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin, prior to intrauterine LPS, still had significantly elevated *ll-1* β expression, compared to the vehicle control group (3.1-fold and 3.4-fold greater expression respectively; p<0.01). No significant difference in *ll-1* β expression was observed when comparing mice pre-treated with 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS to the vehicle control group.

Compared to the vehicle group, *ll-6* expression was significantly elevated in mice receiving LPS (7.7-fold greater expression; p<0.001). Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS did not significantly alter *ll-6* expression compared to LPS alone, and mice in these groups still had significantly greater expression of *ll-6* compared to vehicle (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 7.9-fold greater expression; p<0.001; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS group 12.3-fold greater expression; p<0.001; Figure 4.4C). Treatment with epi-lipoxin alone did not significantly affect *ll-6* expression, compared to the vehicle group.

Expression of *ll-10* was significantly elevated in the LPS treatment group compared to the vehicle group (2.2-fold greater expression; p<0.05; Figure 4.4D). Whilst pretreatment with epi-lipoxin did not result in any significant effect on LPS-induced *ll-10* expression in the uterus, compared to either LPS alone or vehicle.

Compared to the vehicle group, *Cox-2* expression was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS, in mice treated with LPS alone (9.2-fold greater expression, p<0.01) and in mice pre-treated with 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS (16.1-fold and 20.8-fold increased expression respectively, p<0.001; Figure 4.4E). Interestingly, pre-treatment with 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS also significantly increased uterine *Cox-2* expression, compared to the vehicle group (6-fold greater expression, p<0.05).

Uterine expression of *15-Hpgd* was significantly reduced in mice pre-treated with 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration, compared to vehicle (2.8-fold reduced expression, p<0.05; Figure 4.4F). LPS treatment alone did not significantly alter *15-Hpgd* expression, compared to vehicle, however mice pre-treated 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS also had significantly reduced *15-Hpgd* expression compared to the vehicle group (3.6-fold decrease (p<0.001) and 3.4-fold decrease (p<0.01) respectively). Mice in the 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS group also had significantly decreased expression of *15-Hpgd* compared to mice receiving LPS alone, with a mean 3.2-fold (p<0.001) and 3-fold (p<0.01) decrease, respectively.

Expression of the neutrophil chemokines *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2* and *Cxcl5* in the uterus, were all significantly elevated in the LPS treatment group, compared with the vehicle control group. *Cxcl1* expression was 18.2-fold higher in the LPS treatment group compared to

mice in the vehicle group (p<0.001; Figure 4.5A). Intrauterine LPS administration induced a mean 16.8-fold upregulation in *Cxcl2* compared with the vehicle (p<0.001; Figure 4.5B). Expression of *Cxcl5* was 8.8-fold greater in the LPS treatment group compared to mice in the vehicle group (p<0.001; Figure 4.5C). Pre-treatment with epilipoxin, at either dose, prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly alter LPS-induced expression of *Cxcl1, Cxcl2* or *Cxcl5*, with mice in these treatment groups still having significantly elevated expression of *Cxcl1, Cxcl2* and *Cxcl5* when compared to the vehicle group (p<0.001).

Although expression of the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2*, was elevated 2.3-fold in response to intrauterine LPS, compared to the vehicle group, this difference was not found to be statistically significant (p=0.07; Figure 4.5D). Similarly, epi-lipoxin pre-treatment had no significant effect on *Ccl2* expression in the uterus.



Figure 4.4 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Tnf-* α expression. (B) *ll-1* β expression. (C) *ll-6* expression (D) *ll-10* expression. (E) *Cox-2* expression (F) *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle; ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001, compared to LPS.



Figure 4.5 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin treatment on inflammatory chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

4.3.3.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

Expression of *Tnf-* α in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration, with 48-fold increased expression in the fetal membranes of mice receiving intrauterine LPS compared with the vehicle (p<0.001; Figure 4.6A). Pre-treatment with 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin, prior to intrauterine LPS did not significantly affect LPS-induced *Tnf-* α expression, compared to LPS alone, with *Tnf-* α expression in these groups still significantly greater compared to the vehicle control (58.9-fold and 60.4-fold increase, respectively, p<0.001). Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration did not significantly affect *Tnf-* α expression in the fetal membranes, compared to the vehicle control group.

Intrauterine administration of LPS resulted in significantly elevated *ll-1* β expression compared with the vehicle (29.5-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.6B). Again pretreatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly alter expression of *ll-1* β , compared to LPS alone, with mice in the epi-lipoxin+LPS groups still having significantly greater *ll-1* β expression, compared to the vehicle control group (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS 29.5-fold greater expression; 50.9-fold greater expression; p<0.001).

Compared to vehicle, LPS alone did not significantly increase *ll*-6 expression (9.9-fold increase, p=0.08; Figure 4.6C). Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin at both 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS significantly increased expression of *ll*-6 in the fetal membranes compared to the vehicle control group (16.9-fold and 33.2-fold greater expression respectively, p<0.01); however these increases were not significantly greater when compared to LPS alone.

ll-10 expression was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared with vehicle (15.8-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.6D). Mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin at both 0.25 μ g and 2.5 μ g epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS also had significantly elevated *ll-10* expression compared to the vehicle control group (9-fold (p<0.01) and 24.2-fold (p<0.001) greater expression, respectively); these differences were not statistically significant compared to LPS alone. Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration did not significantly alter *ll-10* expression, compared to vehicle.

Intrauterine LPS treatment alone, did not significantly alter *Cox-2* expression in the fetal membranes; however mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration had increased *Cox-2* expression compared to both vehicle and LPS alone. In response to 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS, *Cox-2* expression in the fetal membranes was significantly greater, compared to the vehicle control group (14.3-fold increase, p<0.05; Figure 4.6E), and 4.4-fold higher expression was observed, compared to LPS alone, but this increase did not reach statistical significance (p=0.07).

Intrauterine administration of LPS reduced the expression of *15-Hpgd*, compared to vehicle (2.2-fold decrease; p<0.01; Figure 4.6F). Similarly, mice pre-treated with epilipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration had significantly reduced expression of *15-Hpgd* compared to vehicle control (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 2.5-fold decrease, p<0.01; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 3-fold decrease, p<0.001). Pre-treatment with epilipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS did not alter *15-Hpgd* expression in the fetal membranes.

Compared to the vehicle control group, LPS treatment alone induced a 9.2-fold increase in *Cxcl1* expression, however this was not statistically significant (p=0.08; Figure 4.7A). Pre-treatment with 0.25µg and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin, prior to intrauterine LPS, resulted in significantly greater Cxcl1 expression, compared to the vehicle control group (15.9-fold, p<0.01 and 18-fold, p<0.001, greater expression, respectively); however there were no significant differences when comparing pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin to LPS alone. *Cxcl2* expression in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in all groups receiving intrauterine LPS, with and without pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin, compared to the vehicle group (LPS: 13.7-fold increase, p<0.05; 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 20.7-fold increase, p<0.01; and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 23.7-fold increase, p<0.01; Figure 4.7B). Again pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS did not significantly alter *Cxcl2* expression, compared to LPS alone. Similarly, all groups receiving intrauterine LPS had significantly greater *Cxcl5* expression, compared to vehicle (LPS: 87.5-fold increase; 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 285.9-fold increase; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 154.8-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.7C). Again, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS did not significantly alter *Cxcl5* expression, compared to LPS alone.

As with the other chemokines, *Ccl2* expression was significantly elevated in the fetal membranes of all groups of mice receiving intrauterine LPS, compared the vehicle group (LPS: 11-fold increase, p<0.05; 0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 15.2-fold increase,

p<0.01; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 15-fold increase; p<0.01; Figure 4.7D). Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin, at either dose, did not significantly alter *Ccl2* expression compared to LPS alone.



Figure 4.6 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Tnf-* α expression. (B) *ll-1* β expression. (C) *ll-6* expression (D) *ll-10* expression. (E) *Cox-2* expression (F) *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.



Figure 4.7 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin treatment on inflammatory chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

4.3.3.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

As was observed in the uterus and fetal membranes, placental *Tnf-* α expression was significantly up-regulated in mice receiving intrauterine LPS compared with the vehicle group (7.4-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.8A). Similarly, mice pre-treated with epilipoxin, at both 0.25µg and 2.5µg, prior to intrauterine LPS, had significantly greater *Tnf-* α expression, compared to the vehicle control group (7.4-fold and 8.9-fold greater expression, respectively, p<0.001).

Expression of ll- 1β in the placenta was also significantly elevated in the LPS group compared to the vehicle control group, with an 8.4-fold increase compared to vehicle (p<0.001; Figure 4.8B). Again, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly attenuate LPS-induced ll- 1β expression, and mice in these groups still had significantly elevated expression, compared to vehicle (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 8.6-fold increase; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 15.5-fold increase; p<0.001).

ll-6 expression was significantly increased in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared to vehicle (7.7-fold increase, p<0.001; Figure 4.8C). Mice pretreated with 0.25 μ g and 2.5 μ g epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS, also had significantly greater expression of *ll-6* compared to the vehicle control group (8.9-fold and 20.2-fold increase, respectively; p<0.001).

Similarly, placental *ll-10* expression was elevated in the LPS group compared with the vehicle group (4.5-fold increase; p<0.05; Figure 4.8D); and expression of *ll-10* was also significantly greater in mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin, prior to intrauterine LPS, compared to vehicle ($0.25\mu g$ epi-lipoxin+LPS: 4.2-fold increase, p<0.05; 2.5 μg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 5.9-fold increase; p<0.01).

The expression of *Cox-2* was increased in the placenta of mice pre-treated with 2.5µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS, compared to vehicle, however this was not statistically significant (2.3-fold greater, p=0.17; Figure 4.8E). LPS treatment alone did not significantly affect *Cox-2* expression, but pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin at both 0.25µg and 2.5µg prior to intrauterine LPS administration significantly increased *Cox-2* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (5.4-fold increase, p<0.01; and 6.9-fold increase, p<0.001, respectively). Additionally, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin, at both doses, prior to intrauterine LPS also significantly increased *LPS*-induced *Cox-2*

expression, compared to LPS alone (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 5.2-fold increase; and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin+LPS: 6.7-fold increase; p<0.001).

Conversely, pre-treatment with $2.5\mu g$ epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration resulted in significantly reduced expression of *15-Hpgd* in the placenta, compared to vehicle (3.2-fold decrease; p<0.001; Figure 4.8F). LPS treatment alone did not significantly affect placental *15-Hpgd* expression, however mice pre-treated with 0.25µg epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS had significantly reduced *15-Hpgd* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (2.3-fold decrease, p<0.01).

Placental expression of the neutrophil chemokines Cxcl1, Cxcl2 and Cxcl5 was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration. *Cxcl1* expression was significantly higher in the LPS treatment group compared to vehicle (4.2-fold increase, p<0.001; Figure 4.9A); and pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS injection did not attenuate LPS-induced *Cxcl1* expression, with mice in these groups still having significantly elevated *Cxcl1* expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001). Placental expression of *Cxcl2* was similarly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared with the vehicle (14-fold, p<0.001; Figure 4.9B); and again mice receiving pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS still had significantly elevated *Cxcl2* expression, compared to vehicle (p<0.001). *Cxcl5* expression was also significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared to the vehicle group (24-fold, p<0.001; Figure 4.9C); however pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not affect LPS-induced *Cxcl5* expression in the placenta, compared to treatment with LPS alone, with mice in these groups still having significantly elevated *Cxcl5* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).

Similarly, the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2*, was found to have significantly elevated expression in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared to vehicle (6.7-fold, p<0.001; Figure 4.9D). As observed with the other chemokines, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin did not significantly attenuate LPS-induced *Ccl2* expression, and these mice were found to still have significantly greater *Ccl2* expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).



Figure 4.8 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Tnf-* α expression. (B) *ll-1* β expression. (C) *ll-6* expression (D) *ll-10* expression. (E) *Cox-2* expression (F) *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle; ###p<0.001, compared to LPS.



Figure 4.9 - Effect of i.p. epi-lipoxin treatment on inflammatory chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression. (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

4.3.4 Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on amniotic fluid cytokine levels

As described in chapter 3, intrauterine LPS administration also induced inflammatory cytokine production in the amniotic fluid, therefore, to investigate whether pretreatment with epi-lipoxin was able to alter amniotic fluid cytokine levels, amniotic fluid was collected 6 hours post-surgery and the concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 was measured by ELISA. Where the concentration of cytokines was too low to be detected by the ELISAs, the value of the limit of detection of the specific ELISA was entered to give a value for analysis and the data was analysed by non-parametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis).

TNF- α was undetectable in the vehicle and 2.5µg epi-lipoxin groups, which received intrauterine PBS; and also in one LPS sample. The concentration of TNF- α was elevated in mice receiving intrauterine LPS (97.63 pg/ml ± SEM 61.26), however this difference was not significantly greater compared to mice receiving intrauterine PBS. Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly affect LPS-induced TNF- α production, although levels were higher in mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin, compared to LPS alone (0.25µg epi-lipoxin+LPS mean 194.8 pg/ml ± SEM 32.76; 2.5µg epi-lipoxin mean 299.3 pg/ml ± SEM 100.8; Figure 4.10A).

IL-10 was also undetectable in the vehicle and 2.5 μ g epi-lipoxin groups, which received intrauterine PBS; and also in two LPS samples. LPS treatment did not significantly increase amniotic fluid IL-10 levels (mean 20.18 pg/ml ± SEM 4.97), compared to the vehicle and 2.5 μ g epi-lipoxin groups. Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin again did not significantly affect LPS-induced IL-10 production compared to LPS alone, although the mean concentrations were slightly higher (mean 0.25 μ g epi-lipoxin+LPS 36.21 pg/ml ± 8.62; mean 2.5 μ g epi-lipoxin+LPS 34.63 pg/ml ± SEM 5.81; Figure 4.10B).



Figure 4.10 - Effect of pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin on inflammatory cytokine production in the amniotic fluid. Amniotic fluid was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=3) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=4), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 0.25µg epi-lipoxin (n=5) or 2.5µg epi-lipoxin (n=5), prior to intrauterine LPS administration, and ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 in the amniotic fluid. (A) Amniotic fluid TNF- α concentration. (B) Amniotic fluid IL-10 concentration. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

4.3.5 Expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues following intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin

Several studies have demonstrated that lipoxin administration locally, at the site of inflammation, can also have strong anti-inflammatory actions (Menezes-de-Lima *et al.* 2006, Conte *et al.* 2010). Therefore, given that intra-peritoneal pre-treatment with epilipoxin largely did not affect inflammatory gene expression in the utero-placental tissues, we administered epi-lipoxin directly into the uterus at the same time as either intrauterine LPS or PBS administration. As described before, utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-surgery and examined for the expression of the same inflammatory genes using qRT-PCR. In this series of experiments epi-lipoxin was administered at lower doses compared to the i.p. epi-lipoxin 6 hour experiments, with doses of 25ng and 250ng as the low and high doses. The doses of epi-lipoxin were reduced because previous studies using local administration gave lower doses, compared to those given systemically.

4.3.5.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

As before, expression of *Tnf-* α was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration, with 4.7-fold higher expression compared to the vehicle group (p<0.001; Figure 4.11A). Co-treatment of epi-lipoxin and LPS did not significantly alter LPS-induced *Tnf-* α expression in the uterus, compared to LPS alone, with expression of *Tnf-* α still significantly increased compared to the vehicle control group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 7.3-fold increase; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS 4.9-fold increase; p<0.001).

Similarly, *ll-1* β expression was also significantly greater in mice treated with intrauterine LPS, compared with the vehicle group (2.9-fold increase; p<0.05; Figure 4.11B). Compared to LPS alone, co-treatment with epi-lipoxin did not significantly affect LPS-induced *ll-1* β expression in the uterus; mice in the epi-lipoxin+LPS co-treatment groups still had significantly greater *ll-1* β expression, compared to the vehicle control group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 4.7-fold increase, p<0.01; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 3.3-fold increase, p<0.005).

Uterine *ll-6* expression was also significantly elevated in the presence of intrauterine LPS, compared to vehicle (p<0.05; 6.5-fold increase; Figure 4.11C). Again, co-administration of epi-lipoxin and LPS did not affect *ll-6* expression compared to LPS

alone; and mice treated with 25ng or 250ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS still had significantly elevated *Il-6* expression, compared to the vehicle control (10-fold increase, p<0.05; and 5.5-fold greater expression, p<0.01, respectively).

In this cohort of mice, expression of *ll-10* in the uterus was not significantly increased in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared to the vehicle control group (Figure 4.11D). Similarly, compared to LPS treatment alone, co-treatment with epilipoxin had no significant effect on uterine *ll-10* expression.

Expression of *Cox-2* was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared with the vehicle control group, with 5.9-fold higher expression in LPS-treated mice (p<0.05; Figure 4.11E). Mice that received co-treatment of epi-lipoxin and LPS also had significantly greater expression of *Cox-2*, compared to the vehicle control group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 18.2-fold increase; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 14.5-fold increase; p<0.001). Additionally, co-treatment with either 25ng or 250ng epi-lipoxin at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration appeared to increase uterine *Cox-2* expression, compared to LPS alone (3-fold and 2.5-fold increase, respectively); however these differences were not statistically significant.

Intrauterine administration of LPS alone did not significantly affect uterine *15-Hpgd* expression. However, co-treatment with epi-lipoxin at either 25ng or 250ng, at the same time as LPS significantly reduced *15-Hpgd* expression, inducing a 2.3-fold and 2.5-fold decrease, compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.05; Figure 4.11F).

As observed previously, intrauterine administration of LPS significantly increased the expression of the three neutrophil chemokines, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2*, and *Cxcl5*. *Cxcl1* expression was 17.7-fold higher in LPS-treated mice, compared with the vehicle control group (p<0.001; Figure 4.12A). The LPS-induced expression of *Cxcl1* was unaffected by co-treatment with epi-lipoxin, with mice co-treated with 25ng and 250ng epi-lipoxin still found to have significantly elevated *Cxcl1* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001). Similarly expression of *Cxcl2* was significantly elevated in the LPS group compared with the vehicle group (15.5-fold increase, p<0.01; Figure 4.12B); and co-treatment of 25ng or 250ng plus LPS was not found to significantly attenuate LPS-induced *Cxcl2* expression, with *Cxcl2* expression still found to be significantly greater in the 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (p<0.01) and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (p<0.001) groups, compared to the vehicle control. *Cxcl5* expression was also significantly

increased in the LPS group compared with vehicle (12.2-fold increase; p<0.01; Figure 4.12C); and was still significantly elevated in the groups co-treated with 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (p<0.05), and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS (p<0.01), compared to the vehicle group.

In this cohort of mice, although intrauterine LPS induced a 2.4-fold increase in *Ccl2* expression, this was not statistically significant (p=0.17; Figure 4.12D). Co-treatment with epi-lipoxin, either before intrauterine PBS or LPS, was not found to significantly alter uterine *Ccl2* expression.



Figure 4.11 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *Il-1* β expression. **(C)** *Il-6* expression **(D)** *Il-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression **(F)** *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.


Figure 4.12 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change \pm SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

4.3.5.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

Expression of *Tnf*- α in the fetal membranes was significantly increased in mice treated with LPS, compared to the vehicle (28.4-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.13A). Intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin at the same time as LPS did not significantly effect LPS-induced *Tnf*- α expression, compared with LPS alone; and mice treated with 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS still had significantly elevated *Tnf*- α , compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).

Similarly, expression of *ll-1* β was significantly elevated in mice receiving intrauterine LPS compared to the vehicle group (24.9-fold increase, p<0.001; Figure 4.13B). Cotreatment with epi-lipoxin did not affect LPS-induced *ll-1* β expression in the fetal membranes, compared to LPS alone; *ll-1* β expression in these groups was still significantly greater than the vehicle control (p<0.001).

In this cohort of mice, *ll-6* expression in the fetal membranes was not significantly altered in response to any treatments given (Figure 4.13C), although intrauterine LPS induced a 3.9-fold increase in *ll-6* expression compared with the vehicle group, these differences were not statistically significant.

As before, intrauterine LPS administration resulted in significantly increased expression of *ll-10* compared to the vehicle group (5.6-fold increase p<0.05; Figure 4.13D). Mice co-treated with epi-lipoxin and LPS also had significantly elevated *ll-10* expression compared with the vehicle control group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 14.1-fold increase, p<0.001; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 9-fold increase, p<0.01).

Intrauterine LPS administration alone did not significantly alter expression of *Cox-2* in the fetal membranes, compared to vehicle (Figure 4.13E). Co-treatment of 25ng or 250ng epi-lipoxin at the same time as intrauterine LPS, significantly increased expression of *Cox-2*, compared to the vehicle control group (7-fold and 6.7-fold greater expression, respectively; p<0.05). In mice treated with both epi-lipoxin and LPS, *Cox-2* expression appeared to also be increased compared to LPS alone (2.8-fold increase in the 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group; 2.6-fold increase in the 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS group), however these differences were not statistically significant.

In this cohort of mice, expression of *15-Hpgd* in the fetal membranes was not significantly altered by either intrauterine LPS or epi-lipoxin treatment (Figure 4.13E).

As previously described, expression of *Cxcl1* was significantly increased in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared to the vehicle group (12.6-fold increase, p<0.05; Figure 4.14A); and co-treatment with epi-lipoxin+LPS also resulted in increased *Cxcl1* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.01). Intrauterine LPS administration also significantly increased expression of *Cxcl2* compared to vehicle (15-fold increase, p<0.01; Figure 4.14B); and again LPS-induced *Cxcl2* expression was not significantly affected by co-treatment with epi-lipoxin, compared to LPS alone, with mice co-treated with epi-lipoxin+LPS still being found to have significantly elevated *Cxcl2* expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001). Similarly, *Cxcl5* expression was significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS compared to the vehicle group (60.9-fold increase, p<0.001; Figure Co-treatment with epi-lipoxin did not significantly alter LPS-induced Cxcl5 4.14C). expression in the fetal membranes, compared to LPS alone, with *Cxcl2* expression in these groups still significantly elevated compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).

Expression of the macrophage chemokine, *Ccl2* was also increased in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared with the vehicle (10.1-fold increase, p<0.05; Figure 4.14D). Again, compared to LPS alone, co-treatment of epi-lipoxin with LPS did not significantly affect LPS-induced *Ccl2* expression, and co-treatment of LPS and epi-lipoxin (at 25ng or 250ng) still resulted in significantly greater *Ccl2* expression, compared to the vehicle control group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 15.5-fold increase, p<0.01; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 11.6-fold increase, p<0.05).



Figure 4.13 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Tnf-* α expression. (B) *ll-1* β expression. (C) *ll-6* expression (D) *ll-10* expression. (E) *Cox-2* expression (F) 15-Hpgd expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01; ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.



Figure 4.14 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

4.3.5.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

As in previous cohorts, intrauterine LPS administration induced a significant increase in placental Tnf- α expression, compared with the vehicle control group (6.8-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.15A). Intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin did not significantly affect LPS-induced Tnf- α expression compared to LPS alone, with Tnf- α expression still significantly elevated in mice receiving epi-lipoxin+LPS, compared to the vehicle control (p<0.001).

Similarly, *ll-1* β expression was also significantly elevated in response to intrauterine LPS compared to the vehicle group (10.9-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.15B). Again, co-treatment with epi-lipoxin did not alter LPS-induced *ll-1* β expression, compared to LPS alone, and mice in these groups still had significantly greater *ll-1* β expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).

Placental expression of *ll-6* was significantly increased in response to intrauterine LPS compared to the vehicle control group (5.9-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.15C). Again, mice co-treated with 25ng and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS, still had significantly elevated *ll-6* expression, compared to the vehicle group (12-fold and 8.5-fold increase, respectively, p<0.001).

ll-10 expression was also significantly greater in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared with to the vehicle group (2.7-fold increase; p<0.01; Figure 4.15D). Compared to LPS treatment alone, intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin at the same time as LPS did not affect LPS-induced *ll-10* expression; and mice in these groups still had significantly elevated *ll-10* expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).

LPS alone did not significantly alter placental *Cox-2* expression, compared to the vehicle control group. However co-treatment of epi-lipoxin, at both 25ng and 250ng, and LPS significantly increased *Cox-2* expression, compared to the vehicle group (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 3-fold increase, p<0.05; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS: 3.9-fold increase, p<0.01; Figure 4.15E). Additionally, co-treatment with epi-lipoxin+LPS also significantly increased *Cox-2* expression compared to LPS alone, with 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS inducing 3.8-fold higher expression (p<0.01) and 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS inducing 4.9-fold greater expression (p<0.01).

Administration of 250ng epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine PBS administration reduced placental *15-Hpgd* expression by 2.2-fold compared to the vehicle control group, however this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.07; Figure 4.15F). LPS treatment, either alone or with epi-lipoxin, did not significantly affect placental *15-Hpgd* expression.

As described earlier, intrauterine LPS injection significantly elevated expression of the three neutrophil chemokines Cxcl1, Cxcl2 and Cxcl5. Expression of *Cxcl1* was significantly greater in mice treated with LPS compared to the vehicle group (4.5-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.16A). Intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin did not significantly affect LPS-induced Cxcl1 expression compared to LPS alone, and these mice still had significantly elevated *Cxcl1* expression compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001). *Cxcl2* was also significantly elevated in mice receiving LPS compared with the vehicle (13.5-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.16B). Again, co-treatment of epi-lipoxin+LPS did not significantly alter *Cxcl2* expression compared to LPS alone, and *Cxcl2* expression was still significantly greater compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001). Similarly, LPS induced a significant increase in placental *Cxcl5* expression compared to the vehicle group (22.8-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.16C); however LPS-induced Cxcl5 expression was unaffected by co-treatment with epi-lipoxin, compared to LPS alone, and mice receiving both epi-lipoxin and LPS still had significantly increased *Cxcl5* expression compared to the vehicle control group.

Ccl2 expression was also significantly increased in response to intrauterine LPS administration compared to the vehicle (5.2-fold increase; p<0.001; Figure 4.16D). Again, intrauterine administration of epi-lipoxin at the same time as LPS did not affect LPS-induced *Ccl2* expression in the placenta compared to LPS alone, and these mice still had significantly greater expression of *Ccl2* when compared to the vehicle control group (p<0.001).



Figure 4.15 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Tnf-* α expression. (B) *ll-1* β expression. (C) *ll-6* expression (D) *ll-10* expression. (E) *Cox-2* expression (F) *15-Hpgd* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle; ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001, compared to LPS.



Figure 4.16 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, compared to vehicle.

4.3.6 Effect of intrauterine epi-lipoxin administration on amniotic fluid cytokine levels

To determine whether co-treatment with epi-lipoxin and LPS directly into the uterus could affect inflammatory cytokine levels in the amniotic fluid, ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 in amniotic fluid collected 6 hours post surgery. As before, where the concentration of cytokines was too low to be detected by the ELISAs, the value of the lower limit of detection of the specific ELISA was entered to give a value for analysis and the data was analysed by non-parametric ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis).

TNF- α was undetectable in three vehicle samples and all 250ng epi-lipoxin samples. Intrauterine LPS administration resulted in greater TNF- α concentration compared to the vehicle control group, however this difference was not statistically significant (mean vehicle concentration 12.75 pg/ml ± SEM 1.85; mean LPS concentration 91.73 pg/ml ± SEM 27.22). Co-treatment with epi-lipoxin at the same time as intrauterine LPS appeared to further increase amniotic fluid TNF- α levels, although again these differences were not statistically significant (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS mean 203.5 pg/ml ± SEM 60.23; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS mean 231.5 pg/ml ± SEM 44.01; Figure 4.17A).

IL-10 was also undetectable in three vehicle samples, all 250ng epi-lipoxin samples, one LPS sample and one 25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS sample. Intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly increase the concentration of IL-10 compared to the vehicle control group (vehicle mean 15.93 pg/ml ± SEM 0.33; LPS mean 19.25 pg/ml ± SEM 2.03). Similarly, co-treatment with epi-lipoxin had no significant effect on the amniotic fluid IL-10 concentration compared to LPS alone (25ng epi-lipoxin+LPS mean 24.3 pg/ml ± SEM 3.5; 250ng epi-lipoxin+LPS mean 18.45 pg/ml ± SEM 1.56; Figure 4.17B).



Figure 4.17 - Effect of co-treatment with epi-lipoxin on inflammatory cytokine production in the amniotic fluid. Amniotic fluid was collected 6 hours post surgery from mice co-treated with vehicle (n=4) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=4), at the same time as intrauterine PBS; and in mice co-treated with vehicle (n=5), 25ng epi-lipoxin (n=6) or 250ng epi-lipoxin (n=6), at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, and ELISAs were used to quantify the concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 in the amniotic fluid. **(A)** Amniotic fluid TNF- α concentration. **(B)** Amniotic fluid IL-10 concentration. Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

4.3.7 Effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups

Lipoxins are rapidly inactivated and broken down by the actions of 15-HPGD, therefore, a number of stable synthetic analogues have been developed which have a longer biological half-life (Serhan *et al.* 1995, Maddox *et al.* 1997). BML-111 is a stable synthetic analogue of lipoxin, which has been found to improve outcome in a number of animal models of inflammation-associated pathologies (Zhang *et al.* 2007, Chen *et al.* 2010, Gong *et al.* 2012), therefore, the potential of BML-111 to delay delivery and improve the proportion of live born pups was also investigated in our model. As with epi-lipoxin, mice received pre-treatment with BML-111 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS administration. Mice were pre-treated with vehicle prior to intrauterine PBS or LPS administration as controls.

4.3.7.1 Time to delivery

Pre-treatment with BML-111 prior to intrauterine PBS administration did not affect time to delivery compared to the vehicle control group (mean time to delivery in BML group 47.5 hours \pm SEM 7.3 vs. vehicle mean 48.48 \pm SEM 7.6; Figure 4.18). Mice in the LPS treatment group delivered significantly earlier compared with the vehicle control group (mean time to delivery in LPS group 27.6 hours \pm SEM 4.8, p<0.01). Pretreatment with 1mg/kg or 10mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly affect time to delivery compared to LPS alone, although time to delivery appeared to be increased in mice pre-treated with 1mg/kg BML-111 (mean time to delivery 42.0 hours \pm SEM 6.5); however this was not significantly different to the LPS group (p=0.24; Figure 4.18). Mice pre-treated with 10mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS, still delivered significantly earlier compared to the vehicle control group (mean time to delivery 26.2 hours \pm SEM 4.6, p<0.05). There were no significant differences when comparing time to delivery in mice pre-treated with BML-111 prior to LPS administration with the BML-111 control group.

To investigate further the effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on LPS-induced preterm delivery, the preterm delivery rates in each group were calculated (Table 4.2). This was defined as the proportion of dams in which there was delivery of the first pup within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. All treatment groups receiving intrauterine LPS had higher preterm delivery rates compared to those receiving intrauterine PBS injection (LPS preterm delivery rate 0.86; vehicle preterm delivery rate 0.3; BML-111

preterm delivery rate 0.36). Compared to the LPS treatment group, the relative risk of preterm delivery was significantly reduced in both the vehicle and BML-111 groups (p<0.01). Additionally pre-treatment with 1mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration significantly reduced the risk of preterm delivery (0.55; RR 0.64, [95% CI 0.41 – 0.98]; p<0.05), compared to LPS alone. Perhaps surprisingly, higher doses of BML-111 failed to attenuate the adverse effects of LPS on the preterm delivery rate.



Figure 4.18 - Effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on LPS-induced time to delivery. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=10) or BML-111 (n=11), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=22) 1mg/kg BML-111 (n=20) or 10mg/kg BML-111 (n=9), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01, compared to vehicle.

	Preterm	Relative risk of preterm delivery
Treatment	delivery rate	(compared to LPS)
Vehicle (n=10)	0.3	0.34** [95% Cl 0.13 – 0.91]
BML-111 (n=11)	0.36	0.42** [95% Cl 0.19 – 0.94]
LPS (n=22)	0.86	-
1mg/kg BML+LPS (n=20)	0.55	0.64* [95% Cl 0.41 – 0.98]
10mg/kg BML+LPS (n=9)	0.77	0.90 [95% Cl 0.61– 1.33]

Table 4.2 - Effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on preterm delivery rate. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle or BML-111 prior to intrauterine PBS or LPS administration. Preterm delivery was defined as delivery within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. Relative risk ratios calculated using Fisher's exact text. *p<0.05; **p<0.01.

4.3.7.2 Proportion of live born pups

The proportion of live born pups was reduced in the LPS group, compared to the vehicle control group (LPS mean proportion of live born pups $0.21 \pm \text{SEM } 0.06$; vehicle mean proportion of live born pups $0.55 \pm \text{SEM } 0.11$; Figure 4.19A); however this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.1). Mice in the BML-111 control group did have a significantly greater proportion of live born pups when compared to LPS alone (mean proportion of live born pups in BML-111 group $0.66 \pm \text{SEM } 0.12$; p<0.05). Pre-treatment with BML-111 at 1mg/kg and 10mg/kg prior to intrauterine LPS administration appeared to induce a dose-dependent increase in the proportion of live born pups (1mg/kg BML-111+LPS mean $0.31 \pm \text{SEM } 0.08$; 10mg/kg BML-111+LPS mean $0.48 \pm \text{SEM } 0.15$), however these differences were not statistically significant when compared to the LPS alone group (Figure 4.19A).

In mice delivering preterm a similar trend was observed, where LPS treatment resulted in a significantly reduced proportion of live born pups compared to mice in the BML-111 group (LPS mean proportion of live born pups $0.13 \pm SEM 0.05$, vs. BML-111 mean $0.64 \pm SEM 0.22$; p<0.05, Figure 4.19B). Mice pre-treated with 1mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration also had a significantly reduced proportion of live born pups compared to the BML control group (1mg/kg BML-111+LPS mean proportion of live born pups $0.03 \pm SEM 0.03$; p<0.05). Pre-treatment with 10mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration again appeared to increase the proportion of live born pups compared to mice receiving LPS alone (mean proportion of live born pups in 10mg/kg BML-111+LPS group $0.36 \pm SEM 0.17$), however again this was not statistically significant when compared to mice receiving LPS alone (p=0.57; Figure 4.19B).



Figure 4.19 - Effect of pre-treatment with BML-111 on the proportion of live born pups. The proportion of live born pups was determined in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=10) or BML-111 (n=11), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=22) 1mg/kg BML-111 (n=20) or 10mg/kg BML-111 (n=9), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. (A) Proportion of live born pups in all mice (B) The proportion of pups delivered prematurely (within 36 hours of surgery) who were born live; [vehicle (n=3), BML-111 (n=4) LPS (n=19), 1mg/kg BML-111+LPS (n=11), 10mg/kg BML-111+LPS (n=7)]. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); #p<0.05, compared to LPS.

4.3.8 Effect of pre-treatment with IL-10 on time to delivery and the proportion of live pups born

Administration of the classical anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, has previously been reported to delay infection-induced preterm labour and improve pup survival in rodent models (Terrone *et al.* 2001, Rodts-Palenik *et al.* 2004, Robertson *et al.* 2006). Therefore, we wanted to investigate whether pre-treatment with IL-10 was capable of reversing the negative effects of LPS in our model. Mice were pre-treated with IL-10 1-2 hours prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS administration; control mice were pre-treated with vehicle prior to intrauterine LPS or PBS administration.

4.3.8.1 Time to delivery

Pre-treatment with IL-10 prior to intrauterine PBS administration did not significantly alter time to delivery, compared to the vehicle control group (mean time to delivery in 10µg IL-10 group 43.73 hours ± SEM 3.2 vs. vehicle mean 42.73 ± SEM 3.6; Figure 4.20). Mice receiving intrauterine LPS delivered significantly earlier than mice receiving intrauterine PBS in the 10µg IL-10 group (mean time to delivery in LPS group 28.46 hours ± SEM 9.7; p<0.05); although time to delivery in the LPS group was also decreased compared to the vehicle control group, this was not statistically significant (p=0.1). Pre-treatment with either 2.5µg or 10µg IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not significantly alter time to delivery, compared with mice receiving LPS alone; and mice receiving 10µg IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS still delivered significantly earlier compared to the 10µg IL-10 control group (mean time to delivery in 10µg IL-10+LPS group 23.63 hours ± SEM 3.04; p<0.05).

The rate of preterm delivery was also determined in each treatment group (Table 4.3). Preterm delivery rates were higher in all groups receiving intrauterine LPS, with all mice in the 2.5µg IL-10+LPS and 10µg IL-10+LPS groups delivering preterm; however in this cohort of mice, no statistically significant differences in preterm delivery rates were observed between treatment groups.



Figure 4.20 - Effect of pre-treatment with IL-10 on LPS-induced time to delivery. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=11) or 10µg IL-10 (n=10), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=6) 2.5µg IL-10 (n=5) or 10µg IL-10 (n=6), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); #p<0.05, compared to LPS.

	Preterm	Relative risk of preterm delivery
Treatment	delivery rate	(compared to LPS)
Vehicle (n=11)	0.45	0.55 [95% Cl 0.26 – 1.14]
10μg IL-10 (n=10)	0.3	0.36 [95% Cl 0.13 – 0.99]
LPS (n=6)	0.83	-
2.5μg IL-10+LPS (n=5)	1	1.2 [95% CI 0.84 – 1.72]
10µg IL-10+LPS (n=6)	1	1.2 [95% CI 0.84 – 1.72]

Table 4.3 - Effect of pre-treatment with IL-10 on preterm delivery rate. Time to delivery was monitored in mice pre-treated with vehicle or *IL-10* prior to intrauterine PBS or LPS administration. Preterm delivery was defined as delivery within 36 hours of intrauterine injection. Relative risk ratios calculated using Fisher's exact text.

4.3.8.2 Proportion of live born pups

As previously observed in other experiments, LPS treatment resulted in a significantly reduced proportion of live born pups, compared to the 10μ g IL-10 group (LPS mean proportion of live born pups 0.26 ± SEM 0.08 vs. 10μ g IL-10 mean 0.77 ± SEM 0.09; p<0.05, Figure 4.21A). The proportion of live born pups in LPS treated mice was also reduced compared to the vehicle control group, however this was not statistically significant (mean proportion of live born pups in vehicle group 0.64 ± SEM 0.12; p=0.18 vs. LPS). Pre-treatment with 10μ g IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS administration appeared to increase the proportion of live born pups compared to LPS alone (mean proportion of live born pups in 10μ g IL-10+LPS group 0.59 ± SEM 0.17), however this was not statistically significant (Figure 4.21A).

In mice delivering preterm, a similar trend was observed, with a greater proportion of live pups born to mice pre-treated with 10 μ g IL-10 prior to both intrauterine PBS or LPS administration, compared to LPS alone (10 μ g IL-10 mean proportion of live born pups 0.48 ± SEM 0.1; 10 μ g IL-10+LPS mean proportion of live born pups 0.59 ± SEM 0.17 vs. LPS mean 0.23 ± 0.09; Figure 4.21B); however these differences were again not found to be statistically significant.



Figure 4.21 - Effect of pre-treatment with IL-10 on the proportion of live born pups. The proportion of live born pups was determined in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=11) or 10µg IL-10 (n=10), prior to intrauterine PBS; and in mice pre-treated with vehicle (n=6) 2.5µg IL-10 (n=5) or 10µg IL-10 (n=6), prior to intrauterine LPS administration. (A) Proportion of live born pups in all mice. **(B)** The proportion of pups delivered prematurely (within 36 hours of surgery) who were born live; [vehicle (n=5), 10µg IL-10 (n=3) LPS (n=5), 2.5µg IL-10+LPS (n=5), 10µg IL-10+LPS (n=6)]. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars); #p<0.05, compared to LPS.

4.4 DISCUSSION

The presence of an intrauterine infection is thought to be an important cause of preterm labour in many cases, which prematurely activates the inflammatory pathways normally initiated at term, resulting in the premature induction of labour (Goldenberg *et al.* 2000). Given this hypothesis, there is growing interest in examining whether anti-inflammatory treatments may be useful novel therapeutic agents to delay infection-induced preterm delivery and improve neonatal outcome. Therefore, the aims of the work in this chapter were to investigate whether the anti-inflammatory agents, epilipoxin, BML-111 and IL-10, could delay LPS-induced preterm labour and improve survival rates in our model of infection-induced preterm labour; and to examine whether epi-lipoxin could regulate LPS-induced inflammatory signalling in the utero-placental tissues.

Intrauterine LPS administration increased lipoxin receptor expression in the uteroplacental tissues

In humans, lipoxins have been shown to act via a specific G-protein coupled receptor, FPR2/ALX, which belongs to the formyl peptide receptor family (Ye et al. 2009). Expression of FPR2/ALX has been described in a variety of cells and tissues including monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, lymphocytes, microglial cells, fibroblasts, spleen, brain, lung and placenta (Migeotte et al. 2006). Whilst only three human formyl peptide receptors have been identified, the situation is more complex in the mouse, where to date, eight genes have been identified belonging to the mouse Fpr family (Gao et al. 1998, Ye et al. 2009). Two highly related mouse receptors, mFpr2 (encoded by the *Fpr2* gene) and mFpr3 (encoded by the *Fpr-rs2* gene), which have been reported to share high sequence homology with FPR2/ALX, have both been shown to be capable of binding lipoxin A₄ (Takano *et al.* 1997, Vaughn *et al.* 2002). Therefore, it is not clear whether both mFpr2 and mFpr3 are murine orthologs of the human lipoxin receptor, FPR2/ALX. The complexity of differentiating between mFpr2 and mFpr3 was highlighted in a recent study using Fpr2 knockout mice, where Dufton *et al.* originally believed they had generated an Fpr2 specific knockout mouse, only to later identify that both mFpr2 and mFpr3 were deleted (Dufton et al. 2010). Interestingly, this knockout study demonstrated that the anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions of lipoxin A₄ were severely attenuated providing further support that these receptors are

key lipoxin receptors in the mouse (Dufton *et al.* 2010). Similar to FPR2/ALX, expression of mFpr2 and mFpr3 have been reported in mouse leukocytes, spleen and lung tissue (Gao *et al.* 1998). The expression of both the human FPR2/ALX and mouse mFpr2 have been shown to be up-regulated by inflammatory cytokines and LPS (Gronert *et al.* 1998, Sodin-Semrl *et al.* 2000, Iribarren *et al.* 2003, Chen *et al.* 2007, Zheng *et al.* 2011, Mou *et al.* 2012).

In reproductive tissues, FPR2/ALX expression has been identified during the menstrual cycle in the endometrium and in first trimester decidua (Macdonald *et al.* 2011); and has also been reported in myometrial biopsies obtained from pregnant women at term, where FPR2/ALX expression was increased in myometrial samples obtained from women in labour, compared to non-labouring women (Maldonado-Perez *et al.* 2010); suggesting lipoxins may play an important role in regulating the inflammatory events surrounding the reproductive processes of menstruation and labour.

Therefore, given these data, we wanted to investigate whether lipoxin receptor expression was elevated in response to intrauterine LPS administration, to determine whether exogenous lipoxin administration may be a useful therapeutic option in the treatment of infection-induced preterm labour. In agreement with these previous studies demonstrating LPS can regulate *Fpr2* expression (Iribarren *et al.* 2003, Mou *et al.* 2012), qRT-PCR analysis on tissues harvested 6 hours post-surgery confirmed that intrauterine LPS administration increased the expression of *Fpr2* in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta, suggesting that either endogenous or exogenous lipoxins may play an important role in regulating the LPS-induced inflammatory response within the utero-placental tissues.

Unfortunately, due to the lack of availability of a suitable mFpr2 antibody, it was not possible to localise mFpr2 expression in the utero-placental tissues. Therefore, it is not clear whether this increased *Fpr2* expression is largely due to the LPS-induced infiltration of immune cells expressing Fpr2, or whether the utero-placental tissues themselves express mFpr2. Furthermore, only the expression of *Fpr2* was examined, as the majority of studies examining the role of lipoxin in animal models of inflammation-associated pathologies focus on *Fpr2*; however as both *Fpr2* and *Fpr3* encode for receptors which can respond to lipoxin in the mouse, further studies to examine *Fpr3* expression should be carried out. There is evidence that lipoxins can also interact with other receptors including the cysteinyl leukotriene receptors (CysLT) (Badr *et al.* 1989,

McMahon *et al.* 2000, Gronert *et al.* 2001) and nuclear aryl carbon receptor (AhR) (Schaldach *et al.* 1999, Machado *et al.* 2006, McBerry *et al.* 2012), which may also mediate their anti-inflammatory effects. Whether these receptors play a role in our model has not been examined.

Effect of epi-lipoxin pre-treatment on LPS-induced PTL and neonatal outcome

In recent years, the therapeutic potential of lipoxins to improve disease outcome has been demonstrated in animal models of a range of inflammation-associated pathologies, such as, asthma (Levy et al. 2002), ulcerative colitis (Gewirtz et al. 2002), ischemiareperfusion injury (Ye et al. 2010) and arthritis (Conte et al. 2010). This is the first study to investigate the potential of lipoxin as therapeutic agents in a model of infection-induced preterm labour. The role of lipoxins in regulating inflammatory events in the reproductive tissues, and in particular during labour, have been largely unexplored, however as discussed earlier, recent work from our laboratory demonstrated that pre-treatment with lipoxin A₄ was capable of down-regulating LPSinduced inflammatory gene expression in myometrial explants in vitro (Maldonado-Perez et al. 2010), showing lipoxins can regulate LPS-induced inflammatory signalling in the myometrium. Therefore, using our mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour, we wanted to investigate whether pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin could delay LPS-induced preterm labour and/or improve neonatal outcome. As lipoxins are relatively unstable and rapidly broken down by the actions of 15-HPGD (Serhan et al. 1995), we chose to use the more stable 15-epi-lipoxin A₄ in this study. Previous reports have found that epi-lipoxins are inactivated by 15-HPGD at a slower rate than native lipoxins (Serhan et al. 1995), therefore, they display a longer half-life in vivo. Furthermore, several studies have shown that epi-lipoxin A₄ is more potent than native lipoxin A₄ in preventing neutrophil adhesion (Serhan 1997) and regulating production of the chemokine, IL-8, in intestinal epithelial cells (Gewirtz *et al.* 1998), thus making 15-epi-lipoxin A_4 more useful in *in vivo* models examining the anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution potential of lipoxin administration.

In our model, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin, at the doses used in this study, did not delay LPS-induced preterm labour, or have any significant impact on the rate of LPSinduced preterm delivery. However, interestingly pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin at a dose of 125ng, prior to either intrauterine PBS or LPS administration did increase the proportion of live born pups. Although not a significant increase, the finding that epilipoxin pre-treatment increased the proportion of live born pups even in mice just receiving intrauterine PBS, compared to the vehicle control group was unexpected and suggests the surgery itself may be having a negative effect on pup survival, which can be reversed by epi-lipoxin. Unfortunately, it was not possible to compare the proportion of live born pups with that of a no surgery control group, as the uterus of mice in the latter group was not opened up. Hence the number of pups in each dam prior to delivery in the "no surgery control" group was unknown, therefore, it was not possible to calculate the proportion of live born pups in these mice.

Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration significantly increased the proportion of live born pups in mice delivering preterm following LPS treatment. The fact that the same effect was not observed when examining the proportion of live born pups in the cohort as a whole could either be due to a selective effect of lipoxins on mortality in preterm pups, or is likely due to the fact that 2 mice in the LPS treatment group went to term and delivered a high proportion of live born pups (time to delivery in these mice was 68.75 and 75.75 hours with 82% and 77% of their pups born live, respectively), therefore, increasing the mean proportion of live born pups in the mice receiving intrauterine LPS in this cohort. Therefore, analysis was carried out on mice delivering preterm to determine whether pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin had an effect on the proportion of live born pups delivered prematurely. These data suggest that administration of epi-lipoxin may be protecting the fetus in some way from the negative effects of LPS, because even when mice pre-treated with epi-lipoxin delivered early, they had a greater proportion of live born pups.

Previous studies have also demonstrated the ability of anti-inflammatory treatments, such as an anti-TLR-4 antibody (Li *et al.* 2010), an anti-TNF antibody (Holmgren *et al.* 2008), IL-10 (Robertson *et al.* 2006) and 15d-PGJ₂ (Pirianov *et al.* 2009), to improve pup survival rates in mouse models of infection-induced preterm labour; however, in each case, the incidence of LPS-induced preterm labour was also reduced, which was not observed with epi-lipoxin treatment. This difference may be related to the fact that unlike other anti-inflammatory treatments used previously, epi-lipoxin is also known to have important pro-resolution actions (Serhan *et al.* 2008), therefore, epi-lipoxin could be promoting the resolution of the inflammatory intrauterine environment to an extent which protects the fetus from the negative effects of being born prematurely

and/or the LPS treatment, but cannot halt the inflammatory cascade which results in preterm labour. How epi-lipoxin is acting to increase the proportion of live born pups in this model is not clear at present, but possible mechanisms will be discussed in the next section examining the effect of epi-lipoxin on the expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues.

In this study, all assessments of live born pups were made within the first 24 hours of delivery. Therefore, to examine further whether epi-lipoxin treatment ultimately improves long-term survival, pups could be examined at later time-points to confirm whether survival is improved, or whether epi-lipoxin merely delays LPS-induced fetal death.

Effect of epi-lipoxin on the LPS-induced inflammatory response in utero-placental tissues

Previous studies have reported that treatment with lipoxin, epi-lipoxin or their stable analogues can reduce the expression of inflammatory mediators, such as TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, IL-8 and MMPs, whilst increasing expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, both in models of inflammation *in vitro* and in animal models of inflammationassociated pathologies *in vivo* (Hachicha *et al.* 1999, Sodin-Semrl *et al.* 2000, Wu *et al.* 2008, Baker *et al.* 2009, Kure *et al.* 2009, Maldonado-Perez *et al.* 2010, Borgeson *et al.* 2011, Macdonald *et al.* 2011, Chen *et al.* 2013). The mechanisms underlying these antiinflammatory actions of lipoxins are thought to involve inhibition of NFκB signalling (Gewirtz *et al.* 2002, Wu *et al.* 2008, Kure *et al.* 2009, Wang *et al.* 2011); activation of PPAR-γ (Sobrado *et al.* 2009) and increased SOCS3 expression via STAT3 activation (Li *et al.* 2011).

Therefore, given the increased proportion of live born pups observed in mice pretreated with epi-lipoxin, we hypothesised that administration of epi-lipoxin in our model would alter LPS-induced inflammatory signalling within the utero-placental tissues and amniotic fluid, thus providing a mechanism by which epi-lipoxin may be acting.

However, in contrast to these previous studies, we found that treatment with epilipoxin, either prior to or at the same time as intrauterine LPS administration, did not significantly reduce the LPS-induced expression of $Tnf-\alpha$, $Il-1\beta$, Il-6, IL-10, Cxcl1, Cxcl2, *Cxcl5* or *Ccl2*, with the expression of these genes still found to be significantly elevated in mice treated with epi-lipoxin+LPS, when compared to the vehicle control group. Indeed, compared to vehicle, *ll-6* and *Cxcl1* in the fetal membranes were only upregulated in response to epi-lipoxin+LPS, and were not significantly increased by LPS treatment alone. Rather than suggesting epi-lipoxin is having a pro-inflammatory effect, these results more likely reflect the variable responses observed between animals, which are more apparent with smaller sample sizes. Whilst the results described in chapter 3 demonstrated a robust inflammatory response to intrauterine LPS, these data in this chapter highlight that when examining small numbers of animals in each group, the response can be variable, such that although LPS increased the expression of the majority of inflammatory genes examined, due to the variability between animals this was not always statistically significant. Furthermore, whilst the expression was not found to be significantly different to LPS alone, again suggesting this observed difference is likely due to a variable response to LPS between animals.

The reasons why epi-lipoxin administration in our model did not have similar antiinflammatory effects to those reported in other models are not clear. Comparisons with other inflammatory models is complicated by the fact that the nature of an inflammatory response, in terms of its timing, magnitude and the specific inflammatory mediators involved, can be altered depending on the site of inflammation (Bannenberg 2010); and this is the first study to investigate the potential of lipoxins to regulate LPSinduced inflammatory signalling in the utero-placental tissues in a mouse model of preterm labour. It is possible that differences in the doses and timing of epi-lipoxin administration may in part explain why we did not observe inhibitory effects on proinflammatory signals. However, the doses used here were within the wide range of doses shown to be effective in other animal models administering lipoxin (Levy *et al.* 2002, El Kebir *et al.* 2009, Kure *et al.* 2009, Conte *et al.* 2010, Borgeson *et al.* 2011, Zhou *et al.* 2011).

Lipoxins have been shown to have potent anti-inflammatory actions when administered both locally at the site of inflammation (Clish *et al.* 1999, Menezes-de-Lima *et al.* 2006, Conte *et al.* 2010) or systemically (Clish *et al.* 1999, El Kebir *et al.* 2009, Kure *et al.* 2009, Conte *et al.* 2010, Borgeson *et al.* 2011). In this study the route of administration of epi-lipoxin, either systemically via i.p. injection or directly into the uterus, did not appear to alter its anti-inflammatory actions. However, it is possible that alternative timings of lipoxin administration may have had a different effect. Pretreatment with lipoxins prior to the inflammatory insult is a common protocol in animal studies using lipoxins (Levy *et al.* 2002, Kure *et al.* 2009, Borgeson *et al.* 2011), but several studies also give repeated doses of lipoxin after the inflammatory insult as well (Conte *et al.* 2010, Levy *et al.* 2011). This may be particularly important to consider given that although more stable than the native lipoxin, 15-epi-lipoxin is still rapidly metabolised *in vivo* (Serhan *et al.* 1995), and many of the studies mentioned above actually use synthetic lipoxin or epi-lipoxin analogues, which are more resistant to metabolism. Additionally, given that increased *Fpr2* expression in the uteroplacental tissues is observed in mice 6 hours after LPS treatment, giving additional exogenous lipoxins at this later time point may have a greater impact on inflammatory signalling.

Having observed that epi-lipoxin treatment did not appear to alter inflammatory gene expression in the utero-placental tissues, we hypothesised that another potential mechanism which may explain the increased proportion of live born pups was that epi-lipoxin administration could be protecting the fetuses by either reducing the levels of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , or increasing the level of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, in the amniotic fluid. Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not reduce LPS-induced amniotic fluid TNF- α levels; however, although in chapter 3, TNF- α levels were significantly elevated in the amniotic fluid of mice receiving 20µg LPS, compared to mice receiving intrauterine PBS, the same result was not observed in the cohort of mice used for the epi-lipoxin studies, although TNF- α levels were still greater in mice receiving intrauterine LPS, the difference was not statistically significant when compared with mice receiving intrauterine PBS. In terms of amniotic fluid IL-10 levels, again there was no significant difference observed between any treatment groups, and no trend that treatment with epi-lipoxin was altering LPS-induced IL-10 production.

Interestingly, pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin, prior to either intrauterine PBS or LPS administration, induced increased expression of *Cox-2* in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta; and decreased expression of *15-Hpgd* in the uterus and placenta. As discussed in chapter 3, a change in the expression of these genes suggests increased prostaglandin synthesis and activity within the intrauterine tissues, which is commonly thought to be a pro-inflammatory event. However, there is now a large body of

evidence that suggests increased expression of COX-2, and subsequent prostaglandin production, as an important initial step in the resolution of inflammation. Studies in animal models have demonstrated anti-inflammatory roles for COX-2 and prostaglandins in the resolution of inflammation in the lung (Gilroy et al. 1999, Hodges et al. 2004, Fukunaga et al. 2005, Bonnans et al. 2006, Zheng et al. 2011) and colon (Reuter et al. 1996), where increased COX-2 expression and subsequently increased PGE₂, PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ production was associated with the resolution phase, and inhibition of COX-2 led to exacerbated inflammation. Therefore, COX-2 is proposed to play opposing roles in the different phases of an inflammatory response. During the early phase of acute inflammation, elevated COX-2 expression is thought to be proinflammatory, whilst during the latter phase of the inflammatory response COX-2 has important anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions (Gilroy et al. 1999). The concept that prostaglandins can have dual roles in an inflammatory response is not novel, previous studies have demonstrated that depending on their dose, site of action and route of administration, prostaglandins can have either pro- or anti-inflammatory effects (Rampart and Williams 1986, Pons et al. 1994).

Lipoxins are proposed to be involved in mediating the anti-inflammatory actions of COX-2 and prostaglandins during the resolution phase. Studies in human neutrophils demonstrated that PGE₂ and PGD₂ are involved in a process termed 'lipid mediator class switching', whereby they can stimulate lipoxin production by activating transcription of 15-lipoxygenase resulting in neutrophils switching from the production of pro-inflammatory leukotrienes, to synthesis of lipoxins (Levy et al. 2001). Furthermore, in models of acute lung injury, increased COX-2 expression was associated with increased LXA₄ production, which was blocked when animals were treated with COX-2 inhibitors, resulting in exacerbated inflammation and longer recovery times (Fukunaga et al. 2005, Scully et al. 2012). PGE₂ has been shown to directly increase expression of the lipoxin receptor in bronchial epithelial cells in vitro, thus promoting lipoxin signalling, and this was again shown to be COX-2 dependent (Bonnans *et al.* 2006). Interestingly a recent study by Zheng *et al*, described a biphasic role of lipoxin A₄ in regulating LPS-induced COX-2 expression in rat pulmonary fibroblasts (Zheng et al. 2011). Their work demonstrated that LPS treatment induced increased COX-2 expression at 6 hours, with a second increase observed after 24 hours, where maximal COX-2 levels were reached. Treatment with lipoxin A₄ inhibited the initial LPS-induced increase in COX-2 production at 6 hours, but dose-dependently

increased COX-2 expression and PGD₂ after 24 hours (Zheng *et al.* 2011); again highlighting the diverse role COX-2 plays in the progression of an inflammatory response and how it can be regulated by lipoxin. Similar to the mechanisms proposed to mediate the anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxins, both PGD₂ and its metabolite, 15d-PGJ₂ have been found to have anti-inflammatory actions via inhibition of NF κ B signalling and increased activation of PPAR- γ in immune cells (Ricote *et al.* 1998, Rossi *et al.* 2000, Ward *et al.* 2002); and in reproductive tissues both *in vitro* (Ackerman *et al.* 2005, Lindstrom and Bennett 2005, Lappas *et al.* 2006) and *in vivo* (Pirianov *et al.* 2009).

Therefore, it is possible that the epi-lipoxin-induced increase in both basal, and LPSinduced Cox-2 expression observed in our model is a sign of the initiation of the resolution of the inflammatory response. The decreased 15-Hpgd expression may be a mechanism to prolong lipoxin and prostaglandin action, since 15-HPGD is the main enzyme involved in the inactivation and breakdown of both lipoxins and prostaglandins. As observed in the studies discussed above, this may result in increased production of anti-inflammatory prostaglandins, such as PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂, which may act to resolve the inflammatory environment surrounding the fetus, thus leading to the observed increase in the proportion of live born pups. Support for this hypothesis comes from a recent study that demonstrated that administration of 15d-PGJ₂ was associated with increased pup survival in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour (Pirianov et al. 2009). However, to confirm whether this mechanism is involved in our model, further work would need to be carried out to investigate prostaglandin production within the utero-placental tissues and amniotic fluid. Given that evidence suggests biphasic roles of COX-2 and prostaglandins during an inflammatory response, analysis at multiple time points, particularly later than 6 hours, will be important in future work to fully understand the role of COX-2 and the prostaglandins in the intrauterine inflammatory response to LPS and how epi-lipoxin administration may affect their expression.

Interestingly (as discussed in chapter 3), at 6 hours, LPS treatment is associated with a neutrophil influx into the uterus, with no significant effect on macrophage numbers. Again this finding supports the idea that perhaps by looking at 6 hours, we are looking early in the inflammatory response, because typically in the initial acute stage, neutrophils are the predominant immune cell present, whereas during the resolution

phase, monocytes and macrophages are the predominant cell type (Serhan et al. 2007). These data again suggest that looking at later time points may be more useful in understanding lipoxin actions. To further investigate whether COX-2 is involved in mediating the effect of epi-lipoxin in improving the proportion of live born pups, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, such as meloxicam (Cella et al. 2010) or nimesulide (Westover *et al.* 2012), could be given at different time points following epi-lipoxin and LPS administration to determine if inhibiting the actions of COX-2 reversed the beneficial effects of epi-lipoxin pre-treatment. However, the outcome of such an experiment may be difficult to interpret, given that COX inhibitors have been independently associated with adverse effects on the fetus. COX-2 deficient mice have a high rate of neonatal death, which has been linked to a patent ductus arteriosis (Loftin et al. 2001). Furthermore, evidence from a sheep model of intra-amniotic infection suggests that prostaglandins may play an important role in promoting fetal lung development, as inhibition of COX-2 was associated with decreased surfactant protein expression in the fetal lung (Westover *et al.* 2012). Thus it would be difficult to separate out an effect of COX-2 inhibitors on epi-lipoxin action, from a direct effect of COX-2 inhibitors themselves.

Aside from only looking at one time point, another limitation of our study here is that we focussed on examining the anti-inflammatory effects of epi-lipoxin and did not investigate its pro-resolution effects. In terms of their pro-resolution actions, lipoxins have been reported to have contrasting effects on different immune cell populations, including: inhibition of neutrophil activation, adhesion and chemotaxis (Lee et al. 1989, Colgan et al. 1993, Papayianni et al. 1996, Filep et al. 2005); stimulation of neutrophil apoptosis (El Kebir et al. 2007); stimulation of monocyte adhesion and migration (Maddox and Serhan 1996, Maddox et al. 1997); inhibition of monocyte apoptosis (Simoes *et al.* 2010); and promoting the non-phlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages (Godson *et al.* 2000). Therefore, to further investigate the mechanisms by which epi-lipoxin may be acting, it would be important to examine whether epi-lipoxin administration in our model is associated with any of these inhibitory actions on neutrophils, or stimulation of monocytes and macrophages. Identification of the predominant immune cell population in mice treated with epilipoxin would help us to determine whether epi-lipoxin administration was indeed promoting resolution.

Additionally, to investigate whether the actions of epi-lipoxin in the utero-placental tissues are mediated by the lipoxin receptor, Fpr2, the experiments could be repeated using Fpr2 knockout mice (Dufton *et al.* 2010) or mice could be pre-treated with the specific lipoxin receptor antagonist butoxycarbonyl-Phe-Leu-Phe-Leu-Phe (Boc-2) (Menezes-de-Lima *et al.* 2006, Wang *et al.* 2011), to examine whether inhibiting Fpr2 signalling alters the effects of epi-lipoxin treatment in our model.

It should also be noted, that the doses of epi-lipoxin administered in the 6 hour analysis studies, were different to the original doses of lipoxin administered in the initial time to delivery experiments. The rationale behind increasing our doses of lipoxin was to maximise the potential anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxin. Similarly, when lipoxin was administered directly into the uterus, the doses were reduced as lower doses of lipoxin have been administered locally in other animal models, compared to the doses used for systemic administration (Clish *et al.* 1999, Conte *et al.* 2010). As stated earlier, all doses of epi-lipoxin administered in the course of this study were well within the range of doses which have been proved to be effective in other models (Levy *et al.* 2002, El Kebir *et al.* 2009, Kure *et al.* 2009, Conte *et al.* 2010, Borgeson *et al.* 2011, Zhou *et al.* 2011). Therefore, although the doses of lipoxin are not directly comparable between the different experiments, it is unlikely that this had a major impact on the results; however, it may be easier to elucidate the effects of lipoxin action if the same doses are used throughout future experiments.

Effect of BML-111 pre-treatment on LPS-induced PTL and neonatal outcome

As previously discussed, lipoxins are rapidly metabolised and have a short biological half-life *in vivo*, therefore, research has focused on developing stable synthetic lipoxin and epi-lipoxin analogues which are more resistant to metabolism (Serhan *et al.* 1995, Maddox *et al.* 1997). BML-111 (5(S),6(R),7-trihydroxymethyl heptanoate) is a commercially available truncated analogue of lipoxin A₄ which is an FPR2 agonist and has been shown to be as potent as lipoxin A₄ in inhibiting leukotriene-induced neutrophil migration *in vitro* (Lee *et al.* 1991) and has been found to have potent anti-inflammatory actions when administered *in vivo* in a number of animal models of inflammation-associated pathologies such as acute liver injury (Zhang *et al.* 2007), arthritis (Zhang *et al.* 2008, Conte *et al.* 2010), hepatocellular carcinoma (Chen *et al.*

2010, Hao *et al.* 2011), acute lung injury (Gong *et al.* 2012) and in a model of low-dose endotoxin induced pre-eclampsia (Lin *et al.* 2012). Therefore, we wanted to investigate whether administration of this stable lipoxin analogue in our model would delay LPS-induced preterm labour and improve the proportion of live born pups.

We found that pre-treatment with BML-111 prior to intrauterine PBS administration had no effect on the time to delivery compared to the vehicle control group. Pretreatment with BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration also did not significantly affect LPS-induced time to delivery, although the mean time to delivery in mice receiving 1mg/kg BML-111 prior to LPS was 14 hours later, compared to those mice receiving LPS alone, however this was not statistically significant. Interestingly, when examining the preterm delivery rates in the different treatment groups, we found that pre-treatment with 1mg/kg BML-111 significantly reduced the rate of preterm delivery from 86% to 55% (RR 0.64, 95% CI 0.41-0.98); thus although BMI-111 pretreatment was not associated with an overall reduction in the time to delivery, fewer mice in this group delivered preterm.

Similar to the effect of epi-lipoxin pre-treatment, we observed that mice pre-treated with the higher dose of BML-111, 10mg/kg, had an increased proportion of live born pups, compared with LPS treatment alone, but this was not found to be a significant increase. However, the reduction in the proportion of live born pups associated with LPS treatment, was no longer significantly different compared to the BML-111 control group in mice pre-treated with BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS, suggesting that BML-111 may be reducing the effects of LPS on pup death, however it is difficult to draw a firm conclusion from the current data. Similarly when examining the proportion of live born pups in mice delivery preterm, we found that pre-treatment with 10mg/kg BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration appeared to increase the proportion of live born pups to a level which was not significantly different to the BML-111 control group. However, again this was not significantly greater than the proportion of live born pups in the LPS alone group, so whilst this may support the hypothesis that BML-111 is attenuating the LPS-induced effects on pup mortality, the data is currently not conclusive.

Given that BML-111 has been found to have similar actions to lipoxins *in vivo* and *in vitro*, as discussed above, it is possible that any beneficial effect of BML-111 on the proportion of live born pups may be occurring via the same mechanisms hypothesised

above for epi-lipoxin. These results require confirmation in other studies, but they do suggest that, similar to epi-lipoxin, pre-treatment with BML-111 may be protecting the pups from the negative effects of being born prematurely; and additionally appears to reduce the rate of LPS-induced preterm delivery. To better understand how BML-111 may be acting, tissue collection and analysis at a fixed time-point would need to be performed. Support for the therapeutic potential of BML-111 in treating infection-induced preterm labour, comes from a rat model of low-dose LPS-induced pre-eclampsia (Lin *et al.* 2012), which demonstrated that BML-111 administration can attenuate another inflammation-associated pregnancy pathology, that of pre-eclampsia. Interestingly Lin *et al.* also used repeated BML-111 administration, therefore, again highlighting repeat administration of lipoxins as a possible alteration of the study design used here.

Effect of IL-10 pre-treatment on LPS-induced PTL and neonatal outcome

IL-10 is a classical anti-inflammatory cytokine that has been previously shown to play an important role in protecting mice from LPS-induced preterm labour (Robertson et al. 2006). Robertson et al demonstrated that IL-10 knockout mice required a ten-fold lower dose of LPS to induce 50% preterm fetal loss compared to wild-type animals; and LPS treatment induced significantly greater production of inflammatory cytokines in the serum, uterus, placenta and fetus in IL-10 knockout animals, compared to wild-type animals receiving LPS. Exogenous administration of recombinant IL-10 to both knockout and wild-type animals reduced the negative effects of LPS on fetal loss and reduced LPS-induced inflammatory signalling. Also previous work in a rat models of infection-induced preterm birth demonstrated that administration of exogenous IL-10 significantly delayed LPS-induced preterm delivery and improved pup survival rates (Terrone *et al.* 2001); and inhibited *E.Coli*-induced white matter damage in pup brains (Rodts-Palenik et al. 2004, Pang et al. 2005). Furthermore, evidence from a non-human primate model showed that IL-10 treatment attenuated IL-1\beta-induced uterine contractions and reduced leukocyte influx and inflammatory mediator production in the amniotic fluid (Sadowsky *et al.* 2003). Collectively, these studies suggest that IL-10 treatment could be a useful therapeutic option in the treatment of infection-induced preterm labour. Therefore, we wanted to investigate whether IL-10 administration in our model had similar effects in reducing time to delivery and improving pup survival.

In contrast to these previous studies, we did not observe any beneficial effect of pretreatment with IL-10 on LPS-induced preterm delivery or the proportion of live born pups. Similar to the results described above, administration of the higher dose of IL-10, 10µg, prior to intrauterine LPS treatment, did increase the proportion of live born pups to a level more similar to the $10\mu g$ IL-10 control group, compared to LPS treatment alone; however, the difference was not statistically significant. The reasons why IL-10 has not worked in our model, in comparison with previously published data, are unclear. However, we had problems with our vehicle control mice in the cohort of mice used in these experiments, where a higher than normal number of mice in this group delivered prematurely (45%), and we also observed increased variability in terms of the effectiveness of LPS to induce preterm labour as well, thus resulting in no treatment significantly affecting the preterm delivery rate in this cohort. The doses of recombinant IL-10 used were based on the dose used in the work by Robertson et al, where they demonstrated an effect of 2.5µg in the effects of LPS-induced preterm However, our model differs from theirs, in that they administer LPS labour. systemically, via i.p. injection; and also use a different type of LPS, which could explain some of the differences we have observed. Another possibility is that perhaps higher doses of IL-10 are required to attenuate LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model. Although there appears to be no effect on time to delivery, there is a trend towards an increased proportion of live born pups in mice pre-treated with 10µg IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS, so it would be interesting to test whether increasing the does of IL-10 may further increase the proportion of live born pups. The 2.5µg dose was chosen based on the work by Robertson *et al* (Robertson *et al.* 2006), and the 10µg dose was chosen based a model demonstrating it as a suitable dose to protect mice from endotoxin-induced death (Howard et al. 1993), where they used the same strain of LPS as we have used in our study.

Although no significant effects of IL-10 treatment were observed in our study, IL-10 warrants further investigation as a potential therapeutic agent in the treatment of preterm labour as it appears capable of reducing the negative affects of LPS on pup mortality. The experiments would need to be repeated in another cohort of mice, perhaps using a new batch of LPS and examining a higher dose of IL-10 pre-treatment.

Summary

This chapter has investigated and discussed the potential of three anti-inflammatory agents to delay LPS-induced preterm delivery and improve pup survival in a mouse model of preterm labour. This is the first study to investigate the potential of the dual acting anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution mediators, lipoxins, and their stable analogue, BML-111 in a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour. Interestingly although pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin prior to intrauterine LPS administration did not delay LPS-induced preterm labour, the mice that delivered prematurely had a significantly increased proportion of live born pups, compared with mice receiving LPS alone; suggesting that epi-lipoxin is in some way protecting the fetuses from the negative effects of preterm birth and/or LPS treatment. The mechanisms by which epi-lipoxin may be acting to improve pup survival in our model are not currently clear, as we only investigated one (early) time point after lipoxin administration, but since epi-lipoxin increases expression of *Cox-2*, which is known to be important in initiation the resolution phase of an inflammatory response, we propose that it may involve increased production of anti-inflammatory prostaglandins, such as PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂, which may attenuate LPS-induced inflammatory signalling. Similarly, the data presented here suggest that BML-111 may be another potentially useful anti-inflammatory therapeutic option, given that we observed a reduction in the preterm delivery rate of mice pre-treated with BML-111 compared to mice receiving LPS alone, and again we saw a trend for a greater proportion of live pups being born to mice pre-treated with BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS, compared to mice receiving LPS alone. Finally, in our model, pre-treatment with IL-10 was not found to significantly attenuate LPS-induced preterm delivery or significantly improve the proportion of live born pups, however there was a similar trend as observed with both epi-lipoxin and BML-111, whereby a greater proportion of live pups were born to mice pre-treated with IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS. Therefore, taken together, these data suggest that anti-inflammatory agents, in particular lipoxins, may be useful novel therapeutic options in the treatment of preterm labour, which may protect the fetus from the adverse effects of infection-induced preterm birth, thus improving neonatal outcome.

Chapter 5 - Investigating the role of immune cells in a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour
5.1 INTRODUCTION

Parturition, both at term and preterm, is associated with an immune cell influx, particularly of neutrophils and macrophages, into the intrauterine tissues (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Osman *et al.* 2003, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010). In women, macrophages have been reported to influx into the myometrium, fetal membranes, decidua, placenta and cervix during spontaneous term labour (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Osman *et al.* 2003, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010), and also into the decidua during preterm labour (Hamilton *et al.* 2012). Neutrophils are proposed to play an important role in stimulating cervical ripening in women (Bokström *et al.* 1997) and have been shown to infiltrate into both the myometrium and cervix in association with normal term labour (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Osman *et al.* 2003). Interestingly, Hamilton *et al.* recently reported that neutrophil numbers were increased in the decidua of women in infection-associated preterm labour, when compared with women in either idiopathic preterm or normal term labour (Hamilton *et al.* 2012).

What role these immune cells play in the induction of labour, either in the presence of an intrauterine infection or normally at term is unclear; however, previous work has shown that infiltrating leukocytes are a major source of inflammatory mediator production, including IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-8, IL-6 and MMP-9 in the utero-placental tissues during labour (Roh *et al.* 2000, Helmig *et al.* 2002, Young *et al.* 2002), suggesting that immune cells are likely to contribute to the inflammatory response surrounding parturition.

Therefore, using antibody-mediated immune cell depletion in our mouse model of LPSinduced preterm labour, the work described in this chapter aimed to investigate the role of neutrophils and macrophages in infection-induced preterm labour. Specifically, this work aimed to investigate whether neutrophils or macrophages were required for the induction of preterm labour in response to intrauterine LPS; and to examine whether these immune cell populations contributed to the LPS-induced inflammatory response observed in the utero-placental tissues.

5.2 METHODS

5.2.1 Mouse model of PTL

To investigate the role of specific immune cell populations in LPS-induced preterm labour, antibody-based depletion strategies were used to deplete either neutrophils or macrophages and to examine the effect of such depletion on LPS-induced preterm labour and the inflammatory response within the utero-placental tissues. Neutrophils were depleted using two different antibodies, either anti-Gr-1 or anti-Ly-6G, and macrophages were depleted using anti-F4/80.

5.2.1.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments

On D16 of gestation, mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either a rat antimouse anti-Gr-1 antibody (clone RB6-8C5; n=5) or a rat IgG2b isotype control antibody n=5), at a dose of 250 μ g in a volume of 500 μ l. The following day, mice underwent surgery as detailed in section 2.1 and received an intrauterine injection of 20 μ g LPS.

5.2.1.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments

On D16 of gestation, mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either a rat antimouse anti-Ly-6G antibody (clone 1A8; n=8) or a rat IgG2a isotype control antibody (n=8), at a dose of 500 μ g in a volume of 500 μ l. The following day, mice underwent surgery as detailed in section 2.1 and received an intrauterine injection of 20 μ g LPS.

5.2.1.3 Anti-F4/80 experiments

On D17 of gestation, mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either rat antimouse anti-F4/80 antibody (n=6) or a rat IgG2a isotype control antibody (n=5), at a dose of 300 μ g in a volume of 600 μ l. After 4 hours mice underwent surgery as detailed in section 2.1 and received an intrauterine injection of 20 μ g LPS.

In each experiment, time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups were recorded following surgery, as detailed in sections 2.1.1. and 2.1.2

5.2.2 Tissue collection

In separate cohorts of mice, utero-placental tissues and maternal blood were collected 6 hours post-surgery, as detailed in section 2.1.3, for confirmation of immune cell depletion and analysis of the inflammatory response following neutrophil or macrophage depletion. Some mice delivered before the 6 hour collection time point, therefore it was not possible to collect utero-placental tissues from these mice, but maternal blood, spleen, liver, lung and cervix were still collected to confirm depletion in these mice.

5.2.2.1 Anti-Gr-1 experiments

Utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or anti-Gr-1+LPS (n=5) for qRT-PCR analysis and immunohistochemistry. Maternal blood was also collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=6) or anti-Gr-1+LPS (n=7) for flow cytometric and ELISA analysis.

5.2.2.2 Anti-Ly-6G experiments

Maternal blood and utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or anti-Ly-6G+LPS (n=5) for analysis.

5.2.2.3 Anti-F4/80 experiments

Utero-placental tissues were collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or anti-F4/80+LPS (n=6). Maternal blood, spleen, liver, lung and cervix were also collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or anti-F4/80+LPS (n=7) for analysis.

5.2.3 Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was used to confirm neutrophil depletion following anti-Gr-1 and anti-Ly-6G treatment, as detailed in section 2.7. Maternal blood was collected 6 hours postsurgery and stained with anti-CD45 and anti-Ly-6G to identify circulating neutrophils.

5.2.4 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was used to localise neutrophils in the uterus, and macrophages in the uterus, cervix, spleen, liver and lung to examine whether administration of the immune-cell specific antibodies resulted in depletion of tissue-resident immune cells. To confirm depletion following anti-Gr-1 treatment, neutrophils were localised with anti-Gr-1 in the uterus of mice treated with either IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or anti-Gr-1+LPS (n=5). To confirm depletion following anti-Ly-6G treatment, neutrophils were localised with anti-Gr-1+LPS (n=7) or anti-Ly-6G in the uterus of mice treated with either IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or anti-Ly-6G+LPS (n=5). Macrophages were localised using anti-F4/80 in uterine tissue, spleen, liver, lung and cervix harvested from mice treated with IgG+LPS (n=4) or anti-F4/80+LPS (n=6). Staining protocols are detailed in section 2.5.2.

5.2.5 qRT-PCR

The mRNA expression of several inflammatory genes was examined using qRT-PCR as described in section 2.3. Expression of the following genes was quantified in the uterus, fetal membranes and placenta of mice 6 hours post-surgery: $Tnf-\alpha$, $Il-1\beta$, Il-6, Il-10, Cox-2, Cxcl1, Cxcl2, Cxcl5 and Ccl2.

As described in section 2.3.3, expression of the gene of interest was normalised to β *actin* as the endogenous control gene in each sample and all samples were then compared relative to a calibrator tissue, which was untreated D18 uterus.

5.2.6 ELISA

The concentration of TNF- α in maternal serum following treatment with either the IgG control antibodies+LPS or the immune cell specific antibodies+LPS was determined by ELISA. Details of the TNF- α ELISA kit are given in section 2.4.

5.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data are presented as mean ± SEM. Where data were not normally distributed, they were transformed prior to analysis. Time to delivery data were log transformed before

analysis, and the proportion of live pups born was arc-sin transformed prior to analysis. Normally distributed data were then analysed by unpaired t-tests between the IgG control group and the group treated with the immune cell-specific antibody. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.3 RESULTS

5.3.1 Administration of anti-Gr-1 to deplete neutrophils on day 16 of gestation

To investigate whether neutrophils were involved in LPS-induced preterm labour and/or the LPS-induced inflammatory response in the utero-placental tissues in our model, neutrophils were depleted prior to intrauterine LPS administration using an antibody-based depletion strategy. The anti-Gr-1 antibody (RB6-8C5 clone) is commonly used to deplete neutrophils in *in vivo* mouse models (Kaitu'u-Lino *et al.* 2007, Tate *et al.* 2008, Gong and Koh 2010). In our model, mice received an intraperitoneal injection with either anti-Gr-1 or an IgG control antibody on D16 of gestation, followed on D17 of gestation with intrauterine LPS administration to both groups.

To confirm that administration of the anti-Gr-1 antibody successfully depleted neutrophils in our model, circulating neutrophil numbers were assessed using flow cytometry and LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment to the uterus was examined using immunohistochemistry.

5.3.1.1 Depletion of circulating neutrophils

Blood samples were collected 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS administration and stained with anti-CD45 and anti-Ly-6G to assess the number of circulating neutrophils. Representative flow cytometry plots from two control mice that received the IgG control antibody and two mice that received anti-Gr-1 are shown in Figure 5.1. The flow cytometry plots confirmed that blood harvested from mice receiving the IgG control antibody contained a high percentage of circulating neutrophils (Figure 5.1A and Figure 5.1B), while blood harvested from mice treated with anti-Gr-1 had a very low percentage of circulating neutrophils (Figure 5.1C and Figure 5.1D). Additionally, quantification of the neutrophils confirmed that administration of anti-Gr-1 antibody significantly reduced the number of circulating neutrophils compared to the IgG control group (mean number of neutrophils/ml of blood in IgG control group: $3.67 \times 10^6 \pm SEM$ 0.21 vs. mean number of neutrophils/ml of blood in anti-Gr-1 group: $0.0063 \times 10^6 \pm SEM$ 0.0018, p<0.001; Figure 5.1E).



Figure 5.1- Effect of anti-Gr-1 administration on circulating blood neutrophils. Flow cytometric analysis of maternal blood collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either anti-Gr-1 antibody (n=7) or an IgG control antibody (n=6) prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Cells were gated based on expression of CD45 and Ly-6G. Representative flow plots from two mice treated with the IgG control antibody (A) and (B); and from 2 mice treated with the anti-Gr-1 antibody (C) and (D). The number given beside each gated region indicates the percentage of neutrophils counted out of the total number of live cells. (E) The number of neutrophils per ml of blood. Data presented as mean \pm SEM; ***p<0.001.

5.3.1.2 Effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr-1 on LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment to the uterus

To confirm that depletion of neutrophils using anti-Gr-1 also blocked the LPS-induced recruitment of neutrophils into the uterus, uterine tissues was harvested on D17 of gestation 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS administration from mice that received an intra-peritoneal injection of either an IgG control antibody, or anti-Gr-1 on D16 of gestation. Immunohistochemistry using the anti-Gr-1 antibody was then performed on the fixed uterine tissue to localise Gr-1 positive cells within the uterus.

In mice treated with the IgG control antibody, intrauterine LPS treatment induced an influx of Gr-1 positive cells into the myometrial tissue (Figure 5.2A), and the decidua of these mice (Figure 5.2B). In contrast, no Gr-1 positive neutrophils were localised in uterine tissue harvested from mice treated with anti-Gr-1 prior to intrauterine LPS administration, with both the myometrium (Figure 5.2C) and the decidua (Figure 5.2D) clear of positive staining cells. Also, no positive staining was observed in negative control sections of myometrium, which were not treated with the anti-Gr-1 antibody, thus confirming specificity of the staining observed (Figure 5.2E) and decidua (Figure 5.2F).



Figure 5.2 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on neutrophil localisation in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-LPS treatment from mice treated with either anti-Gr-1 (n=5) or the IgG control antibody (n=5). Representative images of neutrophil localisation by immunohistochemical staining for Gr-1. Gr-1 positive cells were localised to the myometrium **(A)** and decidua **(B)** of mice treated with the IgG control antibody+LPS. No Gr-1 positive cells were present in mice treated with the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS **(C)** and **(D)**. No positive staining was observed in the negative control sections **(E)** and **(F)**. Scale bars show 50µm. All images taken with a x20 objective lens.

5.3.2 Effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr-1 on LPS-induced preterm labour

To investigate whether the observed LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment into the uterus of mice was required for the induction of LPS-induced preterm labour, on D16 of gestation mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either an IgG control antibody or anti-Gr-1, followed on D17 with an intrauterine injection of 20µg LPS. The effect of neutrophil depletion on LPS-induced preterm labour was monitored.

5.3.2.1 Time to delivery

There was no statistically significant difference in time to delivery between the two treatment groups. If anything, a trend towards earlier delivery in the anti-Gr-1+LPS group (mean time to delivery in anti-Gr-1 group 8.95 hours \pm SEM 1.91; mean time to delivery in IgG control group: 33.3 hours \pm SEM 7.99; p=0.12; Figure 5.3A) was observed.

5.3.2.2 Proportion of live born pups

Similarly, mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS had a reduced proportion of live born pups compared to the IgG+LPS control group (no live pups were born to mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS, vs. mean proportion of live born pups in IgG+LPS group: $0.3 \pm$ SEM 0.13; Figure 5.3B); however this difference did not quite reach statistical significance (p=0.051).



Figure 5.3 – Effect of neutrophil depletion with anti-Gr-1 on LPS-induced preterm delivery and the proportion of live born pups. Time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups was monitored in mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5). (A) Time to delivery. **(B)** Proportion of live born pups. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.3 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues following neutrophil depletion with anti-Gr-1

To investigate whether neutrophil depletion using the anti-Gr-1 antibody affected LPSinduced inflammatory gene expression in the utero-placental tissues, treated mice were sacrificed 6 hours after intrauterine LPS injection. Utero-placental tissues were harvested and analysed by qRT-PCR to measure the expression of Tnf- α , Il- 1β , Il-6, Il-10, *Cox-2*, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2*, *Cxcl5* and *Ccl2*.

5.3.3.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

There was no difference in *Tnf*- α expression in the uterine tissue harvested from anti-Gr-1+LPS mice, when compared to the IgG control+LPS group (Figure 5.4A).

Expression of *Il-1* β was significantly reduced in mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS, compared to the IgG+LPS group (2.9-fold lower expression, p<0.01; Figure 5.4B).

Uterine expression of *ll-6* (Figure 5.4C), *ll-10* (Figure 5.4D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.4E) *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.5A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.5B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.5C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.5D) were also not significantly different when comparing the anti-Gr-1 treated mice with the IgG control mice.



Figure 5.4 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *Il-1* β expression. **(C)** *Il-6* expression **(D)** *Il-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01.



Figure 5.5 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.3.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

In the fetal membranes, there was no difference in the expression of $Tnf-\alpha$ (Figure 5.6A) or $Il-1\beta$ (Figure 5.6B) when comparing mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS and those treated with IgG+LPS.

Il-6 expression was significantly greater in the anti-Gr-1+LPS group compared to the IgG control+LPS (3.0-fold greater expression; p<0.05; Figure 5.6C).

Expression of *ll-10* was not altered by anti-Gr-1 treatment, compared to the IgG+LPS control group (Figure 5.6D).

Cox-2 expression was significantly up-regulated in mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS compared to the IgG control+LPS (2.1-fold greater expression; Figure 5.6E).

The expression of *Cxcl1, Cxcl2, Cxcl5* and *Ccl2* in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to anti-Gr-1+LPS compared to the IgG control+LPS group. Expression of *Cxcl1* was 3.7-fold greater (p<0.01; Figure 5.7A). *Cxcl2* expression was 3.2-fold higher in the anti-Gr-1 group compared to the IgG group (p<0.01; Figure 5.7B). Expression of *Cxcl5* was 3.6-fold greater in the anti-Gr-1 group (p<0.05; Figure 5.7C). *Ccl2* expression was 3.3-fold greater in the anti-Gr-1 treatment group compared to the IgG control group (p<0.05; Figure 5.7D).



Figure 5.6 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours postsurgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05.



Figure 5.7 - Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

5.3.3.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

There was no significant difference in *Tnf-* α expression in the placental tissue harvested from anti-Gr-1+LPS mice, when compared to the IgG control+LPS group (Figure Figure 5.8A).

Expression of *ll-1* β was significantly reduced in mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS, compared to the IgG+LPS group (1.7-fold lower expression, p<0.01; Figure 5.8B).

As was observed in the uterus, the expression of the remaining genes examined, *ll-6* (Figure 5.8C), *ll-10* (Figure 5.8D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.8E), *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.9A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.9B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.9C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.9D) was unaffected by anti-Gr-1 treatment prior to intrauterine LPS, compared to those mice receiving IgG.



Figure 5.8 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05.



Figure 5.9 - Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=5) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.4 Effect of anti-Gr-1 administration on LPS-induced serum TNF- $\!\alpha$ levels

As it has previously been reported that neutrophil depletion using the anti-Gr-1 antibody followed by LPS treatment resulted in elevated circulating TNF- α levels in a mouse model of endotoxaemia (Daley *et al.* 2008), we investigated whether a similar effect operated in our model. Blood was collected from mice 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS injection from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody or anti-Gr-1, and the serum concentration of TNF- α was measured by ELISA.

There was no statistically significant difference in the mean serum concentration of TNF- α in mice treated with anti-Gr-1+LPS compared to the IgG+LPS group (mean concentration anti-Gr-1 group: 47.6 pg/ml ± SEM 18.5 vs. IgG+LPS group: mean 28.5 pg/ml ± SEM 7.4; p=0.36; Figure 5.10).



Figure 5.10 – Effect of anti-Gr-1 treatment on serum TNF-\alpha levels. Maternal blood was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-Gr-1 antibody+LPS (n=7) and ELISA was used to quantify the serum concentration of TNF- α . Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.5 Administration of anti-Ly-6G to deplete neutrophils on day 16 of gestation

Whilst anti-Gr-1 is commonly used to deplete neutrophils in *in vivo* models, it is now understood that as this antibody recognises both Ly-6G and Ly-6C antigens (Fleming *et al.* 1993). Anti-Gr-1 therefore not only depletes neutrophils, but may also deplete other cells expressing Ly-6C, such as some subsets of monocytes, T cells and dendritic cells (Jutila *et al.* 1988, Hestdal *et al.* 1991, Kung *et al.* 1991, Shortman and Naik 2007, Daley *et al.* 2008). In order to further investigate the specific role of neutrophils in our model of infection-induced preterm labour, we repeated the depletion experiments using a specific anti-Ly-6G antibody (1A8 clone), which has been shown to successfully remove neutrophils without altering other immune cell populations *in vivo* (Daley *et al.* 2008, Tate *et al.* 2009, Wojtasiak *et al.* 2010, Shi *et al.* 2011). Mice received an intraperitoneal injection with either anti-Ly-6G or an IgG control antibody on D16 of gestation, followed on D17 of gestation with intrauterine LPS administration to both groups.

To confirm that administration of the anti-Ly-6G antibody successfully depleted neutrophils in our model, circulating neutrophil numbers were quantified using flow cytometry and LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment to the uterus was examined using immunohistochemistry.

5.3.5.1 Depletion of circulating neutrophils

Blood samples were collected 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS administration and stained with anti-CD45 and anti-Ly-6G to assess the number of circulating neutrophils. Representative flow cytometry plots from two control mice that received the IgG control antibody and two mice that received anti-Ly-6G are shown in Figure 5.11. Flow cytometry analysis confirmed that blood harvested from mice receiving IgG contained a high percentage of circulating neutrophils (Figure 5.11A and Figure 5.11B), while blood harvested from mice treated with anti-Ly-6G had a very low percentage of circulating neutrophils (Figure 5.11D). Additionally, quantification of the neutrophils present in the blood sample confirmed that administration of anti-Ly-6G significantly reduced the number of circulating neutrophils compared to the IgG control group (mean number of neutrophils/ml of blood in IgG control group: $2.95 \times 10^6 \pm SEM 0.35$ vs. mean number of neutrophils/ml of blood in anti-Ly-6G group: $0.04 \times 10^6 \pm SEM 0.02$, p<0.001; Figure 5.11E).



Figure 5.11 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G administration on circulating blood neutrophils. Flow cytometric analysis of maternal blood collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either anti-Ly-6G antibody (n=7) or an IgG control antibody (n=7) prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Cells were gated based on expression of CD45 and Ly-6G. Representative flow plots from two mice treated with the IgG control antibody (A) and **(B)**; and from 2 mice treated with the anti-Ly-6G antibody **(C)** and **(D)**. The number given beside each gated region indicates the percentage of neutrophils counted out of the total number of live cells. **(E)** The number of neutrophils per ml of blood. Data presented as mean ± SEM; ***p<0.001.

5.3.5.2 Effect of neutrophil depletion with anti-Ly-6G on LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment to the uterus

As in the anti-Gr-1 experiments, immunohistochemistry was performed on uterine tissue harvested 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS administration, from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody or anti-Ly-6G, to confirm that depletion of neutrophils using anti-Ly-6G also blocked the LPS-induced recruitment of neutrophils into the uterus. Neutrophils were localised using the anti-Ly-6G antibody.

In mice treated with the IgG control antibody intrauterine LPS treatment induced an influx of Ly-6G positive neutrophils into the myometrium (Figure 5.12A), and decidua of these mice (Figure 5.12B). In contrast, no Ly-6G positive neutrophils were localised in uterine tissue harvested from mice treated with anti-Ly-6G prior to intrauterine LPS administration, with both the myometrium (Figure 5.12C) and the decidua (Figure 5.12D) clear of positive staining cells. Also no positive staining was observed in negative control sections of myometrium (Figure 5.12E) and decidua (Figure 5.12F).



Figure 5.12 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on neutrophil localisation in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-LPS treatment from mice treated with either anti-Ly-6G (n=6) or the IgG control antibody (n=7). Representative images of neutrophil localisation by immunohistochemical staining for Ly-6G. Ly-6G positive cells were localised to the myometrium **(A)** and decidua **(B)** of mice treated with the IgG control antibody+LPS. No Ly-6G positive cells were present in mice treated with the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS **(C)** and **(D)**. No positive staining was observed in the negative control sections **(E)** and **(F)**. Scale bars show 50µm. All images taken with a x20 objective lens.

5.3.6 Effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Ly-6G on LPS-induced preterm labour

To further investigate the specific role neutrophils may play in infection-induced preterm labour we determined the effect of anti-Ly-6G on LPS-induced preterm delivery. On D16 of gestation mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either an IgG control antibody or anti-Ly-6G, followed on D17 with an intrauterine injection of 20µg LPS, and the effect of neutrophil depletion on LPS-induced preterm labour was monitored.

5.3.6.1 Time to delivery

There was no statistically significant difference when comparing the mean time to delivery between mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS and those treated with IgG+LPS, if anything there was a trend towards a reduced time to delivery in those mice treated with anti-Ly-6G (mean time to delivery in anti-Ly-6G group: 19.25 hours \pm SEM 9.35 vs. IgG group mean time to delivery: 33.47 hours \pm 9.58; p=0.14 Figure 5.13A).

5.3.6.2 Proportion of live born pups

As was observed with anti-Gr-1 treatment, mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS had a reduced proportion of live born pups compared to the IgG+LPS control group, (mean proportion of live born pups anti-Ly-6G group: $0.06 \pm SEM 0.05$ vs. mean proportion of live born pups IgG group: 0.29 ± 0.11 ; Figure 5.13B); however this difference was not found to be statistically significant.



Figure 5.13 - Effect of neutrophil depletion with anti-Ly-6G on LPS-induced preterm delivery and the proportion of live born pups. Time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups was monitored in mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=8) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=8). (A) Time to delivery. **(B)** Proportion of live born pups. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.7 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues following neutrophil depletion with anti-Ly-6G

To investigate whether neutrophil depletion using the anti-Ly-6G antibody also affected LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the utero-placental tissues, as observed with anti-Gr-1 treatment, mice were sacrificed 6 hours after intrauterine LPS injection and utero-placental tissues were harvested and analysed by qRT-PCR to measure the expression of *Tnf-* α , *ll-1* β , *ll-6*, *ll-10*, *Cox-2*, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2*, *Cxcl5* and *Ccl2*.

5.3.7.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

Expression of *Tnf*- α was significantly reduced in mice receiving treatment with anti-Ly-6G+LPS compared to the IgG+LPS control group (1.8-fold decrease, p<0.05; Figure 5.14A).

Similarly, uterine *ll-1* β expression was also significantly reduced in mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS compared to those treated with IgG+LPS, with a 5.5-fold decrease in *ll-1* β expression (p<0.001; Figure 5.14B).

There was no significant differences in the expression of *ll-6* (Figure 5.14C), *ll-10* (Figure 5.14D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.14E), *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.15A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.15B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.15C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.15D) in the uterus of mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS, compared to those treated with IgG+LPS.



Figure 5.14 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05, ***p<0.001.



Figure 5.15 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=7) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.7.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

Treatment with anti-Ly-6G+LPS did not significantly alter the expression of any of the inflammatory genes examined, with similar expression levels observed for *Tnf-* α (Figure 5.16A), *ll-1* β (Figure 5.16B), *ll-6* (Figure 5.16C), *ll-10* (Figure 5.16D) and *Cox-2* (Figure 5.16E), compared to the IgG+LPS control group.

Additionally, there were no significant differences in the expression of the chemokines *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.17A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.17B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.17C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.17D) when compared between anti-Ly-6G+LPS treatment and IgG control+LPS treatment.



Figure 5.16 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours postsurgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars).



Figure 5.17 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=7) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.7.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

Similar to the gene expression levels observed in the fetal membranes, there were no significant differences in the expression of Tnf- α (Figure 5.18A), ll- 1β (Figure 5.18B), ll-6 (Figure 5.18C), ll-10 (Figure 5.18D) or *Cox*-2 (Figure 5.18E) in the placental tissue of mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS, compared with IgG control+LPS.

The expression of *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.19A) and *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.19B) was also unaffected by anti-Ly-6G treatment. However, placental *Cxcl5* expression was significantly elevated in mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS, compared to the IgG+LPS control group (2.3-fold greater expression, p<0.05; Figure 5.19C). Expression of *Ccl2* was not significantly altered by anti-Ly-6G+LPS treatment, compared with the IgG+LPS group (Figure 5.19D).



Figure 5.18 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars).


Figure 5.19 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=7) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars); *p<0.05.

5.3.8 Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on LPS-induced serum TNF- α levels

As previously mentioned, neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr-1 followed by LPS treatment has been shown to result in elevated circulating TNF- α levels in a mouse model of endotoxaemia, however, depletion using anti-Ly-6G was not found to cause this increase in TNF- α levels (Daley *et al.* 2008). Therefore, we wanted to investigate whether anti-Ly-6G treatment altered circulating TNF- α levels in our model. As before, blood was collected from mice 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS injection from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody or anti-Ly-6G, and the serum concentration of TNF- α was measured by ELISA.

There was no difference in the serum concentration of TNF- α when samples obtained from mice treated with anti-Ly-6G+LPS were compared with mice receiving IgG+LPS (mean concentration anti-Ly-6G group: 19.4 pg/ml ± SEM 2.9 vs. mean concentration IgG group: 15.3 ± 1.6, p=0.23; Figure 5.20).



Figure 5.20 - Effect of anti-Ly-6G treatment on serum TNF-\alpha levels. Maternal blood was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-Ly-6G antibody+LPS (n=6) and ELISA was used to quantify the serum concentration of TNF- α . Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.9 Administration of anti-F4/80 to deplete macrophages on day 17 of gestation

To investigate whether macrophages were involved in LPS-induced preterm labour and/or the LPS-induced inflammatory response in the utero-placental tissues in our model, mice were treated with anti-F4/80 prior to intrauterine LPS administration to deplete macrophages. Different methods of macrophage depletion have been found to selectively deplete different tissue-resident macrophage populations in the spleen, liver and lung (Bedoret et al. 2009, Dhaliwal et al. 2012, Ferenbach et al. 2012). Therefore spleen, liver and lung tissues were collected to examine whether anti-F4/80 administration in our model affected the macrophage populations in these tissues. Cervix was also collected, as a previous study has reported that anti-F4/80 administration depleted cervical macrophages in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour (Gonzalez et al. 2011); and finally uterine tissue was also examined to determine if the resident uterine macrophage population was depleted following anti-F4/80 treatment. Mice received an intra-peritoneal injection of either anti-F4/80 or an IgG control antibody on D17 of gestation, followed 4 hours later with an intrauterine LPS injection. All tissues were harvested 6 hours post-LPS injection and fixed for immunohistochemical analysis. Macrophages were localised using the anti-F4/80 antibody.

Immunohistochemical analysis showed that anti-F4/80 treatment appeared to reduce the number of F4/80 positive cells in the spleen (Figure 5.21B), lung (Figure 5.21F) and cervix (Figure 5.21H), compared to the same tissues harvested from mice receiving the IgG control antibody (Figure 5.21A, Figure 5.21E and Figure 5.21G, respectively). The number of F4/80 positive cells appeared similar in liver tissue from mice treated with the IgG antibody, compared with mice treated with anti-F4/80 (Figure 5.21C and Figure 5.21D respectively).

Similarly, anti-F4/80 treatment did not result in an obvious reduction in the number of F4/80 positive cells with the myometrium (Figure 5.22C) or decidua (Figure 5.22D), when compared to F4/80 staining in uterine tissue harvested from mice treated with the IgG control antibody (Figure 5.22A and Figure 5.22B).



Figure 5.21 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on macrophage populations in the spleen, liver, lung and cervix. Spleen, liver, lung and cervical tissue were collected 6 hours post-LPS treatment from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody (n=6). Representative images of macrophage localisation by immunohistochemical staining for F4/80. Macrophages were localised to the spleen in mice treated with IgG+LPS (A) and reduced macrophage staining was seen in spleen from mice treated with anti-F4/80+LPS (B). F4/80 positive cells present in liver tissue from both IgG+LPS treated (C) and anti-F4/80+LPS treated mice (D). Macrophages were present in the lung of mice in the IgG+LPS group (E), but fewer positively stained cells were present in the lung tissue from anti-F4/80+LPS treated mice (F). Similarly, macrophages were found in the cervical stroma of mice in the IgG+LPS group (G), with reduced staining present in the cervix from mice treated with anti-F4/80 (H). Scale bars show 50µm. Images A-D were taken with a x10 objective lens, and images E-H were taken with a x20 objective lens.



Figure 5.22 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on macrophage localisation in the uterus. Uterine tissue was collected 6 hours post-LPS treatment from mice treated with either anti-F4/80 (n=6) or the IgG control antibody (n=4). Representative images of neutrophil localisation by immunohistochemical staining for F4/80. F4/80 positive cells were localised to the myometrium **(A)** and decidua **(B)** of mice treated with the IgG control antibody+LPS. Similarly, F4/80 postive macrophage were still present in the myometrium **(C)** and decidua **(D)** of mice treated with anti-F4/80+LPS. No positive staining was observed in the negative control sections **(E)** and **(F)**. Scale bars show 50µm. All images taken with a x20 objective lens.

5.3.10 Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced preterm labour

Administration of anti-F4/80 antibody prior to intravaginal LPS administration has previously been shown to prevent preterm delivery in a mouse model (Gonzalez *et al.* 2011). Therefore, to investigate whether anti-F4/80 affected LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model, on D17 of gestation mice received either an intra-peritoneal injection of the appropriate IgG control antibody or anti-F4/80, then 4 hours later underwent surgery and received an intrauterine injection of 20µg LPS and the effect of anti-F4/80 depletion on LPS-induced time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups was determined.

5.3.10.1 Time to delivery

Treatment with anti-F4/80 prior to intrauterine LPS administration had no effect on LPS-induced time to delivery, compared with mice treated with the IgG control antibody (mean time to delivery in anti-F4/80 group: 20.08 hours \pm SEM 2.23 vs. mean time to delivery in IgG group: 23.7 hours \pm SEM 6.25; Figure 5.23A).

5.3.10.2 Proportion of live born pups

Similarly, there was no significant difference in the proportion of live born pups when compared between the anti-F4/80 group and the IgG control group (mean proportion of live born pups in anti-F4/80 group: $0.18 \pm \text{SEM } 0.13$ vs. mean proportion of live born pups in IgG control group: 0.23 ± 0.25 ; Figure 5.23B).



Figure 5.23 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced preterm delivery and the proportion of live born pups. Time to delivery and the proportion of live born pups was monitored in mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=5) or the anti-F4/80+LPS (n=6). (A) Time to delivery. (B) Proportion of live born pups. Data are presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.11 LPS-induced expression of inflammatory mediators in the utero-placental tissues following treatment with anti-F4/80

To examine wheher anti-F4/80 treatment altered LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the utero-placental tissues, mice were sacrificed 6 hours after intrauterine LPS injection and utero-placental tissues were harvested and analysed by qRT-PCR to measure the expression of: *Tnf-* α , *ll-1* β , *ll-6*, *ll-10*, *Cox-2*, *Cxcl1*, *Cxcl2*, *Cxcl5* and *Ccl2*.

5.3.11.1 Inflammatory gene expression in the uterus

Uterine *Tnf*- α expression was significantly reduced in mice treated with anti-F4/80+LPS, compared with the IgG+LPS control group, with 1.9-fold lower expression (p<0.01; Figure 5.24A).

Expression of *ll-1* β (Figure 5.24B), *ll-6* (Figure 5.24C), *ll-10* (Figure 5.24D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.24E), *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.25A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.25B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.25C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.25D) was not significantly different when comparing uterine tissue collected from mice treated with anti-F4/80+LPS to the IgG+LPS group.



Figure 5.24 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars); **p<0.01.



Figure 5.25 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the uterus. Uterine tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression. (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.11.2 Inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes

Anti-F4/80 treatment had no significant effect on the LPS-induced mRNA expression levels of any of the inflammatory mediators examined in the fetal membranes, when compared with the IgG+LPS control group: *Tnf-* α (Figure 5.26A), *Il-1* β (Figure 5.26), *Il-6* (Figure 5.26C), *Il-10* (Figure 5.26D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.26E), *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.27A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.27B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.27C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.27D).



Figure 5.26 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours postsurgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars).



Figure 5.27 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the fetal membranes. Fetal membranes were harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Cxcl1* expression. **(B)** *Cxcl2* expression. **(C)** *Cxcl5* expression. **(D)** *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.11.3 Inflammatory gene expression in the placenta

As observed in the fetal membranes, treatment with anti-F4/80 had no significant effect on LPS-induced mRNA expression levels of any of the inflammatory mediators examined, when compared with the IgG+LPS control group: *Tnf-* α (Figure 5.28A), *Il-1* β (Figure 5.28B), *Il-6* (Figure 5.28C), *Il-10* (Figure 5.28D), *Cox-2* (Figure 5.28E), *Cxcl1* (Figure 5.29A), *Cxcl2* (Figure 5.29B), *Cxcl5* (Figure 5.29C) and *Ccl2* (Figure 5.29D).



Figure 5.28 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory gene expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory genes was assessed by qRT-PCR. **(A)** *Tnf-* α expression. **(B)** *ll-1* β expression. **(C)** *ll-6* expression **(D)** *ll-10* expression. **(E)** *Cox-2* expression. Data presented as mean fold change ± SEM (error bars).



Figure 5.29 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced inflammatory chemokine expression in the placenta. Placental tissue was harvested 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=4) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=6) and the expression of inflammatory chemokines was assessed by qRT-PCR. (A) *Cxcl1* expression. (B) *Cxcl2* expression. (C) *Cxcl5* expression. (D) *Ccl2* expression. Data presented as mean fold-change ± SEM (error bars).

5.3.12 Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on LPS-induced serum TNF- α levels

To examine whether anti-F4/80 treatment altered the LPS-induced systemic inflammatory response, serum TNF- α levels were measured 6 hours post-surgery. As before blood was collected from mice 6 hours post-intrauterine LPS injection from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody or anti-F4/80, and the serum concentration of TNF- α was measured by ELISA.

There was no statistically significant difference in the serum concentration of TNF- α in mice treated with anti-F4/80+LPS, compared to the IgG control+LPS (mean TNF- α concentration in anti-F4/80 group: 28.14 pg/ml ± SEM 6.64 vs. mean TNF- α concentration in IgG control group: 69.66 pg/ml ± SEM 27.24; p=0.13 Figure 5.30).



Figure 5.30 - Effect of anti-F4/80 treatment on serum TNF-\alpha levels. Maternal blood was collected 6 hours post-surgery from mice treated with either the IgG control antibody+LPS (n=7) or the anti-F4/80 antibody+LPS (n=7) and ELISA was used to quantify the serum concentration of TNF- α . Data presented as mean ± SEM (error bars).

5.4 DISCUSSION

Studies in women have demonstrated that labour, both at term and preterm, is associated with an immune cell influx into the utero-placental tissues, particularly of neutrophils and macrophages (Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003, Gomez-Lopez *et al.* 2010). Additionally, as described in chapter 3, we observed a massive neutrophil influx into the decidua of mice treated with intrauterine LPS within 6 hours of surgery, and we demonstrated that there is population of tissue-resident macrophages within the uterus, which we hypothesised might contribute to the LPS-induced inflammatory response. Therefore, the work in this chapter aimed to investigate the role of neutrophils and macrophages in both the induction of preterm labour in response to intrauterine LPS and the LPS-induced inflammatory response, using our mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour.

Antibody-mediated depletion strategies to study the role of specific immune cells in the inflammatory response

The administration of monoclonal antibodies *in vivo* to deplete specific cell types has been used for decades to investigate the role of immune cells in various disease models, including, acute lung injury (Tate et al. 2009, Dhaliwal et al. 2012), systemic infection (Daley et al. 2008, Shi et al. 2011) and carcinogenesis (Tazawa et al. 2003). Furthermore, therapeutic antibodies targeting specific immune cells are used clinically in the treatment of some types of cancer (Grillo-Lopez 2003) and autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (Edwards and Cambridge 2006); and have also been trialled as a therapeutic option for the treatment of allergic asthma (Leckie et al. 2000, Nair et al. 2009). The mechanisms underlying antibody-based depletion of immune cells have been most well studied in the field of cancer research, investigating the mechanism of action of B-cell depleting antibodies, and are thought to involve antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC). In ADCC, Fcy receptors on effector immune cells, such as NK cells, monocytes or macrophages, recognise and bind to the Fc region on the monoclonal antibody, which is bound to the target immune cell. The binding of the Fcy receptors to the Fc region of the antibody results in activation of the effector cell, which then releases cytotoxic granules resulting in apoptosis of the target immune cell (Boross and Leusen 2012). CDC involves the C1q protein complex binding to the Fc region of the antibody, which triggers the classical complement activation pathway resulting in cell destruction via formation of the membrane attack complex (Boross and Leusen 2012). The exact depletion mechanisms of the antibodies used in this chapter are not clear, but are thought to involve the mechanisms already discussed, with other potential mechanisms still being investigated (Abbitt *et al.* 2009).

The anti-Gr-1 antibody (clone RB6-8C5) has been widely used to deplete neutrophils in mouse models to investigate the role they play in the development of inflammatory pathologies (Kaitu'u-Lino *et al.* 2007, Tate *et al.* 2008, Gong and Koh 2010). This antibody recognises two antigens expressed on the surface of some immune cells, Ly-6G and Ly-6C (Fleming *et al.* 1993). Whilst Ly-6G expression is restricted to murine neutrophils, Ly-6C is also expressed on subpopulations of monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and T-cells (Jutila *et al.* 1988, Hestdal *et al.* 1991, Kung *et al.* 1991, Shortman and Naik 2007). Therefore administration of anti-Gr-1 can also result in the depletion of other immune cell populations (Han and Cutler 1997, Tvinnereim *et al.* 2004, Daley *et al.* 2008), making the specific role of neutrophils in the inflammatory response difficult to interpret. For this reason, many studies now focus on using an anti-Ly-6G specific monoclonal antibody (clone 1A8) to investigate the role of neutrophils, as this antibody has been shown to selectively deplete neutrophils whilst preserving other immune cell populations (Daley *et al.* 2008, Tate *et al.* 2009, Wojtasiak *et al.* 2010, Shi *et al.* 2011).

In our model, flow cytometric analysis confirmed that administration of either anti-Gr-1 or anti-Ly-6G on D16 of gestation successfully depleted circulating neutrophils. Additionally immunohistochemical studies demonstrated that both anti-Gr-1 and anti-Ly-6G treatment prior to intrauterine LPS administration blocked the LPS-induced neutrophil recruitment into the uterus, which was still observed in mice receiving the IgG control antibody, thus again confirming successful depletion of neutrophils. A limitation of our analysis is that we did not examine the effects of depletion with either antibody on other immune cell populations. Given the evidence discussed above regarding the ability of anti-Gr-1 treatment to deplete other immune cell populations, it would be important to fully characterise the effects on other immune cells in order to understand any response to anti-Gr-1 treatment in our model.

Macrophage depletion using the anti-F4/80 antibody has been utilised in a number of animal models (Tidball and Wehling-Henricks 2007, Bedoret *et al.* 2009, Thaxton *et al.*

2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011, Sun et al. 2013). F4/80 is a glycoprotein that is highly expressed on the cell surface of mature macrophages and is a commonly used marker to identify tissue-resident macrophages in the mouse (Austyn and Gordon 1981). Another method of macrophage depletion is systemic liposomal clodronate (sLC) administration, which when ingested by macrophages induces apoptosis (Van Rooijen and Sanders 1994, Bedoret et al. 2009, Dhaliwal et al. 2012, Ferenbach et al. 2012). Lastly, some have used diphtheria toxin administration to CD11b diphtheria toxin receptor transgenic mice (CD11b-DTR), which are genetically modified to express the human diphtheria toxin receptor from the CD11b promoter sequence. In this scenario, diphtheria toxin administration results in conditional ablation of monocytes and macrophages (Duffield et al. 2005, Stoneman et al. 2007, Dhaliwal et al. 2012, Ferenbach et al. 2012). In contrast to circulating neutrophils, which can be rapidly depleted from the blood in response to antibody treatment, the depletion of macrophages is complicated by the fact that macrophages are tissue-resident cells and these different methods of macrophage depletion have been reported to deplete some tissue-resident macrophage populations and not others. For example, a recent study by Dhaliwal et al. (Dhaliwal et al. 2012), investigating the role of monocytes in LPSinduced lung injury, reported that sLC administration depleted peripheral blood monocytes and macrophages resident in both the liver and spleen, whilst the lung alveolar macrophage population remained unchanged. The same study also investigated the CD11b-DTR mouse as a method of depletion and found that there was 90% depletion of peripheral blood monocytes, with reduced depletion in the spleen, and with this method macrophage populations in the liver and lung were unaffected (Dhaliwal et al. 2012). Similar findings have also been reported by others (Bedoret et al. 2009, Ferenbach et al. 2012), again highlighting the complexity of macrophage depletion models.

Immunohistochemical analysis of F4/80 positive cells in our model demonstrated that anti-F4/80 treatment appeared to reduce the number of F4/80 positive cells in the spleen, lung and cervix, although some macrophages were still present; while the macrophage population of the liver appeared unaffected. In the uterus, macrophages were still present in both the myometrium and decidua of mice treated with the anti-F4/80 antibody. As formal quantification of F4/80 positive cells was not carried out in these preliminary studies we cannot definitively exclude the possibility that anti-F4/80 treatment did result in a small reduction in macrophage numbers in the uterus.

Macrophage depletion using the anti-F4/80 antibody has been previously investigated during pregnancy, where anti-F4/80 treatment has been reported to deplete macrophages in the cervix (Gonzalez *et al.* 2011) and in the utero-placental tissues (Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2013). The reason why similar depletion of macrophages in the uterus was not observed in our study is not clear, but differences in the timing and duration of anti-F4/80 treatment may be important. In some of the previous studies, the anti-F4/80 antibody was administered twice during pregnancy (on D5 and D7; or D13 and D15), and depletion was examined two days later by flow cytometry (Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2013). In contrast, in our study anti-F4/80 was administered once on D17, and tissues were harvested the same day. Perhaps if repeated doses of anti-F4/80 had been given, or if the tissues had been examined at a later time-point, we may have observed significant depletion of macrophages.

Effect of immune cell depletion on LPS-induced preterm labour

As it has become increasingly clear that labour, both at term and preterm, is an inflammatory event that is associated with immune cell influx into the utero-placental tissues (Thomson *et al.* 1999), there has been growing interest in understanding the role these immune cells play in the induction of labour. For that reason, *in vivo* depletion studies have become a useful tool in this field of research. In recent years, studies have used antibody-based depletion methods to deplete various immune cell populations including: macrophages (Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Gonzalez *et al.* 2011, Sun *et al.* 2013), neutrophils (Timmons and Mahendroo 2006, Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2013) to investigate their role in normal and adverse pregnancy outcomes.

These previous studies found that neutrophil depletion in mice using the anti-Gr-1 antibody (RB6-8C5) had no effect on normal term labour (Timmons and Mahendroo 2006) or in models of CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (CpG ODN)-induced preterm labour, in IL-10 knockout (Thaxton *et al.* 2009) and NK cell-deficient non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice (Sun *et al.* 2013). CpG ODN are short DNA molecules that are abundant in the microbial genome which induce an inflammatory and immune response via TLR-9 activation (Thaxton *et al.* 2009). As we had observed a massive recruitment of neutrophils in to the decidua of mice treated with LPS, but not in mice treated with PBS,

we hypothesised that this neutrophil influx may play an important role in the initiation of LPS-induced preterm labour. Therefore, we sought to investigate this using two different antibodies. In line with these previous studies discussed, we chose to deplete neutrophils using the anti-Gr-1 antibody, however we also used the more specific anti-Ly-6G antibody to ensure any effects we observed were due to neutrophil depletion and not the depletion of other subpopulations of immune cells. This is the first study to examine the effect of neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr-1 in a model of LPS-induced preterm labour, and also the first study to use the specific anti-Ly-6G antibody to investigate the role of neutrophils in a model of preterm labour. In line with these previous studies which investigated the effect of depletion with anti-Gr-1 in other models of preterm labour, we found that neutrophil depletion with anti-Gr-1 did not delay LPS-induced preterm delivery, compared to the IgG+LPS control group. In fact, the anti-Gr-1 treated mice seemed to deliver somewhat earlier than the control group, although this was not statistically significant. Depletion of neutrophils using anti-Ly-6G also did not delay LPS-induced preterm delivery, and again the mean time to delivery was slightly lower in the depleted mice compared to the control group, however not to the same extent as observed with anti-Gr-1 treatment. These data suggest that neutrophils are not required for the induction of LPS-induced preterm labour in our model, and in fact may have a role in controlling the LPS-induced inflammatory response, given that the depleted mice delivered earlier. Further studies would be needed to confirm this hypothesis.

As discussed previously (in chapter 3), neutrophils are proposed to play an important role in the repair and re-modelling of the uterus during the post-partum period (Timmons *et al.* 2009, Shynlova *et al.* 2013, Shynlova *et al.* 2013), therefore it would be interesting to examine what effect the neutrophil depletion has during the post-partum period, and to investigate whether repeated administration of the antibodies to maintain neutrophil depletion may impact uterine remodelling and therefore potentially hinder subsequent pregnancies. Support for this hypothesis comes from evidence from a mouse model of menstruation that demonstrated that neutrophil depletion (using the anti-Gr-1 antibody) significantly delayed endometrial repair following menstruation (Kaitu'u-Lino *et al.* 2007).

The proportion of live born pups was also lower in neutrophil depleted mice (with either antibody), compared to the respective control groups, however again this was not statistically significant. This could suggest that neutrophils play a role in protecting

the fetus from the adverse effects of LPS treatment, but may also just reflect the shorter time to delivery observed in the neutrophil depleted groups (particularly in the anti-Gr-1+LPS group), resulting in preterm delivery early on D17, when the pups are unlikely to be developmentally competent to survive.

Previous studies investigating macrophage depletion in adverse pregnancy outcomes have proved more promising. Depletion of macrophages with anti-F4/80 has been shown to rescue CpG ODN-induced early pregnancy loss and preterm birth in IL-10 knockout (Thaxton et al. 2009) and NK cell-deficient NOD mice (Sun et al. 2013). Additionally, Gonzalez et al. demonstrated that macrophage depletion prevented LPSinduced preterm delivery in a mouse model (Gonzalez et al. 2011). However, in contrast we found that anti-F4/80 treatment prior to intrauterine LPS administration had no effect on LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model. This difference was unexpected, as we used the same dose and timing of anti-F4/80 administration as that used by Gonzalez *et al*, but the different routes of LPS administration used may explain it. Gonzalez et al. administered LPS intravaginally on D15 of gestation (Gonzalez et al. 2011), while our model is of intrauterine LPS administration on D17. It is therefore possible, that intravaginal LPS administration, which results in a more local cervical inflammatory response, is more macrophage-dependent, than the inflammatory response induced by intrauterine LPS administration. It should also be noted, as discussed above, that anti-F4/80 treatment did not appear to cause depletion of macrophages from the body of the uterus, although there did appear to be depletion from the cervix, as reported by Gonzalez et al. (Gonzalez et al. 2011). Even if there were a small number of macrophages depleted from the uterine tissue, due to the large tissue-resident population of macrophages, there was still a large number of cells that could still respond to LPS. Therefore, although these data presented here suggest macrophages are also not necessary for the induction of LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model, it is difficult to draw a firm conclusion at present, as anti-F4/80 treatment did not appear to deplete the local macrophage population within the uterine tissue. To investigate further the role of macrophages in our model of infection-induced preterm labour, the macrophage depletion protocol would need to be optimised, either by administering additional doses of anti-F4/80 or by trying an alternative method of macrophage depletion such as sLC administration or using the CD11b-DTR mouse, as described above.

Effect of immune cell depletion on the LPS-induced inflammatory response

Having observed that neither neutrophil nor macrophage depletion had a significant effect on LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model, we investigated whether either of these immune cell populations contributed to the LPS-induced inflammatory response observed in the utero-placental tissues and serum. The previous studies investigating immune cell depletion in preterm labour models have focussed more on the outcome of preterm labour, rather than examining the effect of immune cell depletion on the inflammatory signalling of the utero-placental tissues. Of the studies mentioned above, only two have examined inflammatory signalling in the utero-placental tissues following depletion, and these studies only examined TNF- α production; both studies showed that depletion with anti-Gr-1 had no effect on TNF- α in utero-placental tissue, whereas anti-F4/80 treatment reduced TNF- α production (Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2013). Therefore, we sought to examine the effect of immune cell depletion on a wider range of inflammatory markers in our model. Interestingly, depletion with the three different antibodies resulted in different inflammatory gene expression changes within the utero-placental tissues examined.

Depletion with the anti-Gr-1 antibody resulted in decreased *ll-1* β expression in the uterus and placenta, whilst the expression of several inflammatory mediators, including *ll-6, Cxcl1* and *Cxcl2* in the fetal membranes was significantly elevated in response to anti-Gr-1+LPS treatment, compared to the IgG+LPS control group. These results suggest that the Gr-1 positive depleted cells contribute to the observed LPS-induced increase in *ll-1* β expression in the uterus and placenta. In contrast, Gr-1 positive cells may play a role in inhibiting inflammatory signalling in the fetal membranes, as lack of Gr-1 positive cells induced increased expression of a number of inflammatory genes. Specific depletion of neutrophils using the anti-Ly-6G antibody resulted in fewer gene expression changes, with significantly reduced expression of *Tnf-* α and *ll-1* β in the uterus and increased *Cxcl5* expression in the placenta; no change was found in inflammatory gene expression in the fetal membranes following Ly-6G depletion.

The different responses observed to depletion using anti-Gr-1, compared to anti-Ly-6G again highlights that these two antibodies do not target the same immune cell population. It is possible that the large number of changes in inflammatory gene expression observed with anti-Gr-1, which are not apparent following anti-Ly-6G

treatment, are a result of depletion of the other subsets of immune cells expressing Ly-6C which are also depleted upon Gr-1 administration. Previous studies have also reported a more pro-inflammatory and more severe phenotype following Gr-1 administration, compared with Ly-6G administration, and it is proposed that the nonneutrophil Gr-1 positive cells may have an important inhibitory role in regulating inflammatory signalling (Daley et al. 2008, Wojtasiak et al. 2010). In line with these data suggesting anti-Gr-1 depletion results in a more pro-inflammatory response, in our model, anti-Gr-1 treatment resulted in a much shorter time to delivery compared to anti-Ly-6G treatment (mean time to delivery in anti-Gr-1+LPS group: 8.95 hours compared with mean time to delivery in anti-Ly-6G+LPS group: 19.25 hours) and induced a 2.5-fold (non-significant) increase in serum TNF- α levels, which was not observed following anti-Ly-6G treatment. Future work should focus on identifying the non-neutrophil Gr-1 positive cell populations that may play an important role in limiting the inflammatory response, as understanding more about how the infectioninduced inflammatory response is regulated in the utero-placental tissues may help in the identification of novel targets for the treatment of preterm labour.

As has been previously reported (Thaxton *et al.* 2009, Sun *et al.* 2013), treatment with anti-F4/80 resulted in reduced expression of *Tnf-* α in the uterus and a 2-fold (non-significant) reduction in serum TNF- α levels. As macrophages are the major source of TNF- α (Riches *et al.* 1996), these results suggest that although not obvious by immunohistochemical analysis, anti-F4/80 treatment may have resulted in some macrophage depletion in the uterus.

Therefore, whilst immune cell depletion in our model suggests that neutrophils and macrophages are not required for the induction of preterm delivery in response to intrauterine LPS, they do have a role in contributing to the LPS-induced inflammatory response within the utero-placental tissues.

Summary

This chapter has described the use of antibody-mediated depletion of neutrophils and macrophages to investigate their role in LPS-induced preterm labour. This is the first study to investigate the effect of neutrophil depletion in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labour, and furthermore, the first study to use the specific anti-Ly-6G antibody

to investigate the role of neutrophils. Flow cytometry and immunohistochemical analysis confirmed successful depletion of neutrophils in response to both anti-Gr-1 and anti-Ly-6G treatment, however neutrophil depletion did not have a significant effect on LPS-induced preterm delivery. Similarly, macrophage depletion using anti-F4/80 treatment also did not affect LPS-induced preterm delivery in our model. although how effective the anti-F4/80 treatment was in depleting macrophages in our model remains unclear. Although no effect on LPS-induced preterm delivery was observed, depletion of both neutrophils and macrophages altered the LPS-induced inflammatory response in the utero-placental tissues, suggesting that whilst these immune cells appear not to be required for LPS-induced preterm delivery, they do contribute to the inflammatory response of the utero-placental tissues in response to intrauterine LPS administration. Immune cell depletion is a useful tool to investigate the role different immune cell populations play in infection-induced preterm labour, however, these data highlight the importance of choosing the most appropriate depletion strategy to ensure efficient depletion in the target tissues, and specific depletion of the immune cell population of interest. Using alternative depletion strategies may prove more useful to investigate the role of macrophages in preterm labour, and this work highlights that future work investigating the role of neutrophils should be carried out using the specific anti-Ly-6G antibody, as different responses were observed when comparing depletion with anti-Gr-1 and anti-Ly-6G.

Chapter 6 - General discussion

6.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Preterm labour remains a major clinical problem worldwide, with limited effective treatment options available. Given that many cases of preterm labour occur in the presence of an intrauterine infection, extensive research is being carried out to understand how the presence of an intrauterine infection triggers preterm labour and to investigate potential novel therapeutic options to stop preterm delivery that will ultimately improve neonatal outcome. This thesis has investigated the role of infection and inflammation in a mouse model of infection-induced preterm labour, with specific aims to: characterise the inflammatory and immune response to a bacterial intrauterine infection; investigate the potential of anti-inflammatory agents to delay preterm delivery and improve neonatal outcome; and to examine the role of immune cells in the induction of infection-induced preterm labour and the local inflammatory response. The main findings of this work are summarised below:

- Intrauterine administration of LPS at a dose of $20\mu g$ on D17 of gestation successfully induced preterm labour in a mouse model.
- Intrauterine administration of LPS induced increased expression of several key pro-inflammatory mediators within the utero-placental tissues, amniotic fluid and serum; highlighting the presence of an intrauterine infection induces a robust inflammatory response, even in response to doses of LPS that did not induce preterm delivery.
- The increased inflammatory response induced by LPS treatment appears to be largely independent of the actions of progesterone, as systemic progesterone withdrawal was not observed.
- In response to intrauterine LPS administration there was an influx of neutrophils into the decidua within 6 hours of LPS treatment, whilst macrophage numbers remained stable. Surgery itself appeared to induce neutrophil recruitment to the myometrium, even in mice receiving only intrauterine PBS.
- Pre-treatment with epi-lipoxin did not delay LPS-induced preterm delivery, but mice that delivered prematurely who were treated with epi-lipoxin (and LPS)

had a significantly increased proportion of live born pups, compared with mice receiving LPS alone.

- Epi-lipoxin increased the expression of *Cox-2* within the utero-placental tissues, and down-regulated *15-Hpgd* expression, suggesting that lipoxin may be promoting the production of anti-inflammatory prostaglandins.
- Pre-treatment with BML-111 prior to intrauterine LPS administration significantly reduced the preterm delivery rate, but did not have a significant impact on the mean time to delivery or proportion of live born pups.
- Pre-treatment with IL-10 prior to intrauterine LPS administration had no significant effect on LPS-induced preterm delivery or the proportion of live born pups.
- Neutrophil depletion using either the anti-Gr-1 or anti-Ly-6G antibody did not attenuate LPS-induced preterm delivery. Similarly, treatment with the anti-F4/80 antibody to deplete macrophages also did not significantly affect LPSinduced preterm delivery
- Although immune cell depletion did not attenuate LPS-induced preterm delivery, the inflammatory response induced by intrauterine LPS administration was altered, suggesting that although not required for LPSinduced preterm delivery neutrophils and macrophages are important in contributing to the LPS-induced inflammatory response within the uteroplacental tissues.

6.2 MOUSE MODEL OF PRETERM LABOUR

Animal models have been used extensively in the field of parturition research to understand the basic mechanisms underlying the onset of spontaneous labour at term and to investigate potential novel therapeutic options for the treatment of preterm labour. As previously discussed, the pros and cons of using various animal models for parturition research have been extensively reviewed (Elovitz and Mrinalini 2004, Mitchell and Taggart 2009, Ratajczak *et al.* 2010). Whilst there are clear differences in the reproductive physiology and the mechanisms required to initiate parturition between animal models and humans, the limited number of samples that can be feasibly and ethically collected from a woman throughout pregnancy and the high degree of inter-patient variability, make animal models invaluable to this field of research. A variety of animal models have been used in preterm birth research, including sheep, rats, non-human primates and guinea pigs, however by far the most commonly used animal model is the mouse. Indeed using the mouse as a model for parturition research has many advantages, including: a short gestational period; ease of breeding; a relatively well characterised immune system; and the availability of genetically modified mice in which a single factor can be either knocked out or overexpressed to investigate the role it may play in parturition (Hirsch and Wang 2005). In particular, the work presented in this thesis, and in other papers has highlighted the similarities between the inflammatory responses to a bacterial intrauterine infection. Limitations of using a mouse model to study parturition include physiological differences between mouse and human pregnancy, such as their bicornuate uterus, multiple pregnancies and short gestational period (Hirsch and Wang 2005); and the main issue often raised is the dependency of systemic progesterone withdrawal for the initiation of parturition in this model. However, several recent studies have now demonstrated that in the context of infection-induced preterm labour, systemic progesterone withdrawal does not appear to be integral to the induction of labour (Hirsch and Muhle 2002, Murphy et al. 2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011); similar to the results we obtained in our study. Therefore, whilst there are clear limitations to the use of any animal model, the mouse continues to provide a useful in vivo model with which to investigate further the molecular mechanisms of parturition and to test novel treatment options for preterm labour.

The model used in this thesis, based on the model originally described by Elovitz *et al.* (Elovitz *et al.* 2003), is a useful model to study the role of a local intrauterine infection in the induction of preterm labour. However, there are clear limitations to this model that became apparent during our work. The invasive nature of the surgery, during which the entire uterus is externalised to receive an intrauterine injection, prior to being returned to the abdominal cavity, resulted in a high preterm delivery rate even in our PBS control group. Therefore, the variable response to surgery became a confounding factor in the model. Whilst a certain degree of variability between animals is to be expected, particularly when performing surgery on pregnant animals close to

delivery, we feel that reducing the invasiveness of the surgery involved is key to improving the reliability of the model for future studies. Additionally, such an approach is consistent with the "3Rs" (refinement, reduction and replacement) philosophy which should underpin all studies involving animals. To this end, we have carried out a preliminary experiment investigating the potential of using ultrasoundguided intrauterine injection of bacterial agents, thus avoiding the requirement for invasive surgery. Currently we have only trialled injecting methylene blue dye and an ultrasound contrast agent as a 'proof-of-principle' experiment to test whether it was still possible to give a direct intrauterine injection between two gestational sacs, without externalisation of the uterus. We found that using ultrasound as a guide, it was possible to still inject specifically into the uterus, without entering either of the amniotic sacs. A representative image of this pilot data is given in Figure 6.1; this highlights that the UV contrast agent injected is localised to the space between two gestational sacs. When the uterus was opened up it was clear that the methylene blue dye was localised to the intrauterine space and had not spread elsewhere, including in the intra-amniotic space. Whilst preliminary, the results are promising and suggest that using ultrasound-guided injection in this model could provide a novel method with which to introduce LPS into the uterus in future experiments, which would remove the confounding effect of invasive surgery and improve the reliability, reduce the variability and ultimately decrease the number of animals required for experiments. The next step will be to perform some further experiments with PBS and LPS, to examine whether we still get reliable induction of preterm labour in response to ultrasound-facilitated LPS treatment, and with a reduced incidence of preterm labour in ultrasound-facilitated PBS-treated mice.



Figure 6.1 - Image of ultrasound-guided intrauterine injection. Ultrasound contrast agent (white) can be seen localised to the uterine space between two gestational sacs, with none present within the gestational sacs.

6.3 ROLE OF IMMUNE CELLS IN PRETERM LABOUR

Whilst there is now considerable evidence that labour is an inflammatory event associated with increased production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and an influx of immune cells into the utero-placental tissues (Thomson *et al.* 1999, Sennstrom *et al.* 2000, Young *et al.* 2002, Osman *et al.* 2003), their precise role remains unclear. Work by Young *et al.* demonstrated that these infiltrating leukocytes produce inflammatory cytokines, thus contributing to the inflammatory environment (Young *et al.* 2002), however whether the infiltration of leukocytes is a key event in triggering the onset of parturition, or merely a consequence of the heightened inflammatory signalling remains to be elucidated.

To investigate the role that specific immune cell populations play in the induction of preterm labour, genetically modified mice that lack particular immune cell subsets, or antibody-based depletion of immune cells have been used. The results of these studies to date have been mixed. Although a number of studies have reported that depletion of some immune cell populations, including macrophages, NK cells and invariant NKT (iNKT) cells, attenuates infection-induced preterm delivery in mouse models (Murphy et al. 2009, Gonzalez et al. 2011, Li et al. 2012); the same result has not been observed in other studies examining the role of T and B lymphocytes and neutrophils (Bizargity et al. 2009, Thaxton et al. 2009). Similarly, the results presented in our study showed no benefit of depleting either neutrophils or macrophages prior to intrauterine LPS administration. Therefore, at present, it is unclear what role immune cells play in the onset of infection-induced preterm labour, as it appears that in some cases they are not required for the induction of parturition. The mixed success of these studies highlights the complex interactions of different immune cells and it is likely that different inflammatory stimuli will induce different immune cells to influx, thus making depletion of one single immune cell population difficult to interpret in each case.

Given that the primary role of immune cells is to defend the body against infectious diseases, depletion of immune cells could result in increased susceptibility to infectious stimuli, which may explain why the neutrophil-depleted mice in our study showed a trend for earlier delivery in response to intrauterine LPS administration, compared with the non-depleted mice. Interestingly, several other studies have reported that depletion of neutrophils actually results in increased susceptibility to infection and poorer outcomes in other models of infection-induced pathologies (Jarchum *et al.* 2012,

Ribes *et al.* 2013). Therefore, while the results from our study, alongside data from previously published work, suggest that the infiltrating immune cells contribute to the inflammatory response of the utero-placental tissues by producing inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, this response may be secondary to the protective role these cells may initially play in attempting to fight the infection.

Currently the precise role immune cells play in the onset of parturition, in particular in the context of an intrauterine infection remains poorly understood. Several studies suggest targeting some specific immune cell populations may be a novel therapeutic option, however these data come from mouse models, therefore further investigation into the relevance of these findings to women is required. Better characterisation of the immune cell populations that infiltrate the utero-placental tissues, both at term labour and in response to a pathological infection, and the factors they produce, will help us to understand the role these cells play in the process of parturition. There will clearly be differences in the role immune cells play in the presence of an intrauterine infection, compared to their role during spontaneous term labour, but improving our understanding of these roles will allow us to determine whether targeting immune cells and/or their products is likely to be a beneficial novel treatment option, and if so which specific immune cell populations should be targeted. The potential for immune cell depletion to heighten the inflammatory response to an intrauterine bacterial infection must also be carefully considered. Nevertheless, it is clear that continuing research into the role different immune cell populations play in the onset of term and preterm labour is required to elucidate the underlying mechanisms involved in the initiation of partition and to identify novel targets for the treatment of preterm labour.

6.4 NOVEL TREATMENT OPTIONS FOR PRETERM LABOUR: WILL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS BE THE ANSWER?

Despite considerable research, preterm birth remains the single biggest cause of neonatal mortality worldwide. The currently available treatment options are limited, and although some can be effective at delaying labour for a short period, there is little evidence that these treatments result in an improved outcome for the baby. Therefore, the search continues for novel, more effective treatment options. A poor understanding
of the underlying causes of preterm labour has hindered the development of novel treatments, as without fully understanding why labour is initiated prematurely it is impossible to prevent. However, the identification of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation as important causative factors in many cases has led researchers to investigate whether targeting inflammatory signalling pathways may be a useful new option.

Most current treatments focus on blocking the clinical signs of labour, i.e. myometrial contractions, when they are already underway. Given that it now seems clear that myometrial contractions, along with fetal membrane rupture and cervical ripening, are strongly driven by an inflammatory signalling cascade, there is growing interest in using anti-inflammatory treatments. This interest in anti-inflammatory agents is driven by the hypothesis that targeting this inflammatory cascade earlier, prior to the onset of contractions, may prove to be more effective, as it could halt the inflammatory cascade before it has progressed too far.

An important consideration in the search for novel treatment options for preterm labour is that the primary goal must be to improve neonatal outcome and not merely to stop preterm delivery. For example, in the context of intrauterine infection, premature delivery may remove the baby from a potentially harmful *in utero* environment, and delaying this delivery could in fact worsen the outcome for the baby. However, another potential advantage of using anti-inflammatory treatments is the hope that some antiinflammatory mediators that play important roles in driving the resolution of inflammation, such as lipoxins, may be able to resolve the inflammatory *in utero* environment, thus protecting the fetus from the adverse consequences associated with intrauterine infection and/or inflammation. Indeed, although the work presented here is still at an early stage, it is encouraging to note that treatment with epi-lipoxin did improve the survival of prematurely born pups in our mouse model.

Theoretically, the use of anti-inflammatory treatments during pregnancy could result in suppression of both maternal and fetal immune responses, which could result in increased susceptibility to infection. Whether this is a real concern would need further investigation, and could perhaps be limited by keeping the period of administration of the anti-inflammatory agent to a minimum. Another potential concern surrounding the use of anti-inflammatory drugs is that many of these pro-inflammatory factors have important roles outwith their role in the inflammatory cascade associated with labour,

for example NF- κ B is a transcription factor for a large number of genes, not just those involved in parturition, therefore blocking this signalling pathway may have deleterious effects which would need to be investigated. Additionally, as with any drugs given during pregnancy, extensive research would be required to investigate any adverse effects on the fetus.

As research leads to a greater understanding of the underlying mechanisms responsible for initiating the events surrounding the onset of parturition, more potential targets will be identified; however, given the considerable evidence that inflammation plays an integral role in the onset of parturition, it seems clear that antiinflammatory agents have the potential to be an exciting novel therapeutic option in the treatment of preterm birth. Although still at an early stage, there is now promising in vivo and in vitro data that demonstrate the potential of anti-inflammatory treatments. The possibility of a combination therapy approach may hold promise in the future, where agents such as lipoxin may prove beneficial as an adjuvant to classic tocolytic therapy or progesterone treatment. The heterogeneous nature of preterm labour means that it is both unlikely and unrealistic to believe that one treatment option will be effective in all women, and whether anti-inflammatory agents will ultimately improve neonatal outcome remains to be elucidated at present. However, while preterm birth remains the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide, claiming the lives of more than one million children each year, continued research into all potential novel treatment options is urgently required.

6.5 CONCLUSIONS

The work presented in this thesis has demonstrated that in response to intrauterine LPS, as a surrogate model of infection, a robust inflammatory and immune response is mounted in the utero-placental tissues, involving the increased production of a number of inflammatory mediators and neutrophil influx into the decidua, which ultimately results in preterm delivery. The role immune cells play in the induction of infection-induced preterm labour remains unclear, as depletion of neutrophils and macrophages was not found to attenuate LPS-induced preterm delivery. Although the anti-inflammatory agents investigated here did not delay LPS-induced preterm delivery,

epi-lipoxin treatment did significantly improve pup survival in pups born preterm, suggesting it could be useful in protecting the fetus from the adverse effects of infection-induced preterm labour. Using animal models, such as the one described here, are vital to improving our understanding of the underlying mechanisms involved in the induction of preterm labour and are useful models with which to investigate the potential of novel therapeutic interventions. Collectively, these data confirm that the presence of an intrauterine infection is associated with a robust inflammatory response in the intrauterine tissues and suggest that anti-inflammatory agents, such as lipoxins, warrant further research as potentially promising new treatment options for preterm labour.

REFERENCES

Abbitt, K. B., M. J. Cotter, V. C. Ridger, D. C. Crossman, P. G. Hellewell and K. E. Norman (2009). "Antibody ligation of murine Ly-6G induces neutropenia, blood flow cessation, and death via complement-dependent and independent mechanisms." J Leukoc Biol **85**(1): 55-63.

Abrahams, V. M., J. A. Potter, G. Bhat, M. R. Peltier, G. Saade and R. Menon (2013). "Bacterial modulation of human fetal membrane Toll-like receptor expression." <u>Am J</u> <u>Reprod Immunol</u> **69**(1): 33-40.

Ackerman, W. E. t., X. L. Zhang, B. H. Rovin and D. A. Kniss (2005). "Modulation of cytokine-induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression by PPARG ligands through NFkappaB signal disruption in human WISH and amnion cells." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **73**(3): 527-535.

Adams Waldorf, K. M., D. Persing, M. J. Novy, D. W. Sadowsky and M. G. Gravett (2008). "Pretreatment with toll-like receptor 4 antagonist inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm uterine contractility, cytokines, and prostaglandins in rhesus monkeys." <u>Reprod Sci **15**(2): 121-127</u>.

Agrawal, V. and E. Hirsch (2012). "Intrauterine infection and preterm labor." <u>Seminars</u> <u>in Fetal & Neonatal Medicine</u> **17**(1): 12-19.

Al-Ashy, R., I. Chakroun, M. E. El-Sabban and F. R. Homaidan (2006). "The role of NF-kappaB in mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 in intestinal epithelial cells." <u>Cytokine</u> **36**(1-2): 1-8.

Alexander, H. A., S. R. Sooranna, L. Myatt and M. R. Johnson (2012). "Myometrial tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptors increase with gestation and labor and modulate gene expression through mitogen-activated kinase and nuclear factor-kappaB." <u>Reprod Sci</u> **19**(1): 43-54.

Ali, T., S. Kaitha, S. Mahmood, A. Ftesi, J. Stone and M. S. Bronze (2013). "Clinical use of anti-TNF therapy and increased risk of infections." <u>Drug Healthc Patient Saf</u> **5**: 79-99.

Allport, V. C., D. Pieber, D. M. Slater, R. Newton, J. O. White and P. R. Bennett (2001).

"Human labour is associated with nuclear factor-kappaB activity which mediates cyclooxygenase-2 expression and is involved with the 'functional progesterone withdrawal'." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **7**(6): 581-586.

Amin, A. F., O. M. Shaaban and M. A. Bediawy (2008). "N-acetyl cysteine for treatment of recurrent unexplained pregnancy loss." <u>Reprod Biomed Online</u> **17**(5): 722-726.

Arechavaleta-Velasco, F., D. Ogando, S. Parry and F. Vadillo-Ortega (2002). "Production of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human amnion occurs through an autocrine and paracrine proinflammatory cytokine-dependent system." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **67**(6): 1952-1958.

Asadullah, K., W. Sterry and H. D. Volk (2003). "Interleukin-10 therapy--review of a new approach." <u>Pharmacol Rev</u> **55**(2): 241-269.

Atreya, I., R. Atreya and M. F. Neurath (2008). "NF-kappaB in inflammatory bowel disease." <u>J Intern Med</u> **263**(6): 591-596.

Austyn, J. M. and S. Gordon (1981). "F4/80, a monoclonal antibody directed specifically against the mouse macrophage." <u>European Journal of Immunology</u> **11**(10): 805-815.

Badr, K. F., D. K. DeBoer, M. Schwartzberg and C. N. Serhan (1989). "Lipoxin A4 antagonizes cellular and in vivo actions of leukotriene D4 in rat glomerular mesangial cells: evidence for competition at a common receptor." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **86**(9): 3438-3442.

Baker, N., S. J. O'Meara, M. Scannell, P. Maderna and C. Godson (2009). "Lipoxin A4: antiinflammatory and anti-angiogenic impact on endothelial cells." <u>J Immunol</u> **182**(6): 3819-3826. Bannenberg, G. L. (2010). "Therapeutic applicability of anti-inflammatory and proresolving polyunsaturated fatty acid-derived lipid mediators." <u>ScientificWorldJournal</u> **10**: 676-712.

Barata, H., M. Thompson, W. Zielinska, Y. S. Han, C. B. Mantilla, Y. S. Prakash, S. Feitoza, G. Sieck and E. N. Chini (2004). "The role of cyclic-ADP-ribose-signaling pathway in oxytocin-induced Ca2+ transients in human myometrium cells." <u>Endocrinology</u> **145**(2): 881-889.

Bedoret, D., H. Wallemacq, T. Marichal, C. Desmet, F. Quesada Calvo, E. Henry, R. Closset, B. Dewals, C. Thielen, P. Gustin, L. de Leval, N. Van Rooijen, A. Le Moine, A. Vanderplasschen, D. Cataldo, P. V. Drion, M. Moser, P. Lekeux and F. Bureau (2009). "Lung interstitial macrophages alter dendritic cell functions to prevent airway allergy in mice." J Clin Invest **119**(12): 3723-3738.

Beloosesky, R., D. A. Gayle and M. G. Ross (2006). "Maternal N-acetylcysteine suppresses fetal inflammatory cytokine responses to maternal lipopolysaccharide." <u>Am</u> <u>J Obstet Gynecol</u> **195**(4): 1053-1057.

Bennett, P. R., D. Slater, M. Sullivan, M. G. Elder and G. E. Moore (1993). "CHANGES IN AMNIOTIC ARACHIDONIC-ACID METABOLISM ASSOCIATED WITH INCREASED CYCLOOXYGENASE GENE-EXPRESSION." <u>British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology</u> **100**(11): 1037-1042.

Bennett, W. A., D. A. Terrone, B. K. Rinehart, S. Kassab, J. N. Martin, Jr. and J. P. Granger (2000). "Intrauterine endotoxin infusion in rat pregnancy induces preterm delivery and increases placental prostaglandin F2alpha metabolite levels." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **182**(6): 1496-1501.

Berry, E. B., J. A. Keelan, R. J. Helliwell, R. S. Gilmour and M. D. Mitchell (2005). "Nanomolar and micromolar effects of 15-deoxy-delta 12,14-prostaglandin J2 on amnion-derived WISH epithelial cells: differential roles of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors gamma and delta and nuclear factor kappa B." <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> **68**(1): 169-178.

Bevilacqua, M. P. (1993). "Endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecules." <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Immunol</u> **11**: 767-804.

Bizargity, P., R. Del Rio, M. Phillippe, C. Teuscher and E. A. Bonney (2009). "Resistance to lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm delivery mediated by regulatory T cell function in mice." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **80**(5): 874-881.

Black, R. A., C. T. Rauch, C. J. Kozlosky, J. J. Peschon, J. L. Slack, M. F. Wolfson, B. J. Castner, K. L. Stocking, P. Reddy, S. Srinivasan, N. Nelson, N. Boiani, K. A. Schooley, M. Gerhart, R. Davis, J. N. Fitzner, R. S. Johnson, R. J. Paxton, C. J. March and D. P. Cerretti (1997). "A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor-alpha from cells." Nature **385**(6618): 729-733.

Blencowe, H., S. Cousens, M. Z. Oestergaard, D. Chou, A. B. Moller, R. Narwal, A. Adler, C. Vera Garcia, S. Rohde, L. Say and J. E. Lawn (2012). "National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries: a systematic analysis and implications." <u>Lancet</u> **379**(9832): 2162-2172.

Bokström, H., M. Brännström, M. Alexandersson and A. Norström (1997). "Leukocyte subpopulations in the human uterine cervical stroma at early and term pregnancy." <u>Human Reproduction</u> **12**(3): 586-590.

Bollapragada, S., R. Youssef, F. Jordan, I. Greer, J. Norman and S. Nelson (2009). "Term labor is associated with a core inflammatory response in human fetal membranes, myometrium, and cervix." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **200**(1): 104 e101-111.

Bonnans, C., K. Fukunaga, M. A. Levy and B. D. Levy (2006). "Lipoxin A(4) regulates bronchial epithelial cell responses to acid injury." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **168**(4): 1064-1072.

Borgeson, E., N. G. Docherty, M. Murphy, K. Rodgers, A. Ryan, T. P. O'Sullivan, P. J. Guiry, R. Goldschmeding, D. F. Higgins and C. Godson (2011). "Lipoxin A(4) and benzo-lipoxin A(4) attenuate experimental renal fibrosis." <u>FASEB J</u> **25**(9): 2967-2979.

Boroditsky, R. S., F. I. Reyes, J. S. Winter and C. Faiman (1978). "Maternal serum estrogen and progesterone concentrations preceding normal labor." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **51**(6): 686-691.

Boross, P. and J. H. Leusen (2012). "Mechanisms of action of CD20 antibodies." <u>Am J</u> <u>Cancer Res</u> **2**(6): 676-690.

Box, S. A. and T. Pullar (1997). "Sulphasalazine in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis." <u>Br J Rheumatol</u> **36**(3): 382-386.

Briery, C. M., E. W. Veillon, C. K. Klauser, R. W. Martin, S. P. Chauhan, E. F. Magann and J. C. Morrison (2009). "Progesterone does not prevent preterm births in women with twins." <u>South Med J</u> **102**(9): 900-904.

Briery, C. M., E. W. Veillon, C. K. Klauser, R. W. Martin, E. F. Magann, S. P. Chauhan and J. C. Morrison (2011). "Women with preterm premature rupture of the membranes do not benefit from weekly progesterone." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **204**(1): 54 e51-55.

Brown, N. L., S. A. Alvi, M. G. Elder, P. R. Bennett and M. H. Sullivan (2000). "The regulation of prostaglandin output from term intact fetal membranes by antiinflammatory cytokines." <u>Immunology</u> **99**(1): 124-133.

Brown, N. L., D. M. Slater, S. A. Alvi, M. G. Elder, M. H. Sullivan and P. R. Bennett (1999). "Expression of 5-lipoxygenase and 5-lipoxygenase-activating protein in human fetal membranes throughout pregnancy and at term." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **5**(7): 668-674.

Buchwald, U. K., H. F. Geerdes-Fenge, J. Vockler, S. Ziege and H. Lode (1999). "Interleukin-10: effects on phagocytosis and adhesion molecule expression of granulocytes and monocytes in a comparison with prednisolone." <u>Eur J Med Res</u> **4**(3): 85-94.

Buhimschi, I., M. Ali, V. Jain, K. Chwalisz and R. E. Garfield (1996). "Differential regulation of nitric oxide in the rat uterus and cervix during pregnancy and labour." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **11**(8): 1755-1766.

Buhimschi, I. A., C. S. Buhimschi and C. P. Weiner (2003). "Protective effect of N-acetylcysteine against fetal death and preterm labor induced by maternal inflammation." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **188**(1): 203-208.

Burd, I., B. Balakrishnan and S. Kannan (2012). "Models of fetal brain injury, intrauterine inflammation, and preterm birth." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **67**(4): 287-294.

Burd, I., K. Breen, A. Friedman, J. Chai and M. A. Elovitz (2010). "Magnesium sulfate reduces inflammation-associated brain injury in fetal mice." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **202**(3): 292 e291-299.

Burd, I., A. Brown, J. M. Gonzalez, J. Chai and M. A. Elovitz (2011). "A mouse model of term chorioamnionitis: unraveling causes of adverse neurological outcomes." <u>Reprod</u> <u>Sci</u> **18**(9): 900-907.

Buruiana, F. E., I. Sola and P. Alonso-Coello (2010). "Recombinant human interleukin 10 for induction of remission in Crohn's disease." <u>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</u> **11**: CD005109.

Bystrom, J., I. Evans, J. Newson, M. Stables, I. Toor, N. van Rooijen, M. Crawford, P. Colville-Nash, S. Farrow and D. W. Gilroy (2008). "Resolution-phase macrophages possess a unique inflammatory phenotype that is controlled by cAMP." <u>Blood</u> **112**(10): 4117-4127.

Canavan, T. P. and H. N. Simhan (2007). "Innate immune function of the human decidual cell at the maternal-fetal interface." J Reprod Immunol **74**(1-2): 46-52.

Cella, M., M. G. Farina, A. P. Dominguez Rubio, G. Di Girolamo, M. L. Ribeiro and A. M. Franchi (2010). "Dual effect of nitric oxide on uterine prostaglandin synthesis in a murine model of preterm labour." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **161**(4): 844-855.

Chang, E. Y., J. Zhang, S. Sullivan, R. Newman and I. Singh (2011). "N-acetylcysteine attenuates the maternal and fetal proinflammatory response to intrauterine LPS injection in an animal model for preterm birth and brain injury." <u>J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u>.

Chatterjee, P., L. E. Weaver, K. M. Doersch, S. E. Kopriva, V. L. Chiasson, S. J. Allen, A. M. Narayanan, K. J. Young, K. A. Jones, T. J. Kuehl and B. M. Mitchell (2012). "Placental Toll-like receptor 3 and Toll-like receptor 7/8 activation contributes to preeclampsia in humans and mice." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(7): e41884.

Chen, K., P. Iribarren, J. Huang, L. Zhang, W. Gong, E. H. Cho, S. Lockett, N. M. Dunlop and J. M. Wang (2007). "Induction of the Formyl Peptide Receptor 2 in Microglia by IFN-γ and Synergy with CD40 Ligand." <u>The Journal of Immunology</u> **178**(3): 1759-1766.

Chen, Q. H., W. D. Zhou, D. M. Pu, Q. S. Huang, T. Li and Q. X. Chen (2010). "15-Epilipoxin A(4) inhibits the progression of endometriosis in a murine model." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **93**(5): 1440-1447.

Chen, Y., H. Hao, S. He, L. Cai, Y. Li, S. Hu, D. Ye, J. Hoidal, P. Wu and X. Chen (2010). "Lipoxin A4 and its analogue suppress the tumor growth of transplanted H22 in mice: the role of antiangiogenesis." <u>Mol Cancer Ther</u> **9**(8): 2164-2174.

Chen, Z., Z. Wu, C. Huang, Y. Zhao, Y. Zhou, X. Zhou, X. Lu, L. Mao and S. Li (2013). "Effect of lipoxin a4 on myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury following cardiac arrest in a rabbit model." <u>Inflammation</u> **36**(2): 468-475.

Chiang, N., M. Arita and C. N. Serhan (2005). "Anti-inflammatory circuitry: lipoxin, aspirin-triggered lipoxins and their receptor ALX." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty</u> <u>Acids</u> **73**(3-4): 163-177.

Choi, S. J., S. H. Jung, M. Eom, K. H. Han, I. B. Chung and S. K. Kim (2012). "Immunohistochemical distribution of toll-like receptor 4 in preterm human fetal membrane." <u>J Obstet Gynaecol Res</u> **38**(1): 108-112.

Choi, S. J., S. Oh, J. H. Kim and C. R. Roh (2007). "Changes of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappaB), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) in human myometrium before and during term labor." <u>Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol</u> **132**(2): 182-188.

Chwalisz, K., F. Fahrenholz, M. Hackenberg, R. Garfield and W. Elger (1991). "The progesterone antagonist onapristone increases the effectiveness of oxytocin to produce delivery without changing the myometrial oxytocin receptor concentrations." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **165**(6 Pt 1): 1760-1770.

Claria, J. and C. N. Serhan (1995). "Aspirin triggers previously undescribed bioactive eicosanoids by human endothelial cell-leukocyte interactions." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **92**(21): 9475-9479.

Clark, K., H. Ji, H. Feltovich, J. Janowski, C. Carroll and E. K. Chien (2006). "Mifepristoneinduced cervical ripening: structural, biomechanical, and molecular events." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **194**(5): 1391-1398.

Clish, C. B., J. A. O'Brien, K. Gronert, G. L. Stahl, N. A. Petasis and C. N. Serhan (1999). "Local and systemic delivery of a stable aspirin-triggered lipoxin prevents neutrophil recruitment in vivo." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(14): 8247-8252.

Colgan, S. P., C. N. Serhan, C. A. Parkos, C. Delp-Archer and J. L. Madara (1993). "Lipoxin A4 modulates transmigration of human neutrophils across intestinal epithelial monolayers." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **92**(1): 75-82.

Combs, C. A., T. Garite, K. Maurel, A. Das and M. Porto (2010). "Failure of 17hydroxyprogesterone to reduce neonatal morbidity or prolong triplet pregnancy: a double-blind, randomized clinical trial." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **203**(3): 248 e241-249.

Conde-Agudelo, A., R. Romero, K. Nicolaides, T. Chaiworapongsa, J. M. O'Brien, E. Cetingoz, E. da Fonseca, G. Creasy, P. Soma-Pillay, S. Fusey, C. Cam, Z. Alfirevic and S. S. Hassan (2013). "Vaginal progesterone vs. cervical cerclage for the prevention of

preterm birth in women with a sonographic short cervix, previous preterm birth, and singleton gestation: a systematic review and indirect comparison metaanalysis." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **208**(1): 42 e41-42 e18.

Condon, J. C., D. B. Hardy, K. Kovaric and C. R. Mendelson (2006). "Up-regulation of the progesterone receptor (PR)-C isoform in laboring myometrium by activation of nuclear factor-kappaB may contribute to the onset of labor through inhibition of PR function." <u>Mol Endocrinol</u> **20**(4): 764-775.

Condon, J. C., P. Jeyasuria, J. M. Faust and C. R. Mendelson (2004). "Surfactant protein secreted by the maturing mouse fetal lung acts as a hormone that signals the initiation of parturition." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(14): 4978-4983.

Condon, J. C., P. Jeyasuria, J. M. Faust, J. W. Wilson and C. R. Mendelson (2003). "A decline in the levels of progesterone receptor coactivators in the pregnant uterus at term may antagonize progesterone receptor function and contribute to the initiation of parturition." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **100**(16): 9518-9523.

Conte, F. P., O. Menezes-de-Lima, Jr., W. A. Verri, Jr., F. Q. Cunha, C. Penido and M. G. Henriques (2010). "Lipoxin A(4) attenuates zymosan-induced arthritis by modulating endothelin-1 and its effects." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **161**(4): 911-924.

Costeloe, K. L., E. M. Hennessy, S. Haider, F. Stacey, N. Marlow and E. S. Draper (2012). "Short term outcomes after extreme preterm birth in England: comparison of two birth cohorts in 1995 and 2006 (the EPICure studies)." <u>BMJ</u> **345**: e7976.

Csapo, A. I. and M. Pulkkinen (1978). "Indispensability of the human corpus luteum in the maintenance of early pregnancy. Luteectomy evidence." <u>Obstet Gynecol Surv</u> **33**(2): 69-81.

da Fonseca, E. B., R. E. Bittar, M. H. Carvalho and M. Zugaib (2003). "Prophylactic administration of progesterone by vaginal suppository to reduce the incidence of spontaneous preterm birth in women at increased risk: a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **188**(2): 419-424.

Daley, J. M., A. A. Thomay, M. D. Connolly, J. S. Reichner and J. E. Albina (2008). "Use of Ly6G-specific monoclonal antibody to deplete neutrophils in mice." Journal of Leukocyte Biology **83**(1): 64-70.

Davies, J. K., R. H. Shikes, C. I. Sze, K. K. Leslie, R. S. McDuffie, Jr., R. Romero and R. S. Gibbs (2000). "Histologic inflammation in the maternal and fetal compartments in a rabbit model of acute intra-amniotic infection." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **183**(5): 1088-1093.

De Flora, S., C. Grassi and L. Carati (1997). "Attenuation of influenza-like symptomatology and improvement of cell-mediated immunity with long-term N-acetylcysteine treatment." <u>Eur Respir J</u> **10**(7): 1535-1541.

de Waal Malefyt, R., J. Abrams, B. Bennett, C. G. Figdor and J. E. de Vries (1991). "Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes." <u>J Exp Med</u> **174**(5): 1209-1220.

Decker, Y., G. McBean and C. Godson (2009). "Lipoxin A4 inhibits IL-1beta-induced IL-8 and ICAM-1 expression in 1321N1 human astrocytoma cells." <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> **296**(6): C1420-1427.

Decramer, M., M. Rutten-van Molken, P. N. Dekhuijzen, T. Troosters, C. van Herwaarden, R. Pellegrino, C. P. van Schayck, D. Olivieri, M. Del Donno, W. De Backer, I. Lankhorst and A. Ardia (2005). "Effects of N-acetylcysteine on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Bronchitis Randomized on NAC Cost-Utility Study, BRONCUS): a randomised placebo-controlled trial." Lancet **365**(9470): 1552-1560.

Demedts, M., J. Behr, R. Buhl, U. Costabel, R. Dekhuijzen, H. M. Jansen, W. MacNee, M. Thomeer, B. Wallaert, F. Laurent, A. G. Nicholson, E. K. Verbeken, J. Verschakelen, C. D. Flower, F. Capron, S. Petruzzelli, P. De Vuyst, J. M. van den Bosch, E. Rodriguez-Becerra,

G. Corvasce, I. Lankhorst, M. Sardina and M. Montanari (2005). "High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **353**(21): 2229-2242.

Denison, F. C., R. W. Kelly, A. A. Calder and S. C. Riley (1998). "Cytokine secretion by human fetal membranes, decidua and placenta at term." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **13**(12): 3560-3565.

Dhaliwal, K., E. Scholefield, D. Ferenbach, M. Gibbons, R. Duffin, D. A. Dorward, A. C. Morris, D. Humphries, A. MacKinnon, T. S. Wilkinson, W. A. Wallace, N. van Rooijen, M. Mack, A. G. Rossi, D. J. Davidson, N. Hirani, J. Hughes, C. Haslett and A. J. Simpson (2012). "Monocytes control second-phase neutrophil emigration in established lipopolysaccharide-induced murine lung injury." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **186**(6): 514-524.

Diamond, A. K., L. M. Sweet, K. H. Oppenheimer, D. F. Bradley and M. Phillippe (2007). "Modulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 expression during lipopolysaccharideinduced preterm delivery in the pregnant mouse." <u>Reproductive Sciences</u> **14**(6): 548-559.

Dinarello, C. A. (2011). "Blocking interleukin-1beta in acute and chronic autoinflammatory diseases." <u>J Intern Med</u> **269**(1): 16-28.

Dodd, J. M. and C. A. Crowther (2010). "The role of progesterone in prevention of preterm birth." <u>Int J Womens Health</u> **1**: 73-84.

Dodd, J. M., V. J. Flenady, R. Cincotta and C. A. Crowther (2008). "Progesterone for the prevention of preterm birth: a systematic review." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **112**(1): 127-134.

Dudley, D. J., C. Hunter, M. D. Mitchell and M. W. Varner (1997). "Amniotic fluid interleukin-10 (IL-10) concentrations during pregnancy and with labor." J Reprod Immunol **33**(2): 147-156.

Duffield, J. S., S. J. Forbes, C. M. Constandinou, S. Clay, M. Partolina, S. Vuthoori, S. Wu, R. Lang and J. P. Iredale (2005). "Selective depletion of macrophages reveals distinct, opposing roles during liver injury and repair." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **115**(1): 56-65.

Dufton, N., R. Hannon, V. Brancaleone, J. Dalli, H. B. Patel, M. Gray, F. D'Acquisto, J. C. Buckingham, M. Perretti and R. J. Flower (2010). "Anti-inflammatory role of the murine formyl-peptide receptor 2: ligand-specific effects on leukocyte responses and experimental inflammation." <u>J Immunol</u> **184**(5): 2611-2619.

Duggan, S. V., T. Lindstrom, T. Iglesias, P. R. Bennett, G. E. Mann and S. R. Bartlett (2007). "Role of atypical protein kinase C isozymes and NF-kappaB in IL-1beta-induced expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in human myometrial smooth muscle cells." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Physiol</u> **210**(3): 637-643.

Dyal, R. and D. J. Crankshaw (1988). "THE EFFECTS OF SOME SYNTHETIC PROSTANOIDS ON THE CONTRACTILITY OF THE HUMAN LOWER UTERINE SEGMENT INVITRO." <u>American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</u> **158**(2): 281-285.

Edwards, J. C. and G. Cambridge (2006). "B-cell targeting in rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **6**(5): 394-403.

Egan, L. J. and W. J. Sandborn (1998). "Inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB by sulfasalazine: a new target for inflammatory bowel disease therapy?" <u>Gastroenterology</u> **115**(5): 1295-1296.

El Kebir, D., L. Jozsef, T. Khreiss, W. Pan, N. A. Petasis, C. N. Serhan and J. G. Filep (2007). "Aspirin-triggered lipoxins override the apoptosis-delaying action of serum amyloid A in human neutrophils: a novel mechanism for resolution of inflammation." J Immunol **179**(1): 616-622.

El Kebir, D., L. Jozsef, W. Pan, L. Wang, N. A. Petasis, C. N. Serhan and J. G. Filep (2009). "15-epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits myeloperoxidase signaling and enhances resolution of acute lung injury." <u>Am J Respir Crit Care Med</u> **180**(4): 311-319. Elliott, C. L., V. C. Allport, J. A. Loudon, G. D. Wu and P. R. Bennett (2001). "Nuclear factor-kappa B is essential for up-regulation of interleukin-8 expression in human amnion and cervical epithelial cells." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **7**(8): 787-790.

Elliott, C. L., J. E. Brennand and A. A. Calder (1998). "The effects of mifepristone on cervical ripening and labor induction in primigravidae." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **92**(5): 804-809. Elliott, C. L., D. M. Slater, W. Dennes, L. Poston and P. R. Bennett (2000). "Interleukin 8 expression in human myometrium: changes in relation to labor onset and with gestational age." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **43**(5): 272-277.

Elovitz, M. and Z. Wang (2004). "Medroxyprogesterone acetate, but not progesterone, protects against inflammation-induced parturition and intrauterine fetal demise." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **190**(3): 693-701.

Elovitz, M. A., A. G. Brown, K. Breen, L. Anton, M. Maubert and I. Burd (2011). "Intrauterine inflammation, insufficient to induce parturition, still evokes fetal and neonatal brain injury." <u>Int J Dev Neurosci</u> **29**(6): 663-671.

Elovitz, M. A. and J. Gonzalez (2008). "Medroxyprogesterone acetate modulates the immune response in the uterus, cervix and placenta in a mouse model of preterm birth." <u>J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **21**(4): 223-230.

Elovitz, M. A. and C. Mrinalini (2004). "Animal models of preterm birth." <u>Trends</u> <u>Endocrinol Metab</u> **15**(10): 479-487.

Elovitz, M. A. and C. Mrinalini (2005). "Can medroxyprogesterone acetate alter Toll-like receptor expression in a mouse model of intrauterine inflammation?" <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **193**(3 Pt 2): 1149-1155.

Elovitz, M. A. and C. Mrinalini (2006). "The use of progestational agents for preterm birth: lessons from a mouse model." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **195**(4): 1004-1010.

Elovitz, M. A., C. Mrinalini and M. D. Sammel (2006). "Elucidating the early signal transduction pathways leading to fetal brain injury in preterm birth." <u>Pediatr Res</u> **59**(1): 50-55.

Elovitz, M. A., Z. Wang, E. K. Chien, D. F. Rychlik and M. Phillippe (2003). "A new model for inflammation-induced preterm birth: the role of platelet-activating factor and Toll-like receptor-4." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **163**(5): 2103-2111.

Erkinheimo, T. L., K. Saukkonen, K. Narko, J. Jalkanen, O. Ylikorkala and A. Ristimaki (2000). "Expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and prostanoid receptors by human myometrium." Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism **85**(9): 3468-3475.

Esplin, M. S., M. R. Peltier, S. Hamblin, S. Smith, M. B. Fausett, G. A. Dildy, D. W. Branch, R. M. Silver and E. Y. Adashi (2005). "Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 expression is increased in human gestational tissues during term and preterm labor." <u>Placenta</u> **26**(8-9): 661-671.

Esplin, M. S., R. Romero, T. Chaiworapongsa, Y. M. Kim, S. Edwin, R. Gomez, R. Gonzalez and E. Y. Adashi (2003). "Amniotic fluid levels of immunoreactive monocyte chemotactic protein-1 increase during term parturition." J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med **14**(1): 51-56.

Ezekowitz, A. and S. Gordon (1982). "Down-regulation of mannosyl receptor-mediated endocytosis and antigen F4/80 in bacillus calmette-guerin-activated mouse macrophages. Role of T lymphocytes and lymphokines." <u>The Journal of Experimental Medicine</u> **155**(6): 1623-1637.

Ferenbach, D. A., T. A. Sheldrake, K. Dhaliwal, T. M. Kipari, L. P. Marson, D. C. Kluth and J. Hughes (2012). "Macrophage/monocyte depletion by clodronate, but not diphtheria toxin, improves renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in mice." <u>Kidney Int</u> **82**(8): 928-933.

Fidel, P. I., Jr., R. Romero, E. Maymon and F. Hertelendy (1998). "Bacteria-induced or bacterial product-induced preterm parturition in mice and rabbits is preceded by a significant fall in serum progesterone concentrations." <u>The Journal of maternal-fetal medicine</u> **7**(5): 222-226.

Fidel, P. L., Jr., R. Romero, J. Cutright, N. Wolf, R. Gomez, H. Araneda, M. Ramirez and B. H. Yoon (1997). "Treatment with the interleukin-I receptor antagonist and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor Fc fusion protein does not prevent endotoxin-induced preterm parturition in mice." J Soc Gynecol Investig 4(1): 22-26.

Fidel, P. L., Jr., R. Romero, N. Wolf, J. Cutright, M. Ramirez, H. Araneda and D. B. Cotton (1994). "Systemic and local cytokine profiles in endotoxin-induced preterm parturition in mice." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **170**(5 Pt 1): 1467-1475.

Filep, J. G., T. Khreiss and L. Jozsef (2005). "Lipoxins and aspirin-triggered lipoxins in neutrophil adhesion and signal transduction." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids</u> **73**(3-4): 257-262.

Fiorentino, D. F., M. W. Bond and T. R. Mosmann (1989). "Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones." J Exp Med **170**(6): 2081-2095.

Fiorentino, D. F., A. Zlotnik, T. R. Mosmann, M. Howard and A. O'Garra (1991). "IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages." <u>J Immunol</u> **147**(11): 3815-3822.

Fisk, N. M. and R. Atun (2008). "Market failure and the poverty of new drugs in maternal health." <u>PLoS Med</u> **5**(1): e22.

Fleming, T. J., M. L. Fleming and T. R. Malek (1993). "Selective expression of Ly-6G on myeloid lineage cells in mouse bone marrow. RB6-8C5 mAb to granulocytedifferentiation antigen (Gr-1) detects members of the Ly-6 family." J Immunol **151**(5): 2399-2408.

Fletcher, H. M., S. Mitchell, D. Simeon, J. Frederick and D. Brown (1993). "INTRAVAGINAL MISOPROSTOL AS A CERVICAL RIPENING AGENT." <u>British Journal of</u> <u>Obstetrics and Gynaecology</u> **100**(7): 641-644.

Fortunato, S. J., R. Menon, S. J. Lombardi and B. LaFleur (2001). "Interleukin-10 inhibition of gelatinases in fetal membranes: therapeutic implications in preterm premature rupture of membranes." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **98**(2): 284-288.

Fortunato, S. J., R. Menon, K. F. Swan and S. J. Lombardi (1996). "Interleukin-10 inhibition of interleukin-6 in human amniochorionic membrane: transcriptional regulation." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **175**(4 Pt 1): 1057-1065.

Fox, S., A. E. Leitch, R. Duffin, C. Haslett and A. G. Rossi (2010). "Neutrophil apoptosis: relevance to the innate immune response and inflammatory disease." <u>J Innate Immun</u> **2**(3): 216-227.

Fridlender, Z. G., V. Kapoor, G. Buchlis, G. Cheng, J. Sun, L. C. Wang, S. Singhal, L. A. Snyder and S. M. Albelda (2011). "Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 blockade inhibits lung cancer tumor growth by altering macrophage phenotype and activating CD8+ cells." <u>Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol</u> **44**(2): 230-237.

Frydman, R., C. Lelaidier, C. Baton-Saint-Mleux, H. Fernandez, M. Vial and P. Bourget (1992). "Labor induction in women at term with mifepristone (RU 486): a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **80**(6): 972-975.

Fuchs, F. and G. Stakemann (1960). "Treatment of threatened premature labor with large doses of progesterone." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **79**: 172-176.

Fukunaga, K., P. Kohli, C. Bonnans, L. E. Fredenburgh and B. D. Levy (2005). "Cyclooxygenase 2 plays a pivotal role in the resolution of acute lung injury." J Immunol **174**(8): 5033-5039.

Galinsky, R., G. R. Polglase, S. B. Hooper, M. J. Black and T. J. Moss (2013). "The consequences of chorioamnionitis: preterm birth and effects on development." <u>J</u> <u>Pregnancy</u> **2013**: 412831.

Gao, J. L., H. Chen, J. D. Filie, C. A. Kozak and P. M. Murphy (1998). "Differential expansion of the N-formylpeptide receptor gene cluster in human and mouse." <u>Genomics</u> **51**(2): 270-276.

Gendron, R. L., F. P. Nestel, W. S. Lapp and M. G. Baines (1990). "Lipopolysaccharideinduced fetal resorption in mice is associated with the intrauterine production of tumour necrosis factor-alpha." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **90**(2): 395-402.

Gewirtz, A. T., L. S. Collier-Hyams, A. N. Young, T. Kucharzik, W. J. Guilford, J. F. Parkinson, I. R. Williams, A. S. Neish and J. L. Madara (2002). "Lipoxin a4 analogs attenuate induction of intestinal epithelial proinflammatory gene expression and reduce the severity of dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis." <u>J Immunol</u> **168**(10): 5260-5267.

Gewirtz, A. T., B. McCormick, A. S. Neish, N. A. Petasis, K. Gronert, C. N. Serhan and J. L. Madara (1998). "Pathogen-induced chemokine secretion from model intestinal epithelium is inhibited by lipoxin A4 analogs." J Clin Invest **101**(9): 1860-1869.

Giannoulias, D., F. A. Patel, A. C. Holloway, S. J. Lye, H. H. Tai and J. R. G. Challis (2002). "Differential changes in 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase and prostaglandin H synthase (types I and II) in human pregnant myometrium." <u>Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Endocrinology & Metabolism</u> **87**(3): 1345-1352.

Gilroy, D. W., P. R. Colville-Nash, D. Willis, J. Chivers, M. J. Paul-Clark and D. A. Willoughby (1999). "Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties." <u>Nat Med</u> **5**(6): 698-701.

Gilroy, D. W., T. Lawrence, M. Perretti and A. G. Rossi (2004). "Inflammatory resolution: new opportunities for drug discovery." <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov</u> **3**(5): 401-416.

Godson, C., S. Mitchell, K. Harvey, N. A. Petasis, N. Hogg and H. R. Brady (2000). "Cutting edge: lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocyte-derived macrophages." <u>J Immunol</u> **164**(4): 1663-1667.

Goldenberg, R. L., J. F. Culhane, J. D. Iams and R. Romero (2008). "Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth." <u>Lancet</u> **371**(9606): 75-84.

Goldenberg, R. L., J. C. Hauth and W. W. Andrews (2000). "Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **342**(20): 1500-1507.

Gomez, R., R. Romero, F. Ghezzi, B. H. Yoon, M. Mazor and S. M. Berry (1998). "The fetal inflammatory response syndrome." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **179**(1): 194-202.

Gomez-Lopez, N., G. Estrada-Gutierrez, L. Jimenez-Zamudio, R. Vega-Sanchez and F. Vadillo-Ortega (2009). "Fetal membranes exhibit selective leukocyte chemotaxic activity during human labor." J Reprod Immunol **80**(1-2): 122-131.

Gomez-Lopez, N., L. J. Guilbert and D. M. Olson (2010). "Invasion of the leukocytes into the fetal-maternal interface during pregnancy." <u>J Leukoc Biol</u> **88**(4): 625-633.

Gomez-Lopez, N., E. Laresgoiti-Servitje, D. M. Olson, G. Estrada-Gutierrez and F. Vadillo-Ortega (2010). "The role of chemokines in term and premature rupture of the fetal membranes: a review." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **82**(5): 809-814.

Gong, J., S. Guo, H.-B. Li, S.-Y. Yuan, Y. Shang and S.-L. Yao (2012). "BML-111, a lipoxin receptor agonist, protects haemorrhagic shock-induced acute lung injury in rats." <u>Resuscitation</u> **83**(7): 907-912.

Gong, Y. and D. R. Koh (2010). "Neutrophils promote inflammatory angiogenesis via release of preformed VEGF in an in vivo corneal model." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **339**(2): 437-448.

Gonzalez, J. M., Z. Dong, R. Romero and G. Girardi (2011). "Cervical remodeling/ripening at term and preterm delivery: the same mechanism initiated by different mediators and different effector cells." <u>PLoS One</u> 6(11): e26877.

Gonzalez, J. M., C. W. Franzke, F. Yang, R. Romero and G. Girardi (2011). "Complement activation triggers metalloproteinases release inducing cervical remodeling and preterm birth in mice." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **179**(2): 838-849.

Gonzalez, J. M., H. Xu, J. Chai, E. Ofori and M. A. Elovitz (2009). "Preterm and term cervical ripening in CD1 Mice (Mus musculus): similar or divergent molecular mechanisms?" <u>Biol Reprod</u> **81**(6): 1226-1232.

Gotkin, J. L., J. Celver, P. McNutt, A. D. Shields, B. C. Howard, D. J. Paonessa and P. G. Napolitano (2006). "Progesterone reduces lipopolysaccharide induced interleukin-6 secretion in fetoplacental chorionic arteries, fractionated cord blood, and maternal mononuclear cells." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **195**(4): 1015-1019.

Gotsch, F., R. Romero, J. P. Kusanovic, O. Erez, J. Espinoza, C. J. Kim, E. Vaisbuch, N. G. Than, S. Mazaki-Tovi, T. Chaiworapongsa, M. Mazor, B. H. Yoon, S. Edwin, R. Gomez, P. Mittal, S. S. Hassan and S. Sharma (2008). "The anti-inflammatory limb of the immune response in preterm labor, intra-amniotic infection/inflammation, and spontaneous parturition at term: a role for interleukin-10." J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med **21**(8): 529-547.

Gotsch, F., R. Romero, J. P. Kusanovic, S. Mazaki-Tovi, B. L. Pineles, O. Erez, J. Espinoza and S. S. Hassan (2007). "The fetal inflammatory response syndrome." <u>Clin Obstet Gynecol</u> **50**(3): 652-683.

Gravett, M. G., S. S. Witkin, G. J. Haluska, J. L. Edwards, M. J. Cook and M. J. Novy (1994). "An experimental model for intraamniotic infection and preterm labor in rhesus monkeys." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **171**(6): 1660-1667.

Greig, P. C., W. N. Herbert, B. L. Robinette and L. A. Teot (1995). "Amniotic fluid interleukin-10 concentrations increase through pregnancy and are elevated in patients with preterm labor associated with intrauterine infection." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **173**(4): 1223-1227.

Grigsby, P. L., J. J. Hirst, J.-P. Scheerlinck, D. J. Phillips and G. Jenkin (2003). "Fetal Responses to Maternal and Intra-Amniotic Lipopolysaccharide Administration in Sheep." <u>Biology of Reproduction</u> **68**(5): 1695-1702.

Grillo-Lopez, A. J. (2003). "Rituximab (Rituxan/MabThera): the first decade (1993-2003)." <u>Expert Rev Anticancer Ther</u> **3**(6): 767-779.

Gronert, K., A. Gewirtz, J. L. Madara and C. N. Serhan (1998). "Identification of a human enterocyte lipoxin A4 receptor that is regulated by interleukin (IL)-13 and interferon gamma and inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced IL-8 release." J Exp Med **187**(8): 1285-1294.

Gronert, K., T. Martinsson-Niskanen, S. Ravasi, N. Chiang and C. N. Serhan (2001). "Selectivity of recombinant human leukotriene D(4), leukotriene B(4), and lipoxin A(4) receptors with aspirin-triggered 15-epi-LXA(4) and regulation of vascular and inflammatory responses." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **158**(1): 3-9.

Gupta, S. C., C. Sundaram, S. Reuter and B. B. Aggarwal (2010). "Inhibiting NF-kappaB activation by small molecules as a therapeutic strategy." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1799**(10-12): 775-787.

Haas, D. M., D. M. Caldwell, P. Kirkpatrick, J. J. McIntosh and N. J. Welton (2012). "Tocolytic therapy for preterm delivery: systematic review and network metaanalysis." <u>BMJ</u> **345**: e6226.

Hachicha, M., M. Pouliot, N. A. Petasis and C. N. Serhan (1999). "Lipoxin (LX)A4 and aspirin-triggered 15-epi-LXA4 inhibit tumor necrosis factor 1alpha-initiated neutrophil responses and trafficking: regulators of a cytokine-chemokine axis." J Exp Med **189**(12): 1923-1930.

Haddad, R., G. Tromp, H. Kuivaniemi, T. Chaiworapongsa, Y. M. Kim, M. Mazor and R. Romero (2006). "Human spontaneous labor without histologic chorioamnionitis is characterized by an acute inflammation gene expression signature." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **195**(2): 394 e391-324.

Hamilton, S., Y. Oomomian, G. Stephen, O. Shynlova, C. L. Tower, A. Garrod, S. J. Lye and R. L. Jones (2012). "Macrophages infiltrate the human and rat decidua during term and preterm labor: evidence that decidual inflammation precedes labor." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **86**(2): 39.

Han, Y. and J. E. Cutler (1997). "Assessment of a Mouse Model of Neutropenia and the Effect of an Anti-Candidiasis Monoclonal Antibody in These Animals." Journal of Infectious Diseases **175**(5): 1169-1175.

Hanna, N., I. Hanna, M. Hleb, E. Wagner, J. Dougherty, D. Balkundi, J. Padbury and S. Sharma (2000). "Gestational age-dependent expression of IL-10 and its receptor in human placental tissues and isolated cytotrophoblasts." <u>J Immunol</u> **164**(11): 5721-5728.

Hao, H., M. Liu, P. Wu, L. Cai, K. Tang, P. Yi, Y. Li, Y. Chen and D. Ye (2011). "Lipoxin A4 and its analog suppress hepatocellular carcinoma via remodeling tumor microenvironment." <u>Cancer Lett</u> **309**(1): 85-94.

Hapangama, D. and J. P. Neilson (2009). "Mifepristone for induction of labour." <u>Cochrane Database Syst Rev(3)</u>: CD002865.

Hayden, M. S. and S. Ghosh (2004). "Signaling to NF-kappaB." <u>Genes Dev</u> **18**(18): 2195-2224.

Helliwell, R. J., J. A. Keelan, K. W. Marvin, L. Adams, M. C. Chang, A. Anand, T. A. Sato, S. O'Carroll, T. Chaiworapongsa, R. J. Romero and M. D. Mitchell (2006). "Gestational agedependent up-regulation of prostaglandin D synthase (PGDS) and production of PGDSderived antiinflammatory prostaglandins in human placenta." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **91**(2): 597-606.

Helmig, B. R., R. Romero, J. Espinoza, T. Chaiworapongsa, E. Bujold, R. Gomez, K. Ohlsson and N. Uldbjerg (2002). "Neutrophil elastase and secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor in prelabor rupture of membranes, parturition and intra-amniotic infection." J <u>Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **12**(4): 237-246.

Hennessy, A., H. L. Pilmore, L. A. Simmons and D. M. Painter (1999). "A deficiency of placental IL-10 in preeclampsia." <u>J Immunol</u> **163**(6): 3491-3495.

Hestdal, K., F. W. Ruscetti, J. N. Ihle, S. E. Jacobsen, C. M. Dubois, W. C. Kopp, D. L. Longo and J. R. Keller (1991). "Characterization and regulation of RB6-8C5 antigen expression on murine bone marrow cells." <u>J Immunol</u> **147**(1): 22-28.

Hill, J. A., K. Polgar and D. J. Anderson (1995). "T-helper 1-type immunity to trophoblast in women with recurrent spontaneous abortion." <u>JAMA</u> **273**(24): 1933-1936.

Hirsch, E., Y. Filipovich and M. Mahendroo (2006). "Signaling via the type I IL-1 and TNF receptors is necessary for bacterially induced preterm labor in a murine model." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **194**(5): 1334-1340.

Hirsch, E. and R. Muhle (2002). "Intrauterine bacterial inoculation induces labor in the mouse by mechanisms other than progesterone withdrawal." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **67**(4): 1337-1341.

Hirsch, E., R. A. Muhle, G. M. Mussalli and R. Blanchard (2002). "Bacterially induced preterm labor in the mouse does not require maternal interleukin-1 signaling." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **186**(3): 523-530.

Hirsch, E. and H. Wang (2005). "The molecular pathophysiology of bacterially induced preterm labor: insights from the murine model." <u>J Soc Gynecol Investig</u> **12**(3): 145-155. Hirst, J. J., J. E. Mijovic, T. Zakar and D. M. Olson (1998). "Prostaglandin endoperoxide H

synthase-1 and -2 mRNA levels and enzyme activity in human decidua at term labor." J <u>Soc Gynecol Investig</u> **5**(1): 13-20.

Hirst, J. J., F. J. Teixeira, T. Zakar and D. M. Olson (1995). "Prostaglandin endoperoxide-H synthase-1 and -2 messenger ribonucleic acid levels in human amnion with spontaneous labor onset." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **80**(2): 517-523.

Hodges, R. J., R. G. Jenkins, C. P. Wheeler-Jones, D. M. Copeman, S. E. Bottoms, G. J. Bellingan, C. B. Nanthakumar, G. J. Laurent, S. L. Hart, M. L. Foster and R. J. McAnulty (2004). "Severity of lung injury in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice is dependent on reduced prostaglandin E(2) production." <u>Am J Pathol **165**(5)</u>: 1663-1676.

Hol, J., L. Wilhelmsen and G. Haraldsen (2010). "The murine IL-8 homologues KC, MIP-2, and LIX are found in endothelial cytoplasmic granules but not in Weibel-Palade bodies." Journal of Leukocyte Biology **87**(3): 501-508.

Holmgren, C., M. S. Esplin, S. Hamblin, M. Molenda, S. Simonsen and R. Silver (2008). "Evaluation of the use of anti-TNF-alpha in an LPS-induced murine model." <u>J Reprod</u> <u>Immunol</u> **78**(2): 134-139.

Holmlund, U., G. Cebers, A. R. Dahlfors, B. Sandstedt, K. Bremme, E. S. Ekstrom and A. Scheynius (2002). "Expression and regulation of the pattern recognition receptors Toll-like receptor-2 and Toll-like receptor-4 in the human placenta." <u>Immunology</u> **107**(1): 145-151.

Holt, R., B. C. Timmons, Y. Akgul, M. L. Akins and M. Mahendroo (2011). "The molecular mechanisms of cervical ripening differ between term and preterm birth." <u>Endocrinology</u> **152**(3): 1036-1046.

Howard, M., T. Muchamuel, S. Andrade and S. Menon (1993). "Interleukin 10 protects mice from lethal endotoxemia." <u>J Exp Med</u> **177**(4): 1205-1208.

Hua, R., J. E. Pease, S. R. Sooranna, J. M. Viney, S. M. Nelson, L. Myatt, P. R. Bennett and M. R. Johnson (2012). "Stretch and inflammatory cytokines drive myometrial chemokine expression via NF-kappaB activation." <u>Endocrinology</u> **153**(1): 481-491.

Hubinont, C. and F. Debieve (2011). "Prevention of preterm labour: 2011 update on tocolysis." <u>J Pregnancy</u> **2011**: 941057.

Hung, T. H., S. F. Chen, J. J. Hsu, C. C. Hsieh, S. Hsueh and T. T. Hsieh (2006). "Tumour necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme in human gestational tissues from pregnancies complicated by chorioamnionitis." <u>Placenta</u> **27**(9-10): 996-1006.

Hunt, J. S., L. S. Manning, D. Mitchell, J. R. Selanders and G. W. Wood (1985). "Localization and characterization of macrophages in murine uterus." Journal of Leukocyte Biology **38**(2): 255-265.

Hunt, J. S. and J. W. Pollard (1992). "Macrophages in the uterus and placenta." <u>Curr Top</u> <u>Microbiol Immunol</u> **181**: 39-63.

Hutchinson, J. L., S. P. Rajagopal, K. J. Sales and H. N. Jabbour (2011). "Molecular regulators of resolution of inflammation - potential therapeutic targets in the reproductive system." <u>Reproduction</u>.

Iribarren, P., Y.-H. Cui, Y. Le, G. Ying, X. Zhang, W. Gong and J. M. Wang (2003). "IL-4 Down-Regulates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Formyl Peptide Receptor 2 in Murine Microglial Cells by Inhibiting the Activation of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases." <u>The</u> Journal of Immunology **171**(10): 5482-5488.

ISD Scotland (2012). Births in Scottish Hospitals, year ending March 2011.

Jabbour, H. N., K. J. Sales, R. D. Catalano and J. E. Norman (2009). "Inflammatory pathways in female reproductive health and disease." <u>Reproduction</u> **138**(6): 903-919.

Jarchum, I., M. Liu, C. Shi, M. Equinda and E. G. Pamer (2012). "Critical role for MyD88mediated neutrophil recruitment during Clostridium difficile colitis." <u>Infect Immun</u> **80**(9): 2989-2996.

Jenkins, J. K., M. Malyak and W. P. Arend (1994). "The effects of interleukin-10 on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-1 beta production in human monocytes and neutrophils." <u>Lymphokine Cytokine Res</u> **13**(1): 47-54.

Junqueira, L. C., M. Zugaib, G. S. Montes, O. M. Toledo, R. M. Krisztan and K. M. Shigihara (1980). "Morphologic and histochemical evidence for the occurrence of collagenolysis and for the role of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes during cervical dilation." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **138**(3): 273-281.

Jutila, M. A., F. G. Kroese, K. L. Jutila, A. M. Stall, S. Fiering, L. A. Herzenberg, E. L. Berg and E. C. Butcher (1988). "Ly-6C is a monocyte/macrophage and endothelial cell differentiation antigen regulated by interferon-gamma." <u>Eur J Immunol</u> **18**(11): 1819-1826.

Kaga, N., Y. Katsuki, M. Obata and Y. Shibutani (1996). "Repeated administration of lowdose lipopolysaccharide induces preterm delivery in mice: a model for human preterm parturition and for assessment of the therapeutic ability of drugs against preterm delivery." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **174**(2): 754-759.

Kaitu'u-Lino, T. J., N. B. Morison and L. A. Salamonsen (2007). "Neutrophil depletion retards endometrial repair in a mouse model." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **328**(1): 197-206.

Kalkhoven, E., S. Wissink, P. T. van der Saag and B. van der Burg (1996). "Negative interaction between the RelA(p65) subunit of NF-kappaB and the progesterone receptor." J Biol Chem **271**(11): 6217-6224.

Kalkunte, S., T. Nevers, W. E. Norris and S. Sharma (2011). "Vascular IL-10: a protective role in preeclampsia." <u>J Reprod Immunol</u> **88**(2): 165-169.

Kallapur, S. G., K. E. Willet, A. H. Jobe, M. Ikegami and C. J. Bachurski (2001). "Intraamniotic endotoxin: chorioamnionitis precedes lung maturation in preterm lambs." <u>Am</u> <u>J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol</u> **280**(3): L527-536.

Kawahito, Y., M. Kondo, Y. Tsubouchi, A. Hashiramoto, D. Bishop-Bailey, K. Inoue, M. Kohno, R. Yamada, T. Hla and H. Sano (2000). "15-deoxy-delta(12,14)-PGJ(2) induces synoviocyte apoptosis and suppresses adjuvant-induced arthritis in rats." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **106**(2): 189-197.

Keelan, J. A. (2011). "Pharmacological inhibition of inflammatory pathways for the prevention of preterm birth." <u>J Reprod Immunol</u> **88**(2): 176-184.

Keelan, J. A., M. Blumenstein, R. J. Helliwell, T. A. Sato, K. W. Marvin and M. D. Mitchell (2003). "Cytokines, prostaglandins and parturition--a review." <u>Placenta</u> **24 Suppl A**: S33-46.

Keelan, J. A., R. J. A. Helliwell, B. E. Nijmeijer, E. B. E. Berry, T. A. Sato, K. W. Marvin, M. D. Mitchell and R. S. Gilmour (2001). "15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2)-induced apoptosis in amnion-like WISH cells." <u>Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators</u> **66**(4): 265-282.

Keelan, J. A., S. Khan, F. Yosaatmadja and M. D. Mitchell (2009). "Prevention of inflammatory activation of human gestational membranes in an ex vivo model using a pharmacological NF-kappaB inhibitor." J Immunol **183**(8): 5270-5278.

Keelan, J. A., J. Yang, R. J. Romero, T. Chaiworapongsa, K. W. Marvin, T. A. Sato and M. D. Mitchell (2004). "Epithelial Cell-Derived Neutrophil-Activating Peptide-78 Is Present in Fetal Membranes and Amniotic Fluid at Increased Concentrations with Intra-amniotic Infection and Preterm Delivery." <u>Biology of Reproduction</u> **70**(1): 253-259.

Keirse, M. (1993). "PROSTAGLANDINS IN PREINDUCTION CERVICAL RIPENING - METAANALYSIS OF WORLDWIDE CLINICAL-EXPERIENCE." Journal of Reproductive Medicine **38**(1): 89-100.

Kelly, A. J., S. Malik, L. Smith, J. Kavanagh and J. Thomas (2009). "Vaginal prostaglandin (PGE2 and PGF2a) for induction of labour at term." <u>Cochrane Database Syst Rev(4)</u>: CD003101.

Kenyon, A. P. and D. Peebles (2011). "Myth: tocolysis for prevention of preterm birth has a major role in modern obstetrics." <u>Semin Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **16**(5): 242-246.

Kenyon, S., K. Pike, D. R. Jones, P. Brocklehurst, N. Marlow, A. Salt and D. J. Taylor (2008). "Childhood outcomes after prescription of antibiotics to pregnant women with preterm rupture of the membranes: 7-year follow-up of the ORACLE I trial." <u>Lancet</u> **372**(9646): 1310-1318.

Kenyon, S., K. Pike, D. R. Jones, P. Brocklehurst, N. Marlow, A. Salt and D. J. Taylor (2008). "Childhood outcomes after prescription of antibiotics to pregnant women with spontaneous preterm labour: 7-year follow-up of the ORACLE II trial." <u>Lancet</u> **372**(9646): 1319-1327.

Kenyon, S. L., D. J. Taylor, W. Tarnow-Mordi and O. C. Group (2001). "Broad-spectrum antibiotics for preterm, prelabour rupture of fetal membranes: the ORACLE I randomised trial. ORACLE Collaborative Group." <u>Lancet</u> **357**(9261): 979-988.

Kenyon, S. L., D. J. Taylor, W. Tarnow-Mordi and O. C. Group (2001). "Broad-spectrum antibiotics for spontaneous preterm labour: the ORACLE II randomised trial. ORACLE Collaborative Group." Lancet **357**(9261): 989-994.

Keski-Nisula, L., M. L. Aalto, M. L. Katila and P. Kirkinen (2000). "Intrauterine inflammation at term: a histopathologic study." <u>Hum Pathol</u> **31**(7): 841-846.

Khanjani, S., M. K. Kandola, T. M. Lindstrom, S. R. Sooranna, M. Melchionda, Y. S. Lee, V. Terzidou, M. R. Johnson and P. R. Bennett (2011). "NF-kappaB regulates a cassette of immune/inflammatory genes in human pregnant myometrium at term." <u>J Cell Mol Med</u> **15**(4): 809-824.

Kim, Y. M., R. Romero, T. Chaiworapongsa, G. J. Kim, M. R. Kim, H. Kuivaniemi, G. Tromp, J. Espinoza, E. Bujold, V. M. Abrahams and G. Mor (2004). "Toll-like receptor-2 and -4 in the chorioamniotic membranes in spontaneous labor at term and in preterm parturition that are associated with chorioamnionitis." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **191**(4): 1346-1355.

Kimball, A. B., T. Kawamura, K. Tejura, C. Boss, A. R. Hancox, J. C. Vogel, S. M. Steinberg, M. L. Turner and A. Blauvelt (2002). "Clinical and immunologic assessment of patients with psoriasis in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using recombinant human interleukin 10." <u>Arch Dermatol</u> **138**(10): 1341-1346.

King, J., V. Flenady, S. Cole and S. Thornton (2005). "Cyclo-oxygenase (COX) inhibitors for treating preterm labour." <u>Cochrane Database Syst Rev(2</u>): CD001992.

King, J. F., V. Flenady, D. Papatsonis, G. Dekker and B. Carbonne (2003). "Calcium channel blockers for inhibiting preterm labour; a systematic review of the evidence and a protocol for administration of nifedipine." <u>Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol</u> **43**(3): 192-198.

Koga, K., I. Cardenas, P. Aldo, V. M. Abrahams, B. Peng, S. Fill, R. Romero and G. Mor (2009). "Activation of TLR3 in the trophoblast is associated with preterm delivery." <u>Am</u> <u>J Reprod Immunol</u> **61**(3): 196-212.

Kolaczkowska, E. and P. Kubes (2013). "Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **13**(3): 159-175.

Koren, G., A. Florescu, A. M. Costei, R. Boskovic and M. E. Moretti (2006). "Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs during third trimester and the risk of premature closure of the ductus arteriosus: a meta-analysis." <u>Ann Pharmacother</u> **40**(5): 824-829.

Krikun, G., C. J. Lockwood, V. M. Abrahams, G. Mor, M. Paidas and S. Guller (2007). "Expression of Toll-like receptors in the human decidua." <u>Histol Histopathol</u> **22**(8): 847-854.

Kruse, A., N. Martens, U. Fernekorn, R. Hallmann and E. C. Butcher (2002). "Alterations in the Expression of Homing-Associated Molecules at the Maternal/Fetal Interface During the Course of Pregnancy." <u>Biology of Reproduction</u> **66**(2): 333-345.

Kumazaki, K., M. Nakayama, I. Yanagihara, N. Suehara and Y. Wada (2004). "Immunohistochemical distribution of Toll-like receptor 4 in term and preterm human placentas from normal and complicated pregnancy including chorioamnionitis." <u>Hum</u> Pathol **35**(1): 47-54.

Kung, J. T., M. Castillo, P. Heard, K. Kerbacher and C. A. Thomas, 3rd (1991). "Subpopulations of CD8+ cytotoxic T cell precursors collaborate in the absence of conventional CD4+ helper T cells." <u>J Immunol</u> **146**(6): 1783-1790.

Kure, I., S. Nishiumi, Y. Nishitani, T. Tanoue, T. Ishida, M. Mizuno, T. Fujita, H. Kutsumi, M. Arita, T. Azuma and M. Yoshida (2009). "Lipoxin A(4) reduces lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammation in macrophages and intestinal epithelial cells through inhibition of nuclear factor-kappaB activation." J Pharmacol Exp Ther **332**(2): 541-548. Lahra, M. M. and H. E. Jeffery (2004). "A fetal response to chorioamnionitis is associated with early survival after preterm birth." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **190**(1): 147-151.

Lappas, M., M. Permezel, H. M. Georgiou and G. E. Rice (2002). "Nuclear factor kappa B regulation of proinflammatory cytokines in human gestational tissues in vitro." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **67**(2): 668-673.

Lappas, M., M. Permezel and G. E. Rice (2003). "N-Acetyl-cysteine inhibits phospholipid metabolism, proinflammatory cytokine release, protease activity, and nuclear factor-kappaB deoxyribonucleic acid-binding activity in human fetal membranes in vitro." [<u>Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **88**(4): 1723-1729.

Lappas, M., M. Permezel and G. E. Rice (2006). "15-Deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2) and troglitazone regulation of the release of phospholipid metabolites, inflammatory cytokines and proteases from human gestational tissues." <u>Placenta</u> **27**(11-12): 1060-1072.

Lappas, M. and G. E. Rice (2007). "The role and regulation of the nuclear factor kappa B signalling pathway in human labour." <u>Placenta</u> **28**(5-6): 543-556.

Leckie, M. J., A. ten Brinke, J. Khan, Z. Diamant, B. J. O'Connor, C. M. Walls, A. K. Mathur, H. C. Cowley, K. F. Chung, R. Djukanovic, T. T. Hansel, S. T. Holgate, P. J. Sterk and P. J. Barnes (2000). "Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response." Lancet **356**(9248): 2144-2148.

Ledingham, M. A., A. J. Thomson, F. Jordan, A. Young, M. Crawford and J. E. Norman (2001). "Cell adhesion molecule expression in the cervix and myometrium during pregnancy and parturition." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **97**(2): 235-242.

Lee, D. C., R. Romero, C. J. Kim, T. Chaiworapongsa, A. L. Tarca, J. Lee, Y. L. Suh, S. Mazaki-Tovi, E. Vaisbuch, P. Mittal, S. Draghici, O. Erez, J. P. Kusanovic, S. S. Hassan and J. S. Kim (2010). "Surfactant protein-A as an anti-inflammatory component in the amnion: implications for human pregnancy." J Immunol **184**(11): 6479-6491.

Lee, S. E., R. Romero, I. S. Park, H. S. Seong, C. W. Park and B. H. Yoon (2008). "Amniotic fluid prostaglandin concentrations increase before the onset of spontaneous labor at term." <u>J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **21**(2): 89-94.

Lee, T. H., C. E. Horton, U. Kyan-Aung, D. Haskard, A. E. Crea and B. W. Spur (1989). "Lipoxin A4 and lipoxin B4 inhibit chemotactic responses of human neutrophils stimulated by leukotriene B4 and N-formyl-L-methionyl-L-leucyl-L-phenylalanine." <u>Clin</u> <u>Sci (Lond)</u> **77**(2): 195-203.

Lee, T. H., P. Lympany, A. E. Crea and B. W. Spur (1991). "Inhibition of leukotriene B4induced neutrophil migration by lipoxin A4: structure-function relationships." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Biophys Res Commun</u> **180**(3): 1416-1421.

Lee, Y., V. Allport, A. Sykes, T. Lindstrom, D. Slater and P. Bennett (2003). "The effects of labour and of interleukin 1 beta upon the expression of nuclear factor kappa B related proteins in human amnion." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **9**(4): 213-218.

Lei, Z. M. and C. V. Rao (1992). "The expression of 15-lipoxygenase gene and the presence of functional enzyme in cytoplasm and nuclei of pregnancy human myometria." <u>Endocrinology</u> **130**(2): 861-870.

Leitch, A. E., R. Duffin, C. Haslett and A. G. Rossi (2008). "Relevance of granulocyte apoptosis to resolution of inflammation at the respiratory mucosa." <u>Mucosal Immunol</u> **1**(5): 350-363.

Levy, B. D., C. B. Clish, B. Schmidt, K. Gronert and C. N. Serhan (2001). "Lipid mediator class switching during acute inflammation: signals in resolution." <u>Nat Immunol</u> **2**(7): 612-619.

Levy, B. D., G. T. De Sanctis, P. R. Devchand, E. Kim, K. Ackerman, B. A. Schmidt, W. Szczeklik, J. M. Drazen and C. N. Serhan (2002). "Multi-pronged inhibition of airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation by lipoxin A(4)." <u>Nat Med</u> **8**(9): 1018-1023.

Levy, B. D., Q. Y. Zhang, C. Bonnans, V. Primo, J. J. Reilly, D. L. Perkins, Y. Liang, M. Amin Arnaout, B. Nikolic and C. N. Serhan (2011). "The endogenous pro-resolving mediators lipoxin A4 and resolvin E1 preserve organ function in allograft rejection." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids</u> **84**(1-2): 43-50.

Li, L., J. Kang and W. Lei (2010). "Role of Toll-like receptor 4 in inflammation-induced preterm delivery." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **16**(4): 267-272.

Li, L. P., Y. C. Fang, G. F. Dong, Y. Lin and S. Saito (2012). "Depletion of invariant NKT cells reduces inflammation-induced preterm delivery in mice." <u>J Immunol</u> **188**(9): 4681-4689.

Li, Y., L. Cai, H. Wang, P. Wu, W. Gu, Y. Chen, H. Hao, K. Tang, P. Yi, M. Liu, S. Miao and D. Ye (2011). "Pleiotropic regulation of macrophage polarization and tumorigenesis by formyl peptide receptor-2." <u>Oncogene</u>.

Lidstrom, C., L. Matthiesen, G. Berg, S. Sharma, J. Ernerudh and C. Ekerfelt (2003). "Cytokine secretion patterns of NK cells and macrophages in early human pregnancy decidua and blood: implications for suppressor macrophages in decidua." <u>Am J Reprod</u> <u>Immunol</u> **50**(6): 444-452.

Liggins, G. (1981). Cervical Ripening as an inflammatory reaction. <u>The cervix in</u> <u>pregnancy and labour: clinical and biochemical investigations</u>. D. A. a. A. Ellwood, A.B.M. Edinburgh, Churchill Livingstone: 1-9.

Liggins, G. C. (1968). "Premature parturition after infusion of corticotrophin or cortisol into foetal lambs." <u>J Endocrinol</u> **42**(2): 323-329.

Liggins, G. C., R. J. Fairclough, S. A. Grieves, J. Z. Kendall and B. S. Knox (1973). "The mechanism of initiation of parturition in the ewe." <u>Recent Prog Horm Res</u> **29**: 111-159.

Lim, S., D. A. MacIntyre, Y. S. Lee, S. Khanjani, V. Terzidou, T. G. Teoh and P. R. Bennett (2012). "Nuclear factor kappa B activation occurs in the amnion prior to labour onset and modulates the expression of numerous labour associated genes." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(4): e34707.

Lin, F., P. Zeng, Z. Xu, D. Ye, X. Yu, N. Wang, J. Tang, Y. Zhou and Y. Huang (2012). "Treatment of Lipoxin A(4) and its analogue on low-dose endotoxin induced preeclampsia in rat and possible mechanisms." <u>Reprod Toxicol</u> **34**(4): 677-685.

Lindstrom, T. M. and P. R. Bennett (2005). "15-Deoxy-{delta}12,14-prostaglandin j2 inhibits interleukin-1{beta}-induced nuclear factor-{kappa}b in human amnion and myometrial cells: mechanisms and implications." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **90**(6): 3534-3543.

Lindstrom, T. M. and P. R. Bennett (2005). "The role of nuclear factor kappa B in human labour." <u>Reproduction</u> **130**(5): 569-581.

Liu, C.-J., Y.-C. Cheng, K.-W. Lee, H.-H. Hsu, C.-H. Chu, F.-J. Tsai, C.-H. Tsai, C.-Y. Chu, J.-Y. Liu, W.-W. Kuo and C.-Y. Huang (2008). "Lipopolysaccharide induces cellular hypertrophy through calcineurin/NFAT-3 signaling pathway in H9c2 myocardiac cells." <u>Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry</u> **313**(1-2): 167-178.

Loe, S. M., L. Sanchez-Ramos and A. M. Kaunitz (2005). "Assessing the neonatal safety of indomethacin tocolysis: a systematic review with meta-analysis." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **106**(1): 173-179.

Loftin, C. D., D. B. Trivedi, H. F. Tiano, J. A. Clark, C. A. Lee, J. A. Epstein, S. G. Morham, M. D. Breyer, M. Nguyen, B. M. Hawkins, J. L. Goulet, O. Smithies, B. H. Koller and R. Langenbach (2001). "Failure of ductus arteriosus closure and remodeling in neonatal mice deficient in cyclooxygenase-1 and cyclooxygenase-2." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **98**(3): 1059-1064.

Lopez Bernal, A., G. E. Newman, P. J. Phizackerley and A. C. Turnbull (1988). "Surfactant stimulates prostaglandin E production in human amnion." <u>Br J Obstet Gynaecol</u> **95**(10): 1013-1017.

Loudon, J. A., C. L. Elliott, F. Hills and P. R. Bennett (2003). "Progesterone represses interleukin-8 and cyclo-oxygenase-2 in human lower segment fibroblast cells and amnion epithelial cells." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **69**(1): 331-337.

Loudon, J. A., K. M. Groom and P. R. Bennett (2003). "Prostaglandin inhibitors in preterm labour." <u>Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol</u> **17**(5): 731-744.

Loudon, J. A., S. R. Sooranna, P. R. Bennett and M. R. Johnson (2004). "Mechanical stretch of human uterine smooth muscle cells increases IL-8 mRNA expression and peptide synthesis." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **10**(12): 895-899.

Macchia, L., R. DiPaola, M. C. Guerrese, L. M. Chiechi, A. Tursi, M. F. Caiaffa and J. Z. Haeggstrom (1997). "Expression of prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase 1 and 2 in human placenta at term." <u>Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications</u> **233**(2): 496-501.

Macdonald, L. J., S. C. Boddy, F. C. Denison, K. J. Sales and H. N. Jabbour (2011). "A role for lipoxin A(4) as an anti-inflammatory mediator in the human endometrium." <u>Reproduction</u> **142**(2): 345-352.

Machado, F. S., J. E. Johndrow, L. Esper, A. Dias, A. Bafica, C. N. Serhan and J. Aliberti (2006). "Anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxin A4 and aspirin-triggered lipoxin are SOCS-2 dependent." <u>Nat Med</u> **12**(3): 330-334.

MacIntyre, D. A., L. Sykes, T. G. Teoh and P. R. Bennett (2012). "Prevention of preterm labour via the modulation of inflammatory pathways." <u>J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **25 Suppl 1**: 17-20.

Mackenzie, R., M. Walker, A. Armson and M. E. Hannah (2006). "Progesterone for the prevention of preterm birth among women at increased risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **194**(5): 1234-1242.

Mackler, A. M., G. Iezza, M. R. Akin, P. McMillan and S. M. Yellon (1999). "Macrophage trafficking in the uterus and cervix precedes parturition in the mouse." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **61**(4): 879-883.

Maddox, J. F., M. Hachicha, T. Takano, N. A. Petasis, V. V. Fokin and C. N. Serhan (1997). "Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-protein-linked lipoxin A4 receptor." J Biol Chem **272**(11): 6972-6978.

Maddox, J. F. and C. N. Serhan (1996). "Lipoxin A4 and B4 are potent stimuli for human monocyte migration and adhesion: selective inactivation by dehydrogenation and reduction." <u>J Exp Med</u> **183**(1): 137-146.

Makhseed, M., R. Raghupathy, S. El-Shazly, F. Azizieh, J. A. Al-Harmi and M. M. Al-Azemi (2003). "Pro-inflammatory maternal cytokine profile in preterm delivery." <u>Am J Reprod</u> <u>Immunol</u> **49**(5): 308-318.

Maldonado-Perez, D., E. Golightly, F. C. Denison, H. N. Jabbour and J. E. Norman (2010). "A role for lipoxin A4 as anti-inflammatory and proresolution mediator in human parturition." <u>FASEB J</u> **25**(2): 569-575.

Mangham, L. J., S. Petrou, L. W. Doyle, E. S. Draper and N. Marlow (2009). "The cost of preterm birth throughout childhood in England and Wales." <u>Pediatrics</u> **123**(2): e312-327.

March of Dimes, P., Save the Children, WHO (2012). <u>Born Too Soon: The Global Action</u> <u>Report on Preterm Birth</u>. Geneva, World Health Organisation.

Marconi, C., B. R. de Andrade Ramos, J. C. Peracoli, G. G. Donders and M. G. da Silva (2011). "Amniotic fluid interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6, but not interleukin-8 correlate with microbial invasion of the amniotic cavity in preterm labor." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **65**(6): 549-556.

Martinez-Losa, M., J. Cortijo, G. Juan, J. E. O'Connor, M. J. Sanz, F. Santangelo and E. J. Morcillo (2007). "Inhibitory effects of N-acetylcysteine on the functional responses of human eosinophils in vitro." <u>Clin Exp Allergy</u> **37**(5): 714-722.

Maymon, E., F. Ghezzi, S. S. Edwin, M. Mazor, B. H. Yoon, R. Gomez and R. Romero (1999). "The tumor necrosis factor alpha and its soluble receptor profile in term and preterm parturition." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **181**(5 Pt 1): 1142-1148.

McBerry, C., R. M. Gonzalez, N. Shryock, A. Dias and J. Aliberti (2012). "SOCS2-induced proteasome-dependent TRAF6 degradation: a common anti-inflammatory pathway for control of innate immune responses." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(6): e38384.

McDuffie, R. S., Jr., M. P. Sherman and R. S. Gibbs (1992). "Amniotic fluid tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 in a rabbit model of bacterially induced preterm pregnancy loss." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **167**(6): 1583-1588.

McLaren, J., D. J. Taylor and S. C. Bell (2000). "Prostaglandin E-2-dependent production of latent matrix metalloproteinase-9 in cultures of human fetal membranes." <u>Molecular Human Reproduction</u> **6**(11): 1033-1040.

McMahon, B., C. Stenson, F. McPhillips, A. Fanning, H. R. Brady and C. Godson (2000). "Lipoxin A4 antagonizes the mitogenic effects of leukotriene D4 in human renal mesangial cells. Differential activation of MAP kinases through distinct receptors." J Biol Chem **275**(36): 27566-27575.

Medeiros, R., M. Kitazawa, G. F. Passos, D. Baglietto-Vargas, D. Cheng, D. H. Cribbs and F. M. Laferla (2013). "Aspirin-Triggered Lipoxin A Stimulates Alternative Activation of Microglia and Reduces Alzheimer Disease-Like Pathology in Mice." <u>Am J Pathol</u>.

Meis, P. J., M. Klebanoff, E. Thom, M. P. Dombrowski, B. Sibai, A. H. Moawad, C. Y. Spong, J. C. Hauth, M. Miodovnik, M. W. Varner, K. J. Leveno, S. N. Caritis, J. D. Iams, R. J. Wapner, D. Conway, M. J. O'Sullivan, M. Carpenter, B. Mercer, S. M. Ramin, J. M. Thorp, A. M. Peaceman and S. Gabbe (2003). "Prevention of recurrent preterm delivery by 17 alpha-hydroxyprogesterone caproate." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **348**(24): 2379-2385.

Menezes-de-Lima, O., Jr., C. A. Kassuya, A. F. Nascimento, M. Henriques and J. B. Calixto (2006). "Lipoxin A4 inhibits acute edema in mice: implications for the antiedematogenic mechanism induced by aspirin." <u>Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat</u> **80**(3-4): 123-135.

Menzies, F. M., C. A. Higgins, M. C. Shepherd, R. J. Nibbs and S. M. Nelson (2012). "Mast cells reside in myometrium and cervix, but are dispensable in mice for successful pregnancy and labor." <u>Immunol Cell Biol</u> **90**(3): 321-329.

Menzies, F. M., A. H. Khan, C. A. Higgins, S. M. Nelson and R. J. Nibbs (2012). "The chemokine receptor CCR2 is not required for successful initiation of labor in mice." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **86**(4): 118.

Merlino, A. A., T. N. Welsh, H. Tan, L. J. Yi, V. Cannon, B. M. Mercer and S. Mesiano (2007). "Nuclear progesterone receptors in the human pregnancy myometrium: evidence that parturition involves functional progesterone withdrawal mediated by increased expression of progesterone receptor-A." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **92**(5): 1927-1933.

Mesiano, S., E. C. Chan, J. T. Fitter, K. Kwek, G. Yeo and R. Smith (2002). "Progesterone withdrawal and estrogen activation in human parturition are coordinated by progesterone receptor A expression in the myometrium." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **87**(6): 2924-2930.

Mesiano, S., Y. Wang and E. R. Norwitz (2011). "Progesterone receptors in the human pregnancy uterus: do they hold the key to birth timing?" <u>Reprod Sci</u> **18**(1): 6-19.

Mesiano, S. and T. N. Welsh (2007). "Steroid hormone control of myometrial contractility and parturition." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **18**(3): 321-331.

Migeotte, I., D. Communi and M. Parmentier (2006). "Formyl peptide receptors: a promiscuous subfamily of G protein-coupled receptors controlling immune responses." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **17**(6): 501-519.

Millea, P. J. (2009). "N-acetylcysteine: multiple clinical applications." <u>Am Fam Physician</u> **80**(3): 265-269.

Mitchell, B. F. and M. J. Taggart (2009). "Are animal models relevant to key aspects of human parturition?" <u>Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol</u> **297**(3): R525-545.

Mitchell, B. F. and S. Wong (1993). "Changes in 17 beta,20 alpha-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity supporting an increase in the estrogen/progesterone ratio of human fetal membranes at parturition." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **168**(5): 1377-1385.

Mitchell, M. D., D. L. Kraemer and D. M. Strickland (1982). "The human placenta: a major source of prostaglandin D2." <u>Prostaglandins Leukot Med</u> **8**(4): 383-387.

Mohan, A. R., S. R. Sooranna, T. M. Lindstrom, M. R. Johnson and P. R. Bennett (2007). "The effect of mechanical stretch on cyclooxygenase type 2 expression and activator protein-1 and nuclear factor-kappaB activity in human amnion cells." <u>Endocrinology</u> **148**(4): 1850-1857.

Monneret, G., H. Li, J. Vasilescu, J. Rokach and W. S. Powell (2002). "15-Deoxy-delta 12,14-prostaglandins D2 and J2 are potent activators of human eosinophils." <u>J Immunol</u> **168**(7): 3563-3569.

Montalbano, A. P., S. Hawgood and C. R. Mendelson (2013). "Mice deficient in surfactant protein A (SP-A) and SP-D or in TLR2 manifest delayed parturition and decreased expression of inflammatory and contractile genes." <u>Endocrinology</u> **154**(1): 483-498.

Mosher, A. A., K. J. Rainey, M. A. Giembycz, S. Wood and D. M. Slater (2012). "Prostaglandin E2 Represses Interleukin 1 Beta-Induced Inflammatory Mediator Output from Pregnant Human Myometrial Cells Through the EP2 and EP4 Receptors." <u>Biology of Reproduction</u> **87**(1): 7, 1-10.

Moss, M. L., S. L. Jin, M. E. Milla, D. M. Bickett, W. Burkhart, H. L. Carter, W. J. Chen, W. C. Clay, J. R. Didsbury, D. Hassler, C. R. Hoffman, T. A. Kost, M. H. Lambert, M. A. Leesnitzer, P. McCauley, G. McGeehan, J. Mitchell, M. Moyer, G. Pahel, W. Rocque, L. K. Overton, F. Schoenen, T. Seaton, J. L. Su, J. D. Becherer and et al. (1997). "Cloning of a disintegrin metalloproteinase that processes precursor tumour-necrosis factor-alpha." <u>Nature</u> **385**(6618): 733-736.

Mou, H., Z. Li, Y. Kong, B. Deng, L. Qian, J. Wang and Y. Le (2012). "Proinflammatory Stimulants Promote the Expression of a Promiscuous G Protein-Coupled Receptor, mFPR2, in Microvascular Endothelial Cells." <u>Inflammation</u> **35**(2): 656-664.

Mueller-Heubach, E., D. N. Rubinstein and S. S. Schwarz (1990). "Histologic chorioamnionitis and preterm delivery in different patient populations." <u>Obstet</u> <u>Gynecol</u> **75**(4): 622-626.

Murphy, S. P., L. D. Fast, N. N. Hanna and S. Sharma (2005). "Uterine NK Cells Mediate Inflammation-Induced Fetal Demise in IL-10-Null Mice." <u>The Journal of Immunology</u> **175**(6): 4084-4090.

Murphy, S. P., N. N. Hanna, L. D. Fast, S. K. Shaw, G. Berg, J. F. Padbury, R. Romero and S. Sharma (2009). "Evidence for participation of uterine natural killer cells in the mechanisms responsible for spontaneous preterm labor and delivery." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **200**(3): 308 e301-309.

Murray, P. J. and T. A. Wynn (2011). "Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **11**(11): 723-737.

Murtha, A. P., P. C. Greig, C. E. Jimmerson and W. N. Herbert (1998). "Maternal serum interleukin-6 concentration as a marker for impending preterm delivery." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **91**(2): 161-164.

Nair, P., M. M. Pizzichini, M. Kjarsgaard, M. D. Inman, A. Efthimiadis, E. Pizzichini, F. E. Hargreave and P. M. O'Byrne (2009). "Mepolizumab for prednisone-dependent asthma with sputum eosinophilia." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **360**(10): 985-993.

Nath, C. A., C. V. Ananth, J. C. Smulian and M. R. Peltier (2010). "Can sulfasalazine prevent infection-mediated pre-term birth in a murine model?" <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **63**(2): 144-149.

Nathan, C. (2006). "Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities." <u>Nat Rev</u> <u>Immunol</u> **6**(3): 173-182.

Nelson, D. R., G. Y. Lauwers, J. Y. Lau and G. L. Davis (2000). "Interleukin 10 treatment reduces fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C: a pilot trial of interferon nonresponders." <u>Gastroenterology</u> **118**(4): 655-660.

Niebyl, J. R., D. A. Blake, R. D. White, K. M. Kumor, N. H. Dubin, J. C. Robinson and P. G. Egner (1980). "The inhibition of premature labor with indomethacin." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **136**(8): 1014-1019.

Norman, J. E., F. Mackenzie, P. Owen, H. Mactier, K. Hanretty, S. Cooper, A. Calder, G. Mires, P. Danielian, S. Sturgiss, G. MacLennan, G. Tydeman, S. Thornton, B. Martin, J. G. Thornton, J. P. Neilson and J. Norrie (2009). "Progesterone for the prevention of preterm birth in twin pregnancy (STOPPIT): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study and meta-analysis." Lancet **373**(9680): 2034-2040.

Norman, J. E., C. Morris and J. Chalmers (2009). "The effect of changing patterns of obstetric care in Scotland (1980-2004) on rates of preterm birth and its neonatal consequences: perinatal database study." <u>PLoS Med</u> **6**(9): e1000153.

Norman, J. E., M. Yuan, L. Anderson, F. Howie, G. Harold, A. Young, F. Jordan, I. McInnes and M. M. Harnett (2011). "Effect of Prolonged In Vivo Administration of Progesterone in Pregnancy on Myometrial Gene Expression, Peripheral Blood Leukocyte Activation, and Circulating Steroid Hormone Levels." <u>Reproductive Sciences</u> **18**(5): 435-446.

Norton, M. E., J. Merrill, B. A. Cooper, J. A. Kuller and R. I. Clyman (1993). "Neonatal complications after the administration of indomethacin for preterm labor." <u>N Engl J</u> <u>Med</u> **329**(22): 1602-1607.

Norwitz, E. R., P. M. Starkey and A. Lopez Bernal (1992). "Prostaglandin D2 production by term human decidua: cellular origins defined using flow cytometry." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **80**(3 Pt 1): 440-445.

O'Brien, J. M., C. D. Adair, D. F. Lewis, D. R. Hall, E. A. Defranco, S. Fusey, P. Soma-Pillay, K. Porter, H. How, R. Schackis, D. Eller, Y. Trivedi, G. Vanburen, M. Khandelwal, K. Trofatter, D. Vidyadhari, J. Vijayaraghavan, J. Weeks, B. Dattel, E. Newton, C. Chazotte, G. Valenzuela, P. Calda, M. Bsharat and G. W. Creasy (2007). "Progesterone vaginal gel for the reduction of recurrent preterm birth: primary results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial." <u>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</u> **30**(5): 687-696.

O'Brien, J. M., E. A. Defranco, C. D. Adair, D. F. Lewis, D. R. Hall, H. How, M. Bsharat and G. W. Creasy (2009). "Effect of progesterone on cervical shortening in women at risk for preterm birth: secondary analysis from a multinational, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial." <u>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</u> **34**(6): 653-659.

Okamoto, T. (2006). "NF-kappaB and rheumatic diseases." <u>Endocr Metab Immune</u> <u>Disord Drug Targets</u> **6**(4): 359-372.

Olah, K. S., G. S. Vince, J. P. Neilson, G. Deniz and P. M. Johnson (1996). "Interleukin-6, interferon-gamma, interleukin-8, and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor levels in human amniotic fluid at term." J Reprod Immunol **32**(1): 89-98.

Olson, D. M. (2003). "The role of prostaglandins in the initiation of parturition." <u>Best</u> <u>Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol</u> **17**(5): 717-730.

Olson, D. M., D. B. Zaragoza, M. C. Shallow, J. L. Cook, B. F. Mitchell, P. Grigsby and J. Hirst (2003). "Myometrial activation and preterm labour: evidence supporting a role for the prostaglandin F receptor--a review." <u>Placenta</u> **24 Suppl A**: S47-54.

Origuchi, T., K. Migita, T. Nakashima, S. Honda, S. Yamasaki, A. Hida, A. Kawakami, T. Aoyagi, Y. Kawabe and K. Eguchi (2000). "Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human osteoblastic cells by N-acetylcysteine." J Lab Clin Med **136**(5): 390-394.

Orsi, N. M. and R. M. Tribe (2008). "Cytokine networks and the regulation of uterine function in pregnancy and parturition." <u>J Neuroendocrinol</u> **20**(4): 462-469.

Osman, I., M. Crawford, F. Jordan, A. Young, J. Norman and A. Thomson (2004). "Expression and localization of cell adhesion molecules in human fetal membranes during parturition." <u>J Reprod Immunol</u> **63**(1): 11-21.

Osman, I., A. Young, F. Jordan, I. A. Greer and J. E. Norman (2006). "Leukocyte density and proinflammatory mediator expression in regional human fetal membranes and decidua before and during labor at term." J Soc Gynecol Investig **13**(2): 97-103.

Osman, I., A. Young, M. A. Ledingham, A. J. Thomson, F. Jordan, I. A. Greer and J. E. Norman (2003). "Leukocyte density and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in human fetal membranes, decidua, cervix and myometrium before and during labour at term." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **9**(1): 41-45.

Pang, Y., S. Rodts-Palenik, Z. Cai, W. A. Bennett and P. G. Rhodes (2005). "Suppression of glial activation is involved in the protection of IL-10 on maternal E. coli induced neonatal white matter injury." <u>Brain Res Dev Brain Res</u> **157**(2): 141-149.

Panter, K. R., M. E. Hannah, K. S. Amankwah, A. Ohlsson, A. L. Jefferies and D. Farine (1999). "The effect of indomethacin tocolysis in preterm labour on perinatal outcome: a randomised placebo-controlled trial." <u>Br J Obstet Gynaecol</u> **106**(5): 467-473.

Papayianni, A., C. N. Serhan and H. R. Brady (1996). "Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotriene-stimulated interactions of human neutrophils and endothelial cells." J Immunol **156**(6): 2264-2272.

Patni, S., P. Flynn, L. P. Wynen, A. L. Seager, G. Morgan, J. O. White and C. A. Thornton (2007). "An introduction to Toll-like receptors and their possible role in the initiation of labour." <u>BJOG</u> **114**(11): 1326-1334.

Paulesu, L., J. Bhattacharjee, N. Bechi, R. Romagnoli, S. Jantra and F. Ietta (2010). "Proinflammatory cytokines in animal and human gestation." <u>Curr Pharm Des</u> **16**(32): 3601-3615.

Peltier, M. R., S. C. Tee, W. L. Kinzler and J. C. Smulian (2009). "Effect of sulfasalazine on basal and bacteria-stimulated interleukin-8 production by endocervical epithelial cells." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **61**(3): 190-195.

Petrocelli, T. and S. J. Lye (1993). "Regulation of transcripts encoding the myometrial gap junction protein, connexin-43, by estrogen and progesterone." <u>Endocrinology</u> **133**(1): 284-290.

Peyron, R., E. Aubeny, V. Targosz, L. Silvestre, M. Renault, F. Elkik, P. Leclerc, A. Ulmann and E. E. Baulieu (1993). "Early termination of pregnancy with mifepristone (RU 486) and the orally active prostaglandin misoprostol." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **328**(21): 1509-1513.

Pieber, D., V. C. Allport, F. Hills, M. Johnson and P. R. Bennett (2001). "Interactions between progesterone receptor isoforms in myometrial cells in human labour." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **7**(9): 875-879.

Pineda, A., S. L. Verdin-Teran, A. Camacho and L. Moreno-Fierros (2011). "Expression of toll-like receptor TLR-2, TLR-3, TLR-4 and TLR-9 is increased in placentas from patients with preeclampsia." <u>Arch Med Res</u> **42**(5): 382-391.

Pinto, R. M., U. Lerner, M. Glauberman and H. Pontelli (1966). "Influence of estradiol-17-beta upon the oxytocic action of oxytocin in the pregnant human uterus." <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **96**(6): 857-862.

Pirianov, G., S. N. Waddington, T. M. Lindstrom, V. Terzidou, H. Mehmet and P. R. Bennett (2009). "The cyclopentenone 15-deoxy-delta 12,14-prostaglandin J(2) delays lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm delivery and reduces mortality in the newborn mouse." <u>Endocrinology</u> **150**(2): 699-706.

Pollard, J. K. and M. D. Mitchell (1996). "Intrauterine infection and the effects of inflammatory mediators on prostaglandin production by myometrial cells from pregnant women." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **174**(2): 682-686.

Pomini, F., A. Caruso and J. R. Challis (1999). "Interleukin-10 modifies the effects of interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha on the activity and expression of prostaglandin H synthase-2 and the NAD+-dependent 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase in cultured term human villous trophoblast and chorion trophoblast cells." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **84**(12): 4645-4651.

Pons, F., T. J. Williams, S. A. Kirk, F. McDonald and A. G. Rossi (1994). "Pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory effects of the stable prostaglandin D2 analogue, ZK 118.182." <u>Eur J Pharmacol</u> **261**(3): 237-247.

Rajakariar, R., M. Hilliard, T. Lawrence, S. Trivedi, P. Colville-Nash, G. Bellingan, D. Fitzgerald, M. M. Yaqoob and D. W. Gilroy (2007). "Hematopoietic prostaglandin D2 synthase controls the onset and resolution of acute inflammation through PGD2 and 15-deoxyDelta12 14 PGJ2." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(52): 20979-20984.

Rampart, M. and T. J. Williams (1986). "Polymorphonuclear leukocyte-dependent plasma leakage in the rabbit skin is enhanced or inhibited by prostacyclin, depending on the route of administration." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **124**(1): 66-73.

Ratajczak, C. K., J. C. Fay and L. J. Muglia (2010). "Preventing preterm birth: the past limitations and new potential of animal models." <u>Dis Model Mech</u> **3**(7-8): 407-414.

Rauk, P. N. and J. P. Chiao (2000). "Interleukin-1 stimulates human uterine prostaglandin production through induction of cyclooxygenase-2 expression." <u>Am J</u> <u>Reprod Immunol</u> **43**(3): 152-159.

RCOG (2011). Tocolysis for Women in Preterm Labour - Green-top Guideline 1b, Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists.

Reinheimer, T. M. (2007). "Barusiban suppresses oxytocin-induced preterm labour in non-human primates." <u>BMC Pregnancy Childbirth</u> **7 Suppl 1**: S15.

Renthal, N. E., C.-C. Chen, K. r. C. Williams, R. D. Gerard, J. Prange-Kiel and C. R. Mendelson (2010). "miR-200 family and targets, ZEB1 and ZEB2, modulate uterine quiescence and contractility during pregnancy and labor." <u>Proceedings of the National</u> Academy of Sciences **107**(48): 20828-20833.

Reuter, B. K., S. Asfaha, A. Buret, K. A. Sharkey and J. L. Wallace (1996). "Exacerbation of inflammation-associated colonic injury in rat through inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2." J <u>Clin Invest</u> **98**(9): 2076-2085.

Reznikov, L. L., G. Fantuzzi, C. H. Selzman, B. D. Shames, H. A. Barton, H. Bell, J. A. McGregor and C. A. Dinarello (1999). "Utilization of endoscopic inoculation in a mouse model of intrauterine infection-induced preterm birth: role of interleukin 1beta." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **60**(5): 1231-1238.

Ribes, S., T. Regen, T. Meister, S. C. Tauber, S. Schutze, A. Mildner, M. Mack, U. K. Hanisch and R. Nau (2013). "Resistance of the Brain to Escherichia coli K1 Infection Depends on MyD88 Signaling and the Contribution of Neutrophils and Monocytes." <u>Infect Immun</u> **81**(5): 1810-1819.

Riches, D. W., E. D. Chan and B. W. Winston (1996). "TNF-alpha-induced regulation and signalling in macrophages." <u>Immunobiology</u> **195**(4-5): 477-490.

Ricote, M., A. C. Li, T. M. Willson, C. J. Kelly and C. K. Glass (1998). "The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma is a negative regulator of macrophage activation." <u>Nature</u> **391**(6662): 79-82.

Riley, S. C., R. Leask, F. C. Denison, K. Wisely, A. A. Calder and D. C. Howe (1999). "Secretion of tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases by human fetal membranes, decidua and placenta at parturition." <u>J Endocrinol</u> **162**(3): 351-359.

Rinaldi, S. F., J. L. Hutchinson, A. G. Rossi and J. E. Norman (2011). "Anti-inflammatory mediators as physiological and pharmacological regulators of parturition." <u>Expert Rev</u> <u>Clin Immunol</u> **7**(5): 675-696.

Rizk, A. Y., M. A. Bedaiwy and H. G. Al-Inany (2005). "N-acetyl-cysteine is a novel adjuvant to clomiphene citrate in clomiphene citrate-resistant patients with polycystic ovary syndrome." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **83**(2): 367-370.

Robertson, S. A., I. Christiaens, C. L. Dorian, D. B. Zaragoza, A. S. Care, A. M. Banks and D. M. Olson (2010). "Interleukin-6 is an essential determinant of on-time parturition in the mouse." <u>Endocrinology</u> **151**(8): 3996-4006.

Robertson, S. A., R. J. Skinner and A. S. Care (2006). "Essential role for IL-10 in resistance to lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm labor in mice." J Immunol **177**(7): 4888-4896.

Rodts-Palenik, S., J. Wyatt-Ashmead, Y. Pang, B. Thigpen, Z. Cai, P. Rhodes, J. N. Martin, J. Granger and W. A. Bennett (2004). "Maternal infection-induced white matter injury is reduced by treatment with interleukin-10." Am J Obstet Gynecol **191**(4): 1387-1392.

Roh, C. R., W. J. Oh, B. K. Yoon and J. H. Lee (2000). "Up-regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in human myometrium during labour: a cytokine-mediated process in uterine smooth muscle cells." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **6**(1): 96-102.

Romero, R., J. Espinoza, J. P. Kusanovic, F. Gotsch, S. Hassan, O. Erez, T. Chaiworapongsa and M. Mazor (2006). "The preterm parturition syndrome." BJOG **113 Suppl 3**: 17-42.

Romero, R., M. Mazor and B. Tartakovsky (1991). "Systemic administration of interleukin-1 induces preterm parturition in mice." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **165**(4 Pt 1): 969-971.

Romero, R., W. Sepulveda, M. Mazor, F. Brandt, D. B. Cotton, C. A. Dinarello and M. D. Mitchell (1992). "The natural interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in term and preterm parturition." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **167**(4 Pt 1): 863-872.

Romero, R., M. Sirtori, E. Oyarzun, C. Avila, M. Mazor, R. Callahan, V. Sabo, A. P. Athanassiadis and J. C. Hobbins (1989). "Infection and labor. V. Prevalence, microbiology, and clinical significance of intraamniotic infection in women with preterm labor and intact membranes." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **161**(3): 817-824.

Romero, R. and B. Tartakovsky (1992). "The natural interleukin-1 receptor antagonist prevents interleukin-1-induced preterm delivery in mice." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **167**(4 Pt 1): 1041-1045.

Rossi, A., P. Kapahi, G. Natoli, T. Takahashi, Y. Chen, M. Karin and M. G. Santoro (2000). "Anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IkappaB kinase." <u>Nature</u> **403**(6765): 103-108.

Roth, I., D. B. Corry, R. M. Locksley, J. S. Abrams, M. J. Litton and S. J. Fisher (1996). "Human placental cytotrophoblasts produce the immunosuppressive cytokine interleukin 10." J Exp Med **184**(2): 539-548.

Roth, I. and S. J. Fisher (1999). "IL-10 is an autocrine inhibitor of human placental cytotrophoblast MMP-9 production and invasion." <u>Dev Biol</u> **205**(1): 194-204.

Rumiris, D., Y. Purwosunu, N. Wibowo, A. Farina and A. Sekizawa (2006). "Lower rate of preeclampsia after antioxidant supplementation in pregnant women with low antioxidant status." <u>Hypertens Pregnancy</u> **25**(3): 241-253.

Russell, R., I. Gori, C. Pellegrini, R. Kumar, C. Achtari and G. O. Canny (2011). "Lipoxin A4 is a novel estrogen receptor modulator." <u>FASEB J</u> **25**(12): 4326-4337.

Sabat, R., G. Grutz, K. Warszawska, S. Kirsch, E. Witte, K. Wolk and J. Geginat (2010). "Biology of interleukin-10." <u>Cytokine Growth Factor Rev</u> **21**(5): 331-344.

Sadowsky, D. W., K. M. Adams, M. G. Gravett, S. S. Witkin and M. J. Novy (2006). "Preterm labor is induced by intraamniotic infusions of interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha but not by interleukin-6 or interleukin-8 in a nonhuman primate model." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **195**(6): 1578-1589.

Sadowsky, D. W., M. J. Novy, S. S. Witkin and M. G. Gravett (2003). "Dexamethasone or interleukin-10 blocks interleukin-1beta-induced uterine contractions in pregnant rhesus monkeys." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **188**(1): 252-263.

Saigal, S. and L. W. Doyle (2008). "An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood." <u>Lancet</u> **371**(9608): 261-269.

Saito, S. (2000). "Cytokine network at the feto-maternal interface." <u>J Reprod Immunol</u> **47**(2): 87-103.

Salminen, A., R. Vuolteenaho, R. Paananen, M. Ojaniemi and M. Hallman (2011). "Surfactant protein A modulates the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response related to preterm birth." <u>Cytokine</u> **56**(2): 442-449.

Sato, T. A., J. A. Keelan and M. D. Mitchell (2003). "Critical paracrine interactions between TNF-alpha and IL-10 regulate lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human choriodecidual cytokine and prostaglandin E2 production." <u>J Immunol</u> **170**(1): 158-166. Sawdy, R., G. A. Knock, P. R. Bennett, L. Poston and P. I. Aaronson (1998). "Effect of nimesulide and indomethacin on contractility and the Ca2+ channel current in myometrial smooth muscle from pregnant women." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **125**(6): 1212-1217. Schaldach, C. M., J. Riby and L. F. Bjeldanes (1999). "Lipoxin A4: a new class of ligand for the Ah receptor." <u>Biochemistry</u> **38**(23): 7594-7600.

Schatz, F., U. A. Kayisli, E. Vatandaslar, N. Ocak, S. Guller, V. M. Abrahams, G. Krikun and C. J. Lockwood (2012). "Toll-like receptor 4 expression in decidual cells and interstitial trophoblasts across human pregnancy." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **68**(2): 146-153.

Scher, J. U. and M. H. Pillinger (2005). "15d-PGJ2: the anti-inflammatory prostaglandin?" <u>Clin Immunol</u> **114**(2): 100-109.

Schlafer, D. H., B. Yuh, G. L. Foley, T. H. Elssaser, D. Sadowsky and P. W. Nathanielsz (1994). "Effect of Salmonella endotoxin administered to the pregnant sheep at 133-142 days gestation on fetal oxygenation, maternal and fetal adrenocorticotropic hormone and cortisol, and maternal plasma tumor necrosis factor alpha concentrations." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **50**(6): 1297-1302.

Schmouder, V. M., G. M. Prescott, A. Franco and P. Fan-Havard (2013). "The Rebirth of Progesterone in the Prevention of Preterm Labor." <u>The Annals of Pharmacotherapy</u> **47**(4): 527-536.

Schwartz, N., X. Xue, M. A. Elovitz, O. Dowling and C. N. Metz (2009). "Progesterone suppresses the fetal inflammatory response ex vivo." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **201**(2): 211 e211-219.

Scully, M., C. Gang, C. Condron, D. Bouchier-Hayes and A. J. Cunningham (2012). "Protective role of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 in experimental lung injury: evidence of a lipoxin A4-mediated effect." <u>I Surg Res</u> **175**(1): 176-184.

Senior, J., K. Marshall, R. Sangha and J. K. Clayton (1993). "In vitro characterization of prostanoid receptors on human myometrium at term pregnancy." <u>Br J Pharmacol</u> **108**(2): 501-506.

Sennstrom, M. B., G. Ekman, G. Westergren-Thorsson, A. Malmstrom, B. Bystrom, U. Endresen, N. Mlambo, M. Norman, B. Stabi and A. Brauner (2000). "Human cervical ripening, an inflammatory process mediated by cytokines." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **6**(4): 375-381.

Serhan, C. N. (1997). "Lipoxins and novel aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxins (ATL): a jungle of cell-cell interactions or a therapeutic opportunity?" <u>Prostaglandins</u> **53**(2): 107-137.

Serhan, C. N., S. D. Brain, C. D. Buckley, D. W. Gilroy, C. Haslett, L. A. O'Neill, M. Perretti, A. G. Rossi and J. L. Wallace (2007). "Resolution of inflammation: state of the art, definitions and terms." <u>FASEB [</u>**21**(2): 325-332.

Serhan, C. N., N. Chiang and T. E. Van Dyke (2008). "Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **8**(5): 349-361.

Serhan, C. N., M. Hamberg and B. Samuelsson (1984). "Lipoxins: novel series of biologically active compounds formed from arachidonic acid in human leukocytes." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **81**(17): 5335-5339.

Serhan, C. N., M. Hamberg and B. Samuelsson (1984). "Trihydroxytetraenes: a novel series of compounds formed from arachidonic acid in human leukocytes." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Biophys Res Commun</u> **118**(3): 943-949.

Serhan, C. N., J. F. Maddox, N. A. Petasis, I. Akritopoulou-Zanze, A. Papayianni, H. R. Brady, S. P. Colgan and J. L. Madara (1995). "Design of lipoxin A4 stable analogs that block transmigration and adhesion of human neutrophils." <u>Biochemistry</u> **34**(44): 14609-14615.

Shahin, A. Y., I. M. Hassanin, A. M. Ismail, J. S. Kruessel and J. Hirchenhain (2009). "Effect of oral N-acetyl cysteine on recurrent preterm labor following treatment for bacterial vaginosis." Int J Gynaecol Obstet **104**(1): 44-48.

Shatrov, J. G., S. C. Birch, L. T. Lam, J. A. Quinlivan, S. McIntyre and G. L. Mendz (2010). "Chorioamnionitis and cerebral palsy: a meta-analysis." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **116**(2 Pt 1): 387-392.

Shi, C., T. M. Hohl, I. Leiner, M. J. Equinda, X. Fan and E. G. Pamer (2011). "Ly6G+ neutrophils are dispensable for defense against systemic Listeria monocytogenes infection." J Immunol **187**(10): 5293-5298.

Shields, A. D., J. Wright, D. J. Paonessa, J. Gotkin, B. C. Howard, N. J. Hoeldtke and P. G. Napolitano (2005). "Progesterone modulation of inflammatory cytokine production in a fetoplacental artery explant model." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **193**(3 Pt 2): 1144-1148.

Shortman, K. and S. H. Naik (2007). "Steady-state and inflammatory dendritic-cell development." <u>Nat Rev Immunol</u> **7**(1): 19-30.

Shynlova, O., R. Kwong and S. J. Lye (2010). "Mechanical stretch regulates hypertrophic phenotype of the myometrium during pregnancy." <u>Reproduction</u> **139**(1): 247-253.

Shynlova, O., Y. H. Lee, K. Srikhajon and S. J. Lye (2013). "Physiologic uterine inflammation and labor onset: integration of endocrine and mechanical signals." <u>Reprod Sci **20**(2)</u>: 154-167.

Shynlova, O., T. Nedd-Roderique, Y. Li, A. Dorogin and S. J. Lye (2013). "Myometrial immune cells contribute to term parturition, preterm labour and post-partum involution in mice." Journal of cellular and molecular medicine **17**(1): 90-102.

Shynlova, O., T. Nedd-Roderique, Y. Li, A. Dorogin, T. Nguyen and S. J. Lye (2013). "Infiltration of myeloid cells into decidua is a critical early event in the labour cascade and post-partum uterine remodelling." Journal of cellular and molecular medicine: n/a-n/a.

Shynlova, O., P. Tsui, A. Dorogin and S. J. Lye (2008). "Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (CCL-2) integrates mechanical and endocrine signals that mediate term and preterm labor." <u>J Immunol</u> **181**(2): 1470-1479.

Silver, R. M., W. S. Lohner, R. A. Daynes, M. D. Mitchell and D. W. Branch (1994). "Lipopolysaccharide-induced fetal death: the role of tumor-necrosis factor alpha." <u>Biol</u> <u>Reprod</u> **50**(5): 1108-1112.

Simoes, R. L., Y. Niconi-de-Almeida, A. R. da-Fe, C. Barja-Fidalgo and I. M. Fierro (2010). "A synthetic analog of 15-epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits human monocyte apoptosis: involvement of ERK-2 and PI3-kinase." <u>Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat</u> **91**(1-2): 10-17.

Simon, C., P. Caballero-Campo, J. A. Garcia-Velasco and A. Pellicer (1998). "Potential implications of chemokines in reproductive function: an attractive idea." <u>J Reprod</u> <u>Immunol</u> **38**(2): 169-193.

Simpson, K. L., J. A. Keelan and M. D. Mitchell (1998). "Labor-associated changes in interleukin-10 production and its regulation by immunomodulators in human choriodecidua." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **83**(12): 4332-4337.

Slater, D. M., L. C. Berger, R. Newton, G. E. Moore and P. R. Bennett (1995). "EXPRESSION OF CYCLOOXYGENASE TYPE-1 AND TYPE-2 IN HUMAN FETAL MEMBRANES AT TERM." <u>American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</u> **172**(1): 77-82. Slater, D. M., W. J. Dennes, J. S. Campa, L. Poston and P. R. Bennett (1999). "Expression of cyclo-oxygenase types-1 and -2 in human myometrium throughout pregnancy." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **5**(9): 880-884.

Smith, G. C., W. X. Wu and P. W. Nathanielsz (2001). "Lipoxygenase gene expression in baboon intrauterine tissues in late pregnancy and parturition." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **7**(6): 587-594.

Smith, V., D. Devane, C. M. Begley, M. Clarke and S. Higgins (2009). "A systematic review and quality assessment of systematic reviews of randomised trials of interventions for preventing and treating preterm birth." <u>Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol</u> **142**(1): 3-11.

So, T., A. Ito, T. Sato, Y. Mori and S. Hirakawa (1992). "Tumor necrosis factor-alpha stimulates the biosynthesis of matrix metalloproteinases and plasminogen activator in cultured human chorionic cells." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **46**(5): 772-778.

Sobrado, M., M. P. Pereira, I. Ballesteros, O. Hurtado, D. Fernandez-Lopez, J. M. Pradillo, J. R. Caso, J. Vivancos, F. Nombela, J. Serena, I. Lizasoain and M. A. Moro (2009). "Synthesis of lipoxin A4 by 5-lipoxygenase mediates PPARgamma-dependent, neuroprotective effects of rosiglitazone in experimental stroke." J Neurosci **29**(12): 3875-3884.

Sodin-Semrl, S., B. Taddeo, D. Tseng, J. Varga and S. Fiore (2000). "Lipoxin A4 Inhibits IL-1 β -Induced IL-6, IL-8, and Matrix Metalloproteinase-3 Production in Human Synovial Fibroblasts and Enhances Synthesis of Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases." The Journal of Immunology **164**(5): 2660-2666.

Sooranna, S. R., P. L. Grigsby, N. Engineer, Z. Liang, K. Sun, L. Myatt and M. R. Johnson (2006). "Myometrial prostaglandin E2 synthetic enzyme mRNA expression: spatial and temporal variations with pregnancy and labour." Mol Hum Reprod **12**(10): 625-631.

Sooranna, S. R., Y. Lee, L. U. Kim, A. R. Mohan, P. R. Bennett and M. R. Johnson (2004). "Mechanical stretch activates type 2 cyclooxygenase via activator protein-1 transcription factor in human myometrial cells." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **10**(2): 109-113.

Stables, M. J., S. Shah, E. B. Camon, R. C. Lovering, J. Newson, J. Bystrom, S. Farrow and D. W. Gilroy (2011). "Transcriptomic analyses of murine resolution-phase macrophages." <u>Blood</u> **118**(26): e192-208.

Sternlicht, M. D. and Z. Werb (2001). "How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior." <u>Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> **17**: 463-516.

Stoneman, V., D. Braganza, N. Figg, J. Mercer, R. Lang, M. Goddard and M. Bennett (2007). "Monocyte/macrophage suppression in CD11b diphtheria toxin receptor transgenic mice differentially affects atherogenesis and established plaques." <u>Circ Res</u> **100**(6): 884-893.

Stygar, D., H. Wang, Y. S. Vladic, G. Ekman, H. Eriksson and L. Sahlin (2002). "Increased level of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 in the ripening process of the human cervix." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **67**(3): 889-894.

Sun, Y., X. Qin, B. Shan, W. Wang, Q. Zhu, S. Sharma, J. Wu and Y. Lin (2013). "Differential effects of the CpG-TLR9 axis on pregnancy outcome in nonobese diabetic mice and wild-type controls." <u>Fertil Steril</u>.

Swaisgood, C. M., H. X. Zu, D. J. Perkins, S. C. Wu, C. L. Garver, P. D. Zimmerman, J. D. Iams and D. A. Kniss (1997). "Coordinate expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and cyclooxygenase-2 genes in uterine tissues of endotoxin-treated pregnant mice." American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology **177**(5): 1253-1262.

Sykes, L., B. R. Herbert, D. A. Macintyre, E. Hunte, S. Ponnampalam, M. R. Johnson, T. G. Teoh and P. R. Bennett (2013). "The CRTH2 agonist Pyl A prevents LPS induced fetal death but induces preterm labour." <u>Immunology</u>.

Sykes, L., D. A. MacIntyre, X. J. Yap, S. Ponnampalam, T. G. Teoh and P. R. Bennett (2012). "Changes in the Th1:Th2 cytokine bias in pregnancy and the effects of the antiinflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandin 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin J2." <u>Mediators Inflamm</u> **2012**: 416739. Takano, T., S. Fiore, J. F. Maddox, H. R. Brady, N. A. Petasis and C. N. Serhan (1997). "Aspirin-triggered 15-epi-lipoxin A4 (LXA4) and LXA4 stable analogues are potent inhibitors of acute inflammation: evidence for anti-inflammatory receptors." <u>J Exp Med</u> **185**(9): 1693-1704.

Takeda, K. and S. Akira (2001). "Roles of Toll-like receptors in innate immune responses." <u>Genes Cells</u> **6**(9): 733-742.

Tan, H., L. Yi, N. S. Rote, W. W. Hurd and S. Mesiano (2012). "Progesterone receptor-A and -B have opposite effects on proinflammatory gene expression in human myometrial cells: implications for progesterone actions in human pregnancy and parturition." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **97**(5): E719-730.

Tate, M. D., A. G. Brooks and P. C. Reading (2008). "The role of neutrophils in the upper and lower respiratory tract during influenza virus infection of mice." <u>Respir Res</u> **9**: 57.

Tate, M. D., Y. M. Deng, J. E. Jones, G. P. Anderson, A. G. Brooks and P. C. Reading (2009). "Neutrophils ameliorate lung injury and the development of severe disease during influenza infection." <u>I Immunol</u> **183**(11): 7441-7450.

Tazawa, H., F. Okada, T. Kobayashi, M. Tada, Y. Mori, Y. Une, F. Sendo, M. Kobayashi and M. Hosokawa (2003). "Infiltration of neutrophils is required for acquisition of metastatic phenotype of benign murine fibrosarcoma cells: implication of inflammation-associated carcinogenesis and tumor progression." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **163**(6): 2221-2232.

Terrone, D. A., B. K. Rinehart, J. P. Granger, P. S. Barrilleaux, J. N. Martin, Jr. and W. A. Bennett (2001). "Interleukin-10 administration and bacterial endotoxin-induced preterm birth in a rat model." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **98**(3): 476-480.

Thaxton, J. E., R. Romero and S. Sharma (2009). "TLR9 activation coupled to IL-10 deficiency induces adverse pregnancy outcomes." <u>J Immunol</u> **183**(2): 1144-1154.

Thaxton, J. E. and S. Sharma (2010). "Interleukin-10: a multi-faceted agent of pregnancy." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **63**(6): 482-491.

Thomakos, N., G. Daskalakis, A. Papapanagiotou, N. Papantoniou, S. Mesogitis and A. Antsaklis (2010). "Amniotic fluid interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha at mid-trimester genetic amniocentesis: relationship to intra-amniotic microbial invasion and preterm delivery." <u>Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol</u> **148**(2): 147-151.

Thomson, A. J., J. F. Telfer, A. Young, S. Campbell, C. J. Stewart, I. T. Cameron, I. A. Greer and J. E. Norman (1999). "Leukocytes infiltrate the myometrium during human parturition: further evidence that labour is an inflammatory process." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **14**(1): 229-236.

Thota, C., T. Farmer, R. E. Garfield, R. Menon and A. Al-Hendy (2013). "Vitamin d elicits anti-inflammatory response, inhibits contractile-associated proteins, and modulates toll-like receptors in human myometrial cells." <u>Reprod Sci</u> **20**(4): 463-475.

Tidball, J. G. and M. Wehling-Henricks (2007). "Macrophages promote muscle membrane repair and muscle fibre growth and regeneration during modified muscle loading in mice in vivo." <u>J Physiol</u> **578**(Pt 1): 327-336.

Timmons, B. C., A. M. Fairhurst and M. S. Mahendroo (2009). "Temporal changes in myeloid cells in the cervix during pregnancy and parturition." <u>J Immunol</u> **182**(5): 2700-2707.

Timmons, B. C. and M. S. Mahendroo (2006). "Timing of neutrophil activation and expression of proinflammatory markers do not support a role for neutrophils in cervical ripening in the mouse." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **74**(2): 236-245.

Trautman, M. S., D. Collmer, S. S. Edwin, W. White, M. D. Mitchell and D. J. Dudley (1997). "Expression of interleukin-10 in human gestational tissues." <u>J Soc Gynecol Investig</u> **4**(5): 247-253. Tribe, R. M., P. Moriarty, A. Dalrymple, A. A. Hassoni and L. Poston (2003). "Interleukin-1beta induces calcium transients and enhances basal and store operated calcium entry in human myometrial smooth muscle." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **68**(5): 1842-1849.

Tulchinsky, D., C. J. Hobel, E. Yeager and J. R. Marshall (1972). "Plasma estrone, estradiol, estriol, progesterone, and 17-hydroxyprogesterone in human pregnancy. I. Normal pregnancy." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **112**(8): 1095-1100.

Tvinnereim, A. R., S. E. Hamilton and J. T. Harty (2004). "Neutrophil Involvement in Cross-Priming CD8+ T Cell Responses to Bacterial Antigens." <u>The Journal of Immunology</u> **173**(3): 1994-2002.

Unlugedik, E., N. Alfaidy, A. Holloway, S. Lye, A. Bocking, J. Challis and W. Gibb (2010). "Expression and regulation of prostaglandin receptors in the human placenta and fetal membranes at term and preterm." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **22**(5): 796-807.

Van Rooijen, N. and A. Sanders (1994). "Liposome mediated depletion of macrophages: mechanism of action, preparation of liposomes and applications." <u>J Immunol Methods</u> **174**(1-2): 83-93.

VanMeir, C. A., R. K. Sangha, J. C. Walton, S. G. Matthews, M. Keirse and J. R. G. Challis (1996). "Immunoreactive 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (PGDH) is reduced in fetal membranes from patients at preterm delivery in the presence of infection." <u>Placenta</u> **17**(5-6): 291-297.

VanMeir, C. A. V., M. M. Ramirez, S. G. Matthews, A. A. Calder, M. Keirse and J. R. G. Challis (1997). "Chorionic prostaglandin catabolism is decreased in the lower uterine segment with term labour." <u>Placenta</u> **18**(2-3): 109-114.

Vaughn, M. W., R. J. Proske and D. L. Haviland (2002). "Identification, cloning, and functional characterization of a murine lipoxin A4 receptor homologue gene." [Immunol **169**(6): 3363-3369.

Villar, J., A. T. Papageorghiou, H. E. Knight, M. G. Gravett, J. Iams, S. A. Waller, M. Kramer, J. F. Culhane, F. C. Barros, A. Conde-Agudelo, Z. A. Bhutta and R. L. Goldenberg (2012). "The preterm birth syndrome: a prototype phenotypic classification." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **206**(2): 119-123.

Vora, S., A. Abbas, C. J. Kim, T. L. Summerfield, J. P. Kusanovic, J. D. Iams, R. Romero, D. A. Kniss and W. E. t. Ackerman (2010). "Nuclear factor-kappa B localization and function within intrauterine tissues from term and preterm labor and cultured fetal membranes." <u>Reprod Biol Endocrinol</u> **8**: 8.

Wahl, C., S. Liptay, G. Adler and R. M. Schmid (1998). "Sulfasalazine: a potent and specific inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **101**(5): 1163-1174.

Wang, H. and E. Hirsch (2003). "Bacterially-induced preterm labor and regulation of prostaglandin-metabolizing enzyme expression in mice: the role of toll-like receptor 4." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **69**(6): 1957-1963.

Wang, P., P. Wu, M. I. Siegel, R. W. Egan and M. M. Billah (1995). "Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kappa B (NF kappa B) activation in human monocytes. IL-10 and IL-4 suppress cytokine synthesis by different mechanisms." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **270**(16): 9558-9563.

Wang, X., Y. Wang, X. Zhao, R. Andersson, Z. Song and D. Yang (2009). "Potential effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor activator on LPS-induced lung injury in rats." <u>Pulm Pharmacol Ther</u> **22**(4): 318-325.

Wang, Y. P., Y. Wu, L. Y. Li, J. Zheng, R. G. Liu, J. P. Zhou, S. Y. Yuan, Y. Shang and S. L. Yao (2011). "Aspirin-triggered lipoxin A4 attenuates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory responses by inhibiting activation of NF-kappaB and MAPKs in BV-2 microglial cells." <u>J</u> <u>Neuroinflammation</u> **8**: 95.

Ward, C., I. Dransfield, J. Murray, S. N. Farrow, C. Haslett and A. G. Rossi (2002). "Prostaglandin D2 and its metabolites induce caspase-dependent granulocyte apoptosis that is mediated via inhibition of I kappa B alpha degradation using a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma-independent mechanism." J Immunol **168**(12): 6232-6243.

Watari, M., H. Watari, M. E. DiSanto, S. Chacko, G. P. Shi and J. F. Strauss, 3rd (1999). "Pro-inflammatory cytokines induce expression of matrix-metabolizing enzymes in human cervical smooth muscle cells." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **154**(6): 1755-1762.

Weber, C. K., S. Liptay, T. Wirth, G. Adler and R. M. Schmid (2000). "Suppression of NF-kappaB activity by sulfasalazine is mediated by direct inhibition of IkappaB kinases alpha and beta." <u>Gastroenterology</u> **119**(5): 1209-1218.

Westover, A. J., S. B. Hooper, M. J. Wallace and T. J. Moss (2012). "Prostaglandins mediate the fetal pulmonary response to intrauterine inflammation." <u>Am J Physiol Lung</u> <u>Cell Mol Physiol</u> **302**(7): L664-678.

Williams, K. C., N. E. Renthal, J. C. Condon, R. D. Gerard and C. R. Mendelson (2012). "MicroRNA-200a serves a key role in the decline of progesterone receptor function leading to term and preterm labor." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **109**(19): 7529-7534.

Willman, E. A. and W. P. Collins (1976). "Distribution of prostaglandins E2 and F2 alpha within the foetoplacental unit throughout human pregnancy." <u>J Endocrinol</u> **69**(3): 413-419.

Wojtasiak, M., D. L. Pickett, M. D. Tate, S. L. Londrigan, S. Bedoui, A. G. Brooks and P. C. Reading (2010). "Depletion of Gr-1+, but not Ly6G+, immune cells exacerbates virus replication and disease in an intranasal model of herpes simplex virus type 1 infection." J Gen Virol **91**(Pt 9): 2158-2166.

Wood, S., S. Ross, S. Tang, L. Miller, R. Sauve and R. Brant (2012). "Vaginal progesterone to prevent preterm birth in multiple pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial." <u>J Perinat Med</u>.

Wu, S. H., P. Y. Liao, L. Dong and Z. Q. Chen (2008). "Signal pathway involved in inhibition by lipoxin A(4) of production of interleukins induced in endothelial cells by lipopolysaccharide." Inflamm Res **57**(9): 430-437.

Wynn, T. A., A. Chawla and J. W. Pollard (2013). "Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease." <u>Nature</u> **496**(7446): 445-455.

Xiong, J., P. Zeng, X. Cheng, S. Miao, L. Wu, S. Zhou, P. Wu and D. Ye (2013). "Lipoxin A4 blocks embryo implantation by controlling estrogen receptor alpha activity." <u>Reproduction</u> **145**(4): 411-420.

Xu, D. X., Y. H. Chen, H. Wang, L. Zhao, J. P. Wang and W. Wei (2005). "Effect of N-acetylcysteine on lipopolysaccharide-induced intra-uterine fetal death and intrauterine growth retardation in mice." <u>Toxicol Sci 88(2)</u>: 525-533.

Xu, D. X., Y. H. Chen, H. Wang, L. Zhao, J. P. Wang and W. Wei (2006). "Tumor necrosis factor alpha partially contributes to lipopolysaccharide-induced intra-uterine fetal growth restriction and skeletal development retardation in mice." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> **163**(1): 20-29.

Xu, H., J. M. Gonzalez, E. Ofori and M. A. Elovitz (2008). "Preventing cervical ripening: the primary mechanism by which progestational agents prevent preterm birth?" <u>Am J</u> <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **198**(3): 314 e311-318.

Xu, P., N. Alfaidy and J. R. Challis (2002). "Expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 in human placenta and fetal membranes in relation to preterm and term labor." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> **87**(3): 1353-1361.

Xu, Z., F. Zhao, F. Lin, J. Chen and Y. Huang (2012). "Lipoxin A4 inhibits the development of endometriosis in mice: the role of anti-inflammation and anti-angiogenesis." <u>Am J</u> <u>Reprod Immunol</u> **67**(6): 491-497.

Yan, X., M. Sun and W. Gibb (2002). "Localization of nuclear factor-kappa B (NF kappa B) and inhibitory factor-kappa B (I kappa B) in human fetal membranes and decidua at term and preterm delivery." <u>Placenta</u> **23**(4): 288-293.

Yang, Q., Y. El-Sayed, Y. Rosenberg-Hasson, D. L. Hirschberg, N. R. Nayak, J. Schilling and A. Madan (2009). "Multiple cytokine profile in plasma and amniotic fluid in a mouse model of pre-term labor." <u>Am J Reprod Immunol</u> **62**(5): 339-347.

Ye, R. D., F. Boulay, J. M. Wang, C. Dahlgren, C. Gerard, M. Parmentier, C. N. Serhan and P. M. Murphy (2009). "International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXIII. Nomenclature for the Formyl Peptide Receptor (FPR) Family." <u>Pharmacological Reviews</u> **61**(2): 119-161.

Ye, X. H., Y. Wu, P. P. Guo, J. Wang, S. Y. Yuan, Y. Shang and S. L. Yao (2010). "Lipoxin A4 analogue protects brain and reduces inflammation in a rat model of focal cerebral ischemia reperfusion." <u>Brain Res</u> **1323**: 174-183.

Yellon, S. M., C. A. Ebner and M. A. Elovitz (2009). "Medroxyprogesterone acetate modulates remodeling, immune cell census, and nerve fibers in the cervix of a mouse model for inflammation-induced preterm birth." <u>Reprod Sci</u> **16**(3): 257-264.

Yin, M. J., Y. Yamamoto and R. B. Gaynor (1998). "The anti-inflammatory agents aspirin and salicylate inhibit the activity of I(kappa)B kinase-beta." <u>Nature</u> **396**(6706): 77-80.

Yoon, B. H., S. Y. Oh, R. Romero, S. S. Shim, S. Y. Han, J. S. Park and J. K. Jun (2001). "An elevated amniotic fluid matrix metalloproteinase-8 level at the time of mid-trimester genetic amniocentesis is a risk factor for spontaneous preterm delivery." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **185**(5): 1162-1167.

Yoshida, M., N. Sagawa, H. Itoh, S. Yura, M. Takemura, Y. Wada, T. Sato, A. Ito and S. Fujii (2002). "Prostaglandin F(2alpha), cytokines and cyclic mechanical stretch augment matrix metalloproteinase-1 secretion from cultured human uterine cervical fibroblast cells." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **8**(7): 681-687.

Yoshidome, H., A. Kato, M. J. Edwards and A. B. Lentsch (1999). "Interleukin-10 inhibits pulmonary NF-kappaB activation and lung injury induced by hepatic ischemia-reperfusion." <u>Am J Physiol</u> **277**(5 Pt 1): L919-923.

Yoshimura, K. and E. Hirsch (2005). "Effect of stimulation and antagonism of interleukin-1 signaling on preterm delivery in mice." <u>J Soc Gynecol Investig</u> **12**(7): 533-538.

Young, A., A. J. Thomson, M. Ledingham, F. Jordan, I. A. Greer and J. E. Norman (2002). "Immunolocalization of proinflammatory cytokines in myometrium, cervix, and fetal membranes during human parturition at term." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **66**(2): 445-449.

Youssef, R. E., M. A. Ledingham, S. S. Bollapragada, N. O'Gorman, F. Jordan, A. Young and J. E. Norman (2009). "The role of toll-like receptors (TLR-2 and -4) and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (TREM-1) in human term and preterm labor." Reprod Sci **16**(9): 843-856.

Yuan, M., F. Jordan, I. B. McInnes, M. M. Harnett and J. E. Norman (2009). "Leukocytes are primed in peripheral blood for activation during term and preterm labour." <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **15**(11): 713-724.

Zhang, L., J. Wan, H. Li, P. Wu, S. Jin, X. Zhou, P. Yuan, W. Xiong, Y. Li and D. Ye (2007). "Protective effects of BML-111, a lipoxin A(4) receptor agonist, on carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury in mice." <u>Hepatol Res</u> **37**(11): 948-956.

Zhang, L., X. Zhang, P. Wu, H. Li, S. Jin, X. Zhou, Y. Li, D. Ye, B. Chen and J. Wan (2008). "BML-111, a lipoxin receptor agonist, modulates the immune response and reduces the severity of collagen-induced arthritis." <u>Inflamm Res</u> **57**(4): 157-162.

Zheng, S., Q. Wang, Q. He, X. Song, D. Ye, F. Gao, S. Jin and Q. Lian (2011). "Novel biphasic role of LipoxinA(4) on expression of cyclooxygenase-2 in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated lung fibroblasts." <u>Mediators Inflamm</u> **2011**: 745340.

Zhou, M., B. Chen, H. Sun, Z. Deng, R. Andersson and Q. Zhang (2011). "The protective effects of Lipoxin A4 during the early phase of severe acute pancreatitis in rats." <u>Scand J</u> <u>Gastroenterol</u> **46**(2): 211-219.

Zuckerman, H., U. Reiss and I. Rubinstein (1974). "Inhibition of human premature labor by indomethacin." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **44**(6): 787-792.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Materials

MOUSE SURGERY AND TISSUE COLLECTION	SOURCE
Isoflurane-Vet	Merial Animal Health Ltd, Harlow, Essex, UK
Hamilton syringe	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK
LPS (<i>E. Coli</i> 0111:B4)	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK
PBS	Gibco, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK
Mersilk Black 5/0 12mm 3/8 circle reverse cutting needle sutures	MidMeds Ltd, Waltham Abbey, UK
Coated Vicryl Violet 4/0 16mm 3/8 circle cutting needle sutures	MidMeds Ltd, Waltham Abbey, UK
Vetergesic Multidose	Alstoe Ltd, York, UK
Digital video recorder	AVerMedia Technologies Inc, UK
Mini Color IR Camera (SKC160IR)	Sunkwang Electronics Co., Ltd
RNAlater®	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK
MOUSE SURGERY TREATMENTS	SOURCE
---	--
15-epi-lipoxin A ₄ [5(S),6(R),15(R)-Lipoxin A _{4]}	Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor Michigan, US
BML-111 [5(S),6(R)-7-trihydroxymethyl Heptanoate]	Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor Michigan, US
Recombinant Murine IL-10	Peprotech EC Ltd, London, UK
Rat anti-mouse F4/80 antigen purified antibody (Clone BM8)	eBioscience Ltd, Hatfield, UK
Rat IgG2a K Isotype Control Purified antibody	eBioscience Ltd, Hatfield, UK
Mouse Gr-1/Ly-6G Antibody (Clone RB6- 8C5)	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK
Rat IgG2B Isotype Control antibody	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK
Ultra-LEAF [™] Purified anti-mouse Ly-6G (Clone 1A8)	BioLegend, Cambridge, UK
Ultra-LEAF [™] Purified Rat IgG2a K Isotype Control	BioLegend, Cambridge, UK

RNA EXTRACTION AND qRT-PCR	SOURCE						
TRI Reagent	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK						
QIAzol Lysis Reagent	Qiagen, Crawley, West Sussex, UK						
1-Bromo-3-chloropropane (BCP)	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK						
RNeasy mini spin columns	Qiagen, Crawley, West Sussex, UK						
DNase 1	Qiagen, Crawley, West Sussex, UK						
High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit	Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK						
Taqman gene expression assays	Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK						
β-actin, Cox-2 and Il-6 probes	Integrated DNA Technologies, Iowa, USA						
2X Taqman mastermix	Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK						

ELISA	SOURCE				
Quantikine mouse TNF- α ELISA kit	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK				
Quantikine mouse IL-1β ELISA kit	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK				
Quantikine mouse IL-6 ELISA kit	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK				
Quantikine mouse IL-10 ELISA kit	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK				
Progesterone rat/mouse ELISA kit	Demeditec Diagnostics GmbH, Kiel, Germany				

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY	SOURCE					
Trypsin (from bovine pancreas)	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK					
Mouse Gr-1/Ly-6G Antibody (Clone RB6- 8C5)	R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK					
Rat anti-mouse F4/80 antigen purified antibody (Clone BM8)	eBioscience Ltd, Hatfield, UK					
Purified anti-mouse Ly-6G (Clone 1A8)	BioLegend, Cambridge, UK					
ImmPRESS anti-Rat IgG reagent	Vector Laboratories Ltd, Peterborough, UK					

WESTERN BLOTTING	SOURCE					
Bio-Rad <i>DC</i> Protein Assay	Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd, Hertfordshire, UK					
See Blue® Plus 2 Pre-Stained Standard	Invitrogen, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK					
NuPAGE Novex 4%-12% Bis-Tris Mini Gels	Mini Invitrogen, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK					
MES running buffer	Invitrogen, Life Technologies Ltd, Paisley, UK					
Dried skimmed milk powder	Marvel, UK					
Bovine Serum Albumin	Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK					
ECL Western Blot Analysis System	GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK					
Rabbit polyclonal anti-TNF- α antibody	Cell Signaling Technology Inc., Danvers, MA, USA					
Rabbit polyclonal anti-β-Tubulin antibody	Cell Signaling Technology Inc., Danvers, MA, USA					
Goat anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked antibody	Cell Signaling Technology Inc., Danvers, MA, USA					

FLOW CYTOMETRY	SOURCE
PE-labelled rat anti-mouse CD45 antibody	BioLegend, Cambridge, UK
Pacific Blue-labelled rat anti-mouse Ly-6G antibody	BioLegend, Cambridge, UK
BD FACSLyse solution	BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK
Flow-check Fluorospheres	Beckman Coulter, California, UK

Appendix 2 – Publications

For reprint orders, please contact reprints@expert-reviews.com

SPECIAL FOCUS I Reproductive immunology

Review

www.expert-reviews.com/toc/eci/7/5



Anti-inflammatory mediators as physiological and pharmacological regulators of parturition

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), 675-696 (2011)

Sara F Rinaldi¹, James L Hutchinson¹, Adriano G Rossi² and Jane E Norman^{†1}

IMRC Centre for Reproductive Health, University of Edinburgh, Queen's Medical Research Institute, Edinburgh, EH16 4TJ, UK ARC Centre for Inflammation Research, University of Edinburgh, Queen's Medical Research Institute, Edinburgh, UK Yauthor for correspondence: Tel. + 44 131 242 662 jane. norma@ed ac.uk Increasing evidence highlights parturition as an inflammatory event characterized by leukocyte influx and proinflammatory mediator production in the intrauterine environment. While the mechanisms responsible for the initiation of this inflammatory cascade are not well understood, it is clear that these inflammatory events must be tightly regulated as the premature activation of these inflammatory signals is associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as preterm labor, which is the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity. In this article we highlight the importance of anti-inflammatory factors in regulating the inflammatory events surrounding parturition and discuss the use of anti-inflammatory mediators as potential novel therapeutic agents in the treatment of inflammation-induced preterm labor.

 $\textbf{Keywords:} \text{ anti-inflammatory} \bullet \text{ inflammation} \bullet \text{ parturition} \bullet \text{ preterm labor} \bullet \text{ resolution}$

Despite decades of research, the molecular mechanisms responsible for regulating one of the most fundamental reproductive events, the process of parturition, remain relatively poorly understood. A successful outcome to parturition depends upon the appropriately timed initiation of the three main physiological processes associated with labor: cervical ripening and dilatation, rupture of the fetal membranes and development of myometrial contractions. The premature initiation of these processes results in preterm labor (<37 weeks gestation), leading to preterm birth, the most common cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity worldwide [1]. Improving our understanding of the underlying mechanisms of term labor is essential for the development of effective treatments to reduce the incidence of preterm labor and ultimately improve neonatal outcome.

Labor: an inflammatory event

There is now strong evidence indicating that the initiation and progression of labor in humans is an inflammatory event. The onset of labor requires a switch from the anti-inflammatory intrauterine state associated with the majority of gestation to an active, proinflammatory, pro-labor environment. The factors responsible for this dramatic switch include increased production of proinflammatory mediators by the gestational tissues, infiltration of immune cells and decreased responsiveness to the anti-inflammatory actions of progesterone.

Labor is associated with the increased expression of several proinflammatory mediators in the intrauterine tissues including: the proinflammatory cytokines, TNF-α, IL-1β, MCP-1, IL-6 and IL-8 in the cervix, decidua, fetal membranes, myometrium and placenta [2-5]; the prostaglandins, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ and PGE_2 in the myometrium, cervix and fetal membranes [6]; and the matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-1 and MMP-9 in the cervix, fetal membranes and placenta [7,8]. The proinflammatory cytokines act to stimulate MMP expression, thereby promoting tissue remodeling in the cervix and fetal membranes [8]. IL-1 β and TNF- α have also been shown to stimulate myometrial contractility by increasing calcium entry and concentration in myometrial smooth muscle cells [9,10] and increasing prostaglandin production in the myometrium [11]. Recent microarray analysis comparing gene expression in myometrial and cervical tissues obtained from women before and after

www.expert-reviews.com

10.1586/ECI.11.58

© 2011 Expert Reviews Ltd ISSN 1744-666X

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

the onset of labor at term confirmed that labor is associated with a core inflammatory response in these tissues [12]. Co-incident with the increased proinflammatory mediator expression, there is also an infiltration of immune cells, particularly macrophages and neutrophils, into the cervix, fetal membranes and myometrium at the time of labor [3,413-15]. Interestingly, there is now evidence that suggests that the nature of the inflammatory trigger may play an important role in determining which type of immune cells influx into the intrauterine tissues [16,17]. In addition to the activation and infiltration of the immune cells locally into the intrauterine environment, Yuan *et al.* also reported increased activation of peripheral blood leukocytes in association with labor [18].

Central to this dramatic increase in proinflammatory signaling is the transcription factor, nuclear factor- κB (NF- κB). NF- κB is involved in regulating the transcription of a wide number of genes, but is classically linked to inflammation and immune responses [19]. The role of NF-KB in labor has recently been comprehensively reviewed [20,21]. In vitro studies have demonstrated a role for NF-кВ in the regulation of several key proinflammatory genes associated with labor. Blocking NF-KB activity inhibited expression of IL-8, IL-6 and TNF- α in isolated amnion epithelial cells [22], amnion and choriodecidua tissue [23] and cervical epithelial cells [22]; inhibited COX-2 expression and prostaglandin production in amnion and myometrial cells [24]; and decreased MMP activity in amnion and choriodecidual tissues [23]. Importantly, NF-KB can also be activated by several proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF-a and IL-1 β , thereby perpetuating the intrauterine inflammatory response [25]. However, there is conflicting evidence on changes in NF-KB activity in the intrauterine tissues in association with labor. While a number of studies have reported increased NF-KB activity in labor in the amnion [26-28], decidua [29] and myometrium [29,3 other studies have not observed any significant increases in NF-KB activity when comparing amnion and myometrial tissues obtained from women pre- and post-labor [29,31].

Another important contributing factor to the inflammation that occurs with labor is reduced responsiveness to the antiinflammatory effects of progesterone. Progesterone is the hormone responsible for maintaining uterine quiescence throughout gestation and in many species labor is preceded by a sharp drop in serum progesterone levels. This decline in circulating progesterone levels is not seen in humans, but given the role of progesterone in maintaining uterine quiescence, it is now widely accepted that there must be mechanisms in place that result in a local decrease in progesterone action within the uterus to allow for the switch to proinflammatory signaling [32]. This has led to the proposal of a 'functional progesterone withdrawal', which is thought to be achieved through: changes in progesterone receptor isoform ratios [33], local progesterone metabolism [34] and negative interactions between NF- κ B and the progesterone receptor [26].

To date, research has focused on elucidating the proinflammatory factors responsible for initiating parturition, with the role of anti-inflammatory mediators less well explored. Recent data have demonstrated the presence of several anti-inflammatory mediators during gestation and in association with labor. The classic antiinflammatory cytokine, IL-10, is expressed in placental tissues, isolated cytotrophoblast cells [35,36], uterine natural killer (uNK) cells and decidual macrophages [37]; and amniotic fluid levels of IL-10 are increased in association with labor [38]. A recent study by our own group has reported both increased circulating serum levels of lipoxins (novel anti-inflammatory and proresolution lipid mediators) in women throughout gestation, compared with nonpregnant women and increased lipoxin receptor expression in the myometrium during labor [39]. Adverse pregnancy outcomes, including miscarriage, preterm labor and neonatal injury, have been linked with an exaggerated or inappropriately timed inflammatory response [40]. It is likely therefore that anti-inflammatory factors will have important roles in controlling the inflammatory state of the intrauterine environment and in protecting the fetus from the inflammatory events of labor.

Preterm labor

Preterm labor, defined as the initiation of labor prior to 37 weeks of gestation, is a major clinical problem estimated to affect between 5 and 12% of pregnancies worldwide each year [1]. Recent studies have demonstrated that in many countries, such as the USA, Scotland and Denmark, the incidence of spontaneous preterm labor is actually increasing [1,41,42]. Despite vast improvements in the care of preterm infants in recent decades, resulting in reduced mortality rates, premature birth remains the leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity. It is estimated that preterm birth accounts for up to 75% of neonatal deaths and more than half of long-term morbidities [1]. Premature infants who survive birth are at risk of developing a number of long-term problems including: respiratory disorders such as bronchopulmonary dysplasia; neurodevelopmental problems such as cerebral palsy; and behavioral and learning problems [43]. A recent study estimated the public sector cost of preterm birth over the first 18 years of life to be approximately GB£2.946 billion (US\$4.567 billion) in England and Wales (at 2006 prices) [44]; highlighting the huge economic burden placed on the public sector by preterm-birth-associated morbidities over the long term, in addition to the major clinical problems of neonatal mortality and morbidity.

Causes of preterm labor

The causes of preterm birth are poorly understood and the majority of cases are unexplained. Preterm birth is a heterogeneous condition with a number of risk factors associated including: uteroplacental ischemia, uterine overdistention, cervical disorders and maternal stress [45]. However, the only factor for which a firm causal link has been established is intrauterine infection and inflammation [45,46]. Therefore, there is growing interest in the hypothesis that in many cases preterm birth may occur as a result of the premature activation of the inflammatory pathways normally initiated with labor at term, either idiopathically, or in response to a pathological intrauterine infection.

Studies estimate that intrauterine infection is present in between 25 and 40% of preterm births [1] and is more common in early preterm deliveries (prior to 34 weeks gestation) [46]. Supporting evidence for the role of intrauterine infection and inflammation in preterm labor includes the findings that women who deliver

Espert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

preterm have higher levels of proinflammatory mediators, such as IL-6, MMP-8 and TNF- α in amniotic fluid ${\scriptstyle [47,48]}$ along with a higher incidence of chorioamnionitis [1] compared with women who deliver at term. Evidence that infection is sufficient to cause inflammation has been provided by animal models where injection with bacterial products, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a component of Gram-negative bacterial cell walls, effectively induced preterm labor in mice [49,50], rabbits [51] and rhesus monkeys [52]. IL-1 has also been shown to be capable of inducing preterm labor in a mouse and nonhuman primate model following intra-amniotic injection [53,54]. These studies demonstrate the potential for inflammatory activation to induce preterm labor, even in the absence of intrauterine infection. Not only has intrauterine infection and inflammation been implicated in triggering preterm birth, but it is also associated with a number of adverse neonatal outcomes such as neonatal brain injury. A recent meta-analysis study reported a significant correlation between chorioamnionitis and the development of cerebral palsy [55]. Increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the amniotic fluid and evidence of funisitis (indicative of a systemic fetal inflammatory response) have also been associated with increased risk of developing cerebral palsy [56].

The mechanism by which intrauterine infection is proposed to initiate preterm birth is through Toll-like receptor (TLR) recognition of bacterial products. TLRs are a family of pattern-recognition receptors involved in coordinating the innate immune reaction in response to pathogens. Expression of the TLRs has been reported in the myometrium [57], fetal membranes [58], decidua [59], placenta [60] and cervix [61] at term, with increased expression of TLR-2 and TLR-4 in response to infection reported in the fetal membranes [58]. Evidence from a mouse model highlights the critical role of TLRs, in particular TLR-4, in the initiation of preterm labor in response to intrauterine infection, given that Escherichia coli and LPS failed to induce preterm labor in TLR-4 mutant mice [62,63]. NF- κB is recognized as a key transcription factor that is activated in response to TLR activation [64] leading to the upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and prostaglandins. Therefore, TLRs are thought to be key initiators of the inflammatory cascade during intrauterine infection, where response to bacterial products such as LPS, or peptidoglycan, a component of Gram-positive bacterial cell walls, results in the subsequent activation of NF-KB leading to the inflammatory cascade already proposed to occur during term labor [64]. The inflammatory events involved in labor, both at term and in infection-induced preterm labor, are summarized in FIGURE 1.

Current treatments for preterm labor

In spite of considerable medical advances and research into the area, preterm birth remains the single biggest cause of neonatal mortality worldwide. Currently, treatments for preterm labor focus on blocking myometrial contractions using tocolytic drugs, including calcium-channel blockers, β-mimetics, oxytocin receptor antagonists and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as indomethacin [65]. The latest guideline published by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists on the topic of tocolysis for women in preterm labor summarizes

www.expert-reviews.com

the evidence regarding the effectiveness of tocolytic drugs to treat preterm labor stating that "use of a tocolytic drug is associated with a prolongation of pregnancy for up to 7 days but with no significant effect on preterm birth and no clear effect on perinatal or neonatal morbidity" [301]. Therefore, while these drugs have proved effective in delaying delivery in some cases, they do not significantly reduce the number of premature births and there is no clear evidence that they improve neonatal outcome. The limited effectiveness of tocolytic drugs in decreasing rates of preterm deliveries is perhaps due to the fact that the drugs are given when a woman is already in preterm labor, which may be too late for any therapy to take effect. Furthermore, tocolytics focus on inhibiting myometrial contractions rather than targeting the underlying cause of preterm labor, meaning that they are unlikely to be effective in each case. For example, in cases where the preterm labor has been triggered by inflammation and the proinflammatory events leading to delivery have already begun to progress rapidly, targeting the myometrial contractions may be too late in the proinflammatory cascade and the process of labor may, at this point, be irreversible.

A further complication in attempting to treat premature birth is that in many cases, such as in the presence of intrauterine infection, delaying delivery could result in prolonged exposure of the fetus to a hostile inflammatory environment. As discussed earlier, the presence of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation has been associated with adverse neonatal outcomes [55,56]. If the primary aim of delaying preterm labor is to ultimately improve neonatal outcome, treatments must aim not only to stop myometrial contractions but also to resolve the proinflam matory status of the uterus. Taking these factors into consideration, and given the hypothesis that in many cases preterm labor occurs as a result of the premature initiation of the inflammatory cascade normally initiated during labor at term, there is now growing interest examining whether targeting the inflammatory cascade at an earlier stage, either by blocking proinflammatory mediator production, upregulation of endogenous anti-inflammatory mediators, or exogenous administration of anti-inflammatory and/or pro-resolution mediators, could be a useful novel therapeutic approach in the treatment of preterm labor.

Anti-inflammatory interventions for the treatment of preterm labor

A vast number of pathologies are known to be associated with inflammation, ranging from theumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel diseases, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, and the focus of this article, parturition [66.67]. Therefore, there is a large body of research investigating the potential of treatments to block inflammation. Indeed, understanding the potential of anti-inflammatory treatments to delay preterm labor has become a major focus of premature birth research in recent years. Evidence supporting the use of anti-inflammatory drugs to delay preterm labor comes from the use of NSAIDs, which inhibit prostaglandin synthesis, as tocolytic agents. Indomethacin is the most common NSAID that has been investigated as a tocolytic drug in a number of trials. While initial studies reported a promising reduction in preterm



Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

678

birth following use of indomethacin [68-70], concerns over the safety of indomethacin have been raised given evidence associating treatment with indomethacin with a number of adverse neonatal outcomes, including necrotizing enterocolitis, premature closure of the ductus arteriousus and altered renal function [71,72]. Although a recent meta-analysis investigating the use of indomethacin as a tocolytic agent did not find increased risk of adverse neonatal outcomes, it emphasized that the small number of trials carried out to date investigating indomethacin as a tocolytic agent do not allow firm conclusions to be made on the safety of indomethacin [73]. Therefore, while some success of anti-inflammatory interventions to delay preterm delivery has been demonstrated by the use of indomethacin as an effective tocolytic agent, the risk of adverse neonatal outcomes associated with the use of this particular drug have led to continued research into alternative anti-inflammatory agents that could be useful in delaying preterm delivery and improving neonatal outcome

This article will focus on discussing the evidence regarding the potential of anti-inflammatory treatments for preterm labor, first looking at treatments that aim to directly antagonize and inhibit proinflammatory signaling, including TLR antagonists, NF-kB inhibitors, IL-1 antagonists and anti-TNF- α agents; and second discussing the potential for exogenous administration of anti-inflammatory agents, including IL-10, progesterone, cyclopentenone prostaglandin 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin-J₂ (15d-PGJ₂), lipoxins and resolvins.

Inhibition of proinflammatory signaling *TLR-4 antagonists*

TLR-4 expression has been reported to increase in gestational tissues during both spontaneous term labor and infection-associated preterm labor [58,74]. Furthermore, there is evidence that impaired TLR-4 function, caused by a polymorphism in the TLR-4 gene, is linked with preterm birth [75]. Therefore, given this evidence, along with reports from animal models indicating a critical role for TLR-4 in inducing infection-induced preterm labor [62,63], antagonism of TLR-4 has been investigated as a therapeutic option to delay premature labor. LPS interactions with TLR-4 are proposed to initiate the innate immune response and proinflammatory cascade associated with labor, leading to NF-KB activation and the subsequent increased production of proinflammatory mediators, therefore if TLR-4-LPS interactions were inhibited it could be possible to block the initiation of the inflammatory cascade altogether. The use of TLR antagonists to treat a variety of other inflammation- and infection-associated pathologies, such as sepsis, atherosclerosis and asthma, is being investigated [76].

In the context of preterm labor, use of a nonhuman primate model of LPS-induced preterm birth demonstrated the ability of TLR-4 antagonism to inhibit uterine contractility and significantly reduce TNF- α , IL-8, PGE₂ and PGF_{2 α} concentrations in the amniotic fluid [77], with no apparent significant side effects of the TLR-4 antagonist. Recently, use of a monoclonal anti-TLR-4 antibody to block TLR-4–LPS interactions in a mouse model of preterm labor decreased the systemic and local activation of immune cells, resulting in decreased incidence of LPS-induced

www.expert-reviews.com

preterm labor from 50% in the LPS-treated mice, to 6.3% in mice receiving prior treatment with the anti-TLR-4 antibody and improved pup survival rates [78]. The results of these two *in vivo* studies provide encouragement for the concept of TLR-4 antagonism as a treatment for inflammation-induced preterm labor, although neither study investigated whether TLR-4 antagonism is capable of reducing fetal inflammation, which would be of particular importance in cases of inflammation-induced neonatal brain injury.

TLR-4 antagonists are at a relatively early stage of research, therefore further studies are required to investigate more thoroughly the potential adverse side effects of TLR-4 antagonism in pregnancy and any long-term effects on the fetus. Nevertheless, these preliminary studies in preterm labor, along with encouraging data in other pathologies, suggest that TLR-4 antagonists could be a useful therapeutic agent capable of inhibiting the innate immune response at the very start, thus inhibiting the resultant inflammatory cascade associated with preterm labor and fetal injury. While studies to date have focused on TLR-4 antagonism, this would only be an appropriate treatment in the context of Gram-negative bacteria-induced preterm labor, as TLR-4 specifically recognizes LPS. Agonists of other TLRs have also been shown to be capable of inducing preterm labor in animal models [79,80], and it would therefore be interesting to investigate whether the use of antagonists for other TLRs may also be a useful therapeutic approach in the treatment of preterm labor. This could be of particular importance in cases where there may be more than one pathogenic agent causing infection.

NF-KB inhibitors

As discussed earlier, the NF-KB signaling pathway appears to have a key role in regulating the inflammatory response associated with labor, making it an interesting therapeutic target for inflammation-associated preterm labor. Five different transcription factors are involved in the NF-KB pathway: p50, p52, p65, c-REL and RELB; these transcription factors interact with one another forming either homo- or hetero-dimers that bind to specific KB sequences to regulate target gene transcription. In unstimulated cells, NF-KB is held inactive in the cytoplasm by its endogenous inhibitor proteins, the IKB proteins. In response to inflammatory stimuli, such as IL-1 or LPS, the IκB kinase, IKKβ, phosphorylates the IKB protein, targeting it for degradation by the proteosome and allowing NF-KB dimers to translocate to the nucleus of the cell and regulate target gene transcription [19]. To date, more than 700 NF-KB inhibitors have been described that target the pathway at various points [81] and inhibition of NF-KB has been investigated as a therapeutic target in the treatment of a number of inflammationassociated pathologies including rheumatoid arthritis [82], inflammatory lung diseases [83,84] and inflammatory bowel disease [85]. The potential of a number of different NF-KB inhibitors to control inflammatory signaling in human gestational tissues and animal models of preterm labor has been investigated; this discussion will focus on evidence regarding sulfasalazine (SSZ), N-acetylcysteine (NAC) and a specific IKKB inhibitor, [5-(p-fluorphenyl)-2-ureido] thiophene-3-carboxamide (TPCA-1).

| Kev

N Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

Sulfasalazine

Sulfasalazine is a 5-aminosalicylic acid drug that has been used for many years as an anti-inflammatory treatment for inflammatory bowel disease [86] and rheumatoid arthritis [87]. Although in use as an anti-inflammatory drug for many years it was only in 1998 that SSZ was identified as a potent NF- κ B inhibitor [88]. SSZ is thought to block NF-KB translocation to the nucleus by directly inhibiting the IKK kinases, IKK α and IKK β [89]. Lappas et al. first reported the ability of SSZ to act as an antiinflammatory agent in human gestational tissues, demonstrating that SSZ treatment inhibited $\bar{\mathrm{NF}}\text{-}\kappa\mathrm{B}$ binding activity in human placenta, amnion and choriodecidua explants in vitro, which in turn resulted in the inhibition of LPS-induced release of IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α by these tissues [90]. These findings have been recently confirmed by Keelan et al., where SSZ has been shown to block NF-KB p65 nuclear translocation and inhibit the release of IL-6, TNF-a, IL-8 and PGE2 by fetal membranes in response to LPS in vitro [91]. In addition, SSZ treatment inhibited IL-8 production by endocervical epithelial cells in response to a variety of bacterial pathogens [92], illustrating the potential of SSZ to regulate infection-induced inflammation in the cervix. However, these studies also report that prolonged exposure (more than 20 h) of gestational tissues to SSZ is associated with increased levels of apoptosis [91] and reduced cell viability [92], which may raise concerns over the safety of administering SSZ during pregnancy.

The use of SSZ as a therapeutic agent to inhibit preterm labor has been recently investigated in vivo using a mouse model of preterm labor [93]. Mice were pre-treated with SSZ 1 h prior to intrauterine administration of E. coli on day 14.5 of gestation, followed with daily SSZ treatment until delivery. Treatment with SSZ was shown to significantly reduce the number of mice delivering preterm, where 81% of mice treated with E. coli alone delivered preterm compared with just 25% of mice receiving both SSZ and E. coli; and SSZ treatment significantly increased pup weight at delivery compared with dams receiving only E. coli. SSZ had a modest effect on pup survival, where the median number of pups per litter surviving more than 24 h was increased from six in the *E. coli*-alone treated dams, to 11 in dams receiving both E. coli and SSZ, although this increase was not statistically significant [93]. This study demonstrates for the first time the potential of SSZ to delay infection-induced preterm labor, although pup survival is not significantly improved

Although the safety of SSZ as a treatment for preterm labor has not been assessed directly, SSZ is administered routinely to women during pregnancy to treat inflammation-associated pathologies including rheumatoid arthritis [94] and inflammatory bowel disease [95]. A recent meta-analysis investigating the effects of 5-aminosalicylic acid drugs used to treat inflammatory bowel disease on adverse pregnancy outcomes reported no significant impact of these drugs on congenital abnormalities [95], suggesting that the fetus should not be adversely affected by SSZ treatment. Yet, these studies do not take into consideration any longer term, more subtle effects on the fetus, therefore additional studies are required to elucidate the safety of SSZ treatment for the fetus. Further analysis of pup outcome in the mouse model of preterm labor used by Nath *et al.* could begin to answer these questions [93].

N-acetylcysteine

N-acetylcysteine is another NF-KB inhibitor that has been investigated as a potential therapeutic option to treat preterm labor. NAC is an antioxidant and an anti-inflammatory mediator involved in regulating oxidative stress by increasing glutathione levels [96]. NAC has been shown to inhibit nuclear translocation of NF-KB in a variety of cell systems [97,98]. Therapeutically, NAC has been used in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [83], influenza [99], pulmonary fibrosis [84] and paracetamol overdose [100]; and has also been investigated in the treatment of a number of reproductive pathologies including polycystic ovarian syndrome [101], recurrent pregnancy loss [102] and preeclampsia [103]. Lappas et al. reported the ability of NAC to regulate inflam-

matory signaling in human fetal membranes in vitro [23]. NAC treatment attenuated LPS-induced release of PGF ..., IL-8, IL-6, TNF- α and activity of MMP-9, by inhibiting NF- κ B DNAbinding activity. In vivo, maternal administration of NAC to pregnant dams significantly delayed LPS-induced preterm labor and also improved pup survival rates: in dams receiving only LPS, 100% of pups were stillborn; however, in dams receiving LPS followed by NAC, 58% of pups were born alive [104]. NAC has also been shown to suppress fetal plasma levels of IL-6 and IL-1β in response to maternal LPS infection in rats [105]. More recently, Chang et al. demonstrated the ability of NAC to not only reduce LPS-induced preterm labor in a mouse model, but also to reduce the LPS-induced mRNA expression of IL-6, TNF- α and IL-1 β in the myometrium and attenuate inflammation-induced fetal brain injury [106]. NAC was able to decrease the axonal injury and disturbances to myelination induced by LPS treatment in the mice [106], highlighting the potential of NAC to reduce infection-associated neonatal brain injury associated with preterm birth. In human pregnancy, NAC was administered orally in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial investigating the effect of NAC on recurrent preterm labor in women who had received treatment for bacterial vaginosis [107]. Women received NAC plus 17-hydroxyprogesterone caproate (17-OHPC) or placebo plus 17-OHPC from 16 to 18 weeks gestation until delivery. Allocation to sachet treatment number was by opening of a sealed envelope, with treatment codes known only to the trial pharmacist. Although this was a relatively small study (n = 140 in each arm), there was no loss to follow-up. NAC administration was associated with a significant reduction in the number of preterm births, with mean gestational age at delivery of 37.4 ± 0.4 in the NAC group compared with 34.1 ± 1.2 in the placebo group, increased fetal weight and a significant reduction in neonatal deaths [107]. No serious adverse maternal or fetal side effects were reported, although 11.4% of women did drop out of the trial due to nausea and vomiting associated with NAC treatment. This is the first clinical study to demonstrate an effect of NAC in delaying preterm labor and suggests that it could be a beneficial therapeutic option that, according to this preliminary study, appears to be relatively well tolerated by both mother and baby, although longer term follow-up of babies receiving NAC treatment would be required to fully investigate any potential side effects.

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

TPCA-1

TPCA-1 is a specific IKKβ inhibitor that has been shown to inhibit IL-1β-induced MMP expression in corneal fibroblasts [108], LPS-induced proinflammatory gene expression in human monocytes and reduce disease severity in a mouse model of collagen-induced arthritis [109]. A recent study by De Silva *et al.* reported the ability of TPCA-1 to block NF-κB p65 nuclear translocation, inhibit LPS-induced IL-6 and TNF-α production and inhibit expression of a number of inflammatory genes including MMP-2, TNF-α and MCP-1 in primary choriodecidual cells treated with LPS in *vitro* [110]; suggesting it could be a useful drug in inhibition of choriodecidual inflammation in the presence of intrauterine infection.

Taken together these studies demonstrate the potential of targeting the NF- κ B signaling pathway as a mechanism to inhibit inflammatory signaling in the intrauterine tissues and do suggest that this could be a useful therapeutic approach in the treatment of preterm labor. The fact that some NF- κ B inhibitors have already been safely administered during pregnancy suggests that they should be well accepted by mother. However, given the wide range of genes controlled by NF- κ B, it must be considered that inhibition of this pathway could lead to downstream effects on other processes such as cell differentiation, apoptosis and proliferation [25].

Targeting TNF- α & IL-1 β

The well-documented role of proinflammatory cytokines during labor and preterm labor has led to research into whether directly blocking these cytokines might be a useful target in the prevention of preterm labor. IL-1 β and TNF- α are two proinflammatory cytokines that have been strongly associated with the inflammatory cascade of labor both at term and preterm [4,40,47]. Both cytokines have been shown to have key roles in regulating prostaglandin production in myometrial cells [11] and both are potent activators of NF- κ B signaling [21].

TNF-a

Anti-TNF- α therapy has been investigated as a treatment for inflammatory diseases including arthritis and Crohn's disease and has previously been administered during pregnancy to treat these pathologies [111,112]. The roles of TNF- α in term and preterm labor have been well documented: TNF- α upregulates expression of prostaglandins, MMPs and proinflammatory cytokines at the maternal–fetal interface [11,54]; increased TNF- α concentration in the anniotic fluid of women delivering preterm has been reported [47]; and intra-ammintic infusion of TNF- α induces preterm labor in animal models [54,113]; all of which make TNF- α an attractive candidate target for therapeutic intervention.

Blocking TNF- α , either using anti-TNF- α antibodies, soluble TNF receptors or pentoxifylline, an inhibitor of TNF- α synthesis, has been shown to improve infection-mediated adverse pregnancy outcomes in mice including fetal resorption, intrauterine growth restriction and fetal mortality [113-115]. The use of anti-TNF- α therapy to inhibit preterm labor has also been examined using mouse models with mixed success. Fidel *et al.* reported that blocking of TNF- α using a soluble TNF- α receptor Fc fusion protein

www.expert-reviews.com

did not prevent LPS-induced preterm delivery [116]. Holmgren et al. recently reported pretreatment with an anti-TNF- α antibody significantly decreased the number of LPS-induced preterm deliveries as well as improving pup survival and decreasing the expression of several proinflammatory mediators including IL-6 and IL-1 β [117]. Although these studies provide conflicting evidence on the potential of anti-TNF- α therapy in preterm labor, the Holmgren et al. [117] study is encouraging as it used a commercially available antibody that has been previously used to treat arthritis and Crohn's disease in humans, demonstrating its anti-inflammatory potential in different clinical settings.

The use of anti-TNF- α agents to treat preterm labor or other reproductive disorders has not been investigated clinically but, as mentioned earlier, anti-TNF-\alpha antibodies and soluble TNF receptors are routinely administered to pregnant women suffering from pathologies including rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. A recent review examining the evidence on the safety of administering anti-TNF therapy to treat rheumatoid arthritis in pregnant women concluded that while some studies reported no association between anti-TNF- α therapy and adverse outcomes, there have been reports of congenital abnormalities in women taking anti-TNF-& drugs, thus the safety of these drugs during pregnancy is not yet clear [111]. Interestingly, a recent study by Zelinkova et al. reported evidence that high levels of infliximab, an anti-TNF-α antibody used in the treatment of inflammatory bowel conditions, were found in the cord blood of newborn babies born to mothers taking infliximab until week 30 of gestation, confirming that infliximab can cross the placenta and that maternal ingestion leads to direct fetal exposure to this drug [118]. Although no immediate adverse side effects were apparent after 6 months, the long-term implications are unknown [118].

ΙL-1β

Blocking IL-1 signaling has proved to be a successful therapeutic approach in the treatment of some pathologies, and the use of the endogenous IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) is clinically approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis [119]. Studies into the role of IL-1Ra in regulating inflammatory signaling in gestational tissues began in 1992 when Romero et al. demonstrated the ability of IL-1Ra to decrease IL-1B-induced PGE2 production in cultured amnion and chorion explants in vitro [120]. This finding was rapidly followed with evidence from an in vivo mouse model of preterm labor where pretreatment with IL-1Ra was reported to prevent IL-1-induced preterm birth [53]. However, since these two encouraging results, conflicting data have been reported on the usefulness of blocking IL-1β signaling as a strategy to prevent preterm labor: administration of IL-1Ra is not capable of preventing LPS-induced preterm labor in a mouse model [116]; overexpression of IL-1Ra in a transgenic mouse does not prevent IL-1β-induced preterm delivery [121]; and furthermore deletion of either $IL-1\beta$ or the IL-1 receptor in transgenic knockout mice is not reported to reduce rates of preterm delivery when compared with wild-type mice [122,123]. Taken together these studies suggest that simply targeting IL-1B signaling is unlikely to be sufficient to inhibit

Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

IL-10

preterm labor, although IL-1β does play an important role in the inflammatory cascade associated with parturition, and is capable of inducing preterm labor, it is not actually essential for the induction of preterm labor. Interestingly, while studies with IL-1 receptor knockout mice did not show any difference in susceptibility to infection-induced preterm labor [123], a double knockout mouse model lacking both the IL-1 and TNF- $\!\alpha$ receptor has been reported to show decreased rates of E. coli-induced preterm birth compared with wild-type mice [124], although preterm labor was not completely abolished. This study highlights the complexity of cytokine interactions associated with preterm labor and suggests that although some success has been seen using animal models, targeting individual cytokines may not be the most useful therapeutic strategy.

Prokineticins

Prokineticins are peptides with a wide range of functions, including stimulation of smooth muscle contractility, angiogenesis, amplification of inflammatory responses, and regulation of hemopoiesis [125]. We have previously shown that prokineticin 1 (PROK1) and its receptor (PROKR1) are expressed in the placenta and that PROK1 upregulates IL-8 and COX-2 expression [126]. More recently, we have shown upregulation of PROK1 in the human myometrium and placenta during labor, with no change in expression of the receptor PROKR1 [127]. Importantly, infection of myometrial explants with lentiviral miRNA targeting PROK1 reduced LPS-induced expression of inflammatory genes, raising the possibility that PROKR1 antagonism might be an effective mechanism to prevent infection/inflammation-induced preterm birth.

Endogenous anti-inflammatory agents

Another potential strategy that is being investigated in the search for novel treatments to delay preterm labor involves upregulation of endogenous anti-inflammatory agents. The administration of endogenous anti-inflammatory mediators may be more beneficial than attempting to block specific points of the inflammatory cascade, as they have the potential to have broader, more widespread anti-inflammatory actions. Furthermore, in recent decades it has become clear that the resolution of inflammation is an active process involving the production of mediators with specific proresolution and anti-inflammatory actions [128,129]. The identification of mediators that not only block inflammation, but are also capable of promoting complete resolution and return to normal tissue homeostasis, has opened up a whole new field of research into treatments for inflammation-associated pathologies. Targeting these pro-resolution pathways could be an exciting novel therapeutic option in the treatment of preterm labor as they have the potential to not only inhibit the inflammatory cascade, but also to resolve the inflammatory, and often hostile, intrauterine state associated with so many cases of preterm birth, therefore potentially being more useful than an anti-inflammatory agent alone in improving neonatal outcome. The anti-inflammatory agents that will be discussed here are IL-10, progesterone, 15d-PGJ, lipoxins and resolvins

Originally termed 'cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor' after its discovery in 1989 as a novel product of mouse Th2 cell clones capable of inhibiting Th1-derived IL-12 and IFN-Y [130], IL-10 is now considered as the classic anti-inflammatory cytokine. The anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 on a range of immune cells, including monocytes, macrophages, T cells and NK cells are well summarized in a recent review by Sabat et al., which highlights monocytes and macrophages as the main target of IL-10 [131]. The key actions of IL-10 on monocytes and macrophages include: inhibiting their production of proinflam matory mediators, such as TNF-a, IL-6, IL-8 [132,133]; promoting their phagocytic ability [134]; and stimulating the production of other anti-inflammatory mediators, such as soluble $\mathrm{TNF} extsf{-}lpha$ receptor and IL-1Ra [135,136]. The anti-inflammatory actions of IL-10 are largely mediated through activation of the signal transducer and activation of transcription (STAT) transcription factors, specifically STAT3, which upon activation by IL-10 promotes the expression of a number of genes including the suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3) and IL-10 itself [131]. IL-10 has also been shown to inhibit NF-KB activation in a number of different cell systems [137-139]. Research into IL-10 as a therapeutic option to treat inflammation-associated pathologies, including Crohn's disease [140], psoriasis [141] and chronic hepatitis C [142], has progressed to clinical trial stage with mixed success in terms of reducing disease severity, but in general administration of IL-10 was well tolerated in the individuals, with minimal side effects [143].

The important role of IL-10 in pregnancy has been discussed extensively in two recent reviews [144,145]. During gestation IL-10 is expressed in placental tissues, isolated cytotrophoblast cells [35,36], uterine NK cells and decidual macrophages [37]. Changes in IL-10 expression in pregnancy have been demonstrated in placental tissues, with higher IL-10 in the first and second trimesters followed by downregulation at term [36]. IL-10 has also been detected in the amniotic fluid of women during pregnancy with one study reporting increased amniotic fluid IL-10 at term compared with second trimester levels [146], while other studies have reported no change across gestation [38,147]. Gotsch et al. describe increased amniotic fluid IL-10 levels associated with spontaneous labor both at term and in cases of preterm labor, compared with gestation matched nonlaboring women, with a further increase in amniotic fluid IL-10 levels measured in the presence of intra-amniotic infection [38]. These studies suggest that IL-10 has an important role to play in regulating inflammatory signaling during labor at term and preterm, particularly in response to infection. Increasing levels of IL-10 in the amniotic fluid are likely to act as an important protective mechanism to prevent fetal exposure to excess inflammation. The importance of IL-10 in controlling the inflammatory response associated with intrauterine infection has been demonstrated by studies with the IL-10 knockout mouse, where IL-10 knockout mice required a tenfold lower dose of LPS to induce 50% fetal loss compared with wild-type animals and serum levels of TNF-α and IL-6, induced by LPS treatment, were much greater in the knockout animals compared with the wildtype mice. The differences between IL-10 knockout mice and

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

wild-type mice were attenuated by administration of recombinant IL-10 [50]. Additionally, IL-10 deficiency has been associated with a number of adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as precelampsia, recurrent spontaneous abortions and preterm labor [148–150], highlighting the importance of IL-10 in regulating the intrauterine inflammatory environment throughout gestation.

The ability of IL-10 to attenuate proinflammatory signaling in human gestational tissues has been investigated *in vitro*. In the fetal membranes, IL-10 has been shown to be capable of downregulating the production of the proinflammatory mediators TNF- α [151], PGE₂, IL-1 β [152] and MMP-2 and -9 [153]. In choriodecidual explants, IL-10 treatment significantly reduced LPS-induced IL-1 β and TNF- α [154]. In cultured placental trophoblasts, IL-10 downregulated IL-1 β -induced COX-2 and PGE₂ production [155] and inhibited MMP-9 production [156]. Similarly, using placental explants collected at term, IL-10 treatment reduced LPS and IDetechoic-induced proinflammatory cytokine synthesis and PGE₂ production [157]. Whether these antiinflammatory effects of IL-10 in gestational tissues are mediated via inhibition of NF- κ B or through other mechanisms is unclear.

Animal models have been invaluable in investigating the effect of IL-10 administration on preterm labor. As discussed earlier, Robertson et al. demonstrated that administration of exogenous IL-10 to both pregnant IL-10 knockout and wild-type mice resulted in a significant reduction in the number of LPS-induced fetal losses in both mice and also attenuated proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in gestational tissues in knockout mice [50]. In a rat model of preterm birth, IL-10 treatment, either at the same time as LPS or 24 h later, was found to significantly delay the time to delivery and importantly improve pup survival rates [158]. IL-10 treatment has also been shown capable of inhibiting E. coli-induced white matter damage in rat pup brains [159]. This protective effect of IL-10 on infection-induced neonatal brain injury is thought to involve suppression of microglial/macrophage activation [160]. Additionally, in a nonhuman primate model investigating inflammation-induced preterm birth, IL-10 administration attenuated IL-1B-induced uterine contractility, amniotic fluid TNF-α and prostaglandin levels and reduced leukocyte influx into the amniotic fluid. Furthermore, intravenous and intra-amniotic infusion of IL-10 was not associated with any changes in baseline fetal heart rate [161], suggesting that IL-10 administration was not having any immediate adverse effects on the fetus.

The $I\!\!L$ -10 knockout mouse has been utilized as a model to investigate the role of particular immune cell subtypes in preterm labor in response to different inflammatory triggers. Treatment with low-dose LPS has demonstrated a role for TNF- α in the infiltration of cytotoxic uNK cells associated with adverse pregnancy outcome in these animals [17]. However, administration of CpG oligo-deoxynucleotide, a TLR-9 agonist, to $I\!\!L$ -10 knockout mice leads to macrophage-dependent, uNK cell-independent preterm delivery [16]. These studies suggest that particular immune cell subtypes respond differentially to different inflammatory triggers, but an important caveat is that much of this data has yet to be replicated in wild-type animals. Notably the uNK cell infiltration seen in response to LPS-

www.expert-reviews.com

This diminished role of uNK cells in wild-type animals is consistent with studies in the human where decidual uNK cell numbers decline from 60-70% in the first trimester to around 3% at term [162].

Taken together these studies highlight the potential of IL-10 as a novel anti-inflammatory treatment for preterm labor that can target early events in the inflammatory cascade leading to labor. Although these are promising studies, and IL-10 administration appears to be relatively well tolerated in other inflammation-associated pathologies, any long-term effects on the fetus are unknown and would need to be investigated further. Furthermore, given the widespread role of IL-10 during pregnancy, it is possible that exogenous administration of IL-10 would not only be beneficial in cases of preterm labor, but could also be a useful treatment for other inflammation-associated pathologies that lead to adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as preeclampsia [145].

Progesterone

As discussed earlier, progesterone plays a key role during pregnancy in maintaining uterine quiescence and functional withdrawal of progesterone in the uterus is thought to precede the initiation of labor in humans [32]. This suggests that maintaining intrauterine progesterone concentrations might be a useful therapeutic strategy to delay preterm delivery.

Progesterone has been evaluated as a treatment for preterm labor since the 1960s [163], with clinical trials still ongoing evaluating the effectiveness of different progesterone derivatives in high-risk women. Many clinical studies have reported that progesterone supplementation to high-risk women is associated with reduced preterm delivery rates [164-166]; although progesterone prophylaxis appears to be less effective in women with multiple pregnancies [167-169] and a recent study also reported that administration of 17-α-hydroxyprogesterone did not inhibit preterm delivery in women with preterm premature rupture of the fetal membranes [170]. Importantly, although in use as a treatment for preterm labor for many years, the mechanisms by which progesterone delays preterm delivery are relatively poorly understood; improving understanding of how progesterone acts will aid in the definition of which groups of women in particular may benefit from progesterone treatment and may also explain why progesterone is more effective in some cases, such as in singleton pregnancies, but not others.

In vitro studies and animal models of preterm labor have been used to try to understand the mechanisms of progesterone action. Using a mouse model of LPS-induced inflammation where pretreatment with the progestational agent medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) delayed preterm delivery, Elovitz *et al.* reported that MPA treatment downregulated LPS-induced expression of COX-2, TNF- α , IL-1 β and connexin-43, which is a protein associated with myometrial gap junctions, and also inhibited cervical ripening, indicating that in the context of intrauterine infection progesterone has anti-inflammatory actions and can also act to decrease myometrial contractility [171]. Using the same model, Elovitz *et al.* subsequently reported that MPA treatment inhibited LPS-induced TLR-2 upregulation in the cervix and placenta, which may explain another mechanism by which progesterone

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

may act to delay preterm delivery [172]. This inhibitory effect of MPA on LPS-induced TLR expression has more recently also been reported in human myometrial samples in vitro [57]. Another potential anti-inflammatory mechanism of progesterone action in the intrauterine tissues could be explained by the negative interactions between the progesterone receptor and $\mathrm{NF}\text{-}\kappa B,$ which have been previously reported in other cell systems [173] and in human amnion cells [26]. Furthermore, a study investigating the effect of progesterone treatment on fetal membranes in vitro suggested inhibition of apoptosis in the fetal membranes may be another mechanism of progesterone action [174]. Progesterone pretreatment has also been shown to be capable of modulating IL-6 production in feto-placental arteries [175] and in fetal mononuclear cells [176,177], which the authors suggest may indicate progesterone can also inhibit the fetal inflammatory response. A recent study by Norman et al. demonstrates that prolonged administration of progesterone in vivo results in decreased myometrial expression of connexin 43 and decreased CD11b expression on circulating monocytes, suggesting that progesterone may act to inhibit synchronous myometrial contractility and reduce leukocyte influx into the myometrium [178]

It must be noted that, although several studies have demonstrated the use of progesterone administration to prevent preterm delivery, there is still little convincing evidence that it actually improves neonatal outcome [179]. However, there are a number of randomized control trials ongoing examining the long-term outcomes in children whose mothers received progesterone treatment, one such UK-based study is the OPPTIMUM trial (ISRCTN14568373); thus in the near future the benefits of progesterone treatment on neonatal outcome should become cleater.

15d-PGJ₂

15d-PGJ₂² is a metabolite of PGD₂ that has been shown to have potent anti-inflammatory actions in a variety of cell systems [180]. 15d-PGJ₂ is produced in the later phases of an inflammatory response *in vivo* and is therefore postulated to have an important role in the resolution of the inflammatory response [181]. Studies have demonstrated that 15d-PGJ₂ stimulates leukocyte apoptosis [182] and promotes macrophage clearance [183], thus promoting the resolution of inflammation. A major anti-inflammatory mechanism of 15d-PGJ₂ action is through inhibition of the NF- κ B signaling pathway either directly via inhibition of IKK β [184] or indirectly via activation of PPAR- γ [185].

During pregnancy both the placenta and decidua have been shown to be sources of PGD₂ [186.187] and both PGD₂ and 15d-PGJ₂ have been detected in the anniotic fluid of women at term [188]. In vitro studies have demonstrated the ability of 15d-PGJ₂ to downregulate TNF- α -induced COX-2 expression, PGE₂ release and NF- κ B activity in human amnion and WISH cells [189]; inhibit IL-1 β -induced COX-2 and NF- κ B activation and activity in primary annion and myometrial cells [24]; and inhibit the LPS-induced activation of NF- κ B and the subsequent release of proinflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins from human placenta, amnion and choriodecidua explants [190]. Following on from these *in vitro* studies, Pirianov *et al.* recently reported that

treatment with 15d-PGJ₂ significantly delayed preterm delivery and improved fetal survival rates in a mouse model of LPS-induced preterm labor [49]. Confirming data from the *in vitro* work, 15d-PGJ₂ treatment was associated with decreased IKK β activity in the myometrium; inhibition of LPS-induced myometrial proinflammatory cytokine production; and inhibition of cPLA2 expression in the myometrium suggesting a negative feedback mechanism on prostaglandin synthesis [49]. Furthermore, intrauterine administration of 15d-PGJ₂ also resulted in decreased IKK β activity in fetal brains [49], suggesting that aside from inhibiting inflammatory signaling in the myometrium, 15d-PGJ₂ may also be capable of protecting the fetus from inflammation-associated brain injury.

Research into the use of 15d-PGJ₂ as an anti-inflammatory therapeutic agent is still at a relatively early stage, but *in vivo* data from animal models demonstrating a beneficial effect of 15d-PGJ₂ treatment in a wide variety of inflammation-associated diseases, including chronic lung injury [191], arthritis [192] and ulcerative colitis [193], provide encouragement for the concept that exogenous administration of 15d-PGJ₂ could be a useful therapeutic strategy. The ability of 15d-PGJ₂ to inhibit NF- κ B-regulated inflammatory gene expression in intrauterine tissues *in vitro*, inhibit infection-induced preterm labor and improve fetal outcome *in vivo* suggest that it could be an exciting novel therapeutic target in the treatment of inflammation-induced preterm labor. Further research is required to examine this potential and investigate any adverse fetal effects.

Lipoxins

Lipoxins were the first family of lipid mediators recognized to have dual-acting pro-resolution and anti-inflammatory properties. Lipoxins were first identified as novel products of 15-HPETE in human leukocytes [194,195], and have since been reported to have a range of anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions in a wide number of cell types. In neutrophils, lipoxins have been reported to inhibit neutrophil activation, adhesion and chemotaxis and promote neutrophil apoptosis [196-200]. In contrast to the inhibitory effects of lipoxins reported in neutrophils, lipoxins have been reported to stimulate monocyte adhesion and migration [201,202], inhibit monocyte apoptosis [203] and promote the clearance of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages [204]. In addition to the effects of lipoxin on immune cells, lipoxin treatment has also been shown to: inhibit the leukotriene-stimulated activation and proliferation of endothelial cells [205]; block platelet-derived growth factor-induced migration of smooth muscle cells [206]; decrease MMP production and increase TIMP production by fibroblasts [207]; and decrease NF-KB activation in epithelial cells [208]. These varied actions of lipoxins in the resolution of inflammatory responses are summarized in FIGURE 2. Lipoxins are synthesized from arachidonic acid via the action of their specific lipoxygenase enzymes: 5-lipoxygenase (ALOX-5), 12-lipoxygenase (ALOX-12) and 15-lipoxygenase (ALOX-15). Lipoxin synthesis involves transcellular interactions between leukocytes and either epithelial cells or platelets. Aspirin can also be involved in lipoxin synthesis, whereby in the presence of aspirin COX-2 becomes acetylated and drives the synthesis of aspirin-triggered lipoxins via ALOX-5 [209]. It has been demonstrated that during the course of an acute inflammatory response,

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)



Figure 2. Anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution actions of lipoxin A₄. Summary of lipoxin A₄ actions on key cell types in the inflammatory response. MMP: Matrix metalloproteinase; NO: Nitric oxide; TIMP: Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase.

polymorphonuclear neutrophils undergo a process termed 'lipidmediator class switching', where they switch from production of proinflammatory lipid mediators such as leukotrienes and prostaglandins, to production of lipoxin A4 [210].

In a variety of cell systems lipoxins have also been shown to downregulate a range of proinflammatory mediators in vitro, including many of those involved in the inflammatory cascade of labor, such IL-8, IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α and MMPs [207,211-213]. Lipoxins have

www.expert-reviews.com

been shown to inhibit the NF-KB pathway in a number of cell systems [211,213,214]; and activation of PPAR-γ is reported as another potential mechanism for the anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxins [215]. Additionally, a recent study demonstrated the activation of STAT3 and increased SOCS3 expression in response to lipoxin treatment in a macrophage cell line in vitro [216], which could underlie the downregulation of proinflammatory gene expression observed with lipoxin treatment. The therapeutic potential of

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman





lipoxins and their stable analogues has been demonstrated in a number of animal models of inflammation-associated pathologies such as asthma [217], ulcerative colitis [208], ischemia/reperfusion injury [218] and arthritis [219] where lipoxin administration was associated with reduced severity of disease and improved outcome in each case.

The role of lipoxins in regulating inflammation in the intrauterine tissues, and in particular in parturition, has been largely unexplored. ALOX enzyme expression has been detected in gestational tissues: in amnion and choriodecidua tissues, ALOX-5 expression has been reported, with increased ALOX-5 expression in the choriodecidua in association with labor [220]; decreased ALOX-15 has been reported in myometrial smooth muscle cells at term and during labor [221]; and ALOX-5 and ALOX-12 have also been detected in baboon myometrium, cervix, chorion and decidua at term [222]. A recent study examining the role of lipoxins in pregnancy reported significantly higher levels of circulating serum lipoxin A4 levels in pregnant women compared with nonpregnant women, and increased expression of FPR2 in myometrium in association with labor [39]. Furthermore, the same study also demonstrated the ability of lipoxin A to downregulate LPS-induced IL-6 and IL-8 expression in myometrial explants in vitro [39]. A recent review also discusses the evidence regarding lipoxin action in other reproductive events, such as ovulation and menstruation, highlighting that these relatively novel mediators are likely to be involved in regulating the inflammatory events surrounding a number of physiological reproductive events [223].

Given the evidence from animal models that lipoxins are useful in treating inflammation-associated pathologies, along with the data of these preliminary studies examining the role of lipoxins in laborassociated inflammation, it seems clear that lipoxin treatment could be an exciting novel therapeutic strategy in the treatment of inflammation-induced preterm labor. The pro-resolution actions of lipoxins, in stimulating neutrophil apoptosis and promoting macrophage phagocytosis, suggest that they could be more useful than simple anti-inflammatory agents alone at resolving a hostile inflammatory intrauterine

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

environment, thereby limiting inflammation-induced neonatal injury. Interestingly, recent studies have also demonstrated the ability of lipoxins to regulate inflammatory signaling in the brain – in a human astrocytoma cell line *in vitro* [213] and also *in vivo* using a rat model of brain injury [218] – suggesting that lipoxins may also be beneficial in inhibiting inflammation-induced neonatal brain injury. Indeed, work is now being undertaken in our lab investigating the efficacy of lipoxins to delay preterm delivery and improve neonatal outcome using a mouse model of preterm labor.

Resolvins

Resolvins were first isolated and identified in murine inflammatory exudates formed in response to a dorsal air pouch model of inflammation [224]. They are synthesized from Ω -3 poly-unsaturated fatty acids, specifically from the precursor fatty acids, eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid, which give rise to E-series and D-series resolvins, respectively. Resolvins share similar antiinflammatory and proresolution actions as those already described for lipoxins. Animal models have been invaluable in demonstratinflam mation-associated pathologies including peritonitis [225,226], ischemia/reperfusion injury [227] and colitis [228].

Little is known about the role resolvins play in regulating inflammatory responses in gestational tissues; however, dietary supplementation with their precursor molecules, poly-unsaturated fatty acids, has been implicated in decreasing rates of preterm birth [229]. Ω -3 fatty acid supplementation has long been recognized as a beneficial treatment for a number of pathologies including cardiovascular disease [230,231], inflammatory bowel diseases [222,233] and arthritis [234,235]; but the underlying molecular mechanisms of how Ω -3 fatty acids were beneficial were not well understood until the identification of resolvins [129].

Clinical trials have also been carried out examining whether Ω -3 fatty acid supplementation during pregnancy is associated with prolonged gestation and, while some studies have reported a significant decrease in preterm deliveries in women taking Ω -3 supplements [236-238], two recent meta-analyses reviewing current evidence concluded that there is not yet sufficient evidence to recommend the use of Ω -3 supplementation to delay preterm delivery and treat other adverse pregnancy outcomes, with the relative risks of preterm birth in each study reported as 0.92 (95% CI: 0.79-1.07) and 0.99 (95% CI: 0.9-1.1) [239,240]. Interestingly, the mechanisms by which Ω -3 fatty acids are proposed to delay preterm delivery are unclear, but it seems probable that any benefits observed could be mediated by the anti-inflammatory, pro-resolution actions of the Ω -3 derivatives, resolvins. To date there have been no reports on the role of resolvins in regulating inflammation in intrauterine tissues, but given some reports of Ω-3-fatty acid supplementation delaying delivery, along with the preliminary data suggesting lipoxins may be a useful therapeutic agent in this context, it is interesting to speculate that resolvins may equally be promising new therapeutic treatments for inflammation-induced preterm labor.

The inflammatory pathways discussed here as potential targets for the treatment of preterm labor are summarized in Figure 3.

Expert commentary

Despite decades of research, preterm birth remains the leading cause of neonatal mortality worldwide and can lead to a number of long-term health consequences for those babies who do survive. Currently used tocolytic drugs have been largely ineffective in reducing the incidence of preterm birth and there is little evidence that these drugs improve neonatal outcome. Given the growing body of evidence that labor at term is an inflammatory event and the hypothesis that in many cases preterm birth is triggered by the premature activation of similar inflammatory pathways, either idiopathically or in response to intrauterine infection, we have discussed the role of anti-inflammatory mediators in parturition and their potential as therapeutic agents to delay preterm labor and improve neonatal outcome.

With preterm labor remaining a major obstetrical problem worldwide, there is increasing research into novel treatments that could have a significant impact on preterm birth rates and improve neonatal survival. In particular the anti-inflammatory agents discussed in this article have been the focus of much research, but there are many other promising therapeutic targets being investigated. Examples of other promising mediators with anti-inflammatory properties that are being studied include sirtuins (SIRT), antioxidants and vitamins. SIRT1, which possess histone deacetylase activity, has recently been shown to have antiinflammatory actions in human gestational tissues in vitro [241]. In addition, the vitamin B3 derivative, nicotinamide, has been reported to have anti-inflammatory and antioxidative actions in human placental explants in vitro [242]; and furthermore a recent clinical trial investigating the effects of L-arginine and antioxidant vitamin supplementation of women at high-risk of preeclampsia reported a reduction in the overall rate of preterm birth [243].

Anti-inflammatory mediators have the potential to be more effective than tocolytic drugs alone in the treatment of preterm labor, as rather than simply blocking myometrial contractions, anti-inflammatory agents target the underlying mechanisms thought to trigger spontaneous preterm labor in a vast number of cases and, more importantly, they target events occurring earlier in the inflammatory cascade before the onset of myometrial contractions. Furthermore, some anti-inflammatory agents, in particular those with proresolution actions, also have the potential to resolve the inflammatory in utero environment, therefore limiting the exposure of the fetus to the hostile inflammatory signals and preventing associated inflammation-induced pathology. Animal models have been invaluable to research in this field and have demonstrated the ability of anti-inflammatory agents to not only effectively delay infection- and inflammation-induced preterm labor, but also to reduce infection-induced neonatal brain injury, suggesting that these agents could be useful in decreasing the incidence of preterm labor, but more importantly could improve neonatal outcome. While extrapolation of evidence from animal models to human systems is complicated by differences in parturition mechanisms and physiology, they do provide encouragement for the concept of using anti-inflammatory therapies.

www.expert-reviews.com

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

Theoretically, the use of anti-inflammatory agents to treat preterm labor could result in suppression of the maternal and fetal immune responses, impairing the ability to mount a defense to infection. Whether this possible suppression of immune response is a real concern would need more investigation. Furthermore, targeting inflammatory factors, such as NF- κ B, could lead to other downstream effects given the role of NF- κ B in regulating the transcription of a wide range of genes, not just those related to inflammation. Any potential long-term side effects of the anti-inflammatory therapies discussed here are unknown and further research would be required to confirm the safety of administering these drugs during pregnancy to ensure that they do ultimately result in an improved fetal outcome.

The heterogeneous nature of preterm labor means it is unlikely that there will be one effective treatment for all cases, therefore it is important to continue research into a range of therapeutic strategies. Further investigations into markers that can be used to predict the onset of preterm labor will aid in the identification of which treatments will be appropriate to specific subgroups of women. We feel that given the key role of the inflammatory signaling in parturition, anti-inflammatory agents have the potential to be exciting novel therapeutic agents in the treatment of preterm birth.

Five-year view

It is likely that agents that inhibit intrauterine inflammation will become an important part of preterm labor prevention and treatment strategies within the next 5 years. Progesterone, as discussed previously, is known to have an anti-inflammatory effect. It is already in established use in the USA for prevention of preterm birth in women at high risk. The UK approach is more cautious, with a desire to demonstrate improved long-term outcomes for the baby, rather than just prevention of preterm birth, before introduction into routine clinical practice. Notwithstanding, identification of subgroups of women who will benefit from progesterone prophylaxis remains a challenge: to date a reduction in preterm birth has only been demonstrated in those either with a previous spontaneous preterm birth or with a short cervix on scan in the

second trimester. A strategy to identify nulliparous women at high risk, together with studies to demonstrate that such women would benefit from progesterone, is urgently needed.

N-acetylcysteine has been shown to be beneficial in one study – again further evidence on risks and benefits for the baby is needed prior to adoption into clinical use.

Beyond progesterone, other anti-inflammatory agents in clinical trials for nonobstetric indications include 15d-PGJ $_{\rm 2}$ and IL-10. Although additional preclinical work is needed, it is hoped that these agents could be tested in clinical trials to reduce preterm birth and improve outcome within the next 5 years. The results of such trials may take some time to accrue: a difficulty in preterm birth research is that the end point of preterm birth prevention is merely a surrogate for the more important outcome of neonatal and childhood mortality and morbidity. The crucially important outcome of offspring neurological function may not be readily assessable until several years of age - thus outcome ascertainment can take many years after randomization. However, the importance of preterm birth, and the rising extent of the death and disability it causes should encourage clinicians, researchers and funders to meet this important challenge, and to identify effective therapies for preterm birth prevention and treatment as soon as possible.

Acknowledgement

We would like to thank Ronnie Grant and Tim Edgeler for assistance with graphics.

Financial & competing interests disclosure

This research has been supported by PiggyBank Kids (Sara F Rinaldi and Jane E Norman), the Medical Research Council (James L Hutchinson, Adriano G Rossi and Jane E Norman) and Tommy's (Jane E Norman). The authors have no other relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript apart from those disclosed.

No writing assistance was utilized in the production of this manuscript.

Key issues

 Increasing evidence highlights parturition as an inflammatory event involving leukocyte influx into the myometrium, cervix and fetal membranes and increased production of proinflammatory mediators, such as IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-α at the time of labor.

- Preterm labor is a major obstetric problem that accounts for up to 75% of neonatal deaths. The causes of preterm labor are poorly
 understood; however, the presence of intrauterine infection and/or inflammation are thought to be important factors. Therefore, there
 is growing interest in the hypothesis that in many cases preterm labor occurs due to the premature activation of the inflammatory
 cascade normally associated with labor at term, either idiopathically, or in response to intrauterine infection.
- Current treatments for preterm labor focus on the use of tocolytic agents to inhibit myometrial contractions. While these agents have had some success in delaying labor, they have not had a significant impact on the number of preterm births and there is little evidence that they improve neonatal outcome.
- The use of anti-inflammatory agents to delay preterm labor offers a novel therapeutic strategy in the treatment of preterm labor. These
 anti-inflammatory mediators have the potential to be more effective at delaying preterm labor and, more importantly, at improving
 neonatal outcome as they target the underlying mechanisms thought to trigger preterm labor.
- The pro-resolution actions of some of the anti-inflammatory mediators discussed in this article, such as the lipoxins and resolvins, are particularly interesting mediators to consider as they have the potential to not only reduce inflammatory signaling but also resolve the inflammatory intrauterine environment, therefore limiting fetal exposure to often harmful inflammatory signals.

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

Anti-inflammatory mediators as physiological & pharmacological regulators of parturition ▶11 Pollard JK, Mitchell MD. Intrauterine ▶ 22 Elliott CL, Allport VC, Loudon JA, Wu References infection and the effects of inflam matory Papers of special note have been highlighted as: mediators on prostaglandin production by of interes myometrial cells from pregnant women. •• of considerable interest ▶1 Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 174(2), 682-686 (1996). 787-790 (2001). Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 371(9606), 75-84 Bollapragada S, Youssef R, Jordan F, Greer >23 I, Norman J, Nelson S. Term labor is Lappas M, Permezel M, Rice GE. 12 (2008). associated with a core inflammatory Sennstrom MB, Ekman G, Westergren response in human fetal membranes Thorsson G et al. Human cervical myometrium, and cervix. Am. J. Obstet. ripening, an inflammatory process Gynecol. 200(1), 104 e101-e111 (2009). activity in human fetal membranes mediated by cytokines. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 6(4), 375-381 (2000). Microarray analysis identifying that 1723-1729 (2003). physiological labor at term is associated Young A, Thomson AJ, Ledingham M, Lindstrom TM, Bennett PR. 15-deoxy with a core inflammatory response in the >2.4 Jordan F, Greer IA, Norman JE. {8}12,14-prostaglandin j2 inhibits Immunolocalization of proinflammatory intrauterine tissues. interleukin-1{ β }-induced nuclear cytokines in myometrium, cervix, and fetal membranes during human parturition Thomson AJ, Telfer JF, Young A et al. factor-{K}b in human amnion and Leukocytes infiltrate the myometrium myometrial cells: mechanisms and at term. Biol. Reprod. 66(2), 445-449 during human parturition: further evidence (2002).that labour is an inflammatory process. Osman I, Young A, Ledingham MA et al. Hum. Reprod. 14(1), 229-236 (1999). 25 Leukocyte density and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in human fetal Gomez-Lopez N, Estrada-Gutierrez G, Jimenez-Zamudio L, Vega-Sanchez R, Vadillo-Ortega F. Fetal membranes exhibit membranes, decidua, cervix and 26 Allport VC, Pieber D, Slater DM, Newton myometrium before and during labour at selective leukocyte chemotaxic activity term. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 9(1), 41-45 during human labor. J. Reprod. Immunol. 80(1-2), 122-131 (2009). (2003).Denison FC, Kelly RW, Calder AA, Riley ▶15 Osman I, Young A, Jordan F, Greer IA, Norman JE. Leukocyte density and expression and is involved with the SC. Cytokine secretion by human fetal membranes, decidua and placenta at term. proinflammatory mediator expression in Hum. Reprod. 13(12), 3560-3565 (1998). regional human fetal membranes and Lee Y, Allport V, Sykes A, Lindstrom T, > 27 Olson DM. The role of prostaglandins in decidua before and during labor at term. the initiation of parturition. Best Pract. Res. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 13(2), 97–103 Clin. Obstet. Gynaecol. 17(5), 717-730 (2006)(2003). ▶16 Thaxton JE, Romero R, Sharma S. TLR9 Yoshida M, Sagawa N, Itoh H et al. activation coupled to IL-10 deficiency induces adverse pregnancy outcomes. 213-218 (2003). Prostaglandin F(2α), cytokines and cyclic Lappas M, Rice GE. Transcriptional 28 J. Immunol. 183(2), 1144-1154 (2009).

- Murphy SP, Hanna NN, Fast LD et al. Evidence for participation of uterine natural killer cells in the mechanisms responsible for spontaneous preterm labor and delivery. >29 Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 200(3), 308
- e301-e309 (2009). Yuan M, Jordan F, Mcinnes IB, Harnett MM, Norman JE. Leukocytes are primed in peripheral blood for activation during term and preterm labour. Mol. Hum Reprod. 15(11), 713-724 (2009).
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Signaling to ▶19 NF-KB. Genes Dev. 18(18), 2195-2224 (2004).
- >20 Lindstrom TM, Bennett PR, The role of nuclear factor κ B in human labour. Reproduction 130(5), 569-581 (2005).
 - Lappas M, Rice GE. The role and regulation of the nuclear factor κ B signalling pathway in human labour. *Placenta* 28(5–6), 543–556 (2007).

- GD, Bennett PR. Nuclear factor-K B is essential for up-regulation of interleukin-8 expression in human amnion and cervical epithelial cells. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 7(8),
- N-acetyl-cysteine inhibits phospholipid metabolism, proinflammatory cytokine release, protease activity, and nuclear factor-KB deoxyribonucleic acid-binding in vitro, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88(4).
- implications. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90(6), 3534–3543 (2005).
 - Havden MS, West AP, Ghosh S, NF-KB and the immune response. Oncogene 25(51), 6758-6780 (2006).
 - R, White JO, Bennett PR. Human labour is associated with nuclear factor-KB activity which mediates cyclo-oxygenase-2 'functional progesterone withdrawal'. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 7(6), 581–586 (2001).
 - Slater D, Bennett P. The effects of labour and of interleukin 1 β upon the expression of nuclear factor K B related proteins in human amnion. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 9(4),
 - regulation of the processes of human labour and delivery. *Placenta* 30 (Suppl. A), S90–S95 (2009).
 - Vora S, Abbas A, Kim CJ et al. Nuclear factor-ĸ B localization and function within intrauterine tissues from term and preterm labor and cultured fetal membranes. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 8, 8 (2010)
- Condon JC, Hardy DB, Kovaric K, >30 Mendelson CR. Up-regulation of the progesterone receptor (PR)-C isoform in laboring myometrium by activation of nuclear factor-KB may contribute to the onset of labor through inhibition of PR function. Mol. Endocrinol. 20(4), 764-775 (2006).
- Yan X, Sun M, Gibb W. Localization of >31 nuclear factor-KB (NF KB) and inhibitory factor-к B (IкB) in human fetal membranes and decidua at term and preterm delivery. Placenta 23(4), 288-293 (2002),

689

- mechanical stretch augment matrix metalloproteinase-1 secretion from cultured ▶₁₇ human uterine cervical fibroblast cells. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 8(7), 681-687 (2002).
- Xu P, Alfaidy N, Challis JR. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 in human placenta and fetal membranes in relation to preterm and term >18 labor. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87(3), 1353-1361 (2002).
- Tribe RM, Moriarty P, Dalrymple A Hassoni AA, Poston L. Interleukin-1ß induces calcium transients and enhances basal and store operated calcium entry in human myometrial smooth muscle. Biol. Reprod. 68(5), 1842-1849 (2003)
- ▶10 Barata H, Thompson M, Zielinska W et al. The role of cyclic-ADP-ribose signaling pathway in oxytocin-induced Ca2+ transients in human myometrium cells. Endocrinology 145(2), 881-889 (2004).

www.expert-reviews.com

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

- Brown AG, Leite RS, Strauss JF 3rd. Mechanisms underlying "functional" progesterone withdrawal at parturition. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1034, 36–49 (2004).
- 33 Pieber D, Allport VC, Hills F, Johnson M, Bennett PR. Interactions between progesterone receptor isoforms in myometrial cells in human labour. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 7(9), 875–879 (2001).
- 34 Mitchell BF, Wong S. Changes in 17 β,20 α-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity supporting an increase in the estrogen/ progesterone ratio of human fetal membranes at parturition. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 168(5), 1377–1385 (1993).
- 35 Roth I, Corry DB, Locksley RM, Abrams JS, Litton MJ, Fisher SJ. Human placental cytotrophoblasts produce the immunosuppressive cytokine interleukin 10. J. Exp. Med. 184(2), 539–548 (1996).
- 36 Hanna N, Hanna I, Hleb M et al. Gestational age-dependent expression of IL-10 and its receptor in human placental tissues and isolated cytotrophoblasts. J. Immunol. 164(11), 5721–5728 (2000).
- Ji Lidstrom C, Matthiesen L, Berg G, Sharma S, Ernerudh J, Ekerfelt C. Cytokine secretion patterns of NK cells and macrophages in early human pregnancy decidua and blood: implications for suppressor macrophages in decidua. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 50(6), 444–452 (2003).
- 38 Gotsch F, Romero R, Kusanovic JP et al. The anti-inflammatory limb of the immune response in preterm labor, intra-amniotic infection/inflammation, and spontaneous parturition at term: a role for interleukin-10. J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 21(8), 529–547 (2008).
- 39 Maldonado-Perez D, Golightly E, Denison FC, Jabour HN, Norman JE. A role for lipoxin A4 as anti-inflam matory and proresolution mediator in human parturition. *FASEB J.* 25(2), 569–575 (2010).
- •• First evidence demonstrating a potential role for lipoxin in regulating inflammatory events surrounding physiological and pathological labor.
- Orsi NM, Tribe RM. Cytokine networks and the regulation of uterine function in pregnancy and parturition. *I. Neuroendocrinol.* 20(4), 462–469 (2008).
- 11 Langhoff-Roos J, Kesmodel U, Jacobsson B, Rasmussen S, Vogel I. Spontaneous preterm delivery in primiparous women at low risk in Denmark: population based study. *BMJ* 332(7547), 937–939 (2006).

- 12 Norman JE, Morris C, Chalmers J. The effect of changing patterns of obstetric care in Scotland (1980–2004) on rates of preterm birth and its neonatal consequences: perinatal database study. *PLoS Med.* 6(9), e1000153 (2009).
- 43 Saigal S, Doyle LW. An overview of mortality and sequelae of preterm birth from infancy to adulthood. *Lancet* 371(9608), 261–269 (2008).
- 44 Mangham LJ, Petrou S, Doyle LW, Draper ES, Marlow N. The cost of preterm birth throughout childhood in England and Wales. *Pediatrics* 123(2), e312–327 (2009).
- 45 Romero R, Espinoza J, Kusanovic JP *et al.* The preterm parturition syndrome. *BJOG* 113(Suppl. 3), 17–42 (2006).
- 46 Goldenberg RL, Hauth JC, Andrews WW. Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 342(20), 1500–1507 (2000).
- ▲47 Thomakos N, Daskalakis G, Papapanagiotou A, Papantoniou N, Mesogitis S, Antsaklis A. Amniotic fluid interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-α at mid-trimester genetic amniocentesis: relationship to intra-amniotic microbial invasion and preterm delivery. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 148(2), 147–151 (2010).
- 48 Yoon BH, Oh SY, Romero R et al. An elevated amniotic fluid matrix metalloproteinase-8 level at the time of mid-trimester genetic amniocentesis is a risk factor for spontaneous preterm delivery. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 185(5), 1162–1167 (2001).
- 49 Pirianov G, Waddington SN, Lindstrom TM, Terzidou V, Mehmet H, Bennett PR. The cyclopentenone 15-deoxy-8 12,14-prostaglandin J(2) delays lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm delivery and reduces mortality in the newborn mouse. *Endocrinology* 150(2), 699–706 (2009).
- •• First *in vivo* evidence that the antiinflammatory and proresolution prostaglandin 15d-PGJ, can delay preterm labor and improve pup survival.
- So Robertson SA, Skinner RJ, Care AS. Essential role for IL-10 in resistance to lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm labor in mice. *J. Immunol.* 177(7), 4888–4896 (2006).
 Mcduffie RS Jr, Sherman MP, Gibbs RS.
- Amniotic fluid tumor necrosis factor-α and interleukin-1 in a rabbit model of

bacterially induced preterm pregnancy loss. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 167(6), 1583–1588 (1992).

- 52 Gravett MG, Witkin SS, Haluska GJ, Edwards JL, Cook MJ, Novy MJ. An experimental model for intraamniotic infection and preterm labor in rhesus monkeys. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 171(6), 1660–1667 (1994).
- 53 Romero R, Tartakovsky B. The natural interleukin-1 receptor antagonist prevents interleukin-1-induced preterm delivery in mice. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 167 (4 Pt 1), 1041–1045 (1992).
- 54 Sadowsky DW, Adams KM, Gravett MG, Witkin SS, Novy MJ. Preterm labor is induced by intraamniotic infusions of interleukin-1β and tumor necrosis factor.α. but not by interleukin-6 or interleukin-8 in a nonhuman primate model. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.* 195(6), 1578–1589 (2006).
- 55 Shatrov JG, Birch SC, Lam LT, Quinlivan JA, Mcintyre S, Mendz GL. Chorioamnionitis and cerebral palsy: a meta-analysis. Obset. Gynecol. 116 (2 Pt 1), 387–392 (2010).
 - Recent meta-analysis discussing the association between the presence of an intrauterine infection and cerebral palsy.
- 56 Yoon BH, Romero R, Park JS et al. Fetal exposure to an intra-amniotic inflammation and the development of cerebral palsy at the age of three years. Am. J. Obset. Gynecol. 182 (3), 675–681 (2000).
- 57 Youssef RE, Ledingham MA, Bollapragada SS et al. The role of Toll-like receptors (TLR-2 and -4) and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 1 (TREM-1) in human term and preterm labor. *Reprod. Sci.* 16(9), 843–856 (2009).
- 58 Kim YM, Romero R, Chaiworapongsa T et al. Toll-like receptor-2 and -4 in the chorioamniotic membranes in spontaneous labor at term and in preterm parturition that are associated with chorioamnionitis. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 191(4), 1346–1355 (2004).
 - Canavan TP, Simhan HN. Innate immune function of the human decidual cell at the maternal–fetal interface. *J. Reprod. Immunol.* 74(1–2), 46–52 (2007).
 - Holmlund U, Cebers G, Dahlfors AR *et al.* Expression and regulation of the pattern recognition receptors Toll-like receptor-2 and Toll-like receptor-4 in the human placenta. *Immunology* 107(1), 145–151 (2002).

▶60

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

- 61 Hassan SS, Romero R, Haddad R et al. The transcriptome of the uterine cervix before and after spontaneous term parturition. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 195 (3), 778–786 (2006).
- ►62 Wang H, Hirsch E. Bacterially-induced preterm labor and regulation of prostaglandin-metabolizing enzyme expression in mice: the role of Toll-like receptor 4. *Biol. Reprod.* 69(6), 1957–1963 ►74 (2003).
- 63 Elovitz MA, Wang Z, Chien EK, Rychlik DF, Phillippe M. A new model for inflammation-induced preterm birth: the role of platelet-activating factor and Toll-like receptor-4. *Am. J. Pathol.* 163(5), 2103–2111 (2003).
- 64 Patni S, Flynn P, Wynen LP et al. An introduction to Toll-like receptors and their possible role in the initiation of labour. BJOG 114(11), 1326–1334 (2007).
 - 55 Smith V, Devane D, Begley CM, Clarke M, Higgins S. A systematic review and quality assessment of systematic reviews of randomised trials of interventions for preventing and treating preterm birth. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 142(1), 3–11 (2009).
- 66 Libby P. Inflammatory mechanisms: the molecular basis of inflammation and disease. *Nutr. Rev.* 65(12 Pt 2), S140–146 (2007).
- 77 Romero R, Gotsch F, Pineles B, Kusanovic JP. Inflammation in pregnancy: its roles in reproductive physiology, obstetrical complications, and fetal injury. *Nutr. Rev.* 65 (12 Pt 2), S194–S202 (2007).
- ⁶⁸ Zuckerman H, Reiss U, Rubinstein I. Inhibition of human premature labor by indomethacin. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 44(6), 787–792 (1974).
- 69 Niebyl JR, Blake DA, White RD et al. The 80 inhibition of premature labor with indomethacin. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 136(8), 1014–1019 (1980).
- Panter KR, Hannah ME, Amankwah KS, Ohlsson A, Jefferies AL, Farine D, The effect of indomethacin tocolysis in preterm labour on perinatal outcome: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 106(5), 467–473 (1999).
- Norton ME, Merrill J, Cooper BA, Kuller JA, Clyman RI. Neonatal complications after the administration of indomethacin for preterm labor. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 329(22), 1602–1607 (1993).
- 72 Koren G, Florescu A, Costei AM, Boskovic R, Moretti ME. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs during third

www.expert-reviews.com

trimester and the risk of premature closure of the ductus arteriosus: a meta-analysis. *Ann. Pharmacother.* 40(5), 824–829 (2006).

- 73 Loe SM, Sanchez-Ramos L, Kaunitz AM. Assessing the neonatal safety of indomethacin tocolysis: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Obstet. Gynecol.* 106(1), 173–179 (2005).
 - 74 Kumazaki K, Nakayama M, Yanagihara I, Suehara N, Wada Y. Immunohistochemical distribution of Toll-like receptor 4 in term and preterm human placentas from normal and complicated pregnancy including chorioamnionitis. *Hum. Pathol.* 35 (1), 47–54 (2004).
- Jorenz E, Hallman M, Marttila R, Haataja R, Schwartz DA. Association between the Asp299Gly polymorphisms in the Toll-like receptor 4 and premature births in the Finnish population. *Pediatr. Res.* 52(3), 373–376 (2002).
 - ⁷⁶ Cook DN, Pisetsky DS, Schwartz DA. Toll-like receptors in the pathogenesis of human disease. *Nat. Immunol.* 5(10), 975–979 (2004).
- 77 Adams Waldorf KM, Persing D, Novy MJ, Sadowsky DW, Gravett MG. Pretreatment with Toll-like receptor 4 antagonist inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm uterine contractility, cytokines, and prostaglandins in rhesus monkeys. *Reprod. Sci.* 15(2), 121–127 (2008).
 - ¹³ Li L, Kang J, Lei W. Role of Toll-like receptor 4 in inflammation-induced preterm delivery. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 16(4), 267–272 (2010).
- *79 Koga K, Cardenas I, Aldo P *et al.* Activation of TLR3 in the trophoblast is associated with preterm delivery. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 61(3), 196–212 (2009).
- 80 Ilievski V, Hirsch E. Synergy between viral and bacterial Toll-like receptors leads to amplification of inflammatory responses and preterm labor in the mouse. *Biol. Reprod.* 83(5), 767–773 (2010).
- 81 Gupta SC, Sundaram C, Reuter S, Aggarwal BB. Inhibiting NF-xEB activation by small molecules as a therapeutic strategy. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1799(10–12), 775–787 (2010).
- 82 Okamoto T. NF-KB and rheumatic diseases. Endocr. Metab. Immune Disord. Drug Targets 6(4), 359–372 (2006).
 - Decramer M, Rutten-Van Molken M, Dekhuijzen PN et al. Effects of N-acetylcysteine on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Bronchitis Randomized on NAC Cost-Utility Study,

BRONCUS): a randomised placebocontrolled trial. *Lancet* 365 (9470), 1552–1560 (2005).

- 84 Demedts M, Behr J, Buhl R et al. High-dose acetylcysteine in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 353(21), 2229–2242 (2005).
 - 85 Atreya I, Atreya R, Neurath MF. NF-KB in inflammatory bowel disease. J. Intern. Med. 263(6), 591–596 (2008).
- 86 Egan LJ, Sandborn WJ. Inhibition of nuclear factor κB by sulfasalazine: a new target for inflammatory bowel disease therapy? *Gastroanterology* 115(5), 1295–1296 (1998).
- 87 Box SA, Pullar T. Sulphasalazine in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Br. J. Rheumatol. 36(3), 382–386 (1997).
- 88 Wahl C, Liptay S, Adler G, Schmid RM. Sulfasalazine: a potent and specific inhibitor of nuclear factor κ B. J. Clin. Invest. 101(5), 1163–1174 (1998).
- 89 Weber CK, Liptay S, Wirth T, Adler G, Schmid RM. Suppression of NF-κB activity by sulfasalazine is mediated by direct inhibition of IκB kinases α and β. Gastroenterology 119(5), 1209–1218 (2000).
- D Lappas M, Permezel M, Georgiou HM, Rice GE. Nuclear factor κ B regulation of proinflammatory cytokines in human gestational tissues *in vitro*. *Biol. Reprod.* 67 (2), 668–673 (2002).
 - 1 Keelan JA, Khan S, Yosaatmadja F, Mitchell MD. Prevention of inflammatory activation of human gestational membranes in an *ex vivo* model using a pharmacological NF-kB inhibitor. *J. Immunol.* 183(8), 5270–5278 (2009).
- Peltier MR, Tee SC, Kinzler WL, Smulian JC. Effect of sulfasalazine on basal and bacteria-stimulated interleukin-8 production by endocervical epithelial cells. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 61(3), 190–195 (2009).
- 93 Nath CA, Ananth CV, Smulian JC, Peltier MR. Can sulfasalazine prevent infectionmediated pre-term birth in a murine model? *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 63(2), 144–149 (2010).
 - Ostensen M, Forger F. Management of RA medications in pregnant patients. *Nat. Rev. Rheumatol.* 5 (7), 382–390 (2009).
 - 95 Rahimi R, Nikfar S, Rezaie A, Abdollahi M. Pregnancy outcome in women with inflammatory bowel disease following exposure to 5-aminosalicylic acid drugs: a meta-analysis. *Reprod. Toxicol.* 25(2), 271–275 (2008).

Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman

- 96 Millea PJ. N-acetylcysteine: multiple clinical applications. Am. Fam. Physician 80(3), 265-269 (2009).
- ▶97 Origuchi T, Migita K, Nakashima T *et al.* Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human osteoblastic cells by N-acetylcysteine. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 136(5), 390-394 (2000).
- ▶98 Martinez-Losa M, Cortijo J, Juan G *et al.* Inhibitory effects of N-acetylcysteine on the functional responses of human eosinophils in vitro. Clin. Exp. Allergy. 37(5), 714-722 (2007).
- ▶99 De Flora S, Grassi C, Carati L. Attenuation ▶109 of influenza-like symptomatology and improvement of cell-mediated immunity with long-term N-acetylcysteine treatment. Eur. Respir. J. 10(7), 1535–1541 (1997).
- 100 Riggs BS, Bronstein AC, Kulig K, Archer PG, Rumack BH. Acute acetaminophen overdose during pregnancy. Obstet. Gynecol, 74(2), 247-253 (1989),
- ▶101 Rizk AY, Bedaiwy MA, Al-Inany HG. N-acetyl-cysteine is a novel adjuvant to clomiphene citrate in clomiphene citrate-resistant patients with polycystic ovary syndrome, Fertil, Steril, 83(2). 367-370 (2005).
- ▶102 Amin AF. Shaaban OM. Bediawy MA. N-acetyl cysteine for treatment of recurrent unexplained pregnancy loss. Reprod. Biomed. Online 17(5), 722-726 (2008)
- ▶103 Rumiris D, Purwosunu Y, Wibowo N, Farina A. Sekizawa A. Lower rate of preeclampsia after antioxidant upplementation in pregnant women with low antioxidant status. Hypertens Pregnancy 25(3), 241–253 (2006).
- ▶104 Buhimschi IA, Buhimschi CS, Weiner CP. Protective effect of N-acetylcysteine against fetal death and preterm labor induced by maternal inflammation. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 188(1), 203-208 (2003).
- ▶105 Beloosesky R, Gayle DA, Ross MG. Maternal N-acetylcysteine suppresses fetal inflammatory cytokine responses to maternal lipopolysaccharide. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 195(4), 1053–1057 🕨 114 (2006).
- ▶106 Chang EY, Zhang J, Sullivan S, Newman R, Singh I. N-acetylcysteine attenuates the maternal and fetal proinflammatory response to intrauterine LPS injection in an animal model for preterm birth and brain injury. J. Matern. Fetal. Neonatal. Med. 24(5), 732-740 (2011).
- ▶107 Shahin AY, Hassanin IM, Ismail AM, Kruessel JS, Hirchenhain J. Effect of oral N-acetyl cysteine on recurrent preterm labor

Int. J. Gynaecol. Obstet. 104(1), 44-48 (2009).

- First clinical trial demonstrating the ability of N-acetylcysteine to reduce the incidence of preterm labor.
- ▶108 Kondo Y, Fukuda K, Adachi T, Nishida T. Inhibition by a selective IKB kinase-2 inhibitor of interleukin-1-induced collagen degradation by corneal fibroblasts in three-dimensional culture. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 49(11), 4850-4857 (2008).
- Podolin PL, Callahan JF, Bolognese BJ et al. Attenuation of murine collageninduced arthritis by a novel, potent, selective small molecule inhibitor of IKB Kinase 2, TPCA-1 (2-[(aminocarbonyl) amino]-5-(4-fluorophenyl)-3thiophenecarboxamide), occurs via reduction of proinflammatory cytokines and antigen-induced T cell proliferation J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 312(1), 373-381 (2005)
- ▶110 De Silva D, Mitchell MD, Keelan JA. Inhibition of choriodecidual cytokine production and inflammatory gene expression by selective I-κB kinase (IKK) inhibitors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 160(7). 1808-1822 (2010).
- Osting VC, Carter JD. A safety assessment **>**111 of tumor necrosis factor antagonists during pregnancy. Expert Opin. Drug Saf. 9(3), 421-429 (2010).
 - 112 Schnitzler F, Fidder H, Ferrante M *et al.* Outcome of pregnancy in women with inflammatory bowel disease treated with antitumor necrosis factor therapy. Inflamm. Bowel. Dis. DOI: 10.1002/ibd.21583 (2011) (Epub ahead of print).
- Silver RM, Lohner WS, Daynes RA, ▶113 Mitchell MD, Branch DW. Lipopolysaccharide-induced fetal death: the role of tumor-necrosis factor a. Biol. Reprod. 50(5), 1108–1112 (1994).
- Gendron RL, Nestel FP, Lapp WS, Baines MG. Lipopolysaccharide-induced fetal resorption in mice is associated with the intrauterine production of tumour necrosis factor-a. J. Reprod. Fertil. 90(2), 395-402 (1990).
- ▶115 Xu DX, Chen YH, Wang H, Zhao L, Wang JP, Wei W. Tumor necrosis factor a partially contributes to lipopolysaccharide induced intra-uterine fetal growth restriction and skeletal development retardation in mice. Toxicol. Lett. 163(1), 20-29 (2006).

- following treatment for bacterial vaginosis. >116 Fidel PL Jr, Romero R, Cutright J et al. Treatment with the interleukin-I receptor antagonist and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor Fc fusion protein does not prevent endotoxin-induced preterm parturition in mice, I. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 4(1), 22–26 (1997).
 - ▶117 Holmgren C, Esplin MS, Hamblin S, Molenda M, Simonsen S, Silver R. Evaluation of the use of anti-TNF-α in an LPS-induced murine model. J. Reprod. Immunol. 78(2), 134-139 (2008).
 - ▶118 Zelinkova Z, De Haar C, De Ridder L et al. High intra-uterine exposure to infliximab following maternal anti-TNF treatment during pregnancy. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther. 33(9), 1053-1058 (2011).
 - Dinarello CA. Blocking interleukin-1β in acute and chronic autoinflammator diseases. J. Intern. Med. 269(1), 16-28 (2011).
 - 120 Romero R, Sepulveda W, Mazor M et al. The natural interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in term and preterm parturition. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 167(4 Pt 1), 863-872 (1992).
 - ▶121 Yoshimura K, Hirsch E, Effect of stimulation and antagonism of interleukin-1 signaling on preterm delivery in mice. J. Soc. Gynecol. Investig. 12(7), 533-538 (2005).
 - ▶122 Reznikov LL, Fantuzzi G, Selzman CH et al. Utilization of endoscopic inoculation in a mouse model of intrauterine infectioninduced preterm birth: role of interleukin 1B. Biol. Reprod. 60(5), 1231-1238 (1999).
 - ▶123 Hirsch E, Muhle RA, Mussalli GM, Blanchard R. Bacterially induced preterm labor in the mouse does not require maternal interleukin-1 signaling. Am J. Obstet. Gynecol. 186(3), 523-530 (2002).
 - ▶124 Hirsch E, Filipovich Y, Mahendroo M. Signaling via the type I IL-1 and TNF receptors is necessary for bacterially induced preterm labor in a murine model. Am. I. Obstet. Gynecol, 194(5), 1334-1340 (2006).
 - Catalano RD, Lannagan TR, Gorowiec M, ▶125 Denison FC, Norman JE, Jabbour HN. Prokineticins: novel mediators of inflammatory and contractile pathways at parturition? Mol. Hum. Reprod. 16(5), 311-319 (2010).
 - ▶126 Denison FC, Battersby S, King AE Szuber M, Jabbour HN. Prokineticin-1: a novel mediator of the inflammatory response in third-trimester human placenta. Endocrinology 149(7), 3470-3477 (2008).

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

- 127 Gorowiec MR, Catalano RD, Norman JE, <a>137 Wang P, Wu P, Siegel MI, Egan RW, Denison FC, Jabbour HN. Prokineticin 1 (PROK1) induces inflam matory response in human myometrium: a potential role in initiating term and preterm parturition. Am. I. Pathol. (2011) (In Press).
- ▶128 Gilroy DW, Lawrence T, Perretti M, Rossi AG. Inflammatory resolution: new opportunities for drug discovery. Nat. Rev Drug. Discov. 3(5), 401-416 (2004).
- •• Discusses the resolution of inflammation and the potential benefits of targeting mediators involved in resolution as novel ▶139 therapeutics for inflammation-associated pathologies.
- ▶129 Serhan CN, Chiang N, Van Dyke TE. Resolving inflammation: dual antiinflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8(5) 349-361 (2008).
- ▶130 Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J. Exp. Med. 170(6), 2081–2095 (1989).
- ▶131 Sabat R, Grutz G, Warszawska K et al. Biology of interleukin-10. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 21(5), 331-344 (2010).
- ▶132 Fiorentino DF, Zlotnik A, Mosmann TR, Howard M, O'Garra A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J. Immunol. 147(11), 3815-3822 (1991).
- ▶133 De Waal Malefyt R, Abrams J, Bennett B, Figdor CG, De Vries JE. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J. Exp Med. 174(5), 1209-1220 (1991).
- 134 Buchwald UK, Geerdes-Fenge HF, Vockler I. Ziege S. Lode H. Interleukin-10: effects on phagocytosis and adhesion molecule expression of granulocytes and monocytes in a comparison with prednisolone. Eur. J. Med. Res. 4(3), 85-94 (1999).
- 135 Hart PH, Hunt EK, Bonder CS, Watson CJ, Finlay-Jones JJ. Regulation of surface and soluble TNF receptor expression on human monocytes and synovial fluid macrophages by IL-4 and IL-10. *J. Immunol.* 157(8), 3672–3680 (1996).
- 136 Jenkins Jk, Malyak M, Arend WP. The effects of interleukin-10 on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and interleukin-1 β production in human monocytes and neutrophils. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res.* 13(1), 47–54 (1994).

www.expert-reviews.com

- Billah MM. Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor K B (NF K B) activation in human monocytes. IL-10 and IL-4 suppress cytokine synthesis by differen mechanisms, I. Biol. Chem. 270(16), 9558-9563 (1995).
- Yoshidome H, Kato A, Edwards MJ, 138 Lentsch AB. Interleukin-10 inhibits pulmonary NF-ĸB activation and lung injury induced by hepatic ischemiareperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. 277(5 Pt 1), L919-L923 (1999).
- Al-Ashy R, Chakroun I, El-Sabban ME, Homaidan FR. The role of NF-KB in mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 in intestinal epithelial cells. Cytokine 36(1-2), 1-8 (2006),
- 140 Buruiana FE, Sola I, Alonso-Coello P. Recombinant human interleukin 10 for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 11, CD005109 (2010).
- Kimball AB, Kawamura T, Tejura K et al. 141 Clinical and immunologic assessment of patients with psoriasis in a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial using recombinant human interleukin 10. Dermatol. 138(10), 1341-1346 (2002)
 - 142 Nelson DR, Lauwers GY, Lau JY, Davis GL. Interleukin 10 treatment reduces fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C: a pilot trial of interferor nonresponders. Gastroenterology 118(4), 655-660 (2000).
- Asadullah K, Sterry W, Volk HD. 143 Interleukin-10 therapy - review of a new approach. Pharmacol. Rev. 55(2), 241–269 (2003).
- ▶144 Thaxton JE, Sharma S. Interleukin-10: a multi-faceted agent of pregnancy. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 63(6), 482–491 (2010).
- ▶145 Kalkunte S, Nevers T, Norris WE, Sharma S. Vascular IL-10: a protective role in preeclampsia. J. Reprod. Immunol. 88(2), 165–169 (2011).
- ▶146 Greig PC, Herbert WN, Robinette BL, Teot LA. Amniotic fluid interleukin-10 concentrations increase through pregnancy and are elevated in patients with preterm labor associated with intrauterine infection. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 173(4) 1223-1227 (1995).
- ▶147 Dudley DJ, Hunter C, Mitchell MD, Varner MW. Amniotic fluid interleukin-10 🏼 ¹⁵⁷ (IL-10) concentrations during pregnancy and with labor. J. Reprod. Immunol. 33(2), 147-156 (1997).

- 148 Hennessy A, Pilmore HL, Simmons LA, Painter DM. A deficiency of placental IL-10 in preeclampsia. *J. Immunol.* 163(6), 3491-3495 (1999).
- ▶149 Hill JA, Polgar K, Anderson DJ. T-helper 1-type immunity to trophoblast in women with recurrent spontaneous abortion. JAMA 273(24), 1933–1936 (1995).
- 150 Makhseed M, Raghupathy R, El-Shazly S, Azizieh F, Al-Harmi JA, Al-Azemi MM. Pro-inflammatory maternal cytokine profile in preterm delivery. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 49(5), 308-318 (2003).
- 151 Fortunato SI, Menon R, Lombardi SI, Interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-β inhibit amniochorion tumor necrosis factor- α production by contrasting mechanisms of action: therapeutic implications in prematurity Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 177(4), 803-809 (1997).
- ▶152 Brown NL, Alvi SA, Elder MG, Bennett PR, Sullivan MH. The regulation of prostaglandin output from term intact fetal membranes by anti-inflammatory cytokines. Immunology 99(1), 124-133 (2000).
- 153 Fortunato SJ, Menon R, Lombardi SJ, Lafleur B. Interleukin-10 inhibition of gelatinases in fetal membranes: therapeutic implications in preterm premature rupture of membranes. Obstet. Gynecol. 98(2), 284-288 (2001).
- 154 Sato TA, Keelan JA, Mitchell MD. Critical paracrine interactions between TNF-α and IL-10 regulate lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human choriodecidual cytokine and prostaglandin E2 production. J. Immunol. 170(1), 158-166 (2003).
- ►155 Pomini F, Caruso A, Challis JR. Interleukin-10 modifies the effects of interleukin-1 β and tumor necrosis factor- α on the activity and expression of prostaglandin H synthase-2 and the NAD⁺-dependent 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase in cultured term human villous trophoblast and chorion trophoblast cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol, Metab, 84(12), 4645-4651 (1999).
- ▶156 Roth I, Fisher SJ. IL-10 is an autocrine inhibitor of human placental cytotrophoblast MMP-9 production and invasion. Dev. Biol. 205(1), 194-204 (1999).
 - Bayraktar M. Peltier M. Vetrano A et al. IL-10 modulates placental responses to TLR ligands. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 62(6), 390-399 (2009),

	For repri	nt orders, please contac	t repr	ints@expert-reviews.com				
F	Review	Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Re	naldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman					
▶158	Terrone DA, I Barrilleaux PS Interleukin-10 endotoxin-ind model. <i>Obstet</i> .	Rinehart BK, Granger JP, 5, Martin JN Jr, Bennett WA. 9 administration and bacterial uced preterm birth in a rat 1. <i>Gynecol.</i> 98(3), 476–480	▶168	placebo-controlled study and meta- analysis. <i>Lancet</i> 373(9680), 2034–2040 (2009). Briery CM, Veillon EW, Klauser CK <i>et al.</i> Prosesterone does not prevent	▶178	Norman JE, Yuan M, Anderson L <i>et al.</i> Effect of prolonged <i>in vivo</i> administration of progesterone expression, peripheral blood leukocyte activation and circulating steroid hormone levels. <i>Reprod. Sci.</i> 18(5),		
▶159	(2001). Rodts-Palenik <i>et al.</i> Materna matter injury interleukin-10	S, Wyatt-Ashmead J, Pang Y l infection-induced white is reduced by treatment with . Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.	▶169	preterm births in women with twins. <i>South Med. J.</i> 102(9), 900–904 (2009). Combs CA, Garite T, Maurel K, Das A, Porto M. Failure of	179	435–446 (2011). Dodd JM, Crowther CA. The role of progesterone in prevention of preterm birth. <i>Int. J. Womens Health</i> 1, 73–84 (2010).		
▶160	191(4), 1387– Pang Y, Rodt: WA, Rhodes activation is i IL-10 on mate	1392 (2004). s-Palenik S, Cai Z, Bennett PG. Suppression of glial nvolved in the protection of ernal <i>E. coli</i> induced		17-hydroxyprogesterone to reduce neonatal morbidity or prolong triplet pregnancy: a double-blind, randomized clinical trial. <i>Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 203(3), 248 e1–e9 (2010).	▶180 ▶181	Scher JU, Pillinger MH. 15d-PGJ2: the anti-inflam matory prostaglandin? <i>Clin.</i> <i>Immunol.</i> 114(2), 100–109 (2005). Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willis D, Chivers J, Paul-Clark MJ, Willoughby		
••	neonatal whit Dev. Brain Re Both [159] and ability of IL-	e matter injury. <i>Brain Res.</i> 5. 157(2), 141–149 (2005). I [160] demonstrate the 10 to reduce infection-	▶170	Briery CM, Veillon EW, Klauser CK <i>et al.</i> Women with preterm premature rupture of the membranes do not benefit from weekly progesterone. <i>Am. J. Obster. Gynecol.</i> 20(4)). 54 et al. (5)(0)(1)	182	DA. Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties. <i>Nat. Med.</i> 5(6), 698–701 (1999). Ward C, Dransfield J, Murray J, Farrow		
▶161	Induced brain potential to i Sadowsky DV Gravett MG. interleukin-IC induced uterit rhesus monke	i injury, highlighting its mprove neonatal outcome. V, Novy MJ, Witkin SS, Dexamethasone or D blocks interleukin-1β- ne contractions in pregnant ys. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 053 (2003)	▶ 171	Elovitz M, Wang Z. Medroxyprogesterone acetate, but not progesterone, protects against inflammation-induced parturition and intrauterine fetal demise. <i>Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 190(3), 693–701 (2004).		SN, Haslett C, Rossi AG. Prostaglandin D2 and its metabolites induce caspase- dependent granulocyte apoptosis that is mediated via inhibition of I κ B α degradation using a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ - independent mechanism. J. Immunol. 168(12), 6232–6243 (2002).		
▶162	Gomez-Lopez Invasion of th fetal-materna pregnancy. J. 625-633 (201	z N, Guilbert LJ, Olson DM. e leukocytes into the d interface during <i>Leukoc. Biol.</i> 88(4), 10).	▶173	How C. Can and C. C	▶183	Rajakariar R, Hilliard M, Lawrence T et al. Hematopoietic prostaglandin D2 synthase controls the onset and resolution of acute inflam mation through PGD2 and 15-deoxyΔ12 14 PGJ2. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 104(52), 2097–20984 (2007).		
163 ▶164	Fuchs F, Stak threatened pr doses of proge <i>Gynecol.</i> 79, 1 Da Fonseca E	emann G. Treatment of emature labor with large esterone. <i>Am. J. Obstet.</i> 72–176 (1960). B. Bittar RE. Carvalho	▶174	Van Der burg D. Negative interaction between the RelA(p65) subunit of NF-κB and the progesterone receptor. <i>J. Biol.</i> <i>Chem.</i> 271(11), 6217–6224 (1996). Luo G, Abrahams VM, Tadesse S <i>et al.</i>	▶184	Rossi A, Kapahi P, Natoli G <i>et al.</i> Anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IκB kinase. <i>Nature</i> 403(6765), 103–108		
-	MH, Zugaib administratio suppository to spontaneous j increased risk controlled do <i>J. Obstet. Gym</i>	M. Prophylactic n of progesterone by vaginal o reduce the incidence of oreterm birth in women at : a randomized placebo- uble-blind study. <i>Am.</i> <i>weol.</i> 188(2), 419–424	175	Progesterone inhibits basal and TNF-α- induced apoptosis in fetal membranes: a novel mechanism to explain progesterone- mediated prevention of preterm birth. <i>Reprod. Sci.</i> 17(6), 532–539 (2010). Shields AD, Wright J, Paonessa DJ <i>et al.</i> Progesterone modulation of	► 185 ► 186	(2000). Ricote M, Li AC, Willson TM, Kelly CJ, Glass CK. The perxissome proliferator- activated receptor-y is a negative regulator of macrophage activation. <i>Nature</i> 391(6662), 79–82 (1998). Mitchell MD, Kraemer DL, Strickland		
▶165	(2003). Meis PJ, Kleb Prevention of by 17 α-hydra	anoff M, Thom E <i>et al.</i> recurrent preterm delivery oxyprogesterone caproate. <i>N.</i>		inflammatory cytokine production in a fetoplacental artery explant model. <i>Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 193(3 Pt 2), 1144–1148 (2005).	187	DM. The human placenta: a major source of prostaglandin D2. <i>Prostaglandins</i> <i>Leukot. Med.</i> 8(4), 383–387 (1982). Norwitz ER, Starkey PM, Lopez Bernal		
▶166	Engl. J. Med. (2003). Dodd JM, Fle Crowther CA	248(24), 23/9–2385 enady VJ, Cincotta R, . Progesterone for the	▶176	Gotkin JL, Celver J, Mcnutt P <i>et al.</i> Progesterone reduces lipopolysaccharide induced interleukin-6 secretion in fetoplacental chorionic arteries, fractionated cord blood, and maternal		A. Prostaglandin D2 production by term human decidua: cellular origins defined using flow cytometry. <i>Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 80(3 Pt 1), 440–445 (1992).		
▶167	prevention of review. Obsten (2008). Norm an JE, 1 Progesterone preterm birth (STOPPIT):	preterm DITT: a systematic <i>c. Gynecol.</i> 112(1), 127–134 Mackenzie F, Owen P <i>et al.</i> for the prevention of in twin pregnancy a randomised, double-blind,	▶177	mononuclear cells. <i>Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 195(4), 1015–1019 (2006). Schwartz N, Xue X, Elovitz MA, Dowling O, Metz CN. Progesterone suppresses the fetal inflammatory response <i>ex vira</i> . <i>Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.</i> 201(2), 211	▶188	rtetitwell KJ, Keelan JA, Marvin KW et al. Gestational age-dependent up-regulation of prostaglandin D synthase (PGDS) and production of PGDS-derived antiinflammatory prostaglandins in human placenta. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91(2),		

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)

	Anti-inflammatory mediate	ors as	physiological & pharmacological	regu	lators of parturition	Review
89	Ackerman WE 4th, Zhang XL, Rovin BH, Kniss DA. Modulation of cytokine- induced cyclooxygenase 2 expression by PPARG ligands through NFkB signal disruption in human WISH and amnion cells. <i>Biol. Reprod.</i> 73(3), 527–535 (2005).	▶199 200	Filep JG, Khreiss T, Jozsef L. Lipoxins and aspirin-triggered lipoxins in neutrophil adhesion and signal transduction. <i>Prostaglandins Leukot. Essent. Fatty Acids</i> 73(3–4), 257–262 (2005). El Kebir D, Jozsef L, Khreiss T <i>et al.</i> Aspirin-triggered lipoxins override the	208	Gewirtz AT, Collier-Hyar AN <i>et al.</i> Lipoxin a4 anal- induction of intestinal epi proinflammatory gene exp reduce the severity of dext sulfate-induced colitis. <i>J.</i> 168(10), 5260–5267 (200	ns LS, Young ogs attenuate thelial pression and tran sodium <i>Immunol.</i> 2).
90	Lappas M, Permezel M, Kice GE. 15-deoxy-Δ(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2) and troglitazone regulation of the release of phospholipid metabolites, inflammatory cytokines and proteases from human gestational tissues. <i>Placema</i> 27(11–12), 1060–1072 (2006).	▶201	apoptosts-delaying action of serum amyloid A in human neutrophils: a novel mechanism for resolution of inflammation. J. Immunol. 179(1), 616–622 (2007). Maddox JF, Serhan CN. Lipoxin A4 and B4 are potent stimuli for human monocyte	209	Chiang N, Arita M, Serha Anti-inflam matory circuit aspirin-triggered lipoxins receptor ALX. Prostaglani Essent. Fatty Acids 73(3–4 (2005). Levy BD, Clish CB, Schm	in CN. ry: lipoxin, and their <i>lins Leukot.</i> .), 163–177 dt B. Gronert
91	Wang X, Wang Y, Zhao X, Andersson R, Song Z, Yang D. Potential effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor activator on LPS-induced lung injury in rats. <i>Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.</i> 22 (4), 318–305 (2000)	▶202	migration and adhesion: selective inactivation by dehydrogenation and reduction. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 183(1), 137–146 (1996). Maddox JF, Hachicha M, Takano T,	▶ 211	Serhan CN. Lipid mediato during acute inflammation resolution. <i>Nat. Immunol.</i> 3 (2001). Wu SH, Liao PY, Dong L,	r class switchi : signals in 2(7), 612–619 Chen ZQ. Sig
92	Kawahito Y, Kondo M, Tsubouchi Y <i>et al.</i> 15-deoxy-8(12,14)-PGJ(2) induces synoviocyte apoptosis and suppresses adjuvant-induced arthritis in rats. <i>J. Clin.</i> <i>Invest.</i> 106(2), 189–197 (2000).		Petasis NA, Fokin VV, Serhan CN. Lipoxin A4 stable analogs are potent mimetics that stimulate human monocytes and THP-1 cells via a G-protein-linked lipoxin A4 receptor. <i>J. Biol. Chem.</i> 272(11), 6972–6978 (1997).	▶212	pathway involved in inhibi A(4) of production of inter in endothelial cells by lipop <i>Inflamm. Res.</i> 57(9), 430– Li G, Wu P, Xu Y <i>et al.</i> Th A4 on the interaction betw	tion by lipoxir leukins induce oolysaccharide i37 (2008). e effect of Lip een macropha
93	Wada K, Nakajima A, Blumberg RS. PPARy and inflammatory bowel disease: a new therapeutic target for ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. <i>Trends. Mol. Med.</i>	▶203	Simoes RL, Niconi-De-Almeida Y, Da-Fe AR, Barja-Fidalgo C, Fierro IM. A synthetic analog of 15-epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits human monocyte apoptosis:	▶213	and osteoblast: possible rol of aseptic loosening. <i>BMC</i> . <i>Disord</i> . 10, 57 (2009). Decker Y, Mcbean G, God	e in the treatm <i>Musculoskelet.</i> son C. Lipoxi

- involvement of ERK-2 and PI3-kinase Prostaglandins Lip. Mediat. 91(1-2), 10-17 ▶194 Serhan CN, Hamberg M, Samuelsson B. (2010). Trihydroxytetraenes: a novel series of compounds formed from arachidonic ▶204 Godson C, Mitchell S, Harvey K, Petasis acid in human leukocytes. *Biochem* NA, Hogg N, Brady HR. Cutting edge: Biophys. Res. Commun. 118(3), 943-949
- lipoxins rapidly stimulate nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by monocyte-derived macrophages. J. Immunol. 164(4), 1663–1667 (2000). ▶195 Serhan CN, Hamberg M, Samuelsson B. Lipoxins: novel series of biologically active compounds formed from arachidonic acid 205 Filep JG, Zouki C, Petasis NA, Hachicha in human leukocytes. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 81(17), 5335–5339 (1984).
 - M, Serhan CN. Anti-inflammatory actions >215 of lipoxin A(4) stable analogs are demonstrable in human whole blood: modulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules and inhibition of neutrophilendothelial interactions. Blood 94(12), 4132-4142 (1999).
 - ▶206 Ho KJ, Spite M, Owens CD et al. Aspirin-triggered lipoxin and resolvin E1 modulate vascular smooth muscle phenotype and correlate with peripheral atherosclerosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 177(4), 2116-2123 (2010).
 - >207 Varga J, Fiore S. Lipoxin A4 inhibits IL-1 β-induced IL-6, IL-8, and matrix metalloproteinase-3 production in human synovial fibroblasts and enhances synthesis of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. J. Immunol. 164(5), 2660-2666 (2000).
- Sodin-Semrl S, Taddeo B, Tseng D, (2002).
 - 218 Ye XH, Wu Y, Guo PP et al. Lipoxin A4 analogue protects brain and reduces

- n, nt.
- hert K, ching -619
- Signal oxin duced ride.
- Lipoxin phage atment olot
- ▶213 Decker Y, Mcbean G, Godson C. Lipoxin A4 inhibits IL-1β-induced IL-8 and ICAM-1 expression in 1321N1 human astrocytoma cells. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 296(6), C1420–C1427 (2009).
- ▶ 214 Kure I. Nishiumi S. Nishitani Y et al. Lipoxin A(4) reduces lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammation in macrophages and intestinal epithelial cells through inhibition of nuclear factor-KB activation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 332(2), 541-548 (2009).
 - Sobrado M, Pereira MP, Ballesteros I et al. Synthesis of lipoxin A4 by 5-lipoxygenase mediates PPARy-dependent, neuroprotective effects of rosiglitazone in experimental stroke. J. Neurosci. 29(12), 3875-3884 (2009).
- 216 Li Y, Cai L, Wang H et al. Pleiotropic regulation of macrophage polarization and tumorigenesis by formyl peptide receptor-2. Oncogene DOI:10.1038/onc.2011.112 (2011) (Epub ahead of print).
- ▶217 Levy BD, De Sanctis GT, Devchand PR et al. Multi-pronged inhibition of airway hyper-responsiveness and inflammation by lipoxin A(4). Nat. Med. 8(9), 1018-1023
- inflammation in a rat model of focal cerebral ischemia reperfusion. *Brain Res.* 1323, 174–183 (2010).

695

www.expert-reviews.com

7(8), 329-331 (2001).

▶196 Lee TH, Horton CE, Kyan-Aung U,

Haskard D, Crea AE, Spur BW. Lipoxin

A4 and lipoxin B4 inhibit chemotactic

phenylalanine. Clin. Sci. (Lond.) 77(2),

modulates transmigration of human neutrophils across intestinal epithelial

Lipoxin A4 and B4 inhibit leukotriene-

J. Immunol. 156(6), 2264-2272 (1996).

monolayers. J. Clin. Invest. 92(1), 75-82

responses of human neutrophils stimulated by leukotriene B4 and

N-formyl-1-methionyl-1-leucyl-1-

▶197 Colgan SP, Serhan CN, Parkos CA, Delp-Archer C, Madara JL. Lipoxin A4

▶198 Papayianni A, Serhan CN, Brady HR.

stimulated interactions of human

neutrophils and endothelial cells.

195–203 (1989).

(1993).

(1984).

Review Rinaldi, Hutchinson, Rossi & Norman						
219	Conte FP, Mer Jr, Cunha FQ, Lipoxin A(4) a arthritis by mo effects. Br. J. P (2010).	nezes-De-Lima O Jr, Verri WA Penido C, Henriques MG. ttenuates zymosan-induced dulating endothelin-1 and its <i>harmacol.</i> 161(4), 911–924	▶228	Arita M, Yoshida M, Hong S <i>et al.</i> Resolvin E1, an endogenous lipid mediator derived from Ω -3 eicosapentaenoic acid, protects against 2,4,6-trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid-induced colitis. <i>Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.</i> <i>USA</i> 102(21), 7671–7676 (2005).	▶23;	⁸ Olsen SF, Secher NJ, Tabor A, Weber T, Walker JJ, Gluud C. Randomised clinica trials of fish oil supplementation in high pregnancies. Fish Oil Trials In Pregnancy (FOTIP) Team. <i>BJOG</i> 107(3), 382–395 (2000).
220	Brown NL, Sla Sullivan MH, 5-lipoxygenase protein in hun throughout pr <i>Hum. Reprod.</i>	ater DM, Alvi SA, Elder MG, Bennett PR. Expression of and 5-lipoxygenase-activating nan fetal membranes egnancy and at term. <i>Mol.</i> 5(7), 668–674 (1999).	229 ►230	Allen KG, Harris MA. The role of n-3 fatty acids in gestation and parturition. <i>Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood)</i> 226(6), 498–506 (2001). Leon H, Shibata MC, Sivakumaran S, Dorgan M, Chatterley T, Tsuyuki RT.	23	Makrides M, Duley L, Olsen SF. Marine oil, and other prostaglandin precursor, supplementation for pregnancy uncomplicated by preeclamps or intrauterine growth restriction. <i>Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.</i> 3, CD0034 (2020)
221	Lei ZM, Rao C 15-lipoxygenas functional enzy of pregnancy h <i>Endocrinology</i>	CV. The expression of e gene and the presence of yme in cytoplasm and nuclei uman myometria. 130(2), 861–870 (1992),	▶231	Effect of fish oil on arrhythmias and mortality: systematic review. <i>BMJ</i> 337, a2931 (2008). Fleischhauer FJ, Yan WD, Fischell TA. Fish	▶24	(2006). Horvath A, Koletzko B, Szajewska H. Effect of supplementation of women in high-risk pregnancies with long-chain polvunsaturated fatty acids on preenance.
▶222	Smith GC, Wu Lipoxygenase g intrauterine tis parturition. M	1 WX, Nathanielsz PW. gene expression in baboon sues in late pregnancy and ol. Hum. Reprod. 7(6).	• 222	on improves endotnenum-dependent coronary vasodilation in heart transplant recipients. <i>J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.</i> 21(4), 982–989 (1993).		outcomes and growth measures at birth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. <i>Br. J. Nutr.</i> 98(2), 253- (2007).
223	587–594 (2001 Hutchinson JL Jabbour HN. M). , Rajagopal SP, Sales KJ, Molecular regulators of flammation – potential	2.52	Dietary supplementation with fish oil in ulcerative colitis. <i>Ann. Intern. Med.</i> 116(8), 609–614 (1992).	▶24	Lappas M, Mitton A, Lim R, Barker G, Riley C, Permezel M. SIRT1 is a novel regulator of key pathways of huma labor. <i>Biol. Reprod.</i> 84(1), 167–178 (201
	therapeutic tar system. Reprod	gets in the reproductive <i>fuction</i> 142(1), 15–28 (2011).	233	Macdonald A. Ω-3 fatty acids as adjunctive therapy in Crohns disease. <i>Gastroenterol.</i> <i>Nurs.</i> 29(4), 295–301; quiz 302–293 (2006).	▶24	2 Lappas M, Permezel M. The anti- inflammatory and antioxidative effects of
224	Serhan CN, Cl SP, Chiang N, sets of lipid-der antiinflammate Ω-3 fatty acids 2-nonsteroidal transcellular pr	ish CB, Brannon J, Colgan Gronert K. Novel functional ived mediators with ory actions generated from via cyclooxygenase antiinflammatory drugs and occessing. J. Exp. Med. 192(8).	► 234	Galarraga B, Ho M, Youssef HM <i>et al.</i> Cod liver oil (n-3 fatty acids) as an non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug sparing agent in rheumatoid arthritis. <i>Rheumatology (Oxford)</i> 47(5), 665–669 (2008). Geusens P, Wouters C, Nijs J, Jiang Y,	▶24	nicotinamide, a vitamin B(3) derivative, elicited by FoxO3 in human gestational tissues: implications for preterm birth. <i>J. Nutr. Biochem.</i> DOI:10.1016/j. jnutbio.2010.10.009 (2011) (Epub aheac print). 3 Vadillo-Ortega F, Perichart-Perera O.
225	1197–1204 (20 Bannenberg G Molecular circu and actions of <i>I. Immunol.</i> 17-	00). L, Chiang N, Ariel A <i>et al.</i> uits of resolution: formation resolvins and protectins. 4(7), 4345–4355 (2005).		Dequeker J. Long-term effect of Ω -3 fatty acid supplementation in active rheumatoid arthritis. A 12-month, double-blind, controlled study. <i>Arthritis. Rheum.</i> 37(6), 824–829 (1994).		Espino S et al. Effect of supplementation during pregnancy with L-arginine and antioxidant vitamins in medical food on preeclampsia in high risk population: randomised controlled trial. <i>BMJ</i> 342,
226	Oh SF, Pillai P Serhan CN. Pr stereoselective	S, Recchiuti A, Yang R, o-resolving actions and biosynthesis of 18S E-series	▶236	Olsen SF, Sorensen JD, Secher NJ <i>et al.</i> Randomised controlled trial of effect of fish-oil supplementation on pregnancy duration. <i>Lancet</i> 339 (8800), 1003–1007	w	d2901 (2011). 'ebsite
	resolvins in hu inflammation. 569–581 (2011	man leukocytes and murine <i>J. Clin. Invest.</i> 121(2),).	▶237	(1992). Borod E, Atkinson R, Barclay WR,	30	Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Tocolysis for Women i
227	Duffield JS, He Resolvin D ser acute kidney in	, ong S, Vaidya VS <i>et al.</i> ies and protectin D1 mitigate ijury. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 177(9),		Carlson SE. Effects of third trimester consumption of eggs high in docosahexaenoic acid on docosahexaenoic acid status and pregnancy. <i>Lipids</i> 34(Suppl.),		Preterm Labour – Green-top Guidelin (2011) www.rcog.org.uk/files/rcog-corp/ GTG1b26072011.pdf

Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 7(5), (2011)